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Executive Summary

Executive Summary

Introduction

The Executive increases its spending power and supplements its funding of capital
investment from the block grant with private sector funding using Private Finance Initiative
(PFI)* contracts and accessing borrowing under the Reinvestment and Reform Initiative
(RRI)2. Both give rise to long-term inescapable financial commitments. The current costs of
meeting these commitments are substantial, at approximately £375 million each year until
2030. Servicing these is a first call on the Executive’s budget requiring it to make substantial
annual payments that can extend for up to thirty years into the future. Clarity in terms of

the quantum and impact of these commitments is an important part of the decision making
process and is critical to the understanding and scrutiny of future public sector budgets.

It is important that the affordability of the long-term spending implications of Reinvestment
and Reform Initiative borrowing is taken into account by the Executive and visible to the
Assembly and its Committees. However, currently there is no published and transparent
borrowing strategy underpinning the Executive’s budget process. The significant cost of
borrowing will further increase depending on any decision to continue to access borrowings
beyond planned levels to 2016.

The Committee has taken evidence on numerous occasions on projects where business case
costs have been under-estimated and where, post the appointment of a preferred bidder,
there have been significant changes to the scope and costs of projects. Previous Committee
reports on PFI/PPP and other major capital projects have reflected this and highlighted that
the public sector needs to act as a more intelligent customer in procuring and managing such
projects.

The Belfast Metropolitan College project has achieved many satisfactory outcomes e.g. the
campus has won awards for building design and high environmental standards and delivered
a high level of staff, student and employer satisfaction.

However, the Committee has serious concerns over project management, governance,
decision-making and the procurement process. It is clear to the Committee that the case for
going down the PPP route, as opposed to a conventional procurement route, was marginal

at best. But when the additional costs of consultancy, internal staff costs of the College and
Department and, in particular, the significant shortfall in receipts from the sale of the surplus
properties are taken into account, this was a costly project. In the Committee’s opinion the
project does not represent good value for money.

On a more positive note the Committee was encouraged to hear about the significant
turnaround in the College’s financial position and positive assurances given by the most
recent internal audit review. It commends the Principal and her team for their drive and
determination in turning the College around. The Committee also commends the College’s
witnesses for the candour of their evidence.

The wider lessons emerging from this project are not new. However, they serve as a useful
reminder and their application should help ensure that value for money is achieved in other
public sector projects.

The Private Finance Initiative was launched in 1992. Since then it has become one of the main methods by which
government has delivered its capital infrastructure programme.

In 2002 OFMDFM announced the establishment of the RRI, including an agreement to regularly access a borrowing
facility to support Northern Ireland’s substantial infrastructure investment programme - up to £200 million a year
from HM Treasury. This provides the Executive with greater freedom and flexibility to deliver improvements in public
services.
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Overall Conclusions

On the Future Impact of Borrowing and Private Finance Commitments

The Committee considers that information on long term financial commitments could be
better signposted and considers that there is scope for improving the information provided to
the Assembly on borrowings and use of PFI.

Currently the main reporting route for Northern Ireland’s PFI commitments is through
individual Departmental Resource Accounts and Annual Accounts of Arms Length Bodies.
Data on PFI projects is also submitted to HM Treasury and published on its website. However,
the Committee is concerned that data provided by Departments has been incomplete,
resulting in incorrect information being provided in response to Assembly members’
questions.

The Committee welcomes the OFMDFM Accounting Officer’s undertaking to consider what
additional measures could be taken to improve the transparency of information. The proposed
inclusion of up-to-date PFl information in the annual report on the Investment Strategy will
improve the visibility of the level of PFl investment. However, this must be at an adequate
level of detail to give a full picture of committed/live projects and those in the pipeline.

In terms of RRI borrowing, the Committee welcomes the acknowledgement by the OFMDFM
Accounting Officer of the benefits of the Executive having a strategy in place for borrowing.

Public bodies need to do more to seek efficiencies and savings from operational PFl projects.
Business cases and the fact that PFI contracts are competitively tendered do not, on their
own, provide assurance that value for money is being delivered. Active benchmarking and
market testing offer much better evidence of whether projects are currently delivering value
for money.

Given that NI departments have to make annual savings each year, the private sector

should be expected to contribute to this. However, in Northern Ireland, there is no strategic
programme to review PFl contracts and maximise the opportunities to realise value for money
savings.

The voluntary code of conduct for operational PFl/PPP contracts® could offer additional
opportunities to commit to a collaborative approach between the public and private sectors
to delivering efficiencies and savings. The Committee notes in evidence provided by the
department that many companies involved in PFl contracts are already signed up to the
voluntary code but the Committee wishes to see wider application by departments and their
private sector partners

On Belfast Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP project

A significant feature of the Belfast Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP project deal was
that the public sector injected £20 million into the project, including £5 million to purchase
the sub-lease for the Titanic Quarter site. The sale of the College’s surplus properties at
Brunswick Street and College Square East was intended to cover these capital contributions.
However, proceeds from the sales of the properties in 2014 were £5.6 million leaving a
shortfall in excess of £14 million.

Significant additional costs have been incurred on the project outside the PPP agreement that
must be factored into any valid assessment of the value for money of this project.

HMT Code of Conduct for Operational PFIPPP projects (June 2013) — the code of conduct sets out the basis on
which public and private sector partners agree to work together to make savings in operational contracts. It includes
commitments from both public and private sector parties on constructive engagement, flexibility and improving
operational efficiency
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Negotiations with ICL extended from a planned 12 months to 33 months and the value

for money of the deal eroded significantly. There were significant unresolved issues with

the bidder’s proposals. These included leasing arrangements; planning requirements; and
the proposals for the provision of car parking at the Titanic Quarter site. The Committee is
concerned that the extent of the unresolved issues and ICL’s privileged development position
on the Titanic Quarter site meant that it dictated the outcome and pace of the negotiations.

The College failed to adequately manage the consultancy contract for this project which
put the project completion in jeopardy. The advisors appointed by the College were allowed
to exceed the original budget of £300,000, incurring costs in the region of £2.2 million. A
settlement figure of £1.5 million was subsequently agreed. In the Committee’s view this

is indicative of the inadequate governance; and poor financial and management controls
operating at the College following the merger of BIFHE and Castlereagh colleges in 2007
and during the procurement phase of this project. The Committee also considers that this
reflects on the inadequacies of the Department’s oversight of the College and this project
in particular. In the Committee’s opinion the Department should have been more alive to
the cost overrun and exercised a challenge function. The Committee is encouraged by the
evidence presented by the College on progress made in improving the financial stability and
the significant steps taken to improve the control environment at the College.

The College did not have a robust estate strategy in place and the audit trail supporting the
identification of accommodation requirements for the new Campus was acknowledged by
the Department and the College as being weak. The Committee welcomes the Department’s
assurances that steps have been taken to improve estate strategies across the FE Sector
and its plans to put in place space utilisation targets for the Colleges.

The College has yet to assess the benefits delivered or the final value for money of the
overall project. The Committee welcomes the College’s assurances that the benefits
realisation process will be concluded by the end of November 2014 to assess the benefits
delivered by the new campus. That said, the Committee is concerned that benefits realisation
was not adequately addressed through the strategic planning process and in the preparation
of the business plans supporting this project.

With the sale of the properties at Brunswick Street and College Square East it is important
that the College now assesses the final value for money of the overall project. All costs must
be factored into any realistic assessment of value for money of the project.
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Summary of Recommendations

On the Future Impact of Borrowing and Private Finance Commitments

Recommendation 1

The Committee recommends that the transparency of long term PFI commitments improves.
The publication of PFI commitments information on the OFMDFM website and proposed
inclusion of up-to-date PFI information in the annual report on the Executive’s Investment
Strategy will provide greater clarity. However, it is important that the information provided is
up-to-date and presents a full picture of committed projects and projects in the pipeline.

Recommendation 2

The Committee recommends that the Strategic Investment Board is tasked with developing
a strategic programme to promote an initiative aimed at driving long term efficiencies from
operational PFI projects and maximising value for money savings.

Recommendation 3

The Committee recommends that OFMDFM, in conjunction with SIB, examines the scope for
extending the use of the voluntary code of conduct for operational PFI/PPP contracts. The
Committee considers that all departments involved in PFl contracts should be signed up to
the voluntary code and be actively encouraging their private sector partners to do likewise.

On Belfast Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP project

Recommendation 4

The Committee recommends that, ahead of appointing a preferred bidder, public bodies must
fully test the deliverability of bids and limit the extent of unresolved issues within the bid. This
will help protect the public sector’s interests by ensuring that any subsequent negotiations
are kept to a minimum.

Recommendation 5

The Committee recommends that, ahead of a procurement process for design and build
projects, public bodies must develop a credible alternative solution or “exit strategy” which
they must be willing to implement.

Recommendation 6

The Committee recommends that, in addition to the overall economic assessment of bids,
detailed costings should be assessed for reasonableness and negotiated down where
necessary.

Recommendation 7

The Committee is encouraged by the Department’s recent steps to improve its estate
strategies. The Committee recommends that, as part of its asset management strategy, it
should develop space utilisation benchmarks and targets for the further education sector in
Northern Ireland to ensure that the most effective and efficient use is made of its estate.

Recommendation 8

The Committee recommends that, as part of the post project review process, public sector
bodies must include all costs of delivering the project. This should include a consideration
of any opportunity costs arising from investment decisions taken, such as the Department’s
agreement to underwrite losses resulting from asset sales.




Summary of Recommendations

Recommendation 9

The Committee recommends that the Department and the College now finalise all
post project reviews and evaluations on the Titantic Quarter project to ensure a timely
dissemination of the lessons learned.




Report on The Future Impact of Borrowing and Private Finance Commitments and Belfast Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP Project

Part 1:

The Future Impact of Borrowing and Private Finance Commitments

Introduction

1. The Public Accounts Committee (the Committee) met on 11 June 2014 to consider the
Comptroller and Auditor General’s report on ‘The Future Impact of Borrowing and Private
Finance Commitments’. The withesses were:

®  Mr Stephen Peover, Accounting Officer, Department of Finance and Personnel (DFP)

®  Dr Mark Browne, Accounting Officer, Office of the First Minister and deputy First Minister
(OFMDFM)

®  Mr Mike Brennan, Budget Director, Department of Finance and Personnel
®  Mr Brett Hannam, Chief Executive, Strategic Investment Board
®  Mr Kieran Donnelly, Comptroller and Auditor General

m  Mr Jack Layberry, Treasury Officer of Accounts

2. The financial investment required to improve and maintain Northern Ireland’s public
infrastructure is significant and requires a mix of funding solutions including borrowing and
private finance. The Executive increases its spending power and supplements it's funding of
capital investment from the block grant through accessing borrowing under the Reinvestment
and Reform Initiative (RRI)* and with private sector funding using Private Finance Initiative®
(PFI) contracts.

3. However, accessing RRI borrowing and using PFI contracts both give rise to long-term financial
commitments requiring government to make substantial annual payments which can extend
for up to thirty years into the future. The current costs of meeting these commitments are
substantial.

4., By 2016 the Executive expects to have accessed borrowings of £2.7 billion from the National
Loans Fund which is managed by HM Treasury (draft budget 2015-2016). In 2013-14 the cost
of repaying these borrowings was £103 million; this will rise to over £140 million within the
next three years. This does not take account of any additional borrowing the Executive may
make up to 2016. Existing operational PFl contracts have committed the Executive to over £7
billion in future years; currently the combined annual cost of these contracts is £250 million.

5. Accordingly, understanding the nature of these existing liabilities is an important part of
the decision making process and is critical to the scrutiny of future public sector budgets.
However, there is currently no central collection or reporting of these costs and commitments
directly to the Assembly or its Committees.

Reporting arrangements for long-term commitments are not transparent

6. The Committee welcomes the recognition by the Accounting Officers that information on long
term commitments could be better signposted so that members can get information more
quickly. The Committee also welcomes the OFMDFM Accounting Officer’'s assurance that he
will be looking at ways of doing this and his undertaking to put relevant information on the
OFMDFM website.

4 In 2002 OFMDFM announced the establishment of the RRI, including an agreement to regularly access a borrowing
facility to support Northern Ireland’s substantial infrastructure investment programme - up to £200 million a year
from HM Treasury. This provides the Executive with greater freedom and flexibility to deliver improvements in public
services.

5 The Private Finance Initiative was launched in 1992. Since then it has become one of the main methods by which
government has delivered its capital infrastructure programme.
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Currently the main reporting route for Northern Ireland’s PFI commitments is through
individual Departmental Resource Accounts and Annual Accounts of Arms Length Bodies.
Data on Northern Ireland’s PFl projects is also submitted to HM Treasury and published on its
website. The OFMDFM Accounting Officer confirmed to the Committee that the information on
the site was correct and regularly checked by his staff. However, the Committee is concerned
about significant discrepancies in the data which was found to be incomplete and resulted in
incorrect information being provided in response to Assembly members questions.

The Committee welcomes the Accounting Officer’'s undertaking to consider what additional
measures could be taken to improve the accuracy and transparency of local information.
The proposed inclusion of up-to-date information on PFI projects in the annual report on the
Executive’s Investment Strategy will improve the information available to the Assembly and
public. However, this must be at an adequate level of detail to give a full picture, at both
aggregate and departmental level, of committed projects and projects in the pipeline.

In terms of RRI borrowing, the Committee welcomes the acknowledgement by the DFP
Accounting Officer of the benefits of the Executive having a strategy in place.

The Committee also welcomes the inclusion of detailed information on RRI borrowings within
the draft Budget 2015-2016. The Committee notes that the Executive are in the process

of considering mechanisms for capping RRI borrowing to ensure that the overall level of
borrowing remains within manageable limits.

In this respect the preparation of an RRI borrowing strategy by DFP is an encouraging
development and the Committee looks forward to this being approved by the Executive and
published as soon as possible.

Recommendation 1

The Committee recommends that the transparency of long term PFI commitments
improves. The publication of PFI commitments information on the OFMDFM website and
proposed inclusion of up-to-date PFI information in the annual report on the Executive’s
Investment Strategy will provide greater clarity. However, it is important that the
information provided is up-to-date and presents a full picture of committed projects and
projects in the pipeline.

Public bodies need to do more to seek efficiencies and savings from operational PFI
projects

In the Committee’s view the completion and approval of business cases and the fact that PFI
contracts are competitively tendered do not, on their own, provide assurance that value for
money is being delivered. The Committee is therefore unconvinced by the general assurances
given in evidence that all public bodies continue to obtain value for money from current
operational PFI contracts. The Committee considers that active benchmarking and market
testing, at regular intervals throughout the life of a contract, offer much better evidence of
whether projects are currently delivering value for money.

Long-term PFI contracts make provision for a value for money review of services every five
years. In evidence to the Committee the Accounting Officer reported that such a review in NI
Water had resulted in £11 million of savings being delivered. This clearly demonstrates the
potential benefits from such reviews. However, it is not clear to the Committee, or from the
responses received by NIAO to its survey, that other five year reviews are being conducted to
the same rigorous standard or that they are being effective in generating savings.

The Committee recognises that individual Accounting Officers are responsible for their own
areas of spend but given that there are currently 32 operational PFI projects, considers
that expertise is thinly spread across the system. Currently advice on managing contracts
is provided to departments by DFP (through the Central Procurement Directorate) and SIB.
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However, the Committee was concerned to find that there is no strategic programme to review
PFI contracts and maximise the opportunities to realise value for money savings.

In the Committee’s opinion, given that departments are expected to make annual savings,
the private sector should be expected to contribute to this. The Committee considers that
this can be better done if driven from the centre using the specialist advice and expertise
available in SIB. The Committee recognises the Accounting Officers’ acknowledgement
that it could be better coordinated and welcomes the steps that have been taken since the
publication of the Audit Office report.

The SIB’s engagement with other UK Departments and public bodies to learn from their
experience of carrying out efficiency reviews is an encouraging development. The key lessons
emerging from this interaction must be communicated to all public bodies.

Recommendation 2

The Committee recommends that the Strategic Investment Board is tasked with developing
a strategic programme to promote an initiative aimed at driving long term efficiencies from
operational PFI projects and maximising value for money savings.

Recommendation 3

The Committee recommends that OFMDFM, in conjunction with SIB, examines the scope
for extending the use of the voluntary code of conduct for operational PFl/PPP contracts.
The Committee considers that all departments involved in PFl contracts should be signed
up to the voluntary code and be actively encouraging their private sector partners to do
likewise.
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Part 2:

Belfast Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP project

The Public Accounts Committee (the Committee) met on 18th June 2014 and 17th
September 2014 to consider the Comptroller and Auditor General’s report on ‘Belfast
Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP project’. The withesses were:

®  Mr Derek Baker, Accounting Officer, Department for Employment and Learning (DEL)
m  Ms Marie-Thérese McGivern, Principal and Chief Executive, Belfast Metropolitan College
®  Ms Elaine Hartin, Chief Operating Officer, Belfast Metropolitan College

®  Mr Tom Redmond, Head of Further Estates Branch, Department for Employment and
Learning

®  Mr Pat O’Neill, Strategic Investment Board (SIB)
®  Mr Kieran Donnelly, Comptroller and Auditor General
m  Mr Jack Layberry, Treasury Officer of Accounts

®  Mr Mike Brennan, Acting Treasury Officer of Accounts

The deal required upfront payments of £20 million by the public sector

Belfast Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter campus was completed in August 2011 as a
replacement for the College Square East and Brunswick Street campuses. It is the largest
and most expensive Further Education PPP project to date with a capital cost of £44 million.

This should have been a low risk project but due to the manner in which the project was
managed ended up being more complex and high risk than necessary. However, a significant
and unusual feature of the deal was that the Department for Employment and Learning
injected £20 million into the project, including £5 million to purchase the sub-lease for the

TQ site. The sale of the College’s surplus properties at Brunswick Street and College Square
East was intended to cover these capital contributions. However, the Committee was informed
by the Department that proceeds from the sales of the properties in 2014 were only £5.6
million. This left a shortfall in excess of £14 million which the Department has underwritten.

The initial proposal, on which lvywood Colleges Limited (ICL) was appointed preferred

bidder, envisaged the transfer of College Square East and Brunswick Street to ICL following
completion of the Titanic Quarter campus. However in November 2006, shortly after
appointing ICL as preferred bidder, the College sought to remove the properties from the deal
and sell them on the open market. In lieu the College committed to a capital contribution

of £10 million. This decision was made at a time when the value of property was rising
dramatically and it was felt that removing them from the deal was the best way of achieving
open market value.

The Committee does not accept the assertion of the SIB witness that this decision was

in line with emerging guidance at that time. A key recommendation of the PAC report on
“Transfer of Surplus Land” , published on 13 December 2007 and an earlier NIAO report,
was that public sector bodies must assess the relative returns and priority between inclusion
and conventional disposal, and properly assess the contribution those assets make to

the achievement of other strategic objectives. Neither report recommended that surplus
properties should be removed from PPP deals but that regardless of the chosen method of
disposal public bodies must be able to demonstrate that they have obtained best value for
money.
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The effect of the College’s decision was that the public sector became responsible for
managing the risk of movements in the value of the property market. In the Committee’s view
this was a major mistake and was contrary to one of the key principles of PPP that risk is
allocated to the party best able to manage it.

In addition, it allowed ICL to seek to increase the value of the TQ site in its bid from £3
million to £7.7 million. As a compromise the Department purchased the sublease of the

site outside of the PPP deal; this was funded through an up-front £5 million payment, split
equally between Belfast Harbour Commissioners and Titanic Quarter Ltd. It was intended that
this would be recouped through the sale of the surplus buildings in College Square East and
Brunswick Street.

The Department contend that, as the surplus properties were removed from the deal, they
should not form part of the value for money assessment of the Titanic Quarter project. The
Committee is clear; the opportunity cost of making up the £14 million shortfall must be
factored into any realistic value for money assessment of the project.

ICL’s appointment as preferred bidder was premature and was the fundamental cause of
the catalogue of problems that ensued, including the erosion of value for money.

ICL was appointed preferred bidder despite there being significant unresolved issues with
their proposals. These included leasing arrangements; planning requirements; and the
proposals for the provision of car parking at the Titanic Quarter site. Over the period of the
ensuing negotiations that extended from a planned 12 months to 33 months, the value for
money of the deal eroded significantly.

The leasing arrangements for the Titanic Quarter site were complex due to the number and
relationship of the parties involved, i.e. the College, ICL, the Belfast Harbour Commissioners
(BHC) and Titanic Quarter Limited (TQL). However, the Committee finds it astonishing that the
Department, who were represented on the project board, claims that it only became aware in
November 2007 that there were problems with the lease. These were eventually resolved and
lease approved by the College in November 2008.

It is important to note that ICL's parent company, Titanic Quarter Ltd®, had exclusive
development rights in Titanic Quarter. In this context the appointment of ICL, before critical
issues were resolved placed the College in a weak negotiating position. In the Committee’s
view ICL could, and did, dictate the pace of the negotiations in this project.

This is further evidenced by the fact that, in February 2007, just four months after their
appointment as preferred bidder, ICL submitted a planning application for a sub-basement car
park, removing the adjacent car parking that had been included in its original bid.

The car parking issue was not resolved until June 2008 when the College entered into an
agreement with a company connected to ICL - Ivywood Car Parks Limited — which would see
this company construct, at its own cost (£5.3 million), a sub-basement car park which it is
entitled to operate for 40 years after which it reverts to the College at no cost. However, in
September 2008, ICL’s funding bank advised that its appetite to provide all of the funding
for the project was reduced due primarily to the uncertainty in financial markets. It also had
concerns about the additional interface risks of the underground car park which sat outside
of the project. This meant that the project risks could not be controlled as tightly as would
normally be the case.To resolve the situation the Department, College and ICL negotiated
an increase in the public sector capital contribution (an accelerated debt repayment) to

the College project from £10 million to £15 million; the Department pointed out that this
resulted in a reduction in the unitary charge of just over £360,000 per annum over the

25 years of the project.

Titanic Quarter Ltd has, as part of a leasing agreement with Belfast Harbour Commissioners, exclusive development
rights for the Titanic Quarter site.
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In the Committee’s view both the leasing and car parking issues provided the College with
opportunities to re-assess the project at an early stage and/or pursue alternative solutions,
e.g. pursuing the reserve bid or going back to the market, without the risk of financial penalty
In addition to questions put to the witnesses during both evidence sessions and having
assessed additional documentation provided to the Committee, including relevant extracts
from all Governing Body minutes relating to the Titanic Quarter PPR the Committee is not
convinced that either option was given serious consideration.

The Accounting Officer referred to a number of “tipping points” or critical points during

the course of the project where the Department had to take decisions on proceeding

with the project. In taking these decisions the Accounting Officer told the Committee that
the Department’s thinking was influenced by the Committee’s previous criticisms of the
Department walking away from the Springvale project. The Committee does not accept this.
Springvale was a very different project undertaken at a different time and in very different
circumstances to the College’s TQ project.

While it is clear to the Committee that ICL's negotiating strategy included an option to walk
away, no such option was apparent in the public sector’s negotiating strategy. When pressed
during negotiations e.g. value of the site, removal of properties and funding of the car park,
the public sector’s response was to agree to make capital contributions to the project; whilst
this resulted in a reduction in the annual unitary payment, in doing so it also significantly
increased the public sector’s exposure to risk.

Recommendation 4

The Committee recommends that, ahead of appointing a preferred bidder, public bodies
must fully test the deliverability of bids and limit the extent of unresolved issues within
the bid. This will help protect the public sector’s interests by ensuring that any subsequent
negotiations are kept to a minimum.

Recommendation 5

The Committee recommends that, ahead of a procurement process for design and build
projects, public bodies must develop a credible alternative solution or “exit strategy”
which they must be willing to implement.

The College required minimal car parking provision but ended up
agreeing a 40 year deal for a commercial underground car park

During both evidence sessions, the Department strongly rejected any link between the
additional £5 million funding and the costs of constructing the underground commercial

car park. To gain a further insight into this issue and on the reasonable supposition that
additional construction costs would be incurred in erecting a main college building, with

a stronger sub-structure to support the late inclusion of an underground car park. The
Committee asked the Department for a detailed breakdown of bid costs and final account
costs. The Department was unable to provide this information as they said that costs broken
down in this way are not available in a PPP tender and only global construction costs are
presented. In addition, the final outturn costs incurred by the bidder are not actually known
by the College. The Committee finds this incredulous. This is basic information and is the
building block for determining the construction costs of any project whether procured through
conventional means or PPP

The Committee is not convinced by the evidence presented by the College and the
Department. It was felt that they did not adequately manage risks and protect the public

11
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34.

35.

36.

sector’s interest by not factoring in the likely additional costs that would have been incurred
for the construction of the car park into the overall construction costs.

It was evident from the Titanic Quarter Development Framework (February 2005) that car
park provision was a planning requirement for the development of the complete TQ site

and individual projects within it. The Committee considers that the Department and College
were remiss and should have more rigorously tested and validated ICL's proposals and been
prepared to negotiate on the construction costs, just as ICL negotiated on the value of the TQ
site.

Recommendation 6

The Committee recommends that, in addition to the overall economic assessment of bids,
detailed costings should be assessed for reasonableness and negotiated down where
necessary.

During the procurement the College faced significant financial
challenges and governance arrangements at the College and
Department were extremely weak

The Committee is encouraged by the significant improvement in the College’s financial
management and improvement in control environment that have been brought about by the
current Principal/Chief Executive and her team. It is evident that, prior to their appointment,
the College was struggling. In relation to this project the College had failed to adequately
manage its consultancy contract which put the project in jeopardy. The original budget for
the advisors was £300,000. However, the contract was extended without any formal process
in place for this. Although the final cost was likely to be in the region of £2.2 million it was
settled for £1.5 million. The Committee considers that this is indicative of the inadequate
governance; and poor financial and management controls operating at the College following
the merger of BIFHE and Castlereagh colleges in 2007 and during the procurement phase
of this project. The Committee also considers that it reflects the inadequacies of the
Department’s oversight of the College and this project in particular. This is further evidenced
by the fact that the Department had failed to notice, until pointed out by NIAQ, that the

£5 million IT spend for this project required DFP approval. This was sought and given
retrospectively.

The Committee welcomes the Department’s assurances that steps have been taken to
improve estate strategies in FE and its plans to put in place space utilisation targets for
the sector. The College did not have a robust estate strategy in place and the audit trail
supporting the identification of accommodation requirements for the new Campus was
acknowledged by the Department and the College as being weak.

Recommendation 7

The Committee is encouraged by the Department’s recent steps to improve its estate
strategies. The Committee recommends that, as part of its asset management strategy,

it should develop space utilisation benchmarks and targets for the further education
sector in Northern Ireland to ensure that the most effective and efficient use is made of its
estate.

12
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37.

38.

39.

Significant additional costs have been incurred on the project outside
the PPP agreement that must be factored into a valid assessment of the
value for money of this project

Other significant costs have also been incurred outside of the PPP contract in order to
deliver an operational campus. These include £5 million for IT, multimedia and telephony;
£1.8 million for consultancy and advisory costs and £1.1 million preparing for the sale and
maintenance of College Square East and Brunswick Street buildings. These costs must also
be factored into any realistic assessment of value for money of the project.

The Committee welcomes the College’s assurances that the Gateway Review on Operations
and Benefits Realisation (Gate 5) process will be conducted at the end of 2014. That said,
the Committee is concerned that benefits realisation was not adequately addressed through
the strategic planning process and in the preparation of the business plans supporting the
project.

The College has also experienced difficulties agreeing unitary payments and deductions for
below standard performance. In addition, the contractor had, at the time of the Committee’s
inquiry, still to re-run the financial model to take account of any post-signing contract
variations which may result in changes to the unitary payment. Although the Committee was
assured by the College’s witnesses that the changes to the unitary charge would be minor, it
is important that the private sector fulfils this contractual obligation.

Recommendation 8

The Committee recommends that, as part of the post project review process, public
sector bodies must include all costs of delivering the project. This should include a
consideration of any opportunity costs arising from investment decisions taken, such as
the Department’s agreement to underwrite losses resulting from asset sales.

Recommendation 9

The Committee recommends that the Department and the College now finalise all
post project reviews and evaluations on the Titantic Quarter project to ensure a timely
dissemination of the lessons learned.
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Minutes of Proceedings of the Committee Relating to the Report

Wednesday, 28 May 2014
Room 106, Parliament Buildings

Present: Ms Michaela Boyle (Chairperson)
Mr Trevor Clarke
Mr Michael Copeland
Mr Alex Easton
Mr Paul Girvan
Mr Ross Hussey
Mr Adrian McQuillan
Mr Sean Rogers

In Attendance: Ms Lucia Wilson (Assembly Clerk)
Mr Trevor Allen  (Assistant Assembly Clerk)
Mrs Danielle Saunders (Clerical Supervisor)
Mr Darren Weir (Clerical Officer)
Miss Clare Rice (Bursary Student)

Apologies: Mr John Dallat (Deputy Chairperson)
Mr Chris Hazzard
Mr Daithi McKay

2.27pm The meeting opened in public session
2.32pm Mr Girvan joined the meeting

2.41pm Mr Copeland and Mr Rogers left the meeting
2.43pm Mr Easton joined the meeting

2.50pm Mr Copeland re-joined the meeting

2.53pm Mr Hussey left the meeting

2.57pm the meeting moved to closed session

Inquiry into the Future Impact of Borrowing and Private Finance Commitments and Belfast
Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP Project — Briefing Session

The Committee received briefing from C&AG, Eddie Bradley, Brandon McMaster and Sean
Beattie on the above Audit Office reports.

3.34pm Mr Copeland left the meeting

[EXTRACT]
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Wednesday, 4 June 2014
Room 106, Parliament Buildings

Present:

In Attendance:

Apologies:

Ms Michaela Boyle (Chairperson)
Mr John Dallat (Deputy Chairperson)
Mr Trevor Clarke

Mr Michael Copeland

Mr Alex Easton

Mr Paul Girvan

Mr Sean Rogers

Ms Lucia Wilson (Assembly Clerk)

Mr Trevor Allen  (Assistant Assembly Clerk)
Mrs Danielle Saunders (Clerical Supervisor)
Mr Darren Weir (Clerical Officer)

Mr Chris Hazzard
Mr Ross Hussey
Mr Daithi McKay
Mr Adrian McQuillan

2.22pm The meeting opened in public session

2.46pm Mr Girvan and Mr Easton joined the meeting

2.49pm The meeting moved to closed session

Inquiry into the Future Impact of Borrowing and Private Finance Commitments and Belfast

Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP Project — Preparation Session

The Committee received further briefing from C&AG, Brandon McMaster, Sean Beattie and
Richard Emerson on the above Audit Office reports.

The Committee identified and developed core issues arising from the reports in preparation
for its forthcoming evidence sessions on 11th and 18th June 2014.

3.27pm Mr Copeland left the meeting

[EXTRACT]
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Minutes of Proceedings of the Committee Relating to the Report

Wednesday, 11 June 2014
Senate Chamber, Parliament Buildings

Present: Mr John Dallat (Deputy Chairperson)

Mr Michael Copeland

Mr Alex Easton

Mr Paul Girvan

Mr Chris Hazzard

Mr Ross Hussey

Mr Daithi McKay

Mr Sean Rogers

In Attendance: Ms Lucia Wilson (Assembly Clerk)
Mr Trevor Allen  (Assistant Assembly Clerk)
Mrs Danielle Saunders (Clerical Supervisor)
Mr Darren Weir (Clerical Officer)

Apologies: Ms Michaela Boyle (Chairperson)
Mr Trevor Clarke
Mr Adrian McQuillan

2.06pm The meeting began in closed session

Inquiry into the Future Impact of Borrowing and Private Finance Commitments and Belfast
Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP Project — Preparation Session

The Committee concluded its preparations in advance of the evidence session on the ‘Future
Impact of Borrowing and Private Finance Commitments’ element of the inquiry.

2.32pm The meeting moved to public session

Inquiry into the Future Impact of Borrowing and Private Finance Commitments and Belfast
Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP Project — Evidence Session

The Committee took oral evidence on the above inquiry from:

®  Dr Mark Browne, Accounting Officer, Office of the First Minister and deputy First Minister
(OFMDFM);

m  Mr Stephen Peover, Accounting Officer, Department of Finance & Personnel (DFP);
®  Mr Brett Hannam, Chief Executive, Strategic Investment Board; and

®  Mr Michael Breenan, Budget Director, DFR

The witnesses answered a number of questions put by the Committee and agreed to provide
additional information in writing.

2.44pm Mr Hazzard joined the meeting
2.46pm Mr McKay joined the meeting
2.55pm Mr Hazzard left the meeting
2.56pm Mr Hazzard re-joined the meeting
3.09pm Mr Hussey left the meeting
3.13pm Mr McKay left the meeting

3.53pm Mr Copeland re-joined the meeting
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The Deputy Chairperson wished Mr Peover well in his forthcoming retirement and thanked him
for his work with the Committee over the years.

3.54pm The meeting moved to closed session
3.55pm Mr Girvan left the meeting

6. Inquiry into the Future Impact of Borrowing and Private Finance Commitments and Belfast
Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP Project — Discussion on Evidence Session

The Committee discussed the issues arising from the evidence session on the above inquiry
to inform the drafting of an issues paper for consideration at the meeting of 25 June 2014.

[EXTRACT]
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Minutes of Proceedings of the Committee Relating to the Report

Wednesday, 18 June 2014
Senate Chamber, Parliament Buildings

Present:

In Attendance:

Apologies:

Ms Michaela Boyle (Chairperson)
Mr John Dallat (Deputy Chairperson)
Mr Trevor Clarke

Mr Michael Copeland

Mr Alex Easton

Mr Paul Girvan

Mr Adrian McQuillan

Ms Lucia Wilson (Assembly Clerk)

Mr Trevor Allen  (Assistant Assembly Clerk)
Mrs Danielle Saunders (Clerical Supervisor)
Mr Darren Weir (Clerical Officer)

Mr Chris Hazzard
Mr Ross Hussey
Mr Daithi McKay
Mr Sean Rogers

2.18pm The meeting began in public session

Inquiry into the Future Impact of Borrowing and Private Finance Commitments and Belfast
Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP Project — Evidence Session

The Committee took oral evidence on the above inquiry from:

m  Mr Derek Baker, Accounting Officer, Department for Employment and Learning;

®m Mr Tom Redmond, Head of Further Education Estates Branch, Department for Employment

and Learning;

®  Marie-Thérése McGivern, Principal and Chief Executive, Belfast Metropolitan College; and

®  Ms Elaine Hartin, Chief Operating Officer, Belfast Metropolitan College.

The witnesses answered a number of questions put by the Committee and agreed to provide
additional information in writing.

[EXTRACT]
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Wednesday, 25 June 2014
Room 29, Parliament Buildings

Present: Ms Michaela Boyle (Chairperson)
Mr Trevor Clarke
Mr Michael Copeland
Mr Alex Easton
Mr Paul Girvan
Mr Chris Hazzard
Mr Daithi McKay
Mr Adrian McQuillan
Mr Sean Rogers

In Attendance: Miss Aoibhinn Treanor  (Assembly Clerk)
Mr Trevor Allen  (Assistant Assembly Clerk)
Mrs Danielle Saunders (Clerical Supervisor)
Mr Darren Weir (Clerical Officer)

Apologies: Mr John Dallat (Deputy Chairperson)
2.11pm The meeting began in public session
2.17pm Mr Hazzard joined the meeting
2.20pm The meeting moved to closed session
2.28pm Mr Clarke joined the meeting

2.29pm Mr McKay left the meeting

2.37pm Mr Copeland left the meeting
2.39pm Mr McQuillan left the meeting
2.40pm Mr Copeland re-joined the meeting
2.44pm Mr McQuillan re-joined the meeting
2.45pm Mr Girvan left the meeting

2.48pm Mr Girvan re-joined the meeting

6. Inquiry into the Future Impact of Borrowing and Private Finance Commitments and Belfast
Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP Project — Consideration of Issues Arising from
Evidence Session

Agreed: The Committee noted correspondence received from members of the public in
relation to this inquiry and agreed to seek clarification of the issues raised.

The Committee considered the information received during the evidence session on 18 June

2014.

3.09pm Mr Rogers left the meeting
3.19pm Mr Rogers re-joined the meeting
3.20pm Mr Clarke left the meeting

3.22pm Mr McQuillan left the meeting
3.23pm Mr McQuillan re-joined the meeting
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3.23pm Mr McQuillan left the meeting

3.24pm Mr Girvan left the meeting

3.28pm Mr Copeland re-joined the meeting

3.34pm Mr Clarke left the meeting

3.41pm Mr Hazzard left the meeting

3.46pm Mr Hazzard re-joined the meeting

3.47pm Mr Hazzard left the meeting

3.48pm Mr Hazzard re-joined the meeting

Agreed: The Committee agreed to call, to provide further evidence at the meeting of

17 September, the original witnesses in the BMC inquiry, and further to call
an additional named representative of the Strategic Investment Board. The
Committee also agreed to seek information from Ulster Bank in relation to the
financing of the project.

[EXTRACT]
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Wednesday, 10 September 2014
Room 29, Parliament Buildings

Present: Ms Michaela Boyle (Chairperson)
Mr John Dallat (Deputy Chairperson)
Mr Trevor Clarke
Mr Alex Easton
Mr Paul Girvan
Mr Chris Hazzard
Mr Adrian McQuillan
Mr Sean Rogers

In Attendance: Ms Lucia Wilson (Assembly Clerk)
Mr Trevor Allen  (Assistant Assembly Clerk)
Mrs Danielle Saunders (Clerical Supervisor)
Mr Darren Weir (Clerical Officer)

Apologies: Mr Michael Copeland
Mr Ross Hussey
Mr Daithi McKay

2.12pm The meeting began in public session
2.14pm Mr Hazzard joined the meeting
2.15pm Mr McQuillan joined the meeting
2.35pm Mr Hazzard left the meeting

2.38pm Mr Hazzard re-joined the meeting
2.44pm Mr Easton left the meeting

3.02pm Mr Eason re-joined the meeting
3.16pm The meeting moved to closed session

3.47pm Mr Girvan left the meeting

8. Inquiry into the Future Impact of Borrowing and Private Finance Commitments and Belfast
Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP Project — Correspondence and Preparation
Session

3.57pm Mr McQuillan left the meeting

The Committee noted a number of items of correspondence received during summer recess
on the above inquiry.

Members noted that, following a request, the Chairperson will meet with a representative of
the Ulster Bank to discuss issues of concern in relation to this inquiry.

The Committee also concluded its preparations in advance of the evidence session on the
‘Belfast Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP Project’ element of the above inquiry,
scheduled for 17th September 2014.

4.06pm Mr Clarke left the meeting
4.11pm Mr Girvan re-joined the meeting

4.13pm Mr Dallat left the meeting
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4.15pm Mr Girvan left the meeting; the meeting became inquorate
4.24pm Mr Dallat re-joined the meeting; quorum returned

4.28pm Mr Girvan re-joined the meeting

4.28pm Mr Hazzard left the meeting

[EXTRACT]
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Wednesday, 17 September 2014
Senate Chamber, Parliament Buildings

Present: Ms Michaela Boyle (Chairperson)
Mr John Dallat (Deputy Chairperson)
Mr Trevor Clarke
Mr Michael Copeland
Mr Alex Easton
Mr Paul Girvan
Mr Chris Hazzard
Mr Ross Hussey
Mr Daithi McKay
Mr Adrian McQuillan
Mr Sean Rogers

In Attendance: Ms Lucia Wilson (Assembly Clerk)
Mr Trevor Allen  (Assistant Assembly Clerk)
Mr Jack Peel (Assistant Assembly Clerk)
Mrs Danielle Saunders (Clerical Supervisor)
Mr Darren Weir (Clerical Officer)

Apologies: No apologies were received.

2.14pm The meeting began in public session

4. Inquiry into the Future Impact of Borrowing and Private Finance Commitments and Belfast
Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP Project — Evidence Session

The Committee noted a number of items of correspondence from Derek Baker, Accounting
Officer, Department for Employment and Learning.

The Committee took oral evidence on the above inquiry from:
® Derek Baker, Accounting Officer, Department for Employment and Learning;

® Tom Redmond, Head of Further Education Estates Branch, Department for Employment
and Learning;

m  Marie-Thérése McGivern, Principal and Chief Executive, Belfast Metropolitan College;
m  Elaine Hartin, Chief Operating Officer, Belfast Metropolitan College; and
m Pat O’'Neill, Strategic Adviser, Strategic Investment Board (SIB).

The witnesses answered a number of questions put by the Committee and agreed to provide
additional information in writing.

2.29pm Mr McKay joined the meeting
2.55pm Mr Hazzard left the meeting
2.58pm Mr Hazzard re-joined the meeting
3.00pm Mr Hussey left the meeting
3.03pm Mr McKay left the meeting
3.09pm Mr Copeland left the meeting

3.10pm Mr Hussey re-joined the meeting
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3.17pm Mr McKay re-joined the meeting
3.18pm Mr Copeland re-joined the meeting
3.24pm Mr McQuillan left the meeting
3.33pm Mr Copeland left the meeting
3.38pm Mr Dallat left the meeting

3.42pm Mr Dallat re-joined the meeting
3.45pm Mr Hazzard left the meeting
3.56pm Mr Rogers left the meeting
3.57pm Mr McKay left the meeting
4.01pm Mr Rogers re-joined the meeting
4.33pm Mr Rogers left the meeting
4.46pm The meeting moved to closed session

[EXTRACT]
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Wednesday, 24 September 2014
Room 29, Parliament Buildings

Present: Ms Michaela Boyle (Chairperson)
Mr John Dallat (Deputy Chairperson)
Mr Trevor Clarke
Mr Michael Copeland
Mr Paul Girvan
Mr Chris Hazzard
Mr Ross Hussey
Mr Daithi McKay

In Attendance: Ms Lucia Wilson (Assembly Clerk)
Mr Trevor Allen  (Assistant Assembly Clerk)
Mr Jack Peel (Assistant Assembly Clerk)
Mrs Danielle Saunders (Clerical Supervisor)
Mr Darren Weir (Clerical Officer)

Apologies: Mr Alex Easton
Mr Sean Rogers
Mr Adrian McQuillan

2.16pm The meeting began in public session
2.22pm Mr Copeland left the meeting

2.23pm Mr Copeland re-joined the meeting
14.55pm Mr Copeland left the meeting
15.03pm The meeting moved into closed session
15.05pm Mr Copeland re{joined the meeting
15.09pm Mr Dallat left the meeting

15.11pm Mr Dallat re-joined the meeting
15.27pm Mr Hussey left the meeting

15.29pm Mr Girvan left the meeting

15.34pm Mr Hussey re-joined the meeting
15.36pm The meeting returned to public session
15.48pm Trevor Clarke left the meeting
15.55pm Michael Copeland left the meeting
16:02pm Mr Girvan re-joined the meeting
16:02pm Mr McKay left the meeting

16:04pm Mr Copeland re-joined the meeting

16.20pm Mr Clarke re-joined the meeting
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Inquiry into the Future Impact of Borrowing and Private Finance Commitments and Belfast
Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP Project — Consideration of Issues Papers

Agreed: The Committee noted correspondence from Mr Pat O’Neill, Strategic Investment
Board, and agreed to write to Mr Brett Hannam, Chief Executive of the SIB, to
ask him for an answer to the query on the role of SIB in the wider Titanic Quarter
project.

The Committee noted correspondence in relation to the Equality Impact Assessment of the
Belfast Metropolitan College.

The Committee received briefing from the C&AG, Brandon McMaster and Richard Emerson on
the inquiry’s issues paper.

Agreed: The Committee noted the issues paper and agreed that the report on the inquiry
be drafted on this basis.

Agreed: The Committee agreed that the Chairperson and Deputy Chairperson would meet
Mr Kenton Hillman, Director of Corporate and Institutional Banking at Ulster
Bank, on Monday 6th October to discuss the project.

16.28pm Mr Hazzard left the meeting

[EXTRACT]
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Wednesday, 15 October 2014
Senate Chamber, Parliament Buildings

Present: Ms Michaela Boyle (Chairperson)

Mr John Dallat (Deputy Chairperson)
Mr Roy Beggs

Mr Trevor Clarke

Mr Paul Girvan

Mr Phil Flanagan

Mr Ross Hussey

Mr Daithi McKay

Mr Sean Rogers

In Attendance: Ms Lucia Wilson (Assembly Clerk)
Mr Jack Peel (Assistant Assembly Clerk)
Mrs Danielle Saunders (Clerical Supervisor)
Mr Darren Weir (Clerical Officer)

Apologies: Mr Adrian McQuillan
2.05pm The meeting began in public session
2.08pm Mr Girvan joined the meeting
2.08pm Mr Flanagan joined the meeting
2.09pm Mr McKay joined the meeting
2.10pm Mr Clarke left the meeting

2.11pm Mr Clarke re-joined the meeting
2.15pm Mr Flanagan left the meeting
2.25pm Mr Hussey left the meeting

2.32pm The meeting went into closed session
2.46pm Mr Girvan left the meeting

2.53pm Mr Girvan re-joined the meeting
2.54pm The meeting was suspended
3.05pm The meeting resumed

3.05pm Mr Flanagan left the meeting
3.15pm Mr Flanagan re-joined the meeting

3.31pm Mr Flanagan left the meeting

7. Inquiry into the Future Impact of Borrowing and Private Finance Commitments and the
Belfast Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP Project

3.38pm Mr McKay left the meeting

The Committee considered correspondence received from Derek Baker, Accounting Officer
Department for Employment and Learning, in response to a request for further information
previously made by the Committee. The Committee received briefing from Brandon McMaster,
NIAO, on the contents of Mr Baker’s correspondence.

30



Minutes of Proceedings of the Committee Relating to the Report

Agreed: The Committee agreed to note Mr Baker’s correspondence.

[EXTRACT]

31



Report on The Future Impact of Borrowing and Private Finance Commitments and Belfast Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP Project

Wednesday, 22 October 2014
Senate Chamber, Parliament Buildings

Present: Ms Michaela Boyle (Chairperson)
Mr Roy Beggs
Mr Trevor Clarke
Mr Alex Easton
Mr Paul Girvan
Mr Daithi McKay
Mr Adrian McQuillan
Mr Sean Rogers

In Attendance: Ms Lucia Wilson (Assembly Clerk)
Mr Jack Peel (Assistant Assembly Clerk)
Mrs Danielle Saunders (Clerical Supervisor)
Mr Darren Weir (Clerical Officer)

Apologies: Mr John Dallat (Deputy Chairperson)
Mr Phil Flanagan
Mr Ross Hussey

2.06pm The meeting began in public session
2.09pm Mr McKay joined the meeting
2.34pm Mr Clarke joined the meeting
2.53pm Mr Clarke left the meeting

3.01pm Mr Clarke re-joined the meeting
3.15pm Mr McKay left the meeting
3.25pm Mr Girvan left the meeting
3.31pm Mr Girvan re-joined the meeting
3.32pm Mr Rogers left the meeting
3.36pm Mr Rogers re-joined the meeting
3.46pm Mr McQuillan left the meeting
3.48pm Mr McQuillan re-joined the meeting
4.12pm Mr McQuillan left the meeting
4.21pm Mr Clarke left the meeting

4.44pm The meeting went into closed session

7. Inquiry into the Future Impact of Borrowing and Private Finance Commitments and Belfast
Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP Project

The Committee noted an item of correspondence from Mr Brett Hannam, Chief Executive of
the Strategic Investment Board.

[EXTRACT]
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Wednesday, 5 November 2014
Room 29, Parliament Buildings

Present: Mr John Dallat (Deputy Chairperson)
Mr Roy Beggs
Mr Trevor Clarke
Mr Alex Easton
Mr Paul Girvan
Mr Ross Hussey
Mr Sean Rogers

In Attendance: Ms Lucia Wilson (Assembly Clerk)
Mr Jack Peel (Assistant Assembly Clerk)
Mrs Danielle Saunders (Clerical Supervisor)
Mr Darren Weir (Clerical Officer)

Apologies: Ms Michaela Boyle (Chairperson)
Mr Phil Flanagan

2.13pm The meeting began in public session
2.15pm Mr Beggs joined the meeting
2.17pm Mr Clarke joined the meeting

2.18pm The meeting went into closed session

Inquiry into the Future Impact of Borrowing and Private Finance Commitments and Belfast
Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP Project — Consideration of Draft Report

Agreed: The Committee considered its draft report on the above inquiry
Part 1: The Future Impact of Borrowing and Private Finance Commitments

Introduction
Paragraphs 1-5 read and agreed

Paragraphs 6-8 read and agreed

Paragraph 9 read, amended and agreed
Recommendation 1 read and agreed
Paragraphs 11-12 read and agreed

2.35pm Mr Easton left the meeting
Paragraphs 13-15 read, amended and agreed
Recommendations 2-3 read and agreed

Part 2: Belfast Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP project
Paragraph 16 read, amended and agreed
Paragraph 17 read, amended and agreed
Paragraphs 18-22 read and agreed

2.48pm Mr Clarke left the meeting
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2.50pm Mr Easton re-joined the meeting
Paragraphs 23-27 read and agreed
Paragraph 28 read, amended and agreed
Paragraphs 29-30 read and agreed
Recommendations 4 and 5 read and agreed
2.55pm Mr Rogers left the meeting
2.58pm Mr Hussey left the meeting

The Committee lost its decision-making quorum. In the absence of a decision-making quorum
proceedings continued in line with Standing Order 49(5).

3.02pm Mr Girvan left the meeting

The Committee lost its quorum. In the absence of a quorum the Chairperson suspended the
meeting in line with Standing Order 46(6).

3.04pm Mr Clarke and Mr Girvan re-joined the meeting

The meeting regained quorum and the Chairperson resumed the meeting in line with Standing
Order 46(6).

Paragraphs 31-35 read, amended and agreed
3.06pm Mr Hussey re-joined the meeting
3.11pm Mr Rogers re-joined the meeting
Recommendation 6 agreed

Paragraphs 36-37 read, amended and agreed
Paragraph 38 read and agreed
Recommendation 7 read and agreed
Paragraphs 39-41 read and agreed
Recommendation 8 read and agreed
Recommendation 9 read, amended and agreed

Executive Summary
Paragraphs 1-21 read and agreed

Summary of Recommendations
Recommendations 1-8 read and agreed
Recommendation 9 read, amended and agreed

Agreed: The Committee agreed the minutes, minutes of evidence and correspondence to
be included as appendices to the report.

Agreed: The Committee ordered the report to be printed

Agreed: The Committee agreed the report to be launched on Wednesday 3rd December
and a press release be issued on Wednesday 26th November

[EXTRACT]
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Minutes of Evidence — 11 June 2014

Mr Mike Brennan

Dr Mark Browne

Mr Brett Hannam

Mr Kieran Donnelly

Mr Jack Layberry

11 June 2014

Members present for all or part of the
proceedings:

Mr John Dallat (Deputy Chairperson)
Mr Michael Copeland

Mr Alex Easton

Mr Paul Girvan

Mr Chris Hazzard

Mr Ross Hussey

Mr Daithi McKay

Mr Sean Rogers

Witnesses:

Department of Finance
and Personnel

Mr Stephen Peover

Office of the First
Minister and deputy
First Minister

Strategic Investment
Board

In attendance:

Comptroller and Auditor
General

Treasury Officer of
Accounts

The Deputy Chairperson: With us

for the first time in his new role as
Treasury Officer of Accounts (TOA) is
Mr Jack Layberry. Jack, on behalf of the
Committee, | welcome you. | wish you
every success as TOA and look forward
to working with you.

Mr Jack Layberry (Treasury Officer of
Accounts): Thank you.

The Deputy Chairperson: We also have
Dr Mark Browne and Mr Stephen Peover,
the accounting officers for OFMDFM and
DFP respectively. Also in attendance are
Brett Hannam, the chief executive of the
Strategic Investment Board; and Mike
Brennan, the budget director of DFR
Thank you for joining us. You are very
welcome to the Committee. Members,
you will find biographies for all the
witnesses on pages 13 and 16 of your

electronic packs — not that, | am sure,
you will need to refer to them.

The Audit Office previously reported on
the lack of transparency around these
commitments. Why does there continue
to be a lack of transparency in relation
to the PFI and reinvestment and reform
initiative (RRI) reporting arrangements to
the Assembly and its Committees?

Dr Mark Browne (Office of the First
Minister and deputy First Minister):
Chair, perhaps | will start off by
responding to the question. There are

a number of things that we do to make
information on PFI available to the
Assembly and Ministers. The investment
strategy for Northern Ireland (ISNI)
contains an estimate of the amount of
alternative or private finance that will

be used over the period, in that case to
2021. That is debated in the Assembly
and goes out for public consultation. In
addition, OFMDFM collects information
and makes it available on the Treasury’s
website, which is open to the public.
That sets out in detail all the information
on every individual PFI contract and
includes a range of information,
including the start date, the end date,
the unitary charges that are paid each
year and those contractors that have

an equity interest in the project. That

is available on the Treasury’s website.
An annual update on the investment
strategy is also provided to the
Assembly. That deals with projects that
have been taken forward and projects
that are coming in the future. That also
includes reference to alternative finance
or PFl. There are a range of ways in
which information is provided, but we
accept that the report identified that
there could be an opportunity to make
that information more widely available.

From an OFMDFM perspective, we have
been looking at the information that

is provided on the Treasury’s website.
We intend to take the Northern Ireland
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10.

11.

projects that are detailed there and
make that information available on the
OFMDFM website so that that is more
readily accessible to the Assembly and
others.

The Deputy Chairperson: Maybe | could
refer to the website. According to the
website you have just mentioned, there
are only three PFls in operation in NI,
costing approximately £60 million.

That is significantly lower than the
figures that were reported in the Audit

Office report. Clearly there has been a 12.

breakdown in the system for recording
PFl information on Her Majesty’s
Treasury’s database. Please explain
what went wrong and why incorrect
information was provided in response to
an Assembly question.

14.

Dr Browne: | am not sure about the
response to the Assembly question,
but | was on the website this morning
and there were many more than four
or five — | cannot remember the figure
you gave. Some 35 projects were
listed as under way. There are different
elements to that website, and | do not
know whether someone has looked at

a different part of it, but certainly that 15.

information is there and is available for
those projects. | checked it myself only
this morning.

The Deputy Chairperson: | am sure that
members will take you up on that. | hope
that you were not just on that website
this morning before you came to the
meeting and that it is checked regularly.

Dr Browne: My staff check it regularly.
| personally went into it this morning to

look through the detail in anticipation of 16.

some questions that might come up.

The Deputy Chairperson: Perhaps it
might be appropriate at this stage to put
into context what we are talking about.
When we speak about billions and
billions of pounds, we are well above

the heads of the ordinary taxpayers and
ratepayers who contribute generously.
The Audit Office report shows annual
costs of £250 million for PFI contracts

that have committed the Executive to 17.

over £7 billion in future years. While

13.

members are worried about welfare
reform and all sorts of things, that is a
horrendous figure. Reinvestment and
reform initiative borrowings cost £100
million each year, and estimated interest
of £1-3 billion in future years. | would
have thought that that must be really
scary for future generations. This is the
first time that we have seen the figures.
Do you not think that they should be
more transparent to us as elected
representatives?

Dr Browne: | will make a few comments
on the PFls and Stephen may want to
say something about the RRIs.

The Deputy Chairperson: | must insist
that | get a direct answer to the question
| have just put to you.

Dr Browne: The information on the
amount of money that is spent on

the projects is on the Her Majesty’s
Treasury (HMT) database, which
OFMDFM collects for all the Northern
Ireland Departments. The information
is there for every project and it sets out
the unitary charge for every year, right
beyond the life of the projects.

The numbers are large because they are
the amounts that will be spent over the
next 25 or 30 years. It would be a little
like taking all your mortgage payments
and multiplying them up into one lump
sum and looking at how much you

might have to spend on it over the next
number of years. You will inevitably get a
very large figure when you take amounts
for a long period ahead and roll them

up into a single figure. That is why the
figure appears to be large.

The key point to make is that all the
projects have been subject to business
cases, and all those business cases
have demonstrated that the PFI
approach demonstrated value for money
when compared with the conventional
option. While the figures may be large
when taken over that long period,

the projects have nevertheless been
demonstrated to be value for money
through the business case process.

The Deputy Chairperson: So really,
Dr Browne, you are telling me that
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18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

you are open and transparent, that
everything is in place and that there is
really no reason for complaining about
the accountability and transparency
of the process to the Northern Ireland
Assembly.

Dr Browne: | am saying that information
is available in a variety of forms. | think
that information in response to the
report and the comments that are being
made could be better signposted so
that members can get information more
quickly when they have an interest in
this area. That is something that we will
look at. | have already indicated that

we will be putting the relevant Northern
Ireland information on the OFMDFM
website, and we will put a link to the
SIB website and make sure that, when
someone is looking for that kind of
information on a project, it is available
readily.

The Deputy Chairperson: Dr Browne,
just to get it clear for the record, we are
not now totally dependent on a website

for information to the Northern Ireland 24,

Assembly on how much debt has been
accumulated for the next 30 years for
future generations.

25.

Dr Browne: The information on
individual projects is on the website;
the information on PFl is contained in
each departmental account. There is
also information on RRI and the various
borrowings in the public information and
expenditure account.

The Deputy Chairperson: | will stop you
there and give you a wee bit of history.
In a response from OFMDFM to one of
the Committee’s questions in relation
to the original reinvestment and reform
initiative report back in 2008, it was
stated that Ministers were:

“considering options for reporting PFI
commitments to the Assembly.”

According to the C&AG’s report, there
is still no central collection of PFI costs
and commitments, or dissemination
directly to Northern Ireland. What
options, if any, have been proposed by
your Department for consideration by
Ministers? What was the outcome of

23.

those considerations? We have already
heard about your website; please,
elaborate beyond that.

Dr Browne: The main source for PFI, at
a high level, is the investment strategy,
which sets out the amount of funding
that we have put towards investment
over the longer term and, within that,
gives an indication of the amount of
private expenditure that is planned,
according to the seven pillars and by
Departments. That gives the broad,
high-level amount. Information on the
detailed amount of every project is
provided by the individual website. | have
indicated that we will seek to improve
the signposting of that. Reporting

on PFl is also available in individual
departmental accounts. So, the
information is there, but perhaps it is
not gathered in one place or signposted
as well as it might be for members to
get the information that they require. We
are happy to look at how we can better
signpost in that regard.

The Deputy Chairperson: We will move
on now to questions from individual
members.

Mr Girvan: Chair, | appreciate that you
have taken it down a route, but | want
to go back to the reporting mechanism.
Paragraph 2.10 of the report mentions
the Budget review group having sight

of a lot of this information, but it has
not necessarily reported that through.
Do you not think that it is important
that that be reported through to the
Committees that it is going to impact
upon? Some Departments are making
spend and allocating their money, and
some are not totally across what PFI
contracts they are already committed

to out of their budgets. Yesterday, we
went through an exercise on the Budget
and dealing with the Budget for the next
year. It is difficult to extrapolate some
of the detail of the PFI commitments
within the headings that appear. Maybe
that is easily explained, but it did not
appear to be easy to pull out where
those commitments are put and what
headings they are put under within that
Budget process. Would there be merit in
having a reporting mechanism to ensure
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26.

27.

28.

that Committees and the Assembly are
made aware of all of the commitments
that are put into PFI contracts?

Dr Browne: The Budget review group is
a subgroup of the Executive. Many of the
issues that it considers are classified
as policy in confidence. It would not

be appropriate for the detail of all of
those papers to be made available.

As | said, the reporting that there is
around PFI relates to the ISNI, when it
is first developed. An annual update is
provided on the investment strategy,
there will be six-monthly updates to the
OFMDFM Committee, and the individual
information that | referred to is on

the website. | think that more can be
done to make it apparent where that
information is available. There is also
information in individual departmental
accounts, which Committees have
access to.

Mr Girvan: Yes, each Committee

has access to its own departmental
accounts, though when it comes through
to DFR we get headings. | appreciate
that we cannot, perhaps, go down into
the minutiae of the detail, but | do not
necessarily buy into the idea that there
are contractual details that should not
— we are living in an environment where
openness and transparency is the whole
way forward. Some of the PFI contracts
that we have may have been going for

a number of years. What mechanism

is there to review those contracts and
ensure that we are getting value for
money for them?

| appreciate that, next week, we will
probably be focusing on what we deem
to be, maybe, not great practice in
some of the PFl contracts, and there
are some where there have been glaring
areas where we think they were not
right. That is maybe our interpretation
of that; we will wait to see how it
comes forward and what it bears out. Is
there a mechanism to ensure that we
are continuing to get value for money
from contracts where buildings are not
necessarily being used for the purpose
that they were and, as a consequence,
there is not the same detail required

in those contracts? Have adjustments

29.

30.

been made to ensure that the public
purse is not paying for something that
we do not necessarily need, or is there
flexibility within the contract to allow that
to happen? Sometimes, if | were in the
private sector delivering some of those
projects, | would be quite happy to be
sure that the contract was not written

in a way where there was going to be
wriggle room, because, whether or not a
Department is occupying the building, |
would receive the money for the next 25
years. At the end of that term, whether
it comes back to me or goes into the
public purse is another point. That is
just by the way; maybe you could go into
that point at the start.

Dr Browne: The whole issue of effective
contract management is a very
important one because of the length of
the agreements that there are under PFI.
In this respect, the key responsibility

for contract management lies with the
accountable Department which owns the
contract and has signed the contract.
That Department is responsible for the
review of the contract and for ensuring
that they continue to get value for
money. They are best placed; they know
the area, the sector they are in and how
the contract was negotiated. However,
there are important sources of advice

to Departments, and they are provided
through the Strategic Investment

Board. As part of the learning that has
been built into this process over time,
the Strategic Investment Board has
developed a standard operating contract
which is applied to all PFI contracts.
There is also a gateway process that

all Departments go through before they
carry on through the contract, to make
sure that they are ready and they have
the proper project management skills to
take it forward.

The standard contract that | referred
to, which is sometimes called SoPCNI
(standardisation of PFI contracts
Northern Ireland), has built into it a
five-year review of the soft services
that are provided within the contract. If
circumstances or costs change, there
is an opportunity there for a review of
the contract. However, we recognise
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31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

that more can be done in this area. The
asset management unit has already
been working with some Departments.
There is an example in the report of
some work that was done with Invest NI
on a review of the contract. So, some
work has already been ongoing there.

The report makes a recommendation
that SIB and OFMDFM should work
with Departments to provide a common
approach, so that Departments can
review their contracts. The First
Minister and deputy First Minister have
accepted that recommendation and
have written to SIB asking it to work
with Departments in this area to provide
consistent support and guidance in
taking forward the review of contracts.
That is one that SIB will be taking
forward.

Mr Girvan: | appreciate your openness
on that point. You alluded to the fact
that a five-year review is included on
every contract. That five-year review
should be quite detailed, because we
all have leases on properties, one way
or another, and we know that people
sometimes miss their negotiating
date. As a consequence of missing
your negotiating date, you are held
over a barrel for it. Are those reviews
happening on time, and do they always
deliver savings?

Dr Browne: If you do not mind, | will
hand over to Brett from the SIB for the
detail of this, because he will have that
detailed knowledge.

Mr Girvan: You said that through
OFMDFM, the First Minister and deputy
First Minister have sent direction for
help to be given. Do Departments have
the expertise within them to — what
way should | put it? — be able to
negotiate against what are some very
sharp practices within the private sector
to ensure that they are getting a very
good deal and the public sector is not
necessarily getting as good a deal?

Mr Brett Hannam (Strategic Investment
Board): As Mark said, the responsibility
for managing contracts on a day-to-day
basis lies with the Departments. They

36.

37.

38.

39.

40.

41.

would not wait for five years if there
was a problem with a contract. They
would step in and deal with any issues
that arose as they arose. However, at
the five-year point, the contracts will
always allow for a periodic review and
benchmarking of services to ensure
that the public purse is getting what

it has paid for in terms of the best
deal available at that time. In carrying
out that work, individual Departments
can call upon the Central Procurement
Directorate to provide them with day-
to-day advice on contract management
issues.

The report has suggested that in
addition to that regime, the Strategic
Investment Board should work with
Departments to provide specialist
support for more structured and
detailed reviews that would bring in
legal, technical and financial experts to
work with Departments to determine
whether there are further opportunities
for savings that go beyond the scope of
those five-year reviews. | would be happy
to go through how that might be taken
forward.

The reviews that take place periodically
do deliver savings. One of the most
important of those was one of the water
PFls, where what is known as a prudent
operator review took place and some
£11 million of savings were delivered by
insisting that the operator performed in
a particular way that benefited the public
to the utmost extent.

Mr Girvan: Was that in one contract or
many?

Mr Hannam: Mike would have the
detail on that, but | believe it was two
contracts.

Mr Girvan: So on two contracts there
was £11 million of overcharging that

could potentially have been there had
they not been renegotiated?

Mr Hannam: Certainly, if the people
managing the contract had not taken
that action, it would have been lost, but
the point | am trying to make is that the
contract managers are alive to that.
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42,

43.

44.

45,

46.

47.

48.

49.

You also asked whether we thought the
operating Departments had the skills,
knowledge and experience necessary to
manage these contracts properly. That
assessment is made at the point before
the contract is signed when projects go
through a gateway review, one element

of which is to assess the Department’s 50.

capacity and capability in this specific
field. Unless that can be demonstrated,
the project will not go forward.

Mr Girvan: | appreciate —

The Deputy Chairperson: | want to bring 52.

in Sean just for a minute.
Mr Girvan: Yes, that is OK.

Mr Rogers: It is just a small point but,

| think, a very important point. You
mention “review” very often, but very
few of these reviews were full contract
reviews, as the report states on page
23. Not only that, but frequently savings
were identified but not quantified. There
is a difference between a review and a
full contract review, which | think is very
important. The report states:

“there have been little or no significant
changes to the services or assets provided
since contract signature”.

Can you please identify this review and
a full review? Why were there so few full
contract reviews?

54.

Mr Hannam: | cannot speak for
Departments, because | simply do not
know the arrangements that they have
entered into or the details of the reviews
that they have carried out. The survey
carried out by the Audit Office provides
the data to which | think you are
referring. What OFMDFM has done since
then is to write to all the Departments
that contributed to that survey, in order
better to understand those issues that
they raised. That process is ongoing.
OFMDFM is taking the data and collating
it, and those are the very issues it will
be exploring.

The Deputy Chairperson: Before | go
back to Paul, | am sure members would
be keen to know what has happened
since the issue was first ventilated in
2008. Today, we hear of the role of the

51.

Strategic Investment Board, but, even at
this stage, you are communicating only
with some Departments. Have you been
sitting on your hands, daydreaming,

for the last six years? What has been
happening?

Mr Hannam: No, the Audit Office raised
the possibility of SIB being asked to
work in this area.

The Deputy Chairperson: Did you take it
seriously?

Mr Hannam: Prior to that, we were not
asked to work in this area, and, as |

am sure you are aware, SIB works only
where it is invited to by Departments.
We were not given this responsibility;

as Mark and | set out earlier, the
responsibility rests with Departments in
the first instance. They are able to call
upon specialist support from Central
Procurement Directorate on contract
management issues when they want to.
This is a new initiative, suggested by the
Audit Office, that SIB should become
involved. If you would find it useful, |
could talk you through what SIB has
done since that was suggested and
explain a little bit about how we propose
to take this forward.

The Deputy Chairperson: | will go back
to Paul. Go ahead.

Mr Girvan: In relation to the contracts,
[, for one, having been involved in
many contracts in the past, know how
you can be caught up in quite a bit of
detail and miss specific points. It is
the transparency of the whole process.
When it is public money, | think there
is a necessity for us to be across all of
the detail. | am not always sure. This
is probably the wrong question to ask,
but | will ask it anyway: do we believe
that we have got value for money from
the PFI or PPP contracts, or whatever
term you want to use for revenue-funded
investment, that we have gone forward
with? Could we have made Treasury
borrowings, delivered those projects
and got better value for the public
purse? Could we have gone through that
mechanism, as opposed to going down
the route of some people getting very
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55.

56.

wealthy on the back of the public purse
and delivering buildings that the public
are sold into for generations?

Dr Browne: The key aspect for every
project, regardless of whether it is PFI
or conventional procurement, is that
they have to have a business case.
Those that are thinking of going down
the PFI route must specifically include
within that the option of conventional

procurement. That business case 57.

will look at the whole-life costs, the
services that are being provided and
whether they are fit for purpose, and the
economic and social benefits. Based on
that assessment, it will be determined
whether the project is value for money.
Only those projects that are value for
money are signed off by the Minister and
DFP and are then able to go forward.
So, the guarantee around these projects
being value for money relates to the
business case process.

Mr Girvan: That is a question that |
wanted to get a wee bit of guidance on,
because, if | were delivering something, |
would be expecting to get something out
of it. The business case must stack up.
These are for capital projects, primarily,
so you are going to need a building. You
have made the business case that you
need that. The fact is that it is about the
mechanism for delivery of the hardware
and, maybe, the maintenance of it
during its life. If a private contractor can
still make money out of that, why can
the public sector not do the same, but,
instead of making money out of it, make
savings, because it does not have to pay
the same amount? Looking at it solely
as a businessman, that is my attitude. |
would be very hard-nosed in relation to
trying to do a deal that was going to give
me the best deal. | think that some of

59.

these have given opportunities to some 60.

people to do very well. We might look
at some of those later to see where the
same names seem to appear in various
ways. Have you ever looked across all
of the 35 projects, or however many
there are, to see if there is a common
thread, such as the same individual
forming a shelf company, or whatever?
A number of them actually form three

58.

or four companies for the delivery of

the same thing, and all the companies
have directors. The same names appear
right through them, and sometimes the
same contractors are used to deliver on
many of them. Have you looked across
that to see where the commonalities are
and whether we are being hoodwinked
by some very shrewd individuals in the
private sector?

Dr Browne: | will pick up the first part of
the question, and Brett can pick up the
second. We have to remind ourselves
that while, of course, there is a profit
element in PFl contracts — no one
would undertake a contract if there was
not — the key thing is that there has

to be a benefit to those undertaking
the contract and those receiving the
outcome. So it has to be a contract
that works for the public sector and the
private sector.

The second point is that, if we do not
use PFI, the other route is conventional
procurement. The conventional route
still involves a profit for the capital build.
Otherwise, again, the contractor would
not build it. So there is a profit there
and a cost in running the service over
the 25 or 30 years, and that would have
to come from the public sector.

We have to compare all the costs on
one side with all the costs on the other.
That is done explicitly in the business
case through a comparison of the PFI
and the conventional operator. That
looks at what the best value is for the
public and takes account of the full
cost — the whole life cost — for both
approaches over the period. If it does
not demonstrate that the PFl route

is the most effective, PFlI cannot be
substantiated.

That comparison has been tested. As |
said, it is important in all of these cases
that we do not focus too much on one
aspect of the private element and ignore
some of the other costs that occur in a
different route. We need to compare like
with like, and that is what the business
case seeks to do. Brett, maybe you
could pick up on the extent to which
there are companies with expertise in
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61.

62.

63.

64.

65.

this area that have been successful in
winning contracts.

Mr Girvan: Just before Brett comes in
on that, your answer has opened up
another question in my mind on public
value for money. | am not always so sure
that we have the expertise to make sure
that we get value for money.

If, for example, you go out to tender

for an office block, you might get an
estimate of, say, £5 million. You might
look at doing that under PFI. A private
developer can deliver the same building,
but it costs him only £3 million. You ask
why an extra £2 million was factored in
when the contract was tendered under
a public procurement procedure. That
could make the difference between a
project being viable or not, and it could
make the decision of not going down
this route a lot easier.

| am not always sure that we get value
for money for the public purse. If a
council is delivering a project, we always
hear that somebody else could have
done it for half the price. | have heard
that many times, so you wonder whether
we always get value for those contracts
when we look at the comparison. Do we
get the same? Is it like for like, or can

a private sector guy do it for half the
price?

Dr Browne: There are two aspects to
that question. One is whether we get
better value for money by the route

that we choose. In the business case
and the comparison of the different
routes, we will identify that one route

is better value than another. The route
chosen should be the better value of the
available routes.

| think that you went beyond that to ask
another question, which is whether, in
whatever route we pick, we get the best
possible value for money. That is a more
difficult question to answer, and | think
that | will let Brett come in and give
some perspective on that. However, we
developed the contracts, and we built
in aspects such as profit sharing when
there are excess profits and five-year
reviews of contracts. All that learning is

66.

67.

68.

69.

70.

71.

72.

being built into the process and made
available to Departments as they take
forward further PFI projects.

It is very difficult to say whether every
project is the best value. Can we say
that we are getting the best of the offers
before us? Yes. Can we say that we are
getting better? The process is certainly
improving.

Brett, | do not know whether you have
anything that you want to add to that.

Mr Hannam: The key issue is the
competitive nature of the procurements.
Whether they are conventional or

PFI, there is a competitive element,
which drives out value. If the public
sector went out to tender without that
competitive element, your point would
be absolutely right: there would be no
way of demonstrating that the office
block to which you referred was being
built at the most competitive price.
However, because there are a number of
bidders competing for the business, that
competition drives out value.

The Deputy Chairperson: Brett, | am not
sure whether | cut you off earlier when
you were, perhaps, going on to explain
the new interaction with the Strategic
Investment Board. Was there something
more that you wanted to say about that?

Mr Hannam: | offered to explain the
actions taken in response to the
recommendation in the Audit Office
report that the SIB, with DFP and
OFMDFM, look at a programme of
structured reviews of operational PFls.

The Deputy Chairperson: It is intriguing
that the inspiration for that was not
present in the Department. You are

not washing machines that need to be
programmed. Surely somebody should
have seen that without a prompt from
the Audit Office.

Mr Hannam: As Mark said earlier,

and | reiterated, responsibility for the
contract management of PFls rests
with Departments. It is for them to
assess the quality of that management
and whether they need additional help
from CPD or anyone else. They would,

44



Minutes of Evidence — 11 June 2014

73.

74.

75.

76.

7.

78.

| believe, not welcome interference in
that because they are accountable to
their respective Committee and to this
Committee for the management of those
contracts.

The Audit Office suggested that, if
Departments thought it useful, they
could work with us to carry out those
reviews, and we have taken action to
make sure that we are in a position to
do that.

The Deputy Chairperson: | think that a
concern among members might be that

we should not have to wait for another 80.

Audit Office report for future inspiration.
These things should be dealt with in an
open and transparent way, whereby the

taxpayer continues to get best value for 82.

money.

Dr Browne: Another point is that the 83.

case study in the report — the INI

case study — predates the NIAO 84.

recommendation. That was one in which
the asset management unit in SIB was
working with the Department, at the
Department’s request, on looking at the
contract. That service was available and
was taken up in some instances.

What we are saying is that, in light of
the recommendation from the Audit
Office, there will be a more coordinated
approach. The availability of advice

will be extended and publicised, and
Departments will be encouraged to take
it up.

86.

Brett is quite right: at the end of the
day, the Departments are accountable.
They have to demonstrate that they

are getting the best value out of the 87.

contracts. SIB and OFMDFM can make
these services available, and we will
make them available in response to the
NIAO recommendation.

Mr Easton: Rather than squeezing every
penny out of the contract, there appears
to be a focus on getting PFl deals done
and then hoping that they run their
course over the next 25 to 30 years.

In 2011, HM Treasury issued draft

best practice guidance on four areas in 88.

which there was the potential to achieve

79.

81.

85.

savings. Why did DFP not circulate that
to everybody?

Mr Stephen Peover (Department

of Finance and Personnel): Under
devolution, HM Treasury guidance does
not directly apply to Northern Ireland.
This is now a devolved matter. We made
the guidance available: it was included
as part of the green book assessment
arrangements and was accessible to
Departments. Treasury guidance is just
that: it is advisory and it is guidance; it
is not a directive.

Mr Easton: | know, but was it not good
advice?

Mr Peover: It was, yes.

Mr Easton: So should it not have been
passed on to other people?

Mr Peover: It was passed on.

Mr Mike Brennan (Department of
Finance and Personnel): It was made
available to all Departments through the
“What's New?” page of the ‘Northern
Ireland Guide to Expenditure Appraisal
and Evaluation’, so all finance directors
were made aware of it.

The other important thing to know

is that Treasury guidance changed

the next year. In December 2012,
Treasury fundamentally changed the PFI
appraisal guidance. DFP issued notes
to Departments and put forward its own
new appraisal processes.

Mr Easton: So the HM Treasury
guidance has now been passed on to all
Departments.

Mr Brennan: That guidance was passed
on to all Departments at that time

but is no longer relevant. In fact, on

20 December 2012, Treasury said

that it would shortly circulate new PFI
guidance on its value for money (VFM)
quantitative model. It said that it would
be out in early 2013, but it still has not
been produced, so the DFP guidance
determines PFl and affordability
judgements in NI Departments.

Mr Easton: In the context of recent
drives for efficiency savings in public
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spending, can you tell me why there
has been a lack of progress in applying
this guidance? | know that it does not
apply here, but you have acknowledged
already that it is good, so why have we
not applied it here? Are we looking for
those savings?

Mr Brennan: Sorry, do you mean
efficiencies in PFl contracts?

Mr Easton: Yes.

Mr Brennan: As Mark and Brett said,
there is already an ongoing process of
driving out efficiencies in PFI contracts:
for example, the work that the asset
management unit already does in some
Departments generates savings. You are
aware of the Invest NI Bedford Street
development, but a number of other
projects are under way as part of the
Executive’s asset management strategy,
which will drive out those efficiencies.

Mr Easton: Yes, it is under way now, but
for how long have some of these PFI
schemes been going on without that
happening?

Mr Peover: We are talking about a
number of processes. There is the
opportunity to benchmark the costs

of the soft services that go with PFI
contracts as part of the ongoing process
of contract management, and that would
happen naturally anyway.

Mr Easton: Have you issued any
guidance on PFl schemes?

Mr Peover: Recent guidance?

Mr Brennan: Our most recent guidance
was issued on 20 December 2012,
which set aside the Treasury guidance.

Mr Easton: So you are using the
Treasury guidance.

Mr Brennan: No, we are setting it aside
and going back to the standard green
book appraisal process.

Mr Easton: Before that, did OFMDFM
and DFP not issue guidance?

Mr Brennan: Regular guidance was
issued.
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Mr Easton: HM Treasury created a
programme team for PFI projects on the
basis of the potential to achieve £1:5
billion in savings — is that right?

Mr Brennan: Yes.

Mr Easton: Why did we not do the same,
and, if we did that now, how much could
we save?

Mr Peover: That is hypothetical, and

| am not sure that | can answer a
question of that nature. As we said, the
contract management responsibility
lies with Departments. They let the
contracts; they entered into them;

they manage them; and they have the
expertise for their management. There
are arrangements to allow them to
review the contracts at regular intervals.
They can draw on advice from us, CPD,
or SIB as part of that process. There
are processes in place to allow them
to review contracts. There may be more
that we could do.

Mr Easton: The Audit Office estimates
that there could be £12-5 million worth
of savings.

Mr Peover: Was that estimated by
factoring down from the overall size of
the UK savings?

Mr Easton: Yes.
Mr Peover: Possibly.

Mr Brennan: No. | think that it is only
the £253 million paid out of our Budget
on a 5% calculation.

Mr Easton: So is it roughly £250 million
a year?

Mr Peover: Is that the unitary cost?
Mr Brennan: Yes.

Mr Peover: | think that the point made
earlier was the important one. We have
an annual Budget of over £10 billion,
between £1-1 billion and £1-4 billion of
which is capital. So that £250 million is
2-8% of the total spend. It is a relatively
small amount. As Mark said, if you roll it
up over 30 years, it sounds like quite a
lot: £7 billion. However, if you roll up the
total Budget over 30 years, it is £300

46



Minutes of Evidence — 11 June 2014

114.

115.

116.

billion. It is still the same percentage,
no matter whether it is one year or 30.

It is an important point, but we buy
services. We buy not just a building but
the services to support that building as
part of the provision of a PFl contract.

It would cost us money to run those
services if we paid for them ourselves.
That, | think, was the point that you were
making, Mr Girvan. If we employ the
cleaners, cooks and security guards,
that is a cost. Quite often, the cost to
the public sector seems to be rather
higher than what the private sector can
buy the same service for. That is one of
the areas where savings are made.

We have not said anything yet about the
positives. PFl and RRI, as mechanisms
for funding projects, allow accelerated
investment in the capital infrastructure
in Northern Ireland, which everybody
thinks is a good thing. It is good to
have better roads, housing, education
facilities and hospitals. This is a way of
buying that investment and paying for it
over a period of 30 years. So, as Mark
said, it has to be justified by value for
money so that we are not just throwing
money down the drain, but it is a way
of getting investment. It is also a way
of locking private sector management
expertise into public sector contracts.
There is general recognition that those
in the private sector manage quite well.
They tend to deliver projects on time
and to budget. They are locked into
contracts that require them to maintain
buildings over their lifetime, so they have
an incentive to do good building work

in the first place because they cannot
walk away if they have built in a problem.
So there are a lot of positives, and it
allows us to reform public services by
providing better facilities than might
otherwise have been available. We have
not said much about the positives, but
there are positives and they are worth
emphasising.

120.

Mr Brennan: The affordability aspect is
critical. Think back to, for example, 10
years ago, when the Executive faced
infraction charges under EU directives
on waste water. Two water PPPs, Alpha
and Omega, cost over £1 billion of

117.
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investment, but the Executive did not
have £1 billion of conventional capital
DEL to deliver them. The avoidance of
infraction fines, and the fact that there
was not enough conventional capital
DEL, showed the significant affordability
benefits of pursuing those two PPPs.

The Deputy Chairperson: | am not sure.
Is there some confusion about whether
£12-5 million might be saved? | was
going to ask Kieran Donnelly to explain,
for the record, how he estimated that.

Mr Kieran Donnelly (Comptroller and
Auditor General): We do not really know
how much can be saved without some
analysis. This was a very crude read-
across from Treasury on the potential.
The important point is, as the witnesses
have said, that it is the responsibility

of individual Departments to manage
projects and seek out savings. We

have only 39 projects right across the
system and they are thinly spread,

so, if a Department has only one or

two projects, it will not always have

the necessary negotiating skills or
expertise. That is the reason why we
called for a central look at this. Until

all that is done, it is not clear just how
much in savings would materialise.
Some savings have materialised. Clearly,
the Invest NI case study is a good
example of that. The important point is
that the slide rule should be put under
all of these and the best negotiating
skills applied.

Mr Peover: We agree on the point
about benchmarking. The difficulty for
us is that it is difficult to do Northern
Ireland-specific benchmarking. As the
C&AG said, there are relatively few

local projects, and we need to draw on
expertise from across the UK and, if
possible, further afield to give us expert
advice on the fruitful areas for scrutiny.
That is done: we buy in consultancy.

Mr Easton: | have a few more questions.
A questionnaire was conducted across
the 39 PFI projects in Northern Ireland,
but one Department did not respond. Do
you know which Department that was?

Mr Peover: It was DOE.
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Mr Easton: Is there any reason for that?

Mr Peover: | do not know. DOE is not
a big capital spending Department, so
maybe that is why.

Mr Easton: | was just curious about why
it did not respond. The questionnaire
found that reviews were not carried out
in line with HM Treasury’s best practice
guidance, which you semi-ignored. Were
the savings identified in the review not
quantified? Why was that?

Dr Browne: Again, that will come to
individual Departments to answer
because they are responsible for
managing those projects. We can say
that, in the broadest sense, 25 of the
PPP projects have completed a review of
some sort, and six are in the process of
drafting a review. Some are post-project
evaluation reviews (PPEs); others are
audit reviews. Reviews are ongoing,

but it would be helpful to have more
consistency in the reviews that are
undertaken.

Mr Easton: Of the 39 PFI projects
across Northern Ireland, were there any
clauses in the contracts to have a review
of the project lists for the construction
costs or the service costs? Was it built
into any PFI contract that there would be
a review of costs?

Dr Browne: In the standard contract
applied to these projects, a five-year
review is built into the provision of the
soft services. That is conducted on a —

Mr Easton: |s that a service cost?

Dr Browne: Yes, the maintenance,
cleaning, catering and so forth.

Mr Easton: What about the construction
costs?

Dr Browne: They have already have been
met at that point.

Mr Hannam: There would be an element
in the unitary charge alongside the soft
services. They would all go to make that
single unitary charge. All elements of
the costs are rolled up into that.

Mr Easton: Are they not reviewed?

134.

135.

136.

137.

138.

139.

140.

141.

142,

143.

144.

145.

146.

147.

Mr Hannam: | am not quite sure that |
follow what you mean by “review” in that
context.

Mr Easton: You have the PFl projects,
so you have the capital cost to build.
You have the services cost, and we
have established that a review is built
in for those, which we agree on. Has
any type of review ever been built into
the contracts at the capital end to make
sure that we are getting the best value
for money in that section?

Mr Hannam: The contract will be at a
fixed price, so it is in the interests of
the contractor to deliver within that price
because, if he does not, he will lose out.
The public sector, therefore, is insulated
against the risk of cost overrun in that
case because, even if the contractor
pays more for the asset, he will not get
paid any more.

Mr Easton: Do we have a guarantee that
reviews are built into each and every
one of the 39 PFI contracts?

Mr Hannam: Yes.
Mr Easton: Absolutely?
Mr Hannam: Yes.

The Deputy Chairperson: | will

direct this question to you, Stephen,
because | understand that you are at
a stage in your life at which you will
be philosophising about the wonderful
career that you have had: will you
explain to us what the golden rule was
and how relevant it still is?

Mr Peover: The golden rule?

The Deputy Chairperson: Yes. | have it
here somewhere. Sorry for springing this
on you.

Mr Peover: Are you talking about Gordon
Brown?

The Deputy Chairperson: Yes. May |
read it for you?

Mr Peover: Sure.

The Deputy Chairperson: It reads:
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“The Golden Rule, as it pertains to
government spending, stipulates that a
government will borrow to invest, not to
finance existing spending. In other words,
the government should borrow money only
to fund investments that will benefit future
generations, and current spending must be
covered by existing taxes.”

In addition — you probably know this
already — it states:

“The term originates from ancient writings,
including the New Testament, the Talmud and
the Koran. Each has a story that teaches

the Golden Rule: do unto others as you
would have them do unto you. In fiscal policy,
the Golden Rule seeks to protect future
generations from debt by limiting borrowed
money to investments, and not to indebt
future generations for the benefit of current
generations.”

Mr Peover: It is philosophy and
economic policy at the same time.

That was Gordon Brown’s golden rule
when he was Chancellor, and it was
maintained for quite a long time,
although | am not sure that even he
maintained it to the end of his career.

In the main, we are talking about
investment for the provision of assets to
the Northern Ireland public, whether it
is office buildings, hospitals, schools or
wastewater treatment works. Associated
with those are operating costs, which
are charges that would fall on the
Northern Ireland taxpayer — in fact, the
UK taxpayer — anyway. All our projects
have probably been in accordance with
the golden rule. | cannot think of an
instance when we borrowed for the
financing of current expenditure under a
PFI contract. We have purchased assets
that will be of benefit throughout their
lifetime to future generations as well as
to us.

The Deputy Chairperson: So are

you happy that we have followed the
philosophy of Gordon Brown and that
we did not use PFls to fund existing
expenditure?

Mr Peover: No.
The Deputy Chairperson: All right.

Mr Peover: Sorry. Yes, | am happy.

154.

155.

156.

157.

158.

159.

160.

The Deputy Chairperson: | will take your
word on that.

Mr Rogers: Thanks, gentlemen. There
has been quite a bit of reference to
Departments being held to account
and so on. Let us take a particular
case in mind. Balmoral High School,
as | understand it, is not being used
for its original purpose, and we are still
incurring costs. Is that not a real waste
of taxpayers’ money? Who held the
Department of Education accountable in
that case?

Mr Peover: None of us can really
speak for the Department of Education,
though two of us worked in it before.
No contract arrangement, whether it is
a conventional procurement, a PFl or
any other version, will protect you from
a wrong decision. If a decision is made
to locate a school in a particular area
where the catchment population will not
support the long-term viability of that
school, that decision is wrong. It does
not matter how you buy the asset; it is
still money that may well be wasted.

Balmoral has been used for other
things. It has been used for the Regional
Training Unit and as a decant for St
Colman’s Primary School when its new
building was being built. It is being

used for another purpose now, as |
understand it.

Dr Browne: A special school has just
moved into it — St Gerard’s.

Mr Peover: Looking at the pattern of
the schools, Dunmurry High School and
the school on Blacks Road were maybe
a mile apart in two different education
and library boards, and it was maybe
not the right decision to build Balmoral
High School in that location. Presumably
somebody made the decision on the
basis of an assessment of need at the
time. In retrospect, it looks as if that
was the wrong decision, but it would
have been the wrong decision whether it
was conventionally procured or procured
through PFI.

Mr Rogers: Does DFP or OFMDFM have
any role in holding the Department of
Education accountable?
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Mr Peover: Not that | am aware of. |
probably was not in DFP at the time. The
decision was justified on the basis of a
business case, which was presumably
done by the Belfast Education and
Library Board at the time and cleared

by the Department. It may even have
been cleared by DFR | am not sure, but it
probably would have been large enough
to be cleared by DFR

Mr Brennan: The DFP supply officer
would have seen the business case
and would have assessed whether the
methodologies were followed correctly,
for example, in identifying the preferred
option to pursue.

Mr Peover: | am not trying to defend the
decision. Building a controlled school

in that location was probably not very
sensible.

Mr Rogers: Page 5 of the NIAO’s report
states:

“England and Scotland have published details
of both the potential for PFl contract savings
as well as realised savings.”

Mr Peover, you mentioned earlier that
we are a devolved area, but we seem
to have no strategic programme that
coordinates the review of the operation
of PFl contracts across government.
Would you like to comment on that?

Mr Peover: As my colleagues have
said, the responsible bodies here are
individual Departments. DFP obviously
has a role in looking at the overall
management of public spending, and
larger projects that require business
case approval are cleared through DFR
We do that. The system is in place
through us, the SIB and CPD to provide
advice to Departments in managing
contracts to try to achieve efficiency as
part of that process. Could it be more
coordinated? Probably.

Mr Rogers: There is really nothing —
Mr Peover: There is no requirement.

Mr Rogers: There is nothing there to
prevent Departments doing solo runs
and having another Balmoral arise in
some other situation.
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Mr Peover: | would not say that. That

is a different issue. That is about the
validity of the original decision to have
the resource available. There is a
decision point about whether to build a
hospital or a school. Later on, once you
have it, there is the question of what you
do with it. As Mark said, that asset in
Balmoral has been used as part of the
Regional Training Unit and as a decant
facility for a primary school that needed
a newbuild, and it is now being used for
special education. If you have an asset,
it is sensible to try to make the best
use of it. That is a matter for the owner
of the asset. | do not know the detail

of that well enough to comment on it
specifically, but at least the asset is
being used.

Mr Brennan: The other strategic point
to bear in mind is that, when projects
of that nature come forward, they go

as a standing item to Ministers on the
Budget review group. They get a list

and an update from Brett and me on
projects of that nature and how they are
progressing.

Mr Rogers: OK. Thank you.

There has been some talk of actual
savings to date. Will you give us more
information on what savings are being
achieved and how we are now achieving
better value for money, even as a result
of this report?

Dr Browne: The report identifies a
number of instances. It identifies the
INI example and points to a number

of other reviews. | think that we would
accept that the extent of savings that
have been driven out through reviews
could be improved. That is why the First
Minister and the deputy First Minister
have written to the SIB to ask it to make
expertise available to Departments to
try to coordinate advice and support to
Departments in undertaking a review of
contracts. We recognise that more can
be done in that whole area.

Brett, you may know more about
what has been done to date. That
decision by the First Minister and the
deputy First Minister was important
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in the coordinated response to that
recommendation.

Mr Rogers: | acknowledge that INI has
challenged its commitment. That has
been done. Is that good practice being
disseminated across Departments?

Mr Hannam: We are certainly carrying
on with that programme. The Finance
Minister has recently indicated that he
is making available some £40 million
of capital and £4-5 million of revenue
to enable Departments to pursue
initiatives, such as the Invest NI project,
to deliver further savings to the revenue
budget where those initiatives would
deliver value for money. That work is
ongoing in SIB.

Mr Peover: Maybe | should say
something on that point. We have talked
about PFl and PPP and so on. There

are lots of long-term commitments that
government have entered into, such

as leasehold arrangements for office
buildings. We have had a policy for some
time of seeking to minimise our reliance
on leasehold buildings and moving into
property that we own or, as Brett said,
investing to buy out leases and finding
more effective ways of using our current
resources to provide the facilities we
need. That process is ongoing. We could
provide you with figures — | do not have
them here — on how much we think
that we have saved by concentrating

the public sector estate into owned
buildings, rather than leased buildings,
and maximising the use of space in
existing buildings, rather than expanding
into new premises. We can provide the
Committee with some information on
that if you would like.

185.

Mr Rogers: Going back to my earlier
point about reviews, are all reviews now
full-contract reviews in which people
have to identify and quantify savings?

Dr Browne: There is a requirement in
the overall processes for post-project
evaluations. | mentioned the figures
that we have for the range of reviews
that have been done. Post-project
evaluations come back to DFP as a
matter of course and are made available
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to the individual Department, so that
we get the loop of learning from that
project. Where there are wider lessons
to be learned, that can be disseminated
through the normal processes in DFR

Mr Rogers: Finally, do you keep a sharp
eye on what is happening in England and
Scotland and how they do things?

Mr Hannam: Yes. Since the publication
of the Audit Office report, we have met
the Ministry of Defence, the Department
for Transport, the Scottish Futures Trust,
DEFRA, the Department for Communities
and Local Government (DCLG), the
Ministry of Justice and the Home Office
to learn from their experience of carrying
out similar reviews. | have a list of key
lessons that we have derived from their
experience that we will certainly apply
when we take forward the initiative.

Mr Rogers: Thank you.

Mr Hazzard: Thanks, guys, for your
answers to date. Stephen, coming
back to a point that you picked up on,

| think that the list of the long-term
commitments and the savings that you
have made could be very useful for the
Committee to have.

Paragraph 5 of the executive summary
of the Audit Office’s report indicates that
the findings and recommendations can
be applied equally across a whole range
of long-term government commitments.
You touched on one of those with the
leased buildings. Will you give us a
flavour of what some of those long-term
commitments are, how they would be
funded and, perhaps, where the savings
could be made?

Mr Peover: Leased buildings is one of
the most obvious, and it is probably one
of the largest, because a fair part of our
estate is leased from private landlords.
We had a programme some time ago to
try to outsource the public sector estate
and then lease it back with enhanced
space utilisations. That went the way

of all flesh at one point because the
companies involved merged and there
were a lot of complications. Anyway, that
went away.
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As you might appreciate, Governments
tend to have higher priorities for capital
investment than office buildings for civil
servants and public servants. We are
usually at the back end of the queue in
looking for capital money to refurbish
or rationalise our estate. So, we have
been trying to do that when we can find
money, and when we can establish an
invest-to-save argument for a particular
rationalisation process, we will do it.

| will give you an example from my
Department, which is current and quite
relevant. Land and Property Services
(LPS) headquarters staff are scattered
in Belfast in a number of buildings. They
are in Lincoln Buildings, where the Land
Registry is; they are in Queen’s Court,
where the evaluation directorate and
some of the revenue and benefits side
are; they are in College Street; and they
are in — the fourth one will come back
to me in a second. LPS is rationalising
into a single headquarters building
down at Lanyon Place, which will do a
number of things. It will be refurbished
to modern standards — Colby House

is the fourth one — so there will be a
much more intense utilisation of space.
It will get the four directorates together
— the key staff in the headquarters
directorates together in one building

— which will enable the various
components of the organisation to have
easy access to each other and the
development a more corporate culture.
That is generating savings through

the vacation of premises, sometimes
directly or by allowing other staff to
move into a vacated building and in turn
vacate another one. So, there is a chain
of moves.

We are doing that, and Brett mentioned
the money that my Minister is making
available to allow those sorts of things
to happen. Those are analogous
arrangements that will allow us to
generate revenue savings by investing
some capital and rationalising the
facilities that we have. Those sorts

of things are, in a sense, part of

the normal day-to-day business of
Departments.
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Mr Hazzard: Is the strategic vision
shared by OFMDFM and DFP? Is there
friction in the system?

Mr Peover: We work very closely
together and are engaged all the time.
The asset management strategy was a
joint production between ourselves and
SIB, and there are joint arrangements in
place between DFE OFMDFM and SIB to
follow that up and build on it. | am pretty
satisfied that it has started well and will
continue to work well and is being done
on a cooperative and joint basis. Maybe
Brett wants to comment.

Mr Hannam: | agree with that.

Mr Girvan: | have a supplementary
question. | understand the rationale
behind moving out of four buildings

that are located all over the place. That
rationale will stack up if we are not
entering into a PFl contract to move into
the premises at Lanyon Place. What is
happening with the four buildings, some
of which are in fairly prominent sites in
Belfast, to make sure that they deliver?
This is the whole point: you might well
be getting a PFI contract that makes
sense, but what is happening with the
four properties that are left?

Mr Peover: In this case, there is no PFI
contract. We acquired the premises
through a NAMA sale. We own some of
the vacated buildings. Lincoln Buildings
is leased. We own Colby House in
Stranmillis: it could be sold, but it could
provide a valuable resource for some

of our other staff whom we can move
out of leased accommodation and save
money as part of that process. The
property at Queen’s Court is owned,
and we will need to retain it for some of
our staff. The property at College Street
is owned and will be used by another
Department, which will move staff there
from a leased building. So, the whole
thing stacks up as a business case
and generates benefits overall for the
system.

We will get the corporate benefits from
LPS having its headquarters staff in a
single building for the first time. LPS
was constructed in a two-phase process
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in 2007 and 2008. It has always been
scattered over a number of directorates.
It needs to be more integrated, and we
will get that, starting this month. It is a
well-argued and —

Mr Girvan: | totally buy into that one; it
is not an issue. We might be looking at
others not necessarily so joined up in
their approach to the use of the building
they are in, but that is an argument for
another day.

John spoke about the golden rule earlier.
We used that vehicle for access to funds
to deal with equal pay. We said that it

is really used to deliver assets. How do
you square the circle on the matter in
relation to making borrowings to do an
equal pay settlement, which probably
could not have been delivered through
ordinary revenue we had?

Mr Peover: There are two things. It was
approved by the Treasury and, in this
case, the Prime Minister.

Mr Girvan: So, was it unique?
Mr Brennan: No, it is common.

Mr Peover: It is common because the
capitalisation of those sorts of costs

is something that happens regularly in
local government in particular. It was not
a one-off for us; it was the capitalisation
of a cost, which would have been a real
pressure on us otherwise. It was maybe
slightly unusual capital expenditure, but
it was capitalised nonetheless.

Mr Girvan: It does not fit with the box
that | have for what is capital.

Mr Peover: It does not, but, in terms of
local authorities, RRI operates —

Mr Girvan: | am not saying that it did not
have to be dealt with; it had to be dealt
with, and the money had to be set up to
deal with it.

Mr Peover: RRI operates on the basis
of broad comparability with local
government prudential borrowing
arrangements. Local government can
borrow nationally, as it can here, to
invest, and often does. This is one

of the things that is allowed to be
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capitalised for. We could not have gone
much higher than the Prime Minister to
get agreement.

Mr Girvan: In the capitalisation of that
project, interest will be charged on the
borrowings over the period for it. Was
that factored in as value for money?

Mr Peover: It should have been. The
borrowing rate is around 3%.

Mr Brennan: It is 3-3% at the minute.
You will not get better anywhere else.

Mr Girvan: So, it was actually Treasury
borrowing.

Mr Brennan: Yes, it was National Loans
Fund borrowing.

The Deputy Chairperson: Gentlemen,

| have a couple of questions. You will
be pleased to know that we are coming
towards the end. While recognising that
the reinvestment and reform initiative
is an important driver for the delivery
of investment strategy, it is concerning
that the estimated cost of borrowing

is continuing to increase and that the
cost of interest is estimated to be £1-3
billion. In view of that, what assessment
has been made of the affordability of
the long-term spending implications of
reinvestment and reform borrowing? As
has already been alluded to by other
members, can we afford this?

Mr Peover: The answer is yes. The
payments amount to about 0-5% of —

Mr Brennan: It is £100 million in total.
Mr Peover: That is interest and capital.

Mr Brennan: The capital repayment
does not score against the departmental
expenditure limit (DEL).

Mr Peover: One of the points that we
have not mentioned yet is that the
Executive are considering a borrowing
strategy, which would set out all

these things. We give a fair amount of
information on the RRI in the Budget
papers. The costs, interest payments
and all the rest of it are set out; they are
already fairly transparently available to
people. However, it would be sensible
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to have a borrowing strategy, and the
Executive are considering it. As part of
that process, we will look at how the
long-term position can best be portrayed
or developed.

The Deputy Chairperson: Since we
debated the Budget yesterday, it

seems appropriate to ask a question
that relates to it. The Budget sets

the context and capital expenditure
provision for the investment strategy, but
what analysis is done of the affordability
of future borrowings and anticipated
reinvestment and reform initiative
commitments in a manner subject to the
scrutiny of the Assembly?

Mr Peover: Those things are dealt with.
There is a ceiling on RRI borrowing of £3
billion.

Mr Brennan: At the minute, the
aggregate ceiling is £3 billion, but, as
Stephen mentioned, the Executive are
currently considering a paper on the
borrowing strategy and what they may
or may not want to do in terms of future
borrowing requirements to fund capital
projects.

The Deputy Chairperson: Why is there
no formal borrowing strategy to underpin
investment strategy?

Mr Brennan: When the Executive
approved their four-year Budget in March
2011, they set out their borrowing
intentions in the Budget document. They
are detailed there, with the interest
repayments. They could not set out a
strategy beyond 2015-16 because there
was no spending review for that period,
so you had no affordability envelope to
construct a strategy. A paper is with the
Executive that assesses questions such
as, “When do we draw a line in terms

of future borrowing?” and, “When does
the re-servicing of the debt become
unaffordable?”.

Mr Girvan: In relation to the 39 projects
that we have, at the end of the term on
the majority of those projects, how many
of the assets are owned by the public
sector and how many will be owned by
the delivery agent or whoever provided
them? The reason | ask that question
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is this: is there a comparison between
paying primarily rent and a mortgage?

Dr Browne: | do not have the details for
all the projects, but my understanding
is that most of them, at the end, would
revert to public sector ownership.

The Deputy Chairperson: Members,
does anybody else have a question
before we wrap up? Alex?

Mr Easton: No, just wrap up. [Laughter.]

The Deputy Chairperson: OK. | put the
same question to Mr Layberry and his
colleagues and to the C&AG. Is there
anything you wish to add regarding the
evidence that we have just received?

Mr Donnelly: Chair, no. | have nothing to
add.

The Deputy Chairperson: Gentlemen,
before thanking you for your attendance
before the Committee, it would be
remiss not to acknowledge the fact
that, Stephen, you are going towards
retirement, and a better mortal than I,
no doubt, will sum up your enormous
contribution to the Civil Service. As
probably the longest-serving members
of this Committee, | say that, over

the years, you have always robustly
defended your Department. That is

a strong feature, and no doubt the
Assembly has benefited a great deal
from your wisdom, your inspiration and
indeed, at times, your stubbornness.
[Laughter.]

Mr Peover: Thank you, Chairman, that is
very kind.

The Deputy Chairperson: We wish you
all the best.

Mr Peover: If | may, | will say to the
members of the Committee what | have
said to you in other discussions. It has
been a privilege for me, since 2000,
to have worked for a local Assembly,
particularly since restoration in 2007.
| spent most of my career working
under a direct rule Administration,

and it has been professionally and
personally satisfying to work for local
politicians, to be accountable to an
Assembly and, through the PAC, to be
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personally accountable to the Assembly.
| have enjoyed my interactions with this
Committee, the Finance and Personnel
Committee and the Environment
Committee before that.

The Deputy Chairperson: | can say,
Stephen, without hesitation on public
record that | have always enjoyed

your robustness in defending your
colleagues. It is nice that we have had a
good hearing here, and it is nice for you,
| think, to end on a high note. With that,
again, thank you for coming.

Next week, we have an evidence session
on the Belfast Metropolitan College
public-private partnership element of
this inquiry. Following that, we may need
to write to you seeking clarification on
issues raised. We will also be writing to
you on issues raised today.
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Comptroller and Auditor
General

Department for
Employment and
Learning

The Chairperson: With us today, we have
Ms Elaine Hartin, Ms Marie-Thérése
McGivern, Mr Derek Baker and Mr Tom
Redmond. Thank you for joining us. You
are all very welcome to the Committee.

Members and witnesses, can we have
all mobile phones switched off? They
interfere with the Hansard recording.
That also applies to visitors in the Public
Gallery’s phones.

| start by paying tribute to the new
campus at the Titanic Quarter. The new
building was finished on time, and |
commend everyone involved. It has won
awards for its design and environmental
standards, and it also has a high level of
staff, student and employer satisfaction.
However, we are here today because we
have concerns around the cost; the time
taken to negotiate the contract and its
impact on value for money; the delays
that occurred prior to construction
commencing; and the additional costs
incurred outside the public-private
partnership (PPP) agreement. Those
concerns have led the Committee to
conduct the inquiry, and we will be
asking you questions about those areas.

237.

238.

239.

Members will have an opportunity to ask
questions in their own core areas.

With your indulgence, | will start the line
of questioning. As we are all aware, a
key aspect of a private finance initiative
(PF1)/PPP is the transfer of risk from
the public sector to the private sector
relating to the design, construction,
finance, and maintenance and/or
operation of assets. In return, the
Government pay an annual unitary
charge over the lifetime of the contract,
which, in this case, is 25 years. The
public sector has injected £20 million
into this PPP project. What is the
justification for that, and how does it fit
into the PFI concept?

Mr Derek Baker (Department for
Employment and Learning): Thank
you, Chair, for your introduction. This
was a complicated and very difficult
project for all kinds of reasons. As

you pointed out, the negotiation of

the contract was buffeted by factors
intrinsic to the project and, indeed,
extrinsic to the project. | accept fully
that it took longer than it should have
done, and that is disappointing for us
all. In all our dealings with the bidder
and the potential contractor, both the
college and the Department were trying
to protect the public sector interest,
and that point is acknowledged by the
Audit Office in its report. Along the way,
we faced substantial difficulties that,
from time to time, had the very real
potential to derail the project. There is
no question about that. At times, it was
close to failure. So, the college and
the Department had to take some hard
decisions, at some stages at seminal
points in the project, about whether we
wanted to proceed with it or let it fail.

One of the most significant issues that
impacted on the negotiations was the
property crash, which fed through to
liquidity problems in the banks, the
credit crunch and the loss of appetite
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among financial institutions to lend
money. The bank specifically concerned
with the project was losing its appetite
to lend money to the bidder. At that
point, the bank was threatening to
walk away, and the college and the
Department, on the one hand, and the
special purpose vehicle (SPV), on the
other, had to engage with the bank to
shore up its confidence and to try to
identify other financial backers.

The efforts to identify alternative
financial backers failed. Either the
terms that they were offering were too
expensive or they were not prepared

to put up the quantum of money that
was needed. The Ulster Bank was held
on board, but the price for that was
that the Department and the college
had to increase their up-front capital
input to the project. However, | make
the point that, in doing so, the benefit
was a corresponding reduction in the
unitary charge. For example, one of the
decisions was whether to purchase the
site for £5 million. That was always
going to have to be purchased, and,

if it were not purchased up front, it
would have been purchased through the
ongoing unitary charge. The increase in
the bullet payment from £10 million to
£15 million, which, admittedly, was done
to save the project, again resulted in a
reduction in the unitary charge over the
lifetime of the project.

So, what did the Department and

the college get out of the capital
investment? They saved the project. In
the case of the capital investment in the
site, there was an economic advantage
in doing so — | can go into that further
later, if you wish, but I will not go into

it now — and the unitary charge was
reduced.

| do not know whether you would like to
give me an opportunity to bring in any
other colleagues if they want to add to
that. | am at your disposal on that point.
| do not know whether anyone wants to
add any comments.

The Chairperson: Yes, if they want to
add anything.
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Ms Marie-Thérése McGivern (Belfast
Metropolitan College): To add to what
Derek said, if the Chair’s question
relates to whether, in the end, what we
got out was worth the effort, we would
have to say that, from the college’s point
of view, all the criteria that we measure
now suggest that it was. Hindsight can
be 20/20 vision, and, at that time, there
was a lack of alternatives routes. PFI
was effectively the only show in town,
and government at that point could not
have afforded to take on the investment.
In that sense, it was the only way
forward if we were to address the issues
identified in the lack of quality in the
College Square East and Brunswick
Street sites.

The Chairperson: Before | bring in other
members, you talked, Mr Baker, about
the unitary charge. What would it have
been if it had been reduced? Do you
have a figure for that?

Mr Baker: | think that the additional £5
million that we put in the bullet payment
resulted in a reduction in the unitary
charge of just over £360,000 per annum
over the 25 years of the project.

The Chairperson: | will let Mr Clarke
come in.

Mr Clarke: Thank you, Chair. Marie-
Thérése said that PFl was the “only
show in town”. Was it the only show in
town at any cost?

Ms McGivern: No, and | am not
suggesting that at any cost would have
been the way to do it, but | think —

Mr Clarke: Your comment was that it
was the “only show in town”. There
should have been a caveat applied to
that. It is OK if something is the only
show in town provided that it is cost-
effective.

Ms McGivern: | agree with you
absolutely and entirely, and | think that
public accountability would require that.
What | am saying is that it was the only
methodology and that, if we were going
to proceed with a building, it was the
only way forward. However, it also had
to meet all the criteria that were set to
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prove that it was, in fact, advantageous
to go down that route. | am not saying
that we did it regardless. There was only
one methodology, and we tested that
methodology. If that methodology had
not stacked up, | suspect that we would
still be in College Square East and
Brunswick Street.

Mr Clarke: And probably a lot richer for
that.

In your opening remarks, Derek you
made the point that the project was
close to being derailed.

Mr Baker: Yes.

Mr Clarke: If you tie that in with Marie-
Thérése’s comments about PFl being
the only show in town, it suggests to me
that you were going to do anything at any
cost to make it work.

Why were the banks so nervous and
wanting to pull away? That suggests to
me that the banks did not see merit in
the project and their investment in it.
Maybe you can tell me why the banks
wanted to pull away and why you were
so enthused about trying to change the
project to keep the banks on board.

Mr Baker: OK. Your first question was
on why the banks wanted to pull away.
That was a direct consequence of the
property crash, which impacted on the
liquidity of all the financial institutions
and reduced their appetite to lend. If you
roll back to the time that we are talking
about and think specifically about the
bank that we are talking about, it was in
real difficulties. All the banks retrenched
in their lending and lost their appetite
to lend. Effectively, that was the credit
crunch. They were very nervous. The
Ulster Bank was being asked to lend a
large amount of money to the bidder,
and it did not want to lend it or, at least,
was losing its appetite to lend it. The
fact that the bank was getting nervous
about it could be a reflection of the
advantageous terms that had been
negotiated as part of the project.

Your second question dealt with a
really important point, and | agree
with you. Was it a case of shoring up
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the project at all costs? No, it was

not. Most definitely not. The project

was hugely important to the college
specifically and to further education
generally. That is a given. There was
also a pressing business need for it.
The college was occupying two premises
that were past their shelf life. There is
no question about that. However, we
were not engaged in a wild adventure

on the project, and as the Audit Office
report notes, at every stage and in every
decision that we took, we sought to
protect the public interest.

The point is that, in every decision

we took on the PFI deal on financing,
whether it was increasing the bullet
payments, purchasing the site or
whatever, we continually assessed
whether we were securing value for
money against the shadow bid model,
which is the benchmark for testing value
for money. Affordability is an absolute:
you can either afford something or you
cannot, and in this case, we could. Value
for money is a relative assessment
against some kind of benchmark, and
we always secured value for money at
every stage against the shadow bid
model. So, it was not a wild adventure,
and it was not done at any cost.

Mr Clarke: You have talked about
affordability, but did you not have to get
additional money pumped in? Was it
£20 million?

Mr Baker: Yes, we —

Mr Clarke: So, your point is that
affordability and value for money had to
be borne in mind, yet you had to chase
an additional £20 million.

Mr Baker: Affordability and value-for-
money assessments were carried out
at appropriate points throughout the
project. Those were done according

to all the guidance. Three such
assessments were done as we
approached the contract close, and,

on each and every occasion, those
assessments showed that the project
was affordable and demonstrated value
for money against the shadow bid
model. With affordability, the proof of the
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pudding is in the eating, and the college
and the Department are affording it.
Indeed, when the Department decided
to use its capital budget to invest in the
project, it did so on the basis that it was
good business for the Department. It
was a priority project, and the resources
were available from within its capital
budget. It was quite prepared to invest
in it, and it did not displace any other
priority projects.

Mr Dallat: | will come back to you later
to ask some detailed questions, but,
Marie-Thérése, | cannot help remarking
on the fact that you said that hindsight
equals 20/20 vision. Did anyone check
the vision of the people who embarked
on the project?

Ms McGivern: If you ask me, the vision
was checked at regular times.

Mr Dallat: Why then was there such

a cacophony of errors throughout the
project. Albeit, at the end of the day, it
was a success story, | suggest that that
was achieved more by good luck than
anything else.

Ms McGivern: We can go into detail, and
the report addresses in detail a number
of the errors that were suggested to
have happened. | will keep you going

for the next hour if you want me to go
through a root-and-branch listing of
those errors.

Mr Dallat: No, | have had a difficult day
already. | have been down at the harbour
and viewed the new building and all that.

274.

Ms McGivern: We do not dispute that
there were difficulties in the way in which
decisions were taken on the college.
That is already on public record. There
were difficulties, and that is a lesson

for us. | think that we have learnt many
lessons from it. We have gone on to
build a second building since. Hopefully,
it will not find its way to the PAC at a
future date.

The Chairperson: You would not do the
same thing again.

Ms McGivern: No, we did it very
differently from the first time.
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Mr Dallat: Chairperson, we are
dovetailing very well. My only purpose in
being here is to make my contribution to
a report that will make sure that public
money will never again be put into such
a situation, in which people were not in
control. That is the only reason for being
here.

Mr Girvan: | appreciate that we are
dealing with whether this all stacks up,
and | appreciate that the people at the
end of the table are not necessarily the
people who made the decision initially.
You might well be trying to dress up
the details of what happened. Quite

a few further education colleges have
been built over recent years. There is a
valuation of how much you spend per
square foot. | appreciate that we have
a high-quality building, but is there any
indication of benchmarking of what
was spent to deliver the facilities at
Titanic against what was spent on other
further education properties throughout
Northern Ireland — | will not bring in
England, instead focusing on what has
happened in Northern Ireland — and
against new facilities that have been
provided in the past number of years?
What is the cost associated with those
per square metre, compared with what
we pay and have paid for at Titanic?
There is a table at appendix 3 that
makes very interesting reading. | would
like some rationale for the breakdown.
How do we end up with a unitary cost at
such a level?

Mr Baker: Chair, | will take that
question. In response to Mr Girvan’s
first point, | am the person responsible.

Mr Girvan: Now. | know that.

Mr Baker: | am the person responsible.
How did we get to the cost of this thing?
It is a very good question, and you are
absolutely right. What does it cost to
build a college? What is the right price
to pay for a college? It has got to be
about more than sticking your finger in
the air and guessing.

Mr Girvan: | have another question. Who
set the specifications of the finish?
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Mr Baker: OK. That is why we have the
process called a shadow bid model.
Through that process, you commission
independent advice. The adviser

looks at what it is you are trying to

do, and advice is given on what would
be a reasonable price based on all
the adviser’s experience in engaging
with the private sector. That is your
reference point. The advice tells you
whether you are paying over the odds,
below the odds, or whatever. That is
the recognised way of assessing such
matters.

Mr Girvan: |s that assessed by
consultants?

Mr Baker: Yes.

Mr Girvan: OK. That might dovetail with
other questions.

Mr Baker: It is a very detailed process.
Your point about benchmarking is a
good one, too. It is a difficulty in further
education, for all kinds of reasons. If
you think about schools, you will see
that they are much easier to do. Think
about enrolments in schools: you have
your set population; there is a statutory
duty on a certain age group to attend;
and pupils are attending five days a
week, from 9-00 am to 3-30 pm, or
whatever the times are. You can work
out the usage of your building and
whether it is being used efficiently. Now
think about a further education college:
enrolments fluctuate; people go at their
own discretion; and there are part-time,
full-time, evening and short courses,

as well as everything else. Getting the
metrics by which you can benchmark
the usage and the efficiency of that
usage between one college and another
is difficult. However, a lot of detailed
work is going on with the Strategic
Investment Board (SIB) for Northern
Ireland to look at an asset management
strategy across the public sector.
Specifically within that, work is being
done with further education colleges

so that we can assess, across the six
colleges that exist, and, indeed, within
the campuses that exist, whether we
are getting efficient use of the square
footage and premises that we have.
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That is a work in progress. It is very
difficult work, because comparing apples
with apples is sometimes hard to nail
down, given the different curricula in
different facilities, but we are working

on that. That will be used as part of the
benefits realisation on this project, and
for us in the Department to assess the
relative performance of colleges. We
have become a bit more sophisticated
over the years, and we have a further
education health check, which draws
together all kinds of metrics: finance;
qualifications; staffing ratios; and quality
inspection. We will include that as well. |
cannot give you a definitive answer now,
because that work is not completed.
However, it is work in hand, and we
recognise the need to do it.

Mr Girvan: Would that include a whole-
of-life cost across similar projects?

Mr Baker: | honestly do not know. | am
happy to get back to you and give you
more detail on that benchmarking.

Mr Girvan: A number of questions

will come up today, and we might not
necessarily get the answers to them
from you. | would appreciate it if those
details could be brought back to the
Committee.

| am asking one question in particular,
and that is for an overall, whole-of-life
project cost and valuation between
one project and another. We have a
list of similar projects here. | believe
them to be similar, but they may be
totally different. | am also interested
in the specification that was used

in the building and in who set that
specification. By that, | mean the
finishes that were used.

Mr Baker: The specification for the
building was set out in great detail in
the contract and the project agreement.
| have looked at that, and it runs to 400
pages in total, including 24 appendices,
and all of that was set out.

Mr Girvan: Who set those? Was it the
consultants or was it the Department?

Mr Baker: The project board set —
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Ms McGivern: Sorry, | just want to say
how we got to developing the spec. The
college did an original vision economic
appraisal of the two buildings, which

it initiated in 1999, and that was
completed in 2000. The conclusion
was that there was a requirement to
replace the two buildings in the city
centre. That formed the basis of the
kind of spec that eventually emerged.
Springvale then intervened, so the
original business case that emerged
around 2000 had to be refreshed in
2004, and it had to take into account
the change in what could have been at
Springvale and what, in fact, happened.
That refreshed business case then set
the framework to develop the spec, so
the spec came from the work that the
college was doing internally. Obviously,
the college was passing on information
to DEL, but it would have been doing
that internally. The college set the spec
and made sure that, whatever it was, the
building would meet the student number
needs of College Square East and
Brunswick Street, as well as address
compliance issues. Those were a real
problem, particularly in College Square
East because, as we were moving, the
disability legislation was changing. The
bones of the spec came out of that
visioning, the business case processes
and the refresh business case
processes. In that sense, the project
board — the capital projects board, as
it was then, in the college — developed
the spec.

Mr Girvan: Other Committee members
might want to come in.

Mr McQuillan: Is the project board
guided by the consultants or were they
part of the project board?

Ms McGivern: My understanding is that
the college did use consultants. The
college brought in consultants in 2002
when it did the original piece of work,
and it may well have used consultancy
support in 2004 when it did the refresh
business case. However, it would have
been an iterative process. Consultants
may well have been used to get into the
nitty-gritty and the technical information,
but the framework of what the college

294.

295.

296.

297.

298.

wanted, which is the basis of the spec,
would have come initially from the
college. The consultants may well have
turned that into square footage and all
those other issues that you can imagine,
but the spec would have come from the
client.

Mr Baker: Can | bring in Tom to try to
answer Mr Girvan and Mr McQuillan’s
questions further?

Mr Tom Redmond (Department for
Employment and Learning): | will go
back to the shadow bid model. The
shadow bid model is a financial model
that comes to a conclusion about

what the overall cost of the project

will be. The individual inputs to that
shadow bid model will be contemporary
information relating to build costs,
whole-life cycle costs, design costs and
other costs that feed into and come
out with a net present value that is the
benchmark against which the project
has to be delivered. So, if you think
that the shadow bid model sets the
cost barometer and the value-for-money
barometer against which the project has
to be delivered, the quality that you are
looking for is the best available quality
that you can get within that benchmark
parameter. So, by putting an NPV on the
shadow bid model, you are effectively
saying that that is where we expect

the quality to come in at and the best
quality that we can get.

You mentioned earlier the costs relating
to different projects, and it is difficult to
compare them across time because, as
you can imagine, building square metres
of further education accommodation in
2007-08 at the height of the property
market would have been much more
expensive than it would have been
perhaps six, seven or 10 years earlier.
So, the cost per square metre going into
the shadow bid model in 2007-08 would
have been significantly higher than if a
shadow bid model had been constructed
five or six years earlier.

Mr Girvan: | —

Mr Redmond: Sorry, | will just finish
this point. The shadow bid model
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was constructed by the college’s
independent advisers. In addition, when
it was completed, it was independently
signed off by DFP’s Central Procurement
Directorate.

Mr Girvan: | can accept that, but you
must appreciate that we are dealing with
a number and that the South Eastern
Regional College developed two within

a very short period and a similar time
frame, yet its unitary square metre cost
is nowhere near. It is roughly 40% less
than was spent in relation to the Belfast
Metropolitan College.

You alluded to how you compile those
business cases and how you present
the whole lot. We developed a business
case for 12 car parking spaces yet
ended up having to build a car park, and
we have a 25-year lease on the building
but a 40-year lease in relation to the
car park and the contract associated
with that. The original business case
stated that you need 12 car parking
spaces. | might be wrong. | do not want
to get too deep into that because others
will want to deal with that. | am more
worried about the 40-year contract on a
car park when we do not have a 40-year
contract on the rest of the building that
is associated with that car park.

Mr Baker: Chair, | will take the point
about the car park. The car park was
built at absolutely no cost to the college
and the Department. This was an issue

Mr Clarke: Was there not a £5 million
injection there?

Mr Baker: By the bidder and the bidder’s
bank. The college and the Department
put precisely no money into the car park.
That was a bit of good business by the
college and the Department. The bidder
for —

Mr Clarke: Is that how you describe it?

Mr Girvan: We are paying year-on-year
from the public purse for use of that car
park.

3009.

Mr Baker: No, we are not. We are
getting an income indexed at 5% year-
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on-year for the car park, and the asset
reverts to the college after 40 years

in its entirety. The bidder, for its own
purposes, decided that it wanted to
build a basement car park. We can
speculate as to the reasons for that.
The bidder wanted the college to pay for
the car park, and you can understand
how the bidder may come along and
say, “Why wouldn’t you want a car park?
It will enhance the building, it will be
convenient and you might generate a bit
of income”. But the college said no and
the Department said no, and they stuck
to their guns on that. So, eventually, the
bidder, which really wanted a basement
car park for its own reasons, funded
that at its own cost with borrowing,
presumably from the bank, of over £5
million. It is operating that car park. It is
paying a modest income to the college.
It is only £10,000 a year, but it is index
linked at 5% for 40 years. At the end of
40 years, that will revert to the college.
So, the college and the Department are
not one penny out of pocket for the car
park. That is why | said that it was a bit
of good business. The college is getting
the benefit, or the convenience. It is
not a monetary benefit, but the college
is getting the convenience of having a
basement car park. | think that there
might have been a misunderstanding
that somehow the college had paid for
this; it did not.

The Chairperson: Kieran, as Comptroller
and Auditor General, do you want to
make a comment on that?

Mr Kieran Donnelly (Comptroller

and Auditor General): | will return to
paragraph 2-8. Connected with the
difficulties with the car park, you will see
in paragraph 2-8 that:

“The funding bank and ICL sought potential
co-funders for the project but this was
unsuccessful. In order to find a solution

to the funding situation, an increase in

the public sector capital contribution (a
‘bullet’ accelerated debt repayment) to the
project from £10 million to £15 million was
negotiated”.

So, there was a further increase in the
upfront bullet payment. | suppose that
there seemed to be a connection with
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the increased risks to the project and
the car park.

Mr Baker: | want to be absolutely clear
on this point: | do not know whether the
C&AG is suggesting that the college or
the Department put any money into this
car park, but | am saying, unequivocally,
that they did not. No public money went
into the car park. The college is getting
an income from the car park; the asset
will revert to the college after 40 years.
The increased bullet payment was
nothing to do with the car park. | am
making that point. | do not know whether
the C&AG is saying something different.

Mr Clarke: Derek, have you accepted
the report?

Mr Baker: | have accepted the report.

Mr Clarke: Have you accepted the report
in its entirety?

Mr Baker: Yes.

Mr Clarke: If you have accepted the
report, have you read paragraph 2:87? |
will give you a minute or two to read it.

Mr Baker: | do not see the report saying
that the college or the Department —

Mr Clarke: It says that there was:

“(a “bullet” accelerated debt repayment) to the
project from £10 million to £15 million”.

When | went to school, that was an
additional £5 million.

Mr Baker: Yes, but —

Mr Clarke: That was referred to as the
bullet payment, and it was in conjunction
with the car park. It is in paragraph 2-8
of the report, which you have accepted.

Mr Baker: | do not read that paragraph
as saying that that bullet payment is in
respect of the car park.

Mr Clarke: How do you read that
paragraph, given that one of the
paragraph’s opening comments refers to
the construction of the underground car
park?

Mr Baker: | do not accept that that
paragraph says that the bullet payment
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was in respect of the car park. | simply
do not accept that.

Mr Clarke: Chairperson, can | read it
into the record? Paragraph 2-8 states:

“In order to find a solution —

the solution being to the underground
car park

“ — to the funding situation, an increase in
the public sector capital contribution (a ‘bullet’
accelerated debt repayment) to the project
from £10 million to £15 million”.

Derek, can you explain to me how that is
not an additional injection of £5 million
in relation to the car park?

Mr Baker: Yes, because | do not

accept that the solution to the “funding
situation” refers to the car park. | simply
do not accept that.

Mr Clarke: You have accepted the
report, and that is clearly what it says.
That is the understanding that any
layman or laywoman who reads it will
have.

Mr Baker: Sorry, for the record, Chair,
can | say that | do not accept that the
“funding situation” refers to the car
park? For the record, | want to say
clearly that the Department and the
college put no money whatsoever into
the car park. No money.

Mr McQuillan: What was the £5 million
used for then? Can you tell us that?

Mr Baker: The increase of £5 million in
the bullet payment was used to reduce
the unitary charge.

Mr McQuillan: How much did it reduce
it by?

Mr Baker: Over three hundred and sixty

Mr McQuillan: Was it what you said
earlier?

Mr Baker: Yes, sorry. It was not used to
fund the car park; it simply was not.

The Chairperson: A couple of members
want to get in. Kieran, do you want to
respond before | let members come in?
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Mr Donnelly: | accept what the
accounting officer is saying to an
extent; there was no direct connection
in terms of funding the car park. But
what we do know is that, just months
before signing the PPP agreement, ICL’s
funding bank advised that the appetite
to provide the entirety of funding for the
project was significantly reduced, partly
due to the financial markets but also

to additional interface risks with the
project, ie the underground car park. So,
the underground car park was certainly
factored into that bank assessment. It
may not have been the only factor, but it
seems to have had relevance.

Mr Dallat: Chairperson, with your
permission, | want to go back to an
interesting point that Paul raised but
that was left hanging. For the record, |
am extremely keen to establish who was
in charge. Who was the captain of the
ship? | am prone to blaming consultants
for things, but Marie-Thérése said that
they just came in and out, so we can
rule them out. What grade was the
person in the Department who was
handling all that money?

Mr Baker: | will answer that in the

first instance. There were governance
structures around the project and there
was a programme board, and that was
chaired, as is typical in these projects,
by the senior responsible owner. That
person —

Mr Dallat: The senior responsible
owner; now, explain —

Mr Baker: Sorry, that is a technical term
that we use in project management.
The senior responsible owner in your
terminology, Mr Dallat, is the captain

of the ship. The senior responsible
owner was the principal of the college
throughout.

Mr Clarke: Who was it?

Mr Baker: The name changed a number
of times as principals came and went.

Mr Dallat: We had loads of captains of
the ship. Did they throw them overboard
or what happened?
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Mr Baker: It is in the appendix. During
the lifetime of the project, a number
of principals of the college retired and
some went off with ill health. One went
off with ill health and retired on health
grounds.

Mr Dallat: Any wonder. Derek, who in the
Department is taking responsibility?

Mr Baker: | am taking responsibility.

Mr Dallat: You are the current
accounting officer. | have done no
research, but were you the accounting
officer when this happened?

Mr Baker: | came to the post this time
last year —

Mr Dallat: You are not guilty then.

Mr Baker: — as an acting permanent
secretary.

Mr Dallat: Chairperson, | want to put on
record that Derek is not guilty. He was
not in charge.

The Chairperson: Who was the
accounting officer at the time?

Mr Baker: There were probably a
number of permanent secretaries.

Mr Dallat: | am sure that you have done
at least a couple of days’ rehearsal
before coming here, and you do not
know.

Mr Baker: Well, give me a year. Which
year are you talking about? The project
ran from —

Mr Clarke: Every year.
Mr Baker: — 2004 through to 2011.

Mr Clarke: We are happy to take every
year. We have all day.

Mr Dallat: Marie-Thérése said that she
could give me an hour. | can take all day.
| want to know.

Mr Clarke: We can come back another
day if you want.

Mr Baker: During the lifetime of the
project, there were probably three
different permanent secretaries.
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Mr Dallat: Who were they?

Mr Baker: And, indeed, senior
responsible owners. | can give you
the names of the senior responsible
owners. Tom has shown me a list of
them. It is in my briefing pack. Do you
want me to read out the list?

Mr Dallat: Yes.

Mr Baker: OK. From 2001 to August
2002, a Mr Paddy Murphy was the
senior responsible owner. He was

the principal in the college. Between
September and December 2002, Mr
Trevor Neilands was the principal in

the college. Between January 2003

and October 2008, Mr Brian Turtle was
the principal in the college. All those
individuals were senior responsible
owners of the project. Between April
and June 2008, just for a short period,
a Mr Trevor Smyth was the principal

and senior responsible owner. Between
July 2008 and October 2010, Mr
Raymond Mullan was the principal. From
November 2010 until the present date,
Marie-Thérése McGivern, who is beside
me, has been the principal of the college
and the senior responsible owner for the
project.

Mr Dallat: Well, Marie-Thérése is here.
Fair dues to her. Why are the rest of
them not here?

Mr Baker: Chair, as you know, the
convention is that current accounting
officers attend. | do not think that the
previous accounting officers were invited
to the Committee.

The Chairperson: Basically, Deputy
Chairperson, | think that what you are
saying is that the people who are solely
responsible for the debacle are not in
front of us today.

Mr Dallat: You are right, Chairperson.
It is a serious weakness in the whole
system that one person is sent to carry
the can for others whose names we had
extreme difficulty extracting from you.

Mr Baker: Sorry, | did not have the list
in front of me when you asked me, Mr
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Dallat, but | am more than happy to give
it to you.

Mr Clarke: | thought that you said that
you had it in your briefing pack.

Mr Baker: Yes, somewhere, but | could
not lay my hand on instantly. Tom kindly
found it and put it in front of me.

Mr Dallat: | am going to come back in
later. We still have not established who
was in charge.

The Chairperson: | know that some
members have yet to go into their lines
of questioning and we are time bound.

Mr Dallat: | apologise if | have —

Mr Baker: Sorry, just on that point,
which is very important: under the
governance structures for any project,
the senior responsible owner is in
charge of all aspects of the project. That
is the way that governance works with
project management.

Mr Dallat: One of the things that |

was trying to find out was who in the
Department had a watching brief on

it? Who allowed it to drift from 12
months to 23 months? Who managed to
successfully create a situation in which
there was no control?

Mr Baker: | would dispute the
suggestion that there was no control.

Mr Clarke: You were not there.

Mr Baker: You are absolutely right,
Mr Clarke, but | have to answer the
questions that you are putting to me.

Mr Clarke: Then answer the question
that the Deputy Chair put to you.

Mr Baker: The permanent secretary is
ultimately in control of the Department.
If you want to go back to 2001, you
know who the permanent secretaries
were. You could name them. | could
name them.

Mr Dallat: | promise you, Derek, that |
do not learn them off by heart.

Mr Baker: OK. Do you know what,
Chair? You are making me feel very
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uncomfortable asking me to name other
permanent secretaries.

Mr Dallat: Oh right.
The Chairperson: Can | just —

Mr Baker: It is as if | am in the position
of being asked to pass the buck to
somebody else. | am the person who
carries the can for this.

Mr Clarke: Are you acting as the human
shield then? | have heard that phrase
being used in the Building before.

Mr Baker: No, | am not.

Mr Clarke: Then | do not think that there
is any difficulty in putting out the names
of those —

The Chairperson: Members, can | just
intervene? It would not be hard to

find out who it is. We can go through
the research and find out who the
accounting officer was at the time. We
have to move on. Mr Easton has to
leave early, and we have to get into his
line of questioning.

Mr Dallat: | have asked your question,
sorry.

Mr Easton: Have you? Right, OK.

405.

The Chairperson: It is not the purpose
of the Committee to make you feel
uncomfortable either.

Mr Easton: It took 30 months to
negotiate the contract. Surely, that is
way beyond what it should have taken,
even taking into account the magnitude
of the project and the contractual
complexities. Do you agree with that?

Mr Baker: | agree entirely with you.

Mr Easton: Preferred bidder status

was awarded in July 2006, subject to
satisfactory clarification on a number of
issues. What were those issues?

Mr Baker: | do not know whether | could
hand over to Tom on that, because

| honestly do not know what the

specific issues were in the preferred
bid. | apologise; | do not have that
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information. | do not know whether Tom
can add to that.

Mr Redmond: | can add a little to it; |
cannot give you the full exhaustive list.
There is a preferred bidder letter that we
can make available to the Committee

at a later date. Basically, we would have
looked at the bid from ICL and, subject
to being given some satisfactorily
answers on things such as planning risk
and various other issues — if it could
give us a positive answer on a list of
items — we would have been minded to
confer the status of preferred bidder on
it. | can certainly make those conditions
available to the Committee.

Mr Easton: | am not having a go at
any of the panel before us, but | think
that we have the wrong people here to
answer our questions. That is just an
observation.

Mr Redmond: | suppose that | should
maybe put my hand up and say that

| was here for most of the project. In
relation to an earlier question —

Mr Clarke: Why can you not answer that
question?

Mr Redmond: Why can | not answer the
question?

Mr Clarke: Yes, the question that has
been posed about the problems.

Mr Redmond: The problems in relation
to the preferred bidder.

Mr Clarke: Yes.

Mr Redmond: The preferred bidder letter
was issued around 2006. | am sorry
that | do not have the full details of it in
my head at the moment, but, as | said
and promised, | can make it available to
the Committee. It would have contained
some general issues about planning and
various other items, clarifications and
details about leasing. As | said, | have
not got the exact detail.

Ms McGivern: Sorry, Tom, just to
interject: paragraph 3.5 sets out where
some of the issues arose. There

were certainly technical issues with
the leasing arrangement. It was quite

67



Report on The Future Impact of Borrowing and Private Finance Commitments and Belfast Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP Project

410.

411.

412.

413.

complex, the land belonged to the
Harbour Commissioners and there were
a lot of interfacing issues. There were
also planning issues that, again, ICL
may not have expected. We know what
was happening in the Titanic Quarter at
that time with the masterplan and what
the Planning Service wanted at that
point.

The impact of the credit crunch obviously
gave ICL significant problems, ultimately
with equity partners and in trying to

get sufficient funding for the project.
From the college’s point of view, | have
to say that there were also capability
and capacity issues on the part of the
college. Those are in the public domain.

In my view, none of those were

good additions — | was director of
development at Belfast City Council, so
| am used to doing large-scale projects.
Twelve months seems to be a very
optimistic guess for a piece of work of
that complexity to be put through. My
view is that it was wrong to say that

it could happen in 12 months. The
expectations were too high.

Mr Clarke: Chairperson, | want to come
in for one second. A bit like Derek, | am
very uncomfortable with the way that
this is going. We have officials here,

we are trying to scrutinise a particular
report and they are not across the brief,
cannot give answers to the questions
or delve into the detail on some of the
stuff, even the question that Alex just
asked. If we cannot be furnished with
that detail as part of the inquiry, | really
do not see the point in us going on.
That really gets into the nuts and bolts
of what was wrong and how some of us
have come to the opinion that the thing
was totally and utterly out of control.
We have officials here today, and they
cannot furnish us with those answers.

We might be playing with the semantics
a few minutes ago with the names, but
we are now looking for the level of detail
about what the problems associated
with the contract were, and they cannot
give us that. | propose that we should
suspend the meeting, send the officials
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away and get the right people here to
answer the questions.

We are trying to build confidence in the
public out there. The Audit Office has
done a very detailed report and there
are gaping holes in what the officials
are bringing to the table. We cannot
get into the level of detail that we want
to examine the nuts and bolts of the
project and how, some of us privately
think, it fell apart.

Mr Baker: In response to that, | can
discuss the difficulties with the contract
and the kind of things that Marie-
Therese has just mentioned. | can
discuss the difficulties that arose in the
negotiations about the lease, about the
car park, about the —

Mr Clarke: That is very good, Derek, but
that question has been asked and you
could not answer it.

Mr Baker: Sorry, it was a slightly
different question that Mr Easton
asked. Mr Easton asked about the
letter at preferred bidder stage — not
the difficulties in the contract that
subsequently arose in the negotiations,
but the issues of clarification that were
required at preferred bidder stage. | am
paraphrasing Mr Easton, but —

Mr Clarke: | would rather that officials
who come to the Committee are across
the whole brief of the whole project so
that they can answer the questions

that whichever member wishes to pose,
rather that offering to supply us with the
answers at a later date. We really want
to get into detail so that we can get

our heads around it, find out what went
wrong, who was responsible and make
sure that it does not happen again.

The bit that bugs me is that it is public
money. If those people had been putting
money in from their wallets the project
would never would have been at the
Titanic Quarter.

The Chairperson: Can | just say that
there are seven members — Mr
Copeland, | know that you want to come
in — and they have particular areas of
questioning.
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Mr McQuillan: Chair, we have to get
answers. There is no point in asking the
questions if we are not getting answers.

The Chairperson: We will tease that out
through the course of the session.

Mr Clarke: Well, it has not happened so
far.

The Chairperson: If there is something
that you cannot answer, if information
can be forwarded to the Committee —

Mr Clarke: Chair, | made a proposal?

The Chairperson: There are other people
who want to ask their questions, Mr
Clarke.

Mr Clarke: Chair, | think that we are
wasting our time, we are wasting the
Committee staff’s time and we are
wasting the Audit Office’s time in
going through this because it is a total
charade.

The Chairperson: The accounting officer
has said that there are questions

that can be answered and | would

like to hear the questions that can be
answered.

| will let Mr Copeland in, as he has been
waiting for some time. Thank you for
your patience.

Mr Copeland: It has been interesting. |
must say that | find myself having some
sympathy with Trevor’s views, for the first
time, probably.

Significant unresolved issues existed
with lvywood Colleges Limited at the
time that the deal started to proceed.
It was still appointed as preferred
bidder. Then, within four months of
being appointed as such, in a flash

of inspiration, this car-parking issue
appears on the horizon. Did it not give
some concern that that 16-week period
was sufficient to pretty much radically
change the whole concept to such a
degree that the banks then considered it
to be a more unacceptable risk, if | can
put it in those terms?

| am also curious as to how the costs
of the car park were calculated. | know

432.

a wee bit about concrete and | know

an awful lot about foundations. The
building structure that you require to
build a building on the ground is one
thing, but the building structure that

you require to build a building on top

of a car park that is underground is

an entirely different kettle of fish. The
foundation structure is different, there is
tanking, and there are different supplies
of services, particularly if there are two
leases available. In your view, the total
cost of the car-park component, which
would have utilised certain things like
foundations or values for foundations
that would have been in the original
building: did those amounts come out of
the contract price for the building in the
first place or were they simply added in
because they are all standing on the one
foundation? The foundation is actually
the foundation of the car park, so what
did we pay for? Did we pay for a car park
or did we pay for a void underneath a
building?

Mr Baker: To answer the first point;
yes, we were concerned, because the
bidder had submitted a proposal that
was accepted on the basis that the
bidder would provide a surface car
park. Now, in truth, the car parking
issue was really — | will not say nothing
to do with the authority on this one,
but it was a separate issue because
the provision of car parking was a
planning consideration, and planning
risk was transferred to the bidder. So,
the only specification in the invitation
to negotiate documentation was for a
very small number of parking spaces.
If the bidder needed to, in order to
meet planning conditions, or wanted to
provide additional car-parking space,

it was for the bidder to seek planning
permission. Responsibility and risk

for obtaining that planning permission
rested with the bidder in its entirety,
but it was a matter of great concern
that, shortly after the preferred bidder
stage, the bidder came back and said
that it would like to build a basement
car park. As | said, we can speculate
as to the reasons for that, and that
speculation is probably that the long-
term attractiveness of building a surface
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car park in Titanic Quarter diminished
for the bidder because it might have felt
that, in a number of years — sorry, did
you want to interrupt?

Mr Copeland: Sorry, | just wanted to
keep this train of thought. The original
preferred bid included a provision for
how many car-parking spaces?

Mr Baker: | think it was in the high
teens.

Mr Copeland: Twelve?
Mr Baker: Twelve; sorry, my apologies.

Mr Copeland: And this is a metropolitan
college catering for how many pupils?

Mr Baker: A couple of thousand, but the
point is that the provision of car-parking
was a planning condition and, under the
terms of this arrangement, planning risk
and meeting planning conditions rests
entirely with the bidder. The Department
and the college were not going to pay for
that. The risk rested with the bidder.

Mr Copeland: | know a wee bit about
foundations, concrete and planning. If
someone told me that they were going
to construct a signature building on the
banks of the River Lagan, a regenerative
building in a post-industrial area for
several thousand students and — how
many staff?

Mr Baker: About 250 staff.

Mr Copeland: And there were only 12
car-parking spaces?

Mr Baker: Yes.

Mr Copeland: | would have said that
they were laughing at you.

Mr Baker: Sorry, Tom —

Mr Redmond: Sorry, can | come in
there? In addition to the small number
of car-parking spaces that were
identified in the tender, ICL’s original bid
also offered a surface car park with 240
car-parking spaces for a period of 10
years, on a site adjacent to the current
BMC site. It also specified that the
additional car park—
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Mr Copeland: Did they own the site that
they were putting this car park on?

Mr Redmond: Titanic Quarter owns the
site that they were specifying for the
additional 240 car-parking spaces. They
also specified in their bid additional car-
parking spaces in conjunction with the
Odyssey Arena.

Mr Copeland: What was that, at the
arena?

Mr Baker: The car park opposite the
arena.

Mr Copeland: Which is owned by the —

Mr Baker: It is owned by the Odyssey,
but they were going to negotiate a
concessionary rate for those car-parking
spaces. So that was in their bid.

Mr Copeland: What is the site of the
250 proposed car-parking spaces
adjacent to the current site of the
college being used for now?

Mr Baker: It is not used for anything.

Mr Redmond: Subsequently, ICL
changed their proposal to the basement
car park, and the surface car park did
not materialise in the changed proposal.

Mr Copeland: Was the surface car park
part of the original tender price?

Mr Baker: Yes, it was part of the original
tender price.

Mr Copeland: So they took that out; they
got an extra £5 million for this car park
going in underneath —

Mr Redmond: Sorry, they did not get —

Mr Copeland: No. They had this site.
Belfast Metropolitan College was to have
250 parking spaces in an adjacent site.
ICL then removed the 250 car-parking
spaces and built this thing underneath.

Mr Redmond: Yes.

Mr Copeland: What is the value of the
site, if you can park 250 cars on it?

Mr Redmond: That was negotiated at
the time, obviously quite a number of
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years ago. The costs of providing that
were taken out of the bid.

Mr Copeland: What was that cost?

Mr Redmond: | cannot remember an
exact number of pounds.

Mr Copeland: What would have been the
capital value of what it would have been
used for? | would like an answer to that.

Mr Redmond: It would not have been a
capital value, because what was being
offered in the bid was 10 years. It was
not a site in perpetuity. It was a car-
parking facility for 10 years only, after
which, obviously, it would have reverted
back to whatever use ICL or Titanic
Quarter could have achieved for it.

Mr Copeland: And is Titanic Quarter
connected with the Ivy people who
actually did this?

Mr Redmond: Yes they are the parent
company.

Mr Girvan: Can | ask one question? If
it was a 10-year lease for that car park,
yet we were in a 25-year lease on the
building, therefore, for 15 years of the
use of the building, would there not
have been a difficulty? If ICL decided
to actually redevelop that site and put
another building on it, you were then
going to have to look for car parking,
because you only had a 10-year lease in
relation to car parking, yet you had the
life-lease on the building.

Mr Redmond: | think that that was
actually part of ICL’s difficulties, in

that they latterly realised that, having
provided those car-parking spaces for
the college for 10 years, in 10 years’
time it would have been a planning
issue, as to whether they would have got
a change of use for that facility.

Mr Baker: The car park — sorry.

Mr Redmond: If | could just add

one other thing. The addition of the
basement car park did not change
the cost specified in ICL’'s bid for the
college. Anything that was done in
relation to the basement car park and
any additional costs associated with

473.

474.

475.

476.

477.

478.

479.

480.

481.

482.

483.

484.

485.

it was met by ICL from within its own
resources. The cost of the college
building did not change from what had
been specified in the tender.

Mr Copeland: Including the foundations,
excavation and tanking?

Mr Baker: Correct.

Mr McQuillan: Tom, you said earlier that
you were involved in this from the early
days. What was your role throughout the
whole project?

Mr Redmond: My role was to represent
DEL on the project board of the BMC
project and report back through to my
accounting officer, who was the person
with responsibility for DEL’s involvement.

Mr McQuillan: So, you sat on the project
board throughout this.

Mr Redmond: Yes.

Mr McQuillan: Were any of your three
colleagues on it, or was it just yourself?

Mr Redmond: Just me.

Mr McQuillan: Who was leading the
project board?

Mr Redmond: The SRO and the names
that Derek read out.

Mr McQuillan: They were on the project
board as well.

Mr Redmond: They chaired the project
board. The project actually belonged to
Belfast Metropolitan College.

Mr McQuillan: From hearing that, |
think that Trevor is 100% right that

we have the wrong people here. |
second his proposal. We need to get

to the nitty-gritty of this. The college
failed miserably to manage even its
consultancy fees, for instance. There
was a £300,000 cap over three years,
and it ended up at £1-5 million. It
should have been £1-8 million, but, after
a bit of reasonable negotiation, it ended
up at £1-5 million. That is something
that the project board should have been
over from day one, and it let it slip. It
has failed miserably.
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Mr Dallat: If Adrian would permit me;
you were obviously the continuous
liaison with these people. In your honest
opinion, on the record, were these
people qualified to take charge of a
multimillion pound project like that? So
many of them have moved on to greater
things. The reason why | am asking the
question is that, as | said at the very
beginning, we would like to produce a
report that prevents people who have
absolutely no concept of managing very
clever people on the other side from
doing so. Is that what it was? Tom, you
had a very difficult job; how did you do it?

Mr McQuillan: Why are you still there?
[Laughter.]

Mr Redmond: Most colleges —
Mr Dallat: What training did they have?

Mr Redmond: Most colleges would not
deliver more than one project of this
magnitude in their lifetime.

Mr Dallat: Is that not a queer job?

Mr Redmond: To supplement that, the
college would have appointed a team of
advisors who would have the technical,
legal and financial capability to do this.
We are talking about —

Mr Dallat: With Adrian’s permission;
could you please name all the people,
who presumably got fat payments?

Who were the people who gave all this
technical advice to the innocents at sea
who were in charge of the project, and
how much did they get?

Mr Redmond: | can name them. The
advisory team was appointed in 2002
and stayed until the project was signed
in 2009. The financial expertise was
supplied by KPMG, the legal advice
was supplied by A&L Goodbody, and
the technical expertise was provided by
Farrell Grant Sparks.

Mr Clarke: May | ask how much they
received?

Mr Redmond: The sum of money that
was mentioned earlier: £1-5 million plus
VAT.
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Mr McQuillan: How did it rise from
£300,000 to that figure? It was capped
at £300,000 over three years.

Mr Baker: That was poor management.
| accept that, and there is no excuse
for it. That is unacceptable. It should
not have happened, and | would not
try to defend it. That was simply poor
management.

Mr McQuillan: That is just one of the
things that was poorly managed. There
is one example after another throughout
this report; there is a build-up.

Mr Clarke: May | move the proposal,
which was seconded by Adrian, that we
suspend this meeting and bring back
the people who really need to be at the
end of the table so that we can get to
the bottom of this?

Mr Dallat: Perhaps Trevor would allow
his colleagues to respond to that. This
place goes into recess next week —

Mr Clarke: | am happy enough to come
back.

The Chairperson: | propose that we
suspend the meeting for about five or
10 minutes so that we, as a Committee,
can discuss this matter. Is that OK with
you? Whatever our deliberations are, we
will bring you back in again and let you
know. | think that that is the fair way to
do it.

The Committee suspended at 3.25 pm and

resumed at 3.47 pm.

On resuming —

(The Deputy Chairperson [Mr Dallat] in the Chair)

504.

The Deputy Chairperson: You are very
welcome back again. | suppose | had
better explain immediately — | saw the
shock on Derek’s face — that | am here
because the Chairperson has been
called away. We just hope that everything
is OK. We decided to break up and have
a discussion. We think and hope that we
can get as much information as we need
to make our report. If, by the end of the
afternoon, we have not, we will either
recall and ask for additional withesses
or simply write asking for information,
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which is the usual process. However, |
need to emphasise that members are
determined and anxious to have a report
that will serve a purpose in the future,
irrespective of who the personalities
are.

Mr Baker: Thank you for that. It is my
intention and our intention to be as
helpful to the Committee as possible. |
apologise if there is any sense that | am
not being helpful to the Committee. That
is certainly not my intention.

The Deputy Chairperson: Thank you;
that is very useful. Michael, you were
in full flow of asking questions. If other
members are in agreement, we will
begin again with Michael.

Mr Copeland: Thank you. Tom, these
are directed at you because you are
probably best-placed to answer them. At
no stage during this will I, or | presume
any of the other members, lose sight
of the fact that you have delivered a
wonderful signature building that is
being used for the purpose for which

it was intended. Our responsibility is
to examine the matters that we are
examining.

| want to try to go through it in my

own mind just to clarify it. The original
business plan was based on a city
centre location that required only 12 car
parking spaces, presumably because, in
the city centre, people would use public
transport. Is that a fair statement?

Mr Redmond: For major projects and
buildings in the city centre, planning —

Mr Copeland: | do not need the whole
— that is a correct assumption.

Mr Redmond: Yes. Planning was not —

Mr Copeland: There is a master

plan in Belfast in which a number of
companies are involved. For whatever
reason, whether those companies were
involved in this or not, this thing ended
up in the Titanic Quarter. As an East
Belfast representative, | am very proud
of that. It ended up on the right side of
the Lagan. The requirement for 12 car
parking spaces then became obsolete
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and inside a 16-week period a decision
was taken to incorporate a basement
car park.

As | understand it, the lease
arrangements are from the Belfast
Harbour Commissioners for 250 years
with a further 25-year lease or buy-

out arrangement with the people who
construct it or use it, and a 40-year
lease below that for the underground car
park.

If the title for the proposed surface car
park and proposed college were resident
in the same place initially, and the lease
that transferred included the original
surface car park, as it could have,

since the title was resident in the same
place, how did that then become free

of those incumbencies? It would, in my
estimation, have acquired considerable
addition capital value as a development
site for any other type of development
in the light of the proposal that had
received planning permission, which is
the college itself. It goes from being a
flat piece of ground in a development
area proposed as a car park, which may
or may not have had a legal impediment
on it for educational use only, to a
development site.

Could all those who took this into
account have been expected to question
the increase in value of that piece of
land? The difficulties that could be
hidden in there are that the public purse
was viewed as being open and available
to suit the needs of private industry
above and beyond the provision of the
college, which is what it was doing.

The Deputy Chairperson: Michael —

Mr Copeland: That is cynical but forgive
me.

The Deputy Chairperson: Could | maybe
stop you there and hopefully somebody
will pick up on some of the points that
Michael has raised. Michael, you are
then welcome to come back in.

Mr Copeland: | appreciate that, Chair. |
know that the hour is late.
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Mr Redmond: First of all, | need to
make it clear that the only title that was
transferring ... The title comes from the
Harbour Commissioners through Titanic
Quarter, and it came down then to BMC
for the site that the college is built on.
As for the additional surface car park,
there was never any intention to transfer
the title to that land to BMC.

Mr Copeland: So, who would have
owned the car park?

Mr Redmond: Titanic Quarter would
have owned the car park.

Mr Copeland: Titanic Quarter was one or
two steps above the college in terms of
title for that site.

Mr Redmond: BMC was only getting
title to the site on which the college is
built. The surface car park was never
transferring to BMC.

Mr Copeland: It is not BMC | am
interested in; it is the one above

them. It is the commonality of the title
between the car park and the site upon
which the college is built.

Mr Redmond: There are two sites, as |
understand it —

Mr Copeland: One parcel of land but two
sites.

The Deputy Chairperson: Michael,
maybe let Tom just answer because |
am conscious that Hansard is recording
this.

Mr Redmond: There is the three-

acre site on which the BMC campus

is built. That came from the Harbour
Commissioners through the Titanic
Quarter down to BMC. The proposal

in relation to the additional bit of land
that was to be the surface car park, the
title on it was never transferring from
anyone. It was going to remain with the
Belfast Harbour Commissioners and
Titanic Quarter. BMC students and staff
were to have the use of that for a 10-
year period, at which stage it would have
become unavailable to BMC and, as far
as we understand, was going to remain
in the ownership of Titanic Quarter and
the harbour authority.
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Mr Copeland: How could that have been
viewed by the planners as the provision
of on-site parking? It is not. It is on-
site parking that is not on-site, which is
adjacent to but is owned by somebody
else. How could that affect the planning
application?

The Deputy Chairperson: | will maybe
give Tom a chance.

Mr Redmond: Our understanding was
that the planners would have been
content to give planning permission to
the BMC campus with those car parking
arrangements attached. However,

that was never tested with a planning
application, so we do not really know,
because what transpired in its place was
the basement car park wholly funded by
Ivywood Colleges Ltd.

Mr Copeland: Was an amount of money
set aside at the time of the preferred
bid to provide 250 surface car parking
spaces?

Mr Redmond: An amount of money
would have been set aside in the
financial model of the bid that Ivywood
Colleges made. When it was taken that
out of the bid, we sought a refund of
money in relation to that part of the bid,
given that that part of the bid was no
longer being delivered.

Mr Copeland: What is on that site now,
Tom? Do you know?

Mr Redmond: | am not sure; | have no
idea.

Mr Copeland: Do you know, Marie-
Therese?

Ms McGivern: My understanding is that
it is the site at the back of the college.
At this minute, it is empty. They have
cleared it. They use it, occasionally,

for car parking at events, but, other
than that, it is clear, although my
understanding is that Titanic Quarter
has plans for its development.

Mr Copeland: Do you know the nature of
those plans?

Ms McGivern: My past understanding
was that they were for some form of
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commercial call and digital call centre.
People have projects all of the time, but
that —

Mr Copeland: You are a notifiable
neighbour, | presume.

Ms McGivern: We are, but we have not
been notified formally. That is just what
| hear.

The Deputy Chairperson: | think that
Adrian wants to come in with a follow-up.

Mr McQuillan: It is not a follow-up; it is
on a different line.

The Deputy Chairperson: OK; maybe
that is a good idea. Go ahead.

Mr McQuillan: | will park that one.

Mr Girvan: Can | come in on that, Chair?
Michael alluded to the additional cost.

| understand and accept that people
came back and said that there would be
a car park below the development. When
they did that, there would have been
additional costs, because, as Michael
has alluded to, it would have taken a lot
more foundation work and everything
else. Were they indicated in a clear and
transparent manner to those who sat on
the panel? Were they made aware of the
additional costs that would be required
due to having to put in an underground
car park? Building the building was one
point, but having to spend additional
moneys to deal with the underground
aspect was —

Mr Redmond: The addition of the car
park cost no additional money to BMC
or the public sector. The price that was
bid in the tender for the provision of
the building — the BMC campus —
remained unchanged. Any additional
money that was required to deliver the
basement car park was met by lvywood
Colleges from within its own resources.
Obviously, Ivywood Colleges hopes to
recoup that over the 40 years in which
it will be operating the car park as a
facility. It is going to operate the car
park for 40 years to, hopefully, get back
the money that it invested to build the
basement car park
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Mr Girvan: Can | ask a wee question?

| do not know whether it will clarify
anything; in fact, it might create

more of a difficulty. It is in relation to
convoluted details. You mentioned
Ivywood Colleges, but we have a list of
companies involved. The names seem
to recur quite a bit through this. There is
commonality throughout the whole thing.
We have Harcourt Developments, Titanic
Island Ltd, Ivy Wood Properties Ltd,
Ivywood College Holdings Ltd, lvywood
Colleges Holdings Ltd and lvywood Car
Parks Ltd, as well as Titanic Quarter
Ltd. All of them have their fingers in this
project; every one of those companies
is involved in some way, shape or
fashion and, within the returns, would
be receiving some form of payment from
the development of the site.

The Deputy Chairperson: Sorry, Paul —

Mr Clarke: The question that Paul is
getting to, John, is this: how much more
difficult did all of those companies make
to the terms of the negotiations for the
college? As Paul has said, there is a
very long list of linked companies and
linked directors. Given that you were on
the project board and that we are aware
of all the difficulties you had with this
contract, how much more difficult did
that make it?

Mr Redmond: It made it significantly
more difficult.

Mr Clarke: Did all these linkages
concern you?

Mr Redmond: They did concern me, but

Mr Clarke: What did you do about it?

Mr Redmond: We acted at all times to
protect the —

Mr Clarke: | am sorry; who is “we”?
Mr Redmond: The project board —
Mr Clarke: Who?

Mr Redmond: Well, BMC, the
Department as the approving authority

Mr Clarke: What exactly did you do, Tom?
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Mr Redmond: Our contract is with
Ivywood Colleges Ltd. BMC provides

a lease to the car parking company,

but the only company that we have
contracted with is Ivywood Colleges Ltd.
That contract is a set of obligations
which, if they are delivered, on the other
hand, merits lvywood Colleges a unitary
charge. Conversely, if they are not
delivered, the company does not get its
unitary charge.

The Deputy Chairperson: | am sorry;
| want to intervene before Trevor or

Michael come back in. At that stage,
with lvywood in all its forms, had you
effectively lost control of the project?

Mr Redmond: | would not say we had
lost control of the project. We had

to make sure that the relationships
between all the companies were
correct and right and that there was no
risk or additional risk to the college.
For example, the report says that

the provision of the car park brought
additional risks. We did not challenge
that because it probably does bring
additional risks, but it does so for
Ivywood Colleges because, | repeat,
Ivywood Colleges has a contracted set
of obligations which, if delivered, means
that it gets its unitary charge. If it does
not deliver, for whatever reason — it
may be car park relationships between
companies stepping up to Harcourt —
that is of no consequence to BMC. If

it does not deliver the obligations in
the contract, it does not get its unitary
charge. That is the safeguard that

we have at all times to ensure that
contracted obligations are delivered.

Mr Clarke: Did you say, Tom, that you
had concerns about all the different
companies?

Mr Redmond: Not concerns that we
were not able to overcome in the longer
term, but there were things that had to
be —

Mr Clarke: Who did you alert that to,
other than the project board? Who else?

Mr Redmond: We dealt with all the
things in the business case —
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Mr Clarke: No; who else did you raise
your concerns about the different issues
with?

Mr Redmond: It was raised in the
college and —

Mr Clarke: Who with?
Mr Redmond: With the governing body?
Mr Clarke: Who was?

Mr Redmond: In what sense? | cannot
remember all the names of the
members of the governing body.

Mr Clarke: It seems that you were the
most senior person. You are the person
here today who was involved at that
time. Who, in particular, did you raise
your concerns with?

Mr Redmond: | would have brought all
the concerns back into the Department
through the finance director —

Mr Clarke: Which was who?

Mr Redmond: The finance director in
DEL.

Mr Clarke: The person you have just
said you raised it with.

Mr Redmond: It would have been raised
right up to the different permanent
secretaries at all times.

Mr Clarke: Is there a good paper trail of
that?

Mr Redmond: There would be a paper
trail, yes.

Mr Baker: May | just add to that? | am
sorry; a lot of people want to speak,
Deputy Chairperson, over to you.

The Deputy Chairperson: | will try to
control it the best | can, but, at the
same time, | want it to be open and
frank. Before you or Michael come

back in, there is a question that | want
to put to you, for the record. Did your
negotiating strategy include options for
walking away from this deal? Under what
circumstances would you have walked
away?
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Mr Clarke: That is really for Tom to
answer.

Mr Redmond: OK. | am happy to answer
that. We went out to tender because
we had a problem at College Square
East and Brunswick Street. We got two
tenders, which we evaluated. The most
economically advantageous tender was
the Titanic Quarter tender. There were
times when we thought we might have
to walk away when, for example, Titanic
Quarter was looking for a huge uplift in
the value of the land.

Mr McQuillan: May | interrupt you?

You are saying that the Titanic Quarter
tender was the most preferred,
appetising option on the table, but,
according to the brief, you were looking
for a town centre space to build the
college on to start off with. When did the
focus shift to Titanic Quarter?

Mr Redmond: We went out to tender
seeking proposals to rebuild on
Brunswick Street or to come forward
with another site that would be
considered on its merits.

Mr Clarke: So, you described that site
as “advantageous”. Given that you were
on the project board, tell us why was it
more advantageous than the city centre.

Mr Redmond: Well, price was one issue.

Mr Clarke: Is that the starting price or
the finishing price?

Mr Redmond: The finishing price.
Obviously, the price that we evaluated
was the price that we evaluated on

the day, but that, however it shifted,
continued to remain the most
economically advantageous tender.

The alternative bidder was proposing a
22-story building on Brunswick Street.
As you can imagine, the adjacencies and
the functionality of a 22-story building in
relation to all of the different curriculum
areas etc would be more convoluted in
terms of quality than a three- or four-
storey, more spacious three-acre site

at Titanic Quarter. There was a quality
and —
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Mr Clarke: So, it has now got an
advantageous site in the Titanic Quarter.
Part of that deal was putting Brunswick
Street against Titanic Quarter: is that
right?

Mr Redmond: That had been
considered, yes.

Mr Clarke: No, | think that that was the
option at the start, was it not?

Mr Redmond: It was —
Mr Clarke: It was. Right.
Mr Redmond: It was, but it was never —

Mr Clarke: So, it was the option, and, at
some stage —

Mr Redmond: Sorry. | have to be clear
about this; it was not the definitive
option. In the invitation to negotiate
(ITN), in the documentation that went
out, it was not definitive that those sites
would go into the project.

Mr Clarke: When did the Titanic Quarter
become the most advantageous site? In
what year?

Mr Redmond: Immediately after the
tender was made, those tenders were
evaluated —

Mr Clarke: What year?

Mr Redmond: — in 2006, and it was
designated as the preferred bidder
on the basis that it was the most
economically advantageous tender.

Mr Clarke: When was Brunswick Street
removed as an option?

Mr Redmond: Definitively, it was
removed probably around 12 months
later.

Mr Clarke: So, why did it take 12
months to make a decision to remove
it?

Mr Redmond: | think that it was always
our decision not to have it in the deal
and —

Mr Clarke: So why was it in the deal
then for 12 months?
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Mr Redmond: — and it was only
definitively communicated in —

Mr Clarke: Why was it in the deal, Tom?

Mr Redmond: When we started out on
this project, the convention was that
surplus properties in PPP projects were
disposed of in the deal, but that was —

Mr Clarke: How much was it worth in
2006, Tom?

Mr Redmond: Through those years, it
was escalating. Up to 2007, it escalated
with valuations, and | stress that they
were valuations, to £22 million.

Mr McQuillan: Who decided to remove it
from the market and not to sell it?

Mr Redmond: It was a project board
decision, but that would have had to be
approved by governing bodies and by the
Department.

Mr McQuillan: Who in the Department?

Mr Redmond: Right up to accounting
officers.

Mr McQuillan: So, the permanent
secretary is responsible for that. Also,
what are these buildings now worth?

Mr Redmond: Much less: somewhere
around about £4 million or £5 million.

Mr Girvan: Although | do not know
whether it was a desktop operation done
by Land and Property Services (LPS)

to give some value to these buildings,
but in 2010, LPS valued them at £4-6
million.

Mr Redmond: There were various
valuations that —

Mr Girvan: At £4-6 million. Now, |
appreciate that we are dealing with
commercial issues associated with
that site at the moment, but my
understanding is that you are currently
in a position to close a deal on those
properties.

Mr Redmond: We are currently in
negotiations. | presume that you
received the communication. That was
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what was referred to earlier in the
meeting.

Mr Girvan: | do not wish to go into the
commercial aspect of that.

Mr Clarke: Paul, | think we would be
better going back a stage.

Mr Girvan: OK.

Mr Clarke: | am still concerned why
someone decided — | think that we
need to tie down who made the decision
to remove a building that was worth £20
million at that time, given that —

A Member: Two buildings.

Mr Clarke: Two buildings, sorry. Those
would have offset the amount of money
that the public purse was spending. Who
made the decision to remove those?

Mr Copeland: Did they figure in the
Belfast masterplan?

Mr Redmond: The implication in your
question is that we could have got £20
million. That was never a realistic option,
but in relation —

Mr Clarke: Why?

Mr Redmond: The buildings were worth
that in 2007. However —

Mr Clarke: So who made the decision to
remove them?

Mr Redmond: The project board, the
governing body and the Department.

Mr Clarke: Someone has to have come
in with a proposal to remove them from
the project. One person has to have
been the driver. Who was the driver?

Mr Redmond: | do not think that it was
one person.

Mr Clarke: It was two of the people
then.

Mr Redmond: It was the project board.
The governing body and the Department
endorsed it.

Mr Clarke: What expertise was there in
the project board to make a decision like
that?
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Mr Redmond: There were property
advisers on board. LPS was also there.
It was representatives from LPS who
said that, in their opinion, the most
transparent and best way of achieving
open market value was to sell them

on the open market when they were
surplus. They were not surplus in 2007.

Mr Clarke: So, three different firms,
employed at an estimated cost of £1-5
million, gave the advice not to sell two
buildings that were worth approximately
£20 million. Is that what you are saying?

Mr Baker: Can | just add a point?
Mr Clarke: Is that right or wrong, Derek?

Mr Baker: The buildings could not
have been sold then. They could only
have been disposed of after the new
premises had been completed and the
students had left the premises.

Mr Clarke: Was the deal not done,
whether it was Ivywood, Harcourt

or whatever — all those subsidiary
companies? Was it not part of the deal
with the Titanic Quarter? So, yes, it
could have been.

Mr Baker: It would only have been at the
point of contract signing.

Mr Clarke: Which was when?

Mr Baker: April 2009. That was when
the contract was actually signed. On a
point that Tom was going to make, you
are asking, quite rightly, what would

be the rationale for deciding not to
incorporate those properties, which
would have become surplus at some
stage in the future, in the PFl deal. Given
what happened with the property crash,
it is a very legitimate question and goes
right to the heart of this thing.

There are a couple of points there. We
are charged — every public body is
charged — to achieve full market value
for surplus assets. Now, what is the
best way to do that? The advice we got
from Land and Property Services was
that the simplest, most transparent
and most accountable way to do

that is to sell it on the open market.
Indeed, | think that the Committee
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and the Audit Office in their respective
reports on the pathfinder education
PFI projects the very next year noted
the fact that including the disposal of
assets in a PFl deal can unnecessarily
complicate matters. | think that that
was a comment that was made by this
Committee.

Mr Clarke: That is fair enough, Derek,
but why was it allowed to be included at
the start?

Mr Baker: It was a concept at the start
that it might be a good idea, but, on
reflection, the decision was taken to
remove them, first, as LPS guidance was
as it was, secondly —

Mr McQuillan: Was LPS on the project
board as part of that —

Mr Baker: LPS was not on the project
board.

Mr McQuillan: It was just brought on as
and when —

Mr Baker: It was brought on and advice
was sought from it and the Central
Procurement Directorate as required.

The Deputy Chairperson: OK, maybe to
get us back on the rails again —

Mr Redmond: Can | add one point?
The decision to include them in the ITN
predated the NIAO and PAC reports of
2007.

The Deputy Chairperson: | am going
to call Michael back in again, but |
want to put a formal question to the
witness first. Staying with the issue,
the Department agreed to underwrite
any shortfall should the sale of the
properties not reach £20 million.
Was that potentially significant call on
public funds made clear to DFR the
Employment and Learning Committee
and the Assembly? That requires —

Mr McQuillan: Who made that call, as
well?

Mr Baker: Ultimately, that call was made
by the permanent secretary in DEL,

who is accountable for everything that
goes on in DEL. It was made clear to

79



Report on The Future Impact of Borrowing and Private Finance Commitments and Belfast Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP Project

663.

664.

665.

6606.

667.

668.

DFR which approved all aspects of the
project, including the business cases,
the value for money assessments and
so forth. | cannot answer your question
about whether it was made clear to the
Employment and Learning Committee; |
honestly do not know that. | also do not
know whether that point was made clear
to the Assembly. | will have to come
back to you on that. | do not know the
answer to those two questions.

The Deputy Chairperson: | think that
that is important because, across the
Assembly, Committees sometimes
complain that they are not given all the
information. It would be helpful if we
knew.

Mr McQuillan: Was the Minister across
that? Was it ever discussed with the
Minister?

Mr Baker: Yes

Mr McQuillan: Or was it taken to
permanent secretary level and the
Minister was forgotten about?

Mr Baker: The size of the project was
such that it exceeded the delegated
limit for a permanent secretary to make
a decision. The route is that the project
board would seek approval from the
Department — that is, the accounting
officer — then the Minister, then the
Department of Finance and Personnel.
The Minister was involved in all the
approvals of the business cases on this
issue.

Mr Clarke: Chairman, we are going into
an interesting area, and | think that you
slightly touched on it. Following on from
Adrian’s point, is it common practice

to exclude the relevant Statutory
Committees of the Assembly, and the
Assembly, when making decisions like
that? Are they always circumvented

in such a way? We had just formed in
2005, and in 2006 or 2007 we were
making multimillion pound decisions.
Are you telling us that that has been
the norm and that the Assembly —
particularly the relevant Statutory
Committee — was not aware?
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Mr Baker: My experience of engaging
with Assembly Committees, particularly
the Employment and Learning
Committee, is that we make every effort
to ensure that the Committee is aware
of as much as possible of what is going
on in the Department. There are regular
submissions —

Mr Clarke: That is not really the
question that | asked you.

Mr Baker: | know.

Mr Clarke: | would rather that you
answered the question | asked. | know
that you keep Committees aware

about what you want to tell them.

What | want to know is whether, with
multimillion-pound projects like that or
anything else, there are occasions when
you circumvent Committees and the
Assembly and make those decisions
yourselves.

Mr Baker: Are you talking about DEL
specifically, or all Departments?

Mr Clarke: Given that you are the acting
permanent secretary of DEL, let us talk
about DEL, and then we can talk about
the other ones later.

Mr Baker: No, it is not the practice to
circumvent the Committee.

Mr Clarke: Did it happen when you were
in DHSSPS?

Mr Baker: Sorry?

Mr Clarke: | think you were in Health,
yes?

Mr Baker: Gosh, | was in Health a long
time ago.

The Deputy Chairperson: OK. The
conversation is wandering.

Mr Baker: | think that that predates —
sorry.

The Deputy Chairperson: Trevor, | think
that we are going to have to park you for
a moment, because —

Mr Clarke: Chairman, | think that that
is something that we need to get to
the bottom of. Derek is the permanent
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secretary, and if we are learning today
that this happens, we need to get to the
bottom of it. There are 108 Members of
the Assembly who are supposed to be
accountable, and we are accountable,
but the problem is that civil servants
have never been accountable. They are
making multimillion-pound decisions
where protocol would surely suggest —
albeit the Minister may have known, but
there are another 107 other people who
did not know.

The Deputy Chairperson: | will give you
another opportunity to come back in
again. Michael, | am sorry for keeping
you so long. Go ahead.

Mr Copeland: No, it is OK. | am infinitely
patient.

Getting back to the car park again,
Tom, | am going to ask you a straight
question, if | can. The cost of building
a conventional building of that type and
foundation is different to the cost of
building a building of that type on top
of a car park, because of the stresses,
the structures and the supporting
mechanisms that actually keep it up.
Are you 100% sure that the agreed cost
at the time the contract was signed, no
matter what the specification was, did
not include the cost of the underground
car park?

Mr Redmond: Yes.
Mr Copeland: You are 100% sure?
Mr Redmond: Yes, 100% sure.

Mr Copeland: In percentage terms,
what was the cost of the car park in the
overall construction of the project?

Mr Redmond: We do not exactly what
the capital cost of the actual project —
the campus — might be.

Mr Copeland: How can you not know?

Mr Redmond: Because we pay a unitary
charge. We pay a unitary charge to
Ivywood Colleges, and it disburses

that money to the subcontractors. We
do not have absolute visibility on what
that is. We understand that the capital
value of the building is around £44
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million. Again, we do not have visibility
on what Ivywood Colleges borrowed off
Ulster Bank to build the basement car
par park, but we are led to believe that
is was about £5-3 million. So, you are
talking, | suppose, about one eighth or
one ninth of the total value.

Mr Copeland: The cost of the car

park itself, free-standing, could

have implications for the cost of the
construction of the building in the part
that you have already covered, if you
understand what | mean. This is all
terribly complicated, and we will not get
to the bottom of it until we see all the —

Mr Redmond: The assurance | can give
you is that Ivywood Colleges bid us a
sum of money to build a college without
a car park. That remained the sum of
money that we paid them when they
built —

Mr Copeland: You used the term
“planning risk” earlier. | know
development, and anything that begins
with ‘r’ in development is taken into
account at the time. They must have
known that there would have been
planning implications for that. If |

was them, | would have scaled the
building and costed it to such a degree
that it covered all the unforeseen
consequences that might arise. You
still got the building, albeit at the same
price, but they are away with maybe £4-5
million to £5 million of public money.

Mr Clarke: When did they bid you the
price for the building? Approximately
when?

Mr Redmond: About June 2006.

Mr Clarke: Right, in 2006 they came
up with a price. When was the car park
included?

Mr Redmond: The car park was included
months later.

Mr Clarke: Then why, in August 2007,
did the cost of the site go from £3
million to £7-7 million?

Mr Redmond: The cost —
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Mr Clarke: We are now in a situation
where we have got the prices a year or
18 months before the price goes up.

Mr Redmond: lvywood Colleges sought
an increase in the price of the land and
the price of the site.

Mr Clarke: In August 2007.
Mr Redmond: Yes.

Mr Clarke: When did you make the
decision not to sell or do the deal with
the other colleges?

Mr Redmond: It was around about 2007
that they were notified.

Mr Clarke: What month would that have
been, approximately?

Mr Redmond: | would have to check
that, and | can check that for you.

Mr Clarke: | think Marie-Thérése is
looking at that now for us.

Ms McGivern: According to the report, it
was in December 2006.

Mr Clarke: So, in December 2006, you
made a decision not to sell buildings
that would have offset about £20
million. Then, some months later, you
have to add an additional £4-5 million.

Mr Redmond: They sought an increase
to £7-7 million.

Mr Clarke: How much did they get?
Mr Redmond: They got £2 million.
Mr Clarke: So they got additional money.

Mr Redmond: They got additional money
for the site, yes.

Mr Clarke: What was that used for?

Mr Redmond: The money for the

site was divided equally between the
holders of the lease: Belfast Harbour
Commissioners and Titanic Quarter Ltd.
So, the £5 million was divided between
the Harbour Commissioners and Titanic
Quarter.

The Deputy Chairperson: Gentlemen,
before | bring Paul back in, it seems that
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at that stage there were at least two
external bodies with their fingers in the
pie. | put the question to you formally:
at any stage, did the Department and
the college consider one of the many
options available to it — opting out,
going back to the reserve bidder or
going out to the market again? If not,
why not?

Mr Redmond: It was considered on a
number of occasions, but at all times,
and particularly when the increase in
the land value was being agreed, we
went back and re-evaluated the tenders
to assure ourselves that lvywood
Colleges, even with the uplift in land
values, remained the economically most
advantageous tender. We also knew

at all times that we had significant
difficulties at College Square East and
Brunswick Street. Those difficulties

at all times remained to be resolved.
Albeit there were difficult decisions to be
made, the view always was, right up until
the contract was signed, that the best
prospect to resolving those difficulties
remained signing that contract. Tipping
points could have been reached that
would, perhaps, have made walking away
the answer. Although that remained an
option, it was not considered that the
tipping point had been reached.

Mr Clarke: By whom?
Mr Redmond: By the project board.

Mr Baker: By the project board and the
Department.

Can | just add to what Tom has said,
Chair? This was a difficult project. We
ran into difficulties in the negotiations,
and we have touched on some of those.
There were issues around the car park,
the lease, the credit crunch and the
bank losing its appetite. We could have
walked away at any of those points, and

Mr McQuillan: But each time, Derek, you
just came back to the Department and
got another draw of money. It was easy
to do that.

Mr Baker: Well, that is the point that
| am coming to, the point that | made
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right at the outset and the point that is
acknowledged in the Audit Office report:
at each decision point, we took steps to
protect the public interest. We did that
by assuring ourselves that the bid that
we were dealing with offered positive
value for money against the shadow

bid model, which is the reference point
and is how you assess value for money.
At each decision point, we took the
opportunity to make sure that onerous
conditions were not imposed upon us.

If | can make a general point, this was
a hugely important project. Given the
times that were in it, it was very relevant
to the Department that, in the middle
of all these difficulties, it received a
very critical report from this Committee
about the Springvale project that failed.
You will recall that, or some of you who
were on the Committee will recall that.
One of the criticisms, one of the central
tenets of the criticisms directed at the
Department by this Committee was
that the Department “lost the will” —
that was the term that was used — to
see through a difficult project and did
not stretch itself to make sure that it
followed through and afforded a project.
All of that translated into a very pointed
recommendation of the Committee that,
if the Department — DEL —encountered
substantive operational problems with
an important project, it should take

all reasonable means to ensure that
those problems are overcome, that the
project objectives are achieved and
that not addressing those problems

in @ meaningful way is not an option.
That is what this Committee said to the
Department. Now, that recommendation
could have been written for —

Mr McQuillan: Why was that not carried
out?

Mr Baker: | would suggest that that
recommendation could have been
written for this project. It was a major
project, it was really difficult and we had
major problems with it, and we could
have walked away. We did not walk away:
we stuck with it for the reasons that Tom
has explained; because we saw a prize
at the end, which was to deliver the
project objectives. All —
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Mr McQuillan: Was the prize at a price?

Mr Baker: Yes, | agree, at a price —
and, all the time, within a positive
affordability and value-for-money
assessment.

Mr Clarke: How can you describe that
later on, given that the contract took
so long, that you did not look at other
options, Derek?

Mr Baker: That is a fair question. We
were —

Mr Clarke: It is a fair question based
on your answer, and | appreciate your
saying that it is a fair question, because
you said that it was always the best
option. It is not the best option if you
did not explore other options. Given
that we were in a market where, as you
have described, the banks were starting
to get nervous because of the way
properties were going and everybody
was getting nervous because of the
crash, there were still other options, but
they were not explored.

Mr Baker: Other options were explored
at bidding stage.

Mr Clarke: | am talking about the latter
stage, Derek. Whenever —

Mr Baker: Yes, | will come to that.

Mr Clarke: You came in at bidding
stage and had adjustments made, and
those who you have entered into this
agreement with came back looking for
additional millions of pounds. There
was more than one, there were more
than two opportunities for you to back
off this project, for the Department to
back off at that particular time, but you
did not look at other options. There is
absolutely no evidence of other options
being looked at here.

Mr Baker: At the final contract close
stage, we did a value for money and
affordability assessment, which looked
not just at the shadow bid model but at
a public sector comparator, which was
the ultimate other option: let us call
the whole thing off and back off. Let

us reflect where we were at that point
and consider what would have been
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a reasonable, rational and sensible
decision to take. We had beaten our
way —

Mr McQuillan: Sorry for interrupting you,
but we heard earlier on from Marie-
Thérése that this was the only show in
town, so how do you square that with
what you are saying?

Mr Baker: That is the point; | am about
to explain that.

We had beaten our way through 30
months of really difficult negotiations.

It took too long: | accept that, and |
have accepted that. We had dealt with
huge problems, but, at the end of that,
we had reached the point where we

had a contract — and bear in mind

that this is not a back-of-an-envelope
thing, this was 400 pages long — that
worked both for the bidder and for the
Department. We had a proposal on the
table that met the pressing business
need, which was to replace two obsolete
colleges. We had a proposal on the
table that, by the properly carried out
assessment, demonstrated affordability
and positive value for money against
the public sector comparator as well as
the shadow bid model. In the light of

all of those circumstances, what was
the right decision? To say, “You know
what, we will walk away?” What would
have happened? For a start, we would
have been hauled through the courts for
abortive costs; indeed, the final value-
for-money assessment tried to put a
figure on that. Furthermore, we would
not have had a project; we would not
have had a college; and we would not
have had a 30-month negotiation, we
would have had a 50-month negotiation.

Mr McQuillan: Was the contract not
changed leading up to where you are
now, on behalf of the preferred bidder?

Mr Baker: Only one contract was signed,
and that was in April 2009. This was a
negotiated process. There were lots of
changes going on from preferred bidder
right up to the contract sign. Of course
there were.

Mr Clarke: Yes, but there were
opportunities to pull out at that stage,
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and you would not have been brought

to court. You are trying to put on the
record today that you could have been in
court if you had tried to come out of the
contract. The opportunities for you—

Mr Baker: No, actually —

Mr Clarke: Sorry, the opportunity, Derek,
was long before you signed the contract.
That is when the alarm bells were
ringing. | would have hoped to have seen
someone pulling out at that time, not
after it was signed. The opportunities
were long before that.

Mr Baker: | am talking about before it
was signed, at financial close. However,
even in advance of that, the reason we
stuck with the contract, as Tom has
explained, was that the assessments we
were doing showed that this was still the
most advantageous bid. It carried the
best opportunity of delivering the project
objectives — project objectives that
were very, very important to us. Again,
we built in the protection — the value-
for-money assessment.

The Deputy Chairperson: | will stop you
there. We only have a few minutes left,
because one member has to leave, and
we will lose quorum. | ask you, in the
interest of making the best use of our
time —

Mr McQuillan: | have a couple of
questions.

The Deputy Chairperson: This is the
point | am coming to. Direct everything
through the Chair, so that | can get
everything.

Mr Girvan: | want to be quite pointed in
one area. Within the project board that
was sitting — Tom, you alluded to not
knowing the exact cost of each part of
the project. You got an overall figure of
how much it was going to cost to deliver
it. What expertise did the Department,
as well as the Met, put into having
someone independently price what they
were getting for their money?

Mr Redmond: We had done that
previously in the shadow bid model,
the inputs to which were constructed
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by the independent advisers that were
appointed to the project, and which was
signed off by the Central Procurement
Directorate. The bid that we got had a
total NPV under the NPV in the shadow
bid model. Given that, overall, it was
giving us value for money, we would

not have been that concerned by the
individual constituent parts. We were
getting an overall deal that offered value
for money.

Mr Girvan: That brings me back to the
first question that | asked in relation to
the cost per square metre, compared
with others. It was extremely high. Was
the Strategic Investment Board involved
in any of that process?

Mr Redmond: The Strategic Investment
Board supported the project.

Mr Girvan: OK. Yes, it could support it
in financial terms, but did it have the
expertise from a building and quantity
surveying point of view to be able to tell
you whether you were getting value for
money? | know how developers work,
having worked with them and working
with them still. You give them a figure;
they will say, “I'll deliver that for that
price”. If you give them half of that price,
they might still be able to deliver exactly
the same thing. That is how some of
them work, so | am wondering just how

Mr Redmond: Our figure was garnered
from market intelligence that existed at
the time.

Mr Girvan: | used a date at which two
colleges were delivered by another board
— | think it was the Southern Board.

It was delivering two further education
colleges, and the price per square
metre was 40-odd per cent cheaper to
deliver than what we have. That is why

| went back to the very start; to the
specification and finish and who set the
specification and finish. | am asking if
we were dragged by the nose to deliver
an all-singing, all-dancing Rolls-Royce or
not. That is the point.

Mr Redmond: All those shadow bid
costs would have been constructed
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long before any developer came on the
horizon, so we were not —

Mr Girvan: | am happy to hear that,
because | am always fearful that
somebody else is dragging the horse as
opposed to somebody actually riding the
horse.

Mr Baker: There was no bidder on the
scene when the shadow bid model was
first developed.

Mr Girvan: |s there any commonality
between consultants and who we ended
up with as preferred bidder?

Mr Redmond: No.

Mr McQuillan: | will follow on from
Paul’'s question before | go into it a wee
bit further. Where did the expertise that
you got at that stage of the shadow bids
come from? Was it the consultants?

Mr Redmond: The consultants

would have garnered that from the
contemporary market intelligence that
existed at the time.

Mr McQuillan: Was there any
relationship between the consultants
and the preferred bidder?

Mr Redmond: No.

Mr McQuillan: None whatsoever?

We established earlier who made the
decision not to sell Brunswick Street
and College Square East, but we did not
establish why that decision was made.

Mr Baker: Can | clarify? We could not
sell Brunswick Street.

Mr McQuillan: | am talking about in
2007, sorry.

Mr Baker: Do you mean why was it not
included in the PFI?

Mr McQuillan: Yes.

Mr Baker: | think that | had started to
explain that. | mentioned that Land and
Property Services had advised us that
the best way to get full market value
was through an open market process
— in other words, to sell it on the open
market.

85



Report on The Future Impact of Borrowing and Private Finance Commitments and Belfast Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP Project

776.

777,

778.

779.

780.

781.

782.

783.

784.

785.

786.

787.

Mr McQuillan: That did not happen.
Mr Baker: But it will happen.
Mr McQuillan: It did not happen then.

Mr Baker: It could not have happened
then. We had several thousand students
in the buildings.

Mr McQuillan: After the students moved
out.

Mr Baker: Yes. We put it on the market
and, because of the state of the market,
nobody was bidding, and banks are

not lending to developers to buy such
properties. That is just the state of

the market. We did not predict the
property crash; | will hold my hands up
to that, but neither did half the Western
Governments in the world, the central
banks and everybody else.

Mr McQuillan: | will not hold you
responsible for not predicting that. That
is one thing that we will not hold you
responsible for. [Laughter.]

Mr Baker: Thank you for that.

The Deputy Chairperson: Before Michael
goes, | need the agreement of the
Committee to write to the Department
about any outstanding issues.

Mr Girvan: | think that it needs to come
back.

Mr Copeland: Can we reserve the right
to call future witnesses?

The Deputy Chairperson: Absolutely.
We considered a number of options in
private session, and one of them was
to call for additional witnesses. Is that
agreed?

Members indicated assent.
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Mr Baker: Chair, | am happy to come

back to the Committee. You have run out

of time, but | am at your disposal.

Mr Clarke: Tom, are you free to come
back?

Mr Redmond: | am available, but | am

not sure that | like the implication in that
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question. [Laughter.] Yes, | will come
back.

The Deputy Chairperson: Thank you
very much for that offer. | am conscious,
Elaine, that we did not hear from you at
all. You no doubt put a lot of preparation
into this, and were not asked a single
question.

Ms Elaine Hartin (Belfast Metropolitan
College): | am perfectly happy.
[Laughter.]

Mr Girvan: That might come in when we
are looking at changes that have been
made.

Ms McGivern: | am very happy to talk to
you all afternoon about the changes that
have been made. | agree with Derek;

we have no difficulty answering further
questions from the Committee.

The Deputy Chairperson: Thank you very
much for your time.

Mr Baker: Thank you.
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Mr Trevor Clarke
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Belfast Metropolitan
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General

Mr Derek Baker Department for

Mr Tom Redmond Employment and

Learning

Mr Pat O’Neill Strategic Investment
Board

797. The Chairperson: Do any members wish

to declare an interest in this matter? No.

798. You are all very welcome, panel. We
have with us Mr Derek Baker, who is the
accounting officer for DEL; Ms Marie-
Thérése McGivern, the principal and
chief executive of Belfast Metropolitan
College (BMC); Ms Elaine Hartin, chief
operating officer of BMC; Mr Tom
Redmond, who is the head of further
education estates branch; and Mr Pat
O’Neill from the Strategic Investment
Board (SIB). Thank you for joining

us once again today. You are all very
welcome to our Committee. | give my
apologies to the panel because, at our
last evidence session, | had to leave
early. | thank the Deputy Chairperson for
taking over that day.

799. Members, you will find biographies for
all our witnesses in your electronic
packs. Before we start our questioning,
| draw your attention to correspondence
at page 27 of your pack. It relates to
the Committee’s request for information
on the breakdown of construction costs
for the two bids and the shadow bid
model. Are members content to note
that correspondence and that members
who will ask questions on that issue can
probe it further during their questioning
of the witnesses?

Members indicated assent.

800. The Chairperson: In your green
confidential packs, you will find
correspondence from Mr Baker dated
15 September in relation to the sale of
College Square East. That follows the
correspondence of 8 September that

is also in your packs and relates to the
commercial confidentiality of the details
of the sale. Those members who have
not done so can glance over it now. It is
just to note it at this stage.

801. | will start the session by asking a
number of questions in relation to the
sale of the buildings at Brunswick Street
and College Square East and the role of
the Strategic Investment Board in the
public-private partnership (PPP) project.

I will then ask the Deputy Chairperson
to come in with his questions, as he

has indicated that he wishes to ask

questions in relation to the role of the SIB.

802. Although the detail of the possible
sales of those two properties is largely
commercial in confidence, can you, Mr
Baker, give any indication of whether
the sales will make significant inroads
towards recovering the £20 million of
taxpayers’ money spent on the project?
Is the shortfall as significant as the
Department had anticipated?

803. Mr Derek Baker (Department for
Employment and Learning): Thank

you, Chair. On your first point about
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804.

805.

806.

the commercial confidentiality, |
subsequently wrote to you, as Chair,

to indicate that we had taken legal
advice, and now that the sale has gone
through, there will not be commercial
confidentiality surrounding those who
had made the sale or the amounts
involved. That will be a matter of public
record. | say that so that there is no
misunderstanding about the commercial
confidentiality. It is totally open
knowledge now.

With regard to the income received,

the members of the Committee will
have seen that the income received
from the sale amounts to £5-5

million, and, as you have indicated,
that falls far short of the amount that
would have been received had the
properties been sold some time ago.
So far as the Department’s budget is
concerned, the Department has long
recognised that the receipts from the
sale of those properties would not
reach the valuation that was put on

the properties quite some years ago
before the property crash, and the
Department has budgeted accordingly
and made provision for that. So, that
has not adversely affected any other
capital projects that have been run by
the Department. There is a big shortfall
in terms of the difference between the
receipt and the amount that was paid by
way of capital payments on that project,
but the Department has long recognised
that that would be the case.

The Chairperson: Taking account of
retaining the two buildings and the other
associated costs, what do you assess
as the overall cost to the Department of
the college project?

Mr Baker: As we explained last time,

a decision was taken in December
2006 to remove the disposal of the

two surplus properties from the private
finance initiative (PFl) deal. So, from that
point in time, the assessment of the
value for money of the PFI deal excluded
consideration of those properties. The
PFI deal value-for-money assessment
did, however, fully factor in the increased
capital payment that was associated
with the deal initially — the £10 million

807.

808.

809.

— and then later the increase of that to
£15 million. That was fully considered

in the value-for-money assessment and
the benchmarking of that assessment
against the shadow bid model. That
value-for-money assessment did show

a positive economic advantage in
pursuing the procurement route that was
subsequently decided upon.

The Chairperson: Thank you, Mr Baker.
| will come back with questions later.
We will move on and give members the
opportunity to ask questions of the
witnesses. | will call Mr Ross Hussey
and Mr Michael Copeland to cover the
governance arrangements.

Mr Hussey: From what we can see here,
BMC did not have a robust estates
strategy in place. How can that be
considered acceptable given the amount
of money involved in the project? The
audit trail was found to be lacking.
Again, how can that be considered
acceptable?

Mr Baker: | will take that initially, and

I might ask Marie-Thérése McGivern to
comment from the college’s perspective.
The Audit Office report rightly found
that the audit trail, particularly for

the schedule of accommodation, was
poor. The documentation was hard to
follow. That said, it is not the case that
there was not a huge amount of work
vested in developing the schedule of
accommodation. In fact, there were

42 files and folders of documentation.
The difficulty for the auditors — | have
every sympathy with them — is that they
could not pick their way through that to
find a clear audit trail. However, a very
detailed schedule of accommodation
was developed for the tender, outline
business case and contract stages

of the process. The great detail of

that schedule of accommodation

has permitted the college, through

the contract management in the
construction phase, to ensure that
that was delivered exceptionally
successfully and to control the costs
and any changes. | fully accept that, at
the audit, the paperwork was not in the
shape that it should have been, but the
work was done in great detail. Indeed,
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810.

811.

812.

813.

in terms of outcomes, the schedule

of accommodation resulted in the
specification of a building that has met
requirements, has been operating at
capacity and has attracted the number
of students that was predicted.

Sorry, | have just lost sight of the other
aspect of your question — it was the
estate strategy.

815.

Mr Hussey: Yes.

816.

Mr Baker: Apologies. On that point, it

is also not the case that the college
ignored estate strategy. The audit report
makes it very clear that, when the
governing body was considering estate
and whether to proceed with this project,
it had before it an estate strategy, which
covered all the main issues that should
have been covered. | fully accept that
the estate strategy in place in 2003,
when they are looking at this, did not
align entirely with the guidance on an
estate strategy that the Department
issued in 2004.

Indeed, if we row back to that timing, |
suppose that the Department created
difficulties because, in issuing its
estate strategy guidance in 2004, the
Department, at precisely the same
time, issued the Executive strategy
Further Education Means Business.
That was a radical new strategy for

the whole further education sector. An
integral part of that new strategy was

a very radical rationalisation of the
whole further education sector, from

16 separate colleges right down to

six, to be achieved within three years.
So, all the focus of the colleges was
really concentrated, at that time, at
making good that rationalisation. You
can imagine the upheaval. And the
Department accepted that it would not
have been realistic or appropriate to
expect a number of colleges, which were
going to disappear as separate entities,
to invest time, effort and energy in
developing a new estate strategy when
that really would have been a matter for
the new governing bodies of the new six
colleges that were to come into being in
August 2007. An analogy might be the
rationalisation of local councils from 26

814.

817.

to 11. You could not really expect the
26 councils to develop community plans
in advance of the 11 councils springing
into action.

Mr Hussey: | want to come back on

that briefly. You have accepted that the
audit trail was not what would have been
expected.

Mr Baker: | absolutely accept that.

Mr Hussey: Obviously, if you are
someone who comes along to do an
audit trail, you expect certain things to
be in certain places. How could that
have been allowed to happen? The
Northern Ireland Audit Office really

had a difficult job. How could you have
overseen that? There may have been
files for everything, but, clearly, you have
the same level of expertise as the Audit
Office. How was that allowed to happen?

Mr Baker: Let us reflect for a

moment on what we are dealing

with here. We are dealing with a
schedule of accommodation for a
further education college. That is an
extremely complicated piece of work
because, when you are dealing with
further education, it is an awful lot
different from dealing with a school.

You are dealing with a schedule of
accommodation for a facility that
involves full-time students, part-time
students, evening students, short
courses, recreational courses, academic
courses — so a huge amount of work
goes into that. We did not have the fancy
IT systems then to gather all of that

up easily, so there was a huge amount
of engagement between the college
management staff and the individual
lecturers and heads of department.
That information was built up through an
iterative process and recorded in various
files, and that resulted in the schedule
of accommodation. So, | accept that
the building up of that documentation
was not presented in a neat format,

in which the auditors could go through

it from A to Z and say, “Yes, that is
exactly what happened when”. However,
the end product was a very detailed,
effective and fit-for-purpose schedule of
accommodation.
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818.

819.

820.

821.

822.

823.

824.

825.

| know that | am hogging the discussion.
| do not know whether anyone from the
college wants comment.

The Chairperson: Mr Clarke wants in for
a small supplementary question.

Mr Clarke: | do not know whether you
can answer this, Derek, or maybe Elaine
can. Would the IT have been in the
schedule of accommodation?

Mr Baker: No. Sorry, | am making a
guess by saying, “No”. | will ask Elaine
to comment on that.

Ms Elaine Hartin (Belfast

Metropolitan College): The schedule
of accommodation is effectively the
room layout for the building. That

is driven by standards set by the
Education and Training Inspectorate
(ETI), which allow certain amounts

of space for full-time students and
specialist areas. So, it is driven by the
number and type of students we have
and the type of facilities on offer. For
example, the space that you would be
allocated for catering areas would be
significantly larger than those allocated
for a standard classroom. The schedule
of accommodation focused only on

the building and the accommodation
that was needed for the build. The IT
requirements came outside of and after
that.

Mr Clarke: Would you like to make any
further comment on the IT provision?

Ms Hartin: The IT provision was outside
the original business case for the PFI
deal, in line with guidance from Treasury.
That is because IT has a very short

life and requires replacement, so it

is not ideal to put it into a long-term
contract such as a PFl one. The college
developed the IT business case, which
was submitted in May 2011 and set out
all of the network infrastructure that was
required, including the “first fix” — all
the wires that would have gone into the
wall — and all the hardware, including
the PCs and software.

Mr Clarke: Was that part of the original
business case?

826.

827.

828.

829.

830.

831.

832.

833.

834.

835.

836.

837.

Ms Hartin: No, it was a completely
separate business case.

Mr Clarke: | can understand the

point about the life expectancy of the
equipment, but that would not apply to
the cabling, so why would it have not
been included in the original price?

Ms Hartin: IT was excluded. To be
honest, Trevor, it is to do with Treasury
guidance, and the way that the contract
was set up the college provided the
infrastructure that went in. Tom, you can
correct me on this, but the contractor
provided to a point on the wall.

Mr Tom Redmond (Department for
Employment and Learning): All of the
infrastructure was covered by the first
business case. The loose fittings, the
desktops and the things that plug in
came separately in the IT business
case. In the PPP project, the wiring, all
of the plugs and all of the infrastructure
was there.

Mr Clarke: It was there.
Mr Redmond: It was there.

Mr Baker: Mr Clarke, as Elaine said,
Treasury guidance is very explicit that

IT projects cannot be included in a

PFl because of the difficulties with
transferring the risk for the refreshing of
equipment.

Ms Marie-Thérése McGivern (Belfast
Metropolitan College): There were
capability issues, which are well
documented in the college, in terms of
being able to get that IT specification
and business case together. So, there
was a delay.

Mr Clarke: Sorry, there was a capability
problem.

Ms McGivern: There was a capability
problem.

Mr Clarke: What was it?

Ms McGivern: The capability problem
that | identified when | went in, in
November 2009, was that | had no
accountancy help whatsoever. We did
not employ a single qualified accountant
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838.

839.

840.

841.

842.

843.

844.

845.

846.

847.

848.

in a business dealing with £60 million,
which | found quite difficult to deal with.
[Interruption.] The Department, as you
know, instigated an efficiency review

of the organisation, which said that
there were significant capability issues
in various parts of the organisation
that we had to address through the
development of a college improvement
plan. We developed that plan, and it
was approved by the Department in
November 2010. Part of that was the
restructuring, and it allowed us then —

Mr Clarke: Can | stop you there,
Marie-Thérése? In terms of the lack of
accountancy within a multimillion-pound
organisation, if an accountant had been
in place, would they have been involved
in the contract?

Ms McGivern: They certainly would

have been involved in drawing up the
business cases and doing a lot of the
background work that is required in
pulling through good contract practice —

Mr Clarke: Do you see it as a failure
that they were not involved?

Ms McGivern: It was just part of the
whole difficulty in the organisation.

All of these things are in the public
domain. The efficiency review was finally
published in January 2010, but the
Department had instigated it at the end
of 2008. We were living with the trail of
difficulties that came as a result of the
merger as undercurrents.

Mr Clarke: If you were to identify
someone who was responsible for that
failure or should have made sure that
that gap was filled, who would that be?

Ms McGivern: My mother always tells
me that it takes two to tango.

Mr Clarke: Well, tell me two people; | do
not mind.

Ms McGivern: It is not a “Name names”
scenario. | think —

Mr Clarke: Positions will do, then.
Ms McGivern: — that things —

Mr Clarke: Positions will do.

849.

850.

851.

852.

853.

854.

855.

856.

857.

858.

859.

860.

861.

Ms McGivern: Two organisations come
together. They do not do, in my view, the
correct due diligence. They do not get to
know each other. They create a marriage
that, at best, was —

Mr Clarke: A civil partnership.

Ms McGivern: Well, maybe a shotgun
wedding. It just took a while to unravel
the difficulties that emerged from that
merger and get to the situation we are in
today, which is much better than where
we were.

Mr Clarke: So, you acknowledge that
some of the problems could have led

to the awarding of this contract and the
criticisms the Audit Office has in relation
to that?

Ms McGivern: No one was disagreeing
with the efficiency review. We accept the
difficulties that were in the college. That
is documented.

Mr Clarke: | am focusing more on the
procurement, how we arrived at this
location and this contract, and how it
was awarded and the problems around
that.

Ms McGivern: If the suggestion is that
one of the factors in the time that was
taken to do the contract was capability
issues in the governing body and staff of
the organisation, yes —

Mr Clarke: You are acknowledging that.

Ms McGivern: | am absolutely
acknowledging that. That is —

Mr Clarke: That is progress.
Ms McGivern: — one of the factors.

The Chairperson: Mr Hussey, are you
finished?

Mr Hussey: No, | want to go back. |
want to keep on the estate strategy. In
appendix 3 on page 69 of the report,
you have made various comments
about the estate strategy. Do you agree
that, unlike this project, the estate
strategy should be fully documented and
supported by an adequate audit trail?
Can you confirm that they were in place
for the projects listed in appendix 37?
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862.

863.

864.

865.

866.

867.

868.

869.

870.

871.

872.

873.

874.

Mr Baker: Sorry, do you mean all the
projects for all the colleges?

Mr Hussey: Yes.

Mr Baker: | cannot confirm that today,
Chair.

Mr Hussey: Can you confirm it to the
Chair in due course?

Mr Baker: | will. | cannot comment on
each of the other individual projects,
some of which predated this one. We
need to bear in mind that some of the
projects predated even the issue of
guidance on an estate strategy. The
college had in place an estate strategy
when decisions were taken about the
Belfast Metropolitan Titanic Quarter
campus. It did have an estate strategy.

877.

Mr Hussey: Again, when we mention
audit trails, we are asking, obviously,
for adequate audit trails. Maybe you

will comment on what you believe the
audit trails to be because, clearly, in the
first one, you accept that it was not the
easiest of audit trails to follow.

Mr Baker: That is absolutely right.

| do not know whether Elaine wants
to comment on that. It is sort of her
paperwork. | am commenting at third
hand on the paper trail in the college.

Mr Hussey: Clearly, from what | have
seen, you have a similar background
to Audit Office officials. What was your
opinion of the audit trail?

Ms Hartin: | think that the audit team
will agree that, when | first became
involved in responding to the auditors, |
sat down with our team, and there was a
lot of work going into generating —

Mr Hussey: | thought that you were
going to say, “and cried”.

Ms Hartin: — and providing the
information.

879.

Ms McGivern: She did, many times.

Ms Hartin: | do not need to disclose
that. When we sat down with the team,
| said, “Look, we're not disagreeing that
we've ended up with the right product
that’s being used and is effective. What

875.

876.

878.

we're discussing here is the quality of
the audit trail”. We both concluded that
that was the issue. It was difficult to
follow its way through. The audit trail
was not what | would expect, and it is
not something that | would accept from
my teams today.

Mr Baker: Chair, can Tom make a
comment in response to Mr Hussey’s
question?

The Chairperson: Yes.

Mr Redmond: Mr Hussey asked about
all the other projects in appendix 3.
Some of them obviously predate the
guidance to which we are referring,
which was issued by the Department
in relation to estate strategies in
2004-05. | assure the Committee that
each of the projects had a schedule
of accommodation; i.e. the amount

of teaching space and other space
that was specified in the project was
appropriate to the number of students
in the college at that time. Each of
the schedules of accommodation,
including the one for this current project,
was signed off by the Education and
Training Inspectorate as being the right
type and amount of accommodation
commensurate with the student
numbers being taught and trained
across the different vocational areas.

Mr Hussey: My concern, from what |
see, relates to audit trails and what one
person might find acceptable. It should
be clear and easily understood so that
the Audit Office can go in and give a
clean bill of health. That is my main
concern. If somebody has to find 18
files to get the answer to one question,
that is totally wrong. | am sure that it
does not happen today. It should not
have happened then. In my background
in business, | would not have got away
with it.

Mr Redmond: Adding to what | have
already said — Derek referred to this
earlier — our IT systems are much
more sophisticated now in dealing with
converting enrolments into full-time
equivalent students. As Derek alluded
to, students in FE colleges can be six
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880.

881.

882.

883.

884.

hours a week for six weeks a year.
Adding up and converting all those

into full-time equivalents in a paper
system was convoluted and obviously
difficult to follow. However, we have
refined our systems; we can now do it
electronically. We have been supported
with assistance from the Strategic
Investment Board in upgrading and
updating those systems to enable us to
provide a clearer audit trail.

| also assure the Committee that,

as Derek alluded to, the number of
students we created the building for is
the number of students currently using
it. However we got there, it seems to
have been the right number. | hope
that the Committee can take some
assurance from that.

Mr Hussey: And not an audit trail on a
packet of cigarettes or something.

Ms Hartin: | want to give further
assurance to the Committee. Marie-
Thérése and | had an audit committee
meeting last night. We received our
internal audit assurance for the college
last night, and we received a substantial
internal audit assurance reading. Four
years ago, that reading was limited. That
shows the journey and that these are
the types of things that will not happen
again in the college.

Mr Clarke: | was struck by your honesty,
Elaine, which is unusual for me when
witnesses defend something. You did
not acknowledge that you cried, but

| would not want to put you in that
position. We are talking about the

audit trail and the paperwork. You were
honest when you said that it was not
where you would have liked to see it. In
your honest opinion, do you believe that,
now that you have seen what you have,
it demonstrates value for money against
the other bid?

Ms Hartin: In terms of the numbers
set out and the process that has been
followed, all the business cases went
through due process and demonstrated
that the preferred bidder and the bid
that we received was the preferred
option in those business cases. | spent

885.
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888.

889.

890.
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892.

a lot of my life writing business cases
and working through them. | understand
the robustness of the process, including
that which comes through from
departmental and DFP economists as
they challenge and go through. Given
that all the business cases came out
demonstrating that this was the project
that gave the best value for money, yes.

Mr Clarke: | will put a caveat down: | will
ask you a question towards the end of
the process again today, given some of
the questions that some other members
want to ask, to see what your response
is.

Mr Copeland: Derek, with your
permission, | will address my questions
to you, and you can field them as you
deem to be appropriate. | draw your
attention to footnote 39 on page 34 of
the report, particularly the last sentence,
which indicates:

“At the time, and currently, the Department
has not specified targets for space utilisation.”

In your view, is that an omission? Was it
something that should have been in the
matters that we have just discussed?
Assuming that that is correct — | have
no reason to think that it is not — how
did the Department satisfy itself that the
college was making the most effective
use of its buildings?

Mr Baker: Sorry, will you refer me to the
paragraph again?

Mr Copeland: It is footnote 39 on page
34.

Mr Baker: Sorry, | missed you saying
“footnote”. That is correct: the
Department had not specified that. |
acknowledge that.

Mr Copeland: Should that have been
part of an estate strategy, or is that a
separate thing?

Mr Baker: The Department
subsequently issued guidance on an
estate strategy. It wants all these things
to be covered in the estate strategy.
You move on over time, and you improve
your procedures and your guidance.
What | would say — Tom alluded to this
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893.

894.

895.

— is that much greater sophistication
has been introduced to the public
sector — | do not just mean the further
education sector, but the public sector
across the board — with the help of
the Strategic Investment Board and
asset management unit. We now have
an asset management strategy for

the whole public sector estate. An
integral element of the new strategy

is getting the best of space utilisation
and creating benchmarks so that we
can compare the usage of one building
against another. We are actually in the
process of refining space utilisation
benchmarks for the further education
sector.

897.

899.

Now, you kindly gave me the option,
Mr Copeland, to hand off questions to
people. Pat O’Neill from the Strategic
Investment Board is here. With your
permission, | will ask Pat to say a wee
bit more about the work of the asset
management unit in that regard.

Mr Copeland: No, no. | understand it
and have no issue with that, Pat. What

| am really asking is this: was there a
reasonable expectation or requirement
that specific targets for space utilisation
should have been in existence, taken
into account and actioned on, or is that
applying the circumstances of today to
something historical? In other words,
should it have been done and, if it was
not done, why was it not done? To round
it off, is there comparative data for all
the colleges in the FE sector and can
that be provided to us?

Mr Baker: On your first point, as

Tom said, when it comes to the
accommodation for this project, and
indeed every project in the further
education sector, we were not shooting
in the dark. The Education and
Training Inspectorate inspected what
was produced to make sure that it

was reasonable and in line with the
best guidance available at the time.
That guidance has continually been
updated and refined. So, there is some
assurance —

896.

898.

900.

901.

Mr Copeland: Did the guidance at the
time include space utilisation as a
separate, stand-alone heading?

Mr Baker: | cannot answer that. What |
can say is that it did include guidance
on what the appropriate space should
be for a given number of students, but
there was no target for space utilisation.
Tom, can you pick up on —

Mr Copeland: Should there have been?

Mr Redmond: Sorry, Mr Copeland, in
the ‘Schedule of Accommodation for
Colleges of Further Education, 1996,
which is mentioned in the first line

of footnote 39, there are specified
utilisation rates, which are target
rates. Those would have been taken
into consideration in the amount of
accommodation that was awarded on
the foot of the number of students
studying in the different areas at that
time to come to the conclusion of what
was actually needed in those projects.
The last line, which you are referring
to, requires that we look at the number
of students. However, in building the
building, did we have ongoing specified
targets for space utilisation? We did
not at that time, but we have developed
those. We have done that work with the
SIB and, on an ongoing basis, look at
the number of students accessing the
facilities and compare square metres
of teaching accommodation and other
accommodation, such as large-space
libraries etc, to the number of FTEs in
each college. That would alert us, on an
ongoing basis, to whether a college is
perhaps too cramped or underutilised,
or whether a campus could be made
surplus to requirements.

Mr Copeland: So, that is really
assessing the college against a
predicted number of students as
opposed to the actual number. Is that
correct?

Mr Redmond: We build any new building
based on the actual number of students
plus any refinements we might have for
areas specified for growth or population
and demographic trends, etc. A new
building is built based on the actual
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903.

904.

905.

906.

907.

908.

number of students, but, as you can
imagine, a building will be there for 40
or 50 years. There were perhaps some
deficiencies previously in measuring the
utilisation on an ongoing basis, and we
have been working to address that.

Mr Copeland: Are there buildings in the
overall family of further education where
the data would be available currently?

Mr Redmond: The data is available
across all colleges and campuses.

Mr Copeland: Including Belfast
Metropolitan.

Mr Redmond: Including Belfast
Metropolitan.

Mr Copeland: Do you want to come in
on that, Pat? You were sort of rodeoed.

Mr Pat O’Neill (Strategic Investment
Board): Thank you, Michael. | just

cover the work that SIB is doing in
supporting the Department in relation
to FE colleges. The basis for that is

that we are trying to bring an evidence-
based approach, using quite a lot of
analytics, to predict more accurate
numbers. If you are doing a business
case now, one of the first sections in

it is the need or demand section. The
challenges facing colleges are that you
have different types of students and
different numbers of them. So, if you
take a college in September, you need
to determine how many students will be
in a class, what the attrition rate will be
or how many will fall off over the year,
and what you should actually provide
for. There are things like block courses,
daily courses and courses undertaken
within other environments. For instance,
Translink undertakes its training within
its own environment, but it is done by
the colleges. So, what we aim to do, and
we are doing it in conjunction with the
maths department at Queens University,
is build a model to plan and map out
that need and demand, and put as much
evidence underneath —

Mr Clarke: Chairperson, maybe | read
the wrong report, but | think that we are
going off on a tangent that is not really
relevant to what we are trying to focus

909.

910.

911.

912.

913.

914.

915.

916.

917.

918.

919.

920.

921.

922,

on, which is the contract. | say this with
respect. | am not being rude to one

of the witnesses, but this is not really
relevant to what we are trying to drill
down into. Can | bring this back to reality
and back to what we are talking about?

The Chairperson: With respect, Mr
O’Neill was responding to —

Mr Clarke: | think that Mr Baker tried to
bring him in there to maybe send us off
on one. | do not know what he is playing
at.

Mr Baker: | am sorry. | was not
deliberately trying to digress —

The Chairperson: | am sure that that is
not the intention —

Mr Clarke: It felt like that.
Mr Baker: — and | think you know that.
Mr Clarke: Can | just ask, because —

The Chairperson: Michael, are you
finished?

Mr Copeland: No. | have another two
questions, but they are —

Mr Clarke: Keep them on track, Michael.

The Chairperson: We will just let
Michael finish, Trevor, and then we will
bring you in.

Mr Copeland: My questions were
perfectly on track; the answers got
rather convoluted.

Since 2003, public bodies have been
required to include a benefits realisation
plan in conjunction with and to support
business cases. It seems that the
college was slow to produce such a
plan, with it only being finalised in 2011.
How did the Department allow it to get
to that situation and, in the absence

of that, how can there be any objective
assessment of projects when there are
no baselines set at the outset?

Mr Baker: OK. There are two things
there. The college actually had a
benefits realisation plan, but the
gateway reviews identified that it could
be improved. The second gateway
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review, which | think was conducted in
June 2005 and the third, in June 2008,
also acknowledged that there was a
benefits realisation plan. So, there was
a benefits realisation process in place
and there was a benefits realisation
plan in place, but the gateway review
did what the gateway review is
supposed to do. It identified the need
for improvements, and the college
reached the point where, by the fourth
gateway review, the benefits realisation
plan was identified as an exemplar and
it contained a raft of measures that
could be used to assess the benefit

of this project, both in quantitative and
qualitative terms. Those measures
allow the college to assess the benefits
of this project benchmarked against
what went before, across a number

of dimensions that are relevant to the
project objectives such as student
satisfaction, student attainment, which
is the ultimate outcome measure of
this, staff satisfaction, engagement with
business and other clients, and so forth.
So, | think that the report acknowledges
that the college currently has an
exemplar benefits realisation plan.
There were benefits realisation in place,
but they were not as sophisticated as
they should have been, and the gateway
reviews identified the need to refine
those further.

Mr Copeland: Lastly, would you, in the
light of what you just said, disagree
with the view of the Audit Office that a
benefits realisation plan should have
been in place? You said that it was in
place. Can you give any indication as to
how the Audit Office arrived at the view,
perhaps, that it was not in place, and
explain why it took so long to finalise
the plan in the format in which the Audit
Office was expecting it to be finalised,
given its importance to the delivery of
the project?

Mr Baker: First, | agree entirely with

you that benefits realisation is very
important. It is a point worth noting. | do
not know whether the Treasury Officer of
Accounts is here; he is. | think that the
final guidance on wrapping a benefits
realisation plan into a business case
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emerged in about 2009. It was as late
as that. Bear in mind that the outline
business case for this was done in
2004.

Mr Copeland: It was finalised in 2011.
Is that correct?

Mr Baker: What | am saying is that the
guidance that a benefits realisation
plan should be included in a business
case was not finalised until 2009. |
take your point entirely: | fully accept
the need for benefits realisation. |
accept the fact that successive gateway
reviews, gateway 2 and gateway 3,
acknowledged that improvements could
be made to the benefits realisation
process. However, there was a process
in place. The college refined it, and it
ended up with a document and a plan
that is exceptionally fit for purpose

and that allows the college to monitor
the benefits of this, benchmarked
retrospectively against what went
before. | think that that is a very
important point.

There is another point. Look at the
nature of the project. | accept that

each project is different, but what was
happening during the period 2009 to
20117 A building was being built. You
cannot measure during that period the
satisfaction of students, the satisfaction
of staff, the satisfaction of business and
the inclusivity of the college, judged on
whether it is attracting people from all
communities, from west Belfast and so
forth. Those are amongst the benefits
that are being measured as part of the
benefits realisation plan. On a point

of principle, | agree with you entirely.
Benefits realisation is really important,
and the sooner that it is done, the
better.

The Chairperson: OK. Thank you,

Mr Baker. Mr Mike Brennan is here

on behalf of the Treasury Officer of
Accounts, who is Mr Jack Layberry. Mike,
do you want to make a comment on
that?

Mr Mike Brennan (Acting Treasury
Officer of Accounts): | can confirm that
the point that Mr Baker made about
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the DFP guidance on benefit realisation
plans is indeed correct. The definitive
DFP guidance on what the benefits
realisation plan should look like did not
really issue until 2009. Up until that
stage, the previous DFP guidance was
the 2003 practical guide. It really just
said that benefits realisation should

be set out briefly as part of an option
analysis. So, until 2009, there was no
definitive DFP guidance on benefits
realisation plans. After the guidance was
issued, the significant improvement in
this project’s benefits realisation plan
was reflected in the commentary on the
gateway review report. The other point to
make is that, in many ways, the benefits
realisation plans are part of an ongoing
process on PPPs. So, for example,

over the cycle of the contract, it is not
unrealistic to expect the Department
and the college to revisit the benefits
realisation just to quantify what the final
outcome actually is.

The Chairperson: OK. Thank you, Mr
Brennan. Thank you, Mr Copeland.

Mr Dallat: Marie-Thérése, in

your opening remarks, you made
comparisons with a shotgun wedding.
You will forgive me for raising that and
for asking the obvious question. Who
was providing marriage guidance?

Ms McGivern: Personally, in 2009,

| wanted to come into the FE sector
because | thought that it was a very
vibrant and a very dynamic sector. | think
that it is that because the Department
set out in 2004 to completely change
the face of what FE was and to develop
the new policy platform, which is FE
Means Business. Part of FE Means
Business was the rationalisation from
16 down to six. You will know, Mr Dallat,
that, in Northern Ireland, when we try to
rationalise anything, people do not enter
such marriages very freely. We tend to
want to keep everything as it is. | think
that there was guidance, and | think that
the policy platform is there. If people
were being rational, they could see that
where we were going with FE would be

a better place than where we were at
that stage because there was a vision,
not just about being more of a part of
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the Northern Ireland success story but
about being more engaged with industry
and with people on the ground, having
better facilities and, in particular, better
buildings. However, sometimes, even
with all the guidance in the world, people
still find it quite difficult to give their
space up and say, “We will join together
and share”. In hindsight, | do not know
how much more the Department could
have done, because both had their own
independent governing bodies, which
were charged with the merger and its
process. Again, from reading back over
papers, | know that it was not always
done in potentially the best way.

Mr Dallat: | will not carry that analogy
any further.

| put my hands up: | am totally
prejudiced in favour of further and
higher education. That is where | got my
education. Down through the Troubles
and long before that, in times of
deprivation, we looked to those colleges
— including the ones that have been
closed — for inspiration. So, whether it
is BIFHE, the Met or wherever, | have the
highest regard for those colleges.

| am trying to get my head round this.
We have experts from the college, the
Strategic Investment Board — a fairly
lofty title that suggests strategies

and all sorts of things — and the
Department, which | will not crucify
either. Could somebody tell me how you
had these three groups working together
and yet they got it so horribly wrong?

Mr Baker: | will take that in the first
instance. | beg your indulgence, Chair,
and ask Mr Dallat what exactly was got
wrong.

Mr Dallat: | will give you an example.
Did anyone see the potential conflict
of interest? Did anyone see how this
Ivywood Colleges crowd ran amok and
were able to dictate their own terms?

Mr Baker: In what way?

Mr Dallat: The increase in the size of
the car park upped the cost of the whole
works.
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Mr Baker: The report makes it very clear
in paragraph 8 and paragraph 3.10 that
neither the college nor the Department
paid at all for the car park. They did not
pay a penny for the car park. | do not
quite know what you mean by “upped
the cost”. The only cost increase
throughout the whole project was in
respect of the site rising in cost from £3
million to £5 million. That was the only
cost increase.

Mr Dallat: Yesterday, we got a gloomy
report from the Minister for Employment
and Learning. He told us that projects in
the south-west are off the shelf, as they
are in the north, the north-east and the
north-west. So, £2 million would go a
long road.

Mr Baker: | know that.

Mr Dallat: Unwittingly, you are telling us
that there was a flippant attitude toward
this and that every penny did not count.

Mr Baker: | am not saying that at all.

In every decision taken in the contract
negotiations on this project, there

was one objective kept to the fore: to
ensure that the project was delivered,
and in doing so, to ensure that it was
done in a manner that was affordable
and represented value for money. That
objective was achieved in every decision
that was taken.

952.

Mr Dallat: So, you are not the least bit
embarrassed by what happened.

Mr Baker: | am not embarrassed by
what happened. | am happy to explain
each and every investment decision
that was taken. There were process
issues throughout the process, and Mr
Hussey referred to those and the audit
trail. | am quite happy to acknowledge
that and put my hands up, and other
things happened in the process. | do not
recognise your description of lvywood
Colleges Limited running amok as part
of this project.

Mr Dallat: | am not sure whether

Mr Baker has read the report, but |
presume that he has. It says that the
documentation was poor and that there
was a lack of accounting skills. As |
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alluded to earlier, Belfast Met does a
superb job with its students and sends
them all over the world with the highest
skills, yet all of the basic skills seem
to be missing in a multimillion pound
project involving the Met itself.

Mr Baker: It was a project that delivered
value for money when measured against
the shadow bid model. It was delivered
in an affordable manner and it met the
project objectives.

Mr Dallat: As the report acknowledges,
the project was saved only when the
marriage guidance came in late in the
day. That is not what we are talking
about.

Mr Clarke: Can | supplement that point,
John? Mr Baker, in answering one of
your questions, was wrong. He said that
their model versus the shadow bid was
value for money. Mr Baker, explain then
the lifecycle costs of £6-8 million in
terms of your preferred bidder, the one
you are championing today, as opposed
to the £5-6 million bid in the shadow bid
model. That is an ongoing cost. Let us
see how you champion that one.

Mr Baker: OK. In a PPP project, you are
dealing with the capital cost and the
ongoing service cost, and you wrap them
together in a single bid.

Mr Redmond: Sorry, can | just make a
point in relation to that? Mr Clarke said
that is an ongoing cost. In the letter that
we sent to the Committee, we give the
NPVs, the net present values, and the
net present value is actually the stream
of costs discounted back to its current
value.

Mr Clarke: | stand corrected. So, just
take the £6-8 million versus the £5-6
million.

Mr Baker: | was going to come to that
point. You wrap them together and you
come to a net present value of the

total project costs, and the net present
value of the bid from ICL was lower than
the bid from the other competitor and,
indeed, the shadow bid model. That is
what | mean by value for money. The
report makes it very clear, and | think
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that it is in the glossary of terms in the
report. It describes a shadow bid model
as the mechanism against which you
assess the value for money and the
affordability of a project, and that is
exactly what we did in accordance with
the guidance from DFP and, indeed, the
Treasury on how you calculate the value
of a PFI model.

Mr Dallat: | want to put my questions to
Mr O’Neill.

The Chairperson: Mr O’Neill, do you
want to come in on that?

Mr P O’Neill: PFl is basically a package
design, build, finance, maintenance

and operation in one package. You are
absolutely right and proper to see that
there was a difference in that one you
picked out, but, when you look at the
entire package, that is where we look at
what was the best value option for the
public purse. That is one that you have
to pay.

Mr Clarke: That was based on the
original tenders being an even playing
field. That was before you removed the
£10 million that you lost in terms of

the two colleges, before you decided to
enter into other agreements in terms of
the car park and before the build cost of
that college was more expensive given
that you put an underground car park in
it. You are absolutely right, Pat. So, there
is a £500,000 difference, but none of
those other bits were factored into the
other tender.

Mr P O’Neill: In relation to the money
that went into this project, at the
invitation to tender time, we stated that
the two buildings at College Square
East and Brunswick Street were in the
project. The guidance out there clearly
states that, if buildings are integral to
the project, they are left in it. After we
received our tender from TQL, it was
clear that it did not want to use any of
those sites in its proposition. So, those
buildings were exchanged for a valuation
of £10 million. That £10 million
valuation, raised in December 2006,
was evaluated by LPS. So, it was a swap
in exchange for.
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Mr Clarke: That is OK. Let us look at
that. Was the other bidder taking those
out or was it using the existing buildings,
based on the £10 million? The problem
is that you cannot have your cake and
eat it. You took the £10 million out. They
were prepared to take the £10 million
out. Is that what you just said?

Mr P O’Neill: | am saying that the
buildings were exchanged for a figure

of £10 million after the tenders came
in. The tenders came in in March 2006.
At the end of that year, those buildings
were no longer integral to the project, so
best value for money could be achieved
by disposing of them in the open
market. They were then valued by LPS
and were exchanged. The buildings were
taken out, and £10 million was put in.

Mr Clarke: In terms of these figures,
were they taken out at this stage? Was
this before or after?

Mr P O’Neill: These figures were from
the bid stage, which was —

Mr Clarke: Sorry, just answer the
question: were these figures before they
were taken out or after they were taken
out?

Mr P O’Neill: The bid one was in March
2006, so it was before.

Mr Clarke: It was before. These figures
will have changed by £10 million.

Mr P O’Neill: No.

Mr Redmond: Can | answer that, Mr
Clarke?

Mr Clarke: No, it is all right. | think Pat
is doing a good job here. Go ahead,
Pat. Pat nodded in agreement and was
keeping you right last time, Tom. We
have him at the front today, and we
would rather hear from him.

Mr P O’Neill: At that stage, the buildings
were not costed as buildings.

Mr Clarke: No, they were not costed

as buildings but they were given as a
swap. Then the £10 million was applied
afterwards, which brings the value of
what we have finished up with at £10
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million more, less what we finished up
getting for those buildings.

Mr P O’Neill: No. The valuation you can
obtain for any asset is at the date on
which you wish to sell it.

Mr Clarke: No, sorry, let us take you
back to what you said earlier. What you
said earlier was that, when you were
offered at the bid stage, the preferred
tender was taking those out. So it was
included. That was what was included
in terms of that. The £10 million was
always coming afterwards, but the £10
million was never realised because

the preferred bidder — the road you
decided to go down — never took those
buildings, which was agreed at the
start. That £10 million has been taken
out and there was a value applied at
that particular time. | cannot remember
what Mr Baker said in the ridiculous
suggestion about the sensitivities
around the valuation of those prices,
but we did not raise £10 million, so

the difference between the £10 million
and what was actually raised should be
added to those figures in terms of cost.
No?

Mr P O’Neill: No, the project will cost
what the project costs. They put in a
tender to deliver that project according
to the full cost of the project.

Mr Clarke: Yes, with those buildings
moved out and you realising £10 million
at a later date.

Mr P O’Neill: The buildings were moved
out and they were exchanged for £10
million, yes.

Mr Clarke: Yes, and you did not get £10
million.

Mr P O’Neill: No, we did not.

Mr Clarke: So that alters the cost of the
total project, and that has to be added
in terms of value for money.

Mr P O’Neill: The emerging guidance at
the time and subsequent guidance in
2007 was to remove buildings that were
not integral to the project. We saw the
emerging guidance, and the buildings
were removed in line with that guidance.
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The Chairperson: Mr Baker, did you want
to come in? | know that Mr Redmond
wanted to come in earlier on that point.

Mr Baker: Thank you, Chair. | will let Tom
comment first.

Mr Redmond: At all times, Mr Clarke,
the two bids were evaluated on a like-for-
like basis. They were evaluated with a
price for the properties in, and they were
evaluated again —

Mr Clarke: Do you know what would be
useful, Mr Redmond? If we actually got
a copy of that as opposed to what you
have supplied us, because —

Mr Redmond: Sorry; | supplied what |
was asked for, or as close to what | was
asked for as | could get.

Mr Clarke: Then | will pose you a
different question. Can you supply us
with all of the relevant information, with
the buildings in and the buildings out in
relation to both tenders?

Mr Redmond: It can be supplied. It is
a huge volume of paper, but it can be
supplied.

Mr Clarke: | am sure | can trust that you
will get something pulled together. If you
want to put it down into a wee table like
this so that we can understand it, that is
fine. It might be difficult.

Mr Redmond: | will just take a few
seconds to explain. What you have on
that bit of paper is as close as | could
get to the information that | was asked
for in terms of construction and build
costs. | have given you construction

and related costs, life-cycle costs and
facilities management costs. | have
given you the net present costs of those
and the comparison across the two bids
and the shadow bid. As you can see, the
net present cost of the ICL bid was the
lower of the three figures. That is part
of the financial evaluation. There was
also a services, a legal and a technical
and quality evaluation. So the whole
evaluation process was much larger
than what | have put on that bit of paper
for you, because that was all that | was
asked to provide. So, yes, it can be
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provided, but it was the overall cost that
was evaluated between both projects
and the shadow bid model. It was
evaluated on a like-for-like basis at all
times, with land in, land out or whatever.

Mr Clarke: | look forward to seeing the
rest of the information.

Mr Dallat: Pat, can you clarify what your
role in the Strategic Investment Board
was in terms of the bid process? Up to
what stage were you advising the college
and the Department?

Mr P O’Neill: As the Committee knows,
SIB was created in 2003. Its role is to
act as an interface between the public
and the private sectors and to bring

the skills to assist public sectors in

the procurement of those projects and
other projects. Predominantly, we are to
provide advice to the Executive in regard
to programmes and projects and in
relation to bodies such as DEL carrying
out major investment projects. With their
agreement, SIB advises those bodies. In
this project, | advised DEL. So | brought
my experience and expertise, which is in
PFl, to the table.

Mr Dallat: Further to that, what was
your role in promoting the wider Titanic
Quarter development plan?

Mr P O’Neill: None whatsoever.

Mr Dallat: So you did not perceive any
conflict of interest whatsoever?

Mr P O’Neill: | had no interest
whatsoever in the Titanic Quarter.

Mr Hazzard: Thanks so far.

Ms McGivern, can | take you to
paragraph 4.13 in the Audit Office
report? It states that the college’s
internal team has been credited with
achieving a “significant turnaround” in
the project. Why do you think that was
the case?

Ms McGivern: | think that there are a
number of reasons. | will go back to the
unhappy marriage. The Department —
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Ms McGivern: It is all right. It does
work.

Mr Dallat: It was you who started it.
Ms McGivern: It was me who started it.

The Department already, by 2008, knew
that the marriage was not necessarily
working. It instituted the efficiency
review. The first draft of the efficiency
review was in April 2009, and the final
publication was in January 2010. It
was in November 2009 that | came

in. | have to say that the efficiency
review was a very good starting point
for beginning to really get to the nub of
what the difficulties were and how we
might set about fixing them. Of course,
part of the process of an efficiency
review is that, when the efficiency review
is delivered, any organisation, in this
case the FE college, has to produce

a corporate improvement plan setting
out how quickly it will fix those things
and whatever. So | was faced with a
draft, which | was given in November
even though it was publicly published in
January, saying that there was a root-
and-branch requirement to take the
college apart and put it back together
again.

There were 72 recommendations, so

I had my framework for starting out. |
had some assistance in then beginning
to take forward a plan to change where
we were going, which, at that time,
looked very bleak and difficult to turn
around. That was root-and-branch work,
and it was very difficult work. Had you
asked me when | took the job whether
| was going to have to make the kinds
of choices | subsequently did have to
make — obviously in partnership with
the governing body — | would have said
that the enormity of the challenge we
faced and the very difficult decisions
that we had to take were very daunting.
However, we rolled our sleeves up. We
got the college to acknowledge that,

up until then, the marriage had not
been good, that we needed to rethink
where we were going and that we could
be the ambitious college that | think
we are now. Luckily, we were able to
bring most of the staff with us on that,
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because they too wanted to work in an
organisation where they would be proud
to come in every morning.

It was root-and-branch work, and it
started with restructuring. We had
systems and processes to put into
every section. | have already alluded

to the absence of things like basic
financial abilities and capabilities in

the organisation. That was mirrored
across the planning side and in the

way we did management information.
Our IT systems were poor. So, a very
long plan was set out in the corporate
improvement plan. We were given three
years to deliver it, and | am pleased

to say that we came out of special
measures within three years. We had a
letter from the Department last October
telling us that, and that was a significant
milestone for the organisation. An equal
milestone came last night, when we got
the first overall substantial audit report.
That is the first one we have had since
we started in 2007, so we have come a
long, long way. We still have lots more to
do, and there are lots more challenges.
However, it has been a good journey.

Mr Hazzard: You talked about root-and-
branch reform and having to take the
college apart and put it back together
again. It sounds like there has to

have been some fundamental lessons
learned. What do you think these are?
Have they been disseminated to other
bodies?

Ms McGivern: We have drafted lessons
learned. You have a copy of the ones
that we have learned about contract
management and taking on the building
of buildings. Those have been very
important to us because, when we
finished Titanic Quarter, we built a
second building at E3. | think that we
can say at this point that the build of E3
was very smoothly done. We learned a
huge amount from what had gone slower
and did not necessarily work in the first
contract.

Our colleagues in FE are now embarking
on their building journeys. We know that
the two colleges are hopefully going to

do that. No later than Monday afternoon,
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we had a workshop with Southern
Regional College to give it the benefit of
our learning from both our PFl and our
E3 build. That is being disseminated.

| have to say that, if | were charging

for the number of people who come
from English, Scottish and other
colleges to learn how we turned the
college round — the lessons are being
disseminated. We are very free with our
information, advice and help, because
we always want to be supportive of other
organisations that are having the same
difficulties as we had. It is possible to
improve, but it takes a lot of energy and
stamina — and a lot of support from the
Department, which we got.

Mr Baker: Just to add to the point on
lessons learned, the period after the
merger of the two colleges was really
difficult for the college. It was just a bad
time for the college. The Department
learned a lot from it too about
governance of the further education
sector. We commissioned the efficiency
review, which was a very useful exercise
because it shone a light on all the
things that needed to be done. From the
Department’s perspective — and this
may sound a bit sycophantic because
she is sitting beside me — Marie-
Thérése McGivern and her team did

a superb job in taking that efficiency
review, which was pretty brutal for the
college, translating it into a college
improvement plan and delivering that
within the set timescale.

Now, there was a lot of grief along

the way. We sat with the college

on a monthly basis to oversee the
implementation of that. We have learnt
a lot about governance of the further
education sector and keeping close

to the further education sector. Marie-
Thérése McGivern would not say it,

but she and her team deserve a huge
amount of credit for what they have
done, because it was very difficult. They
have turned the college and the finances
around in the middle of implementing a
couple of very big capital projects.

Mr Hazzard: One thing that had not been
done, as alluded to in paragraph 4.16 —
it may have been done now, and | want
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you to clear that up — is an evaluation
of the procurement stage. Has that been
done to date?

Ms Hartin: We did an evaluation of the
procurement stage in the post-project
evaluation (PPE) report. There are
lessons that come through in that. We
shared a draft version with the Northern
Ireland Audit Office when it was working
through the finalisation of this report.
Figure 8 of the report, which is on

page 59, summarises some of the key
lessons coming out of that, which are
really in and around the need for strong
and effective project management and
governance; careful management of
project advisors in working on that,

the issues related to which have been
well documented; the importance of
creating a project team with the right
skills and experience, which is one of
the keys that we were able to apply

to the construction phase and the
turnaround in the project; the financial
and operational benefits around the
deductions model and how we work a
design in on that; and retaining a project
team with continuity from contract,
through construction and through
operating fees, because those are the
individuals who know all the detail in
that contract and are best placed to
manage it.

Mr Hazzard: Has that been approved
and signed off by the Department?

Ms Hartin: It has gone to the
Department.

Mr Redmond: To add to what Elaine has
said about lessons learned, we also
look at the developments that have
happened within PPP procurement. In
PPP procurement at that time, we had
to follow what was called the negotiated
procedure. There are European-wide
regulations that must be followed.
Beyond that, those regulations have now
developed what is called competitive
dialogue. Obviously, procurement and
procurement regulations have been
updated. Anybody going into a project at
this point in time will also have to look
at the type of procurement route chosen
within the PPP procurement.
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We also perhaps need to look at
whether planning risk should be
transferred. Transferring planning risk
creates a window of opportunity for
things like global property crashes and
banking crashes to happen, as occurred
during our procurement. We also have
to look at whether you might wish to
split up the design and build and the
financing and operating disciplines,

as the negotiations are significantly
complicated by the safeguards that
each of those organisations will require
to protect their own interests, not only
towards the authority but between
themselves. That led to a lot of the
complexity and a lot of the prolongation
in the procurement phase.

We have looked at all those things.
We have prepared our post-project
evaluation, which we are now in the
process of finalising. The properties
have only recently been disposed of,
and the PPE has been updated to take
account of that. We recently received
another draft that we have also shared
with DFR Hopefully, in the next couple
of weeks or whatever, we will be able
to finalise that, sign it off and make

it available for other people and
organisations that might wish to share
the pain or the lessons.

Mr Hazzard: It is a matter of weeks
rather than months that we are looking
here then, is it?

Mr Redmond: It is a matter of weeks,
yes.

Mr Hazzard: OK, no problem. Moving on
to paragraph 4.17, Ms McGivern, we are
looking at the completion of the gateway
5 review. Has this been completed?

Ms McGivern: No, gateway 5 is not
completed yet. We intend to complete
it in this academic year. There is still
some outstanding information that we
will have to gather. We want the PPE,
for example, cleared and out of the

way before we embark on gateway 5.
However, we are in absolute preparation
for it. We are confident that we will
achieve at least another green/amber,
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as we did in gateway 4, which was a
triumph for us.

Mr Hazzard: Has the financial model
been re-run? Again, in paragraph 4.17,
we read that you were awaiting the final
re-run of the financial model. What effect
would that have on the unitary charge?

Ms McGivern: | am going to ask Elaine
to take that, because there will be
technicalities in it. It has not been re-run
yet, but | will pass this over.

Ms Hartin: | will attempt to answer it. If
| get into jargon, stop me immediately
because there is a risk of that. The
financial model is the model that the
bidder uses. It is owned by the bidder
in order to determine the unitary charge
that comes in with the bids. When the
contract is complete, there will have
been changes through the construction
phase. For example, there may have
been a change to certain types of light
fittings or things. In our case, it would
be things like floor covering. One of the
examples was in the hair and beauty
area, where we changed the floor
coverings because what was specified
would not have coped with bleaches
falling on it as well as what we ended up
with. So, there are pluses and minuses
as you go through the construction
phase that are monitored through a
process. Those are all signed off at the
point of the building transferring over.

When those transferred over, there
were small elements where the project
had come in under cost. Life cycle

cost, which is over the 25 years, came
in under budget by £150,000, and
facilities management came in under
by — | am going to sound so anal now
— £3,619, again over the 25 years. The
re-run of the financial model is updating
the model with those new costs to do

a reassessment of the unitary charge.
That has not yet happened. The report
refers to some difficulties that we have
been having in contract management,
and this is one of them.

Given the quantum of those numbers,
when you run them through, our belief
is that they will have an immaterial
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impact on the value of the unitary
charge. We have been working with the
contractor through the first stage of
dispute resolution and asking to get the
financial model re-run, and we have been
unsuccessful to date. We are preparing
to move to the second stage on dispute
resolution to move that forward. Our
belief is that the numbers within that
will be immaterial. However, we are
managing to the project agreement.

We will, and we are determined to,
protect the public sector interest as we
go forward, and there are no time-out
clauses in the project agreement, so
anything that we are due, we will get.

Mr Hazzard: OK. The timeline, then, for
gateway 5 and the likes of that? Are we
looking at a couple of months or are we
looking at a couple —

Ms McGivern: We would like to be doing
the gateway after Christmas. | would
not do it before Christmas because

it is about a three-month application
process. We would like to be in a
position to make that application this
side of Christmas so that we would do
it in the spring. We are scheduled to do
the E3 gateway at the same time. It is
difficult to do two gateways at the same
time because you have a lot of work,

so it will come in the spring or early
summer next year.

Mr Hazzard: No problem.

Mr Rogers: You are very welcome.
Elaine mentioned contract management,
and you know that there were issues
with the audit trail and so on, and there
are issues with the procurement. For
example, on page 61, we are talking

not only about procurement but about
“timely procurement”. If the IT aspect

of the project was critical to its whole
delivery, and it was marked as critical on
the risk register, why was that not picked
up? Why was a business plan put in just
four months before the college opened?
| know that it says that there were

“deficiencies in management and leadership
within the College”

but it is very hard to comprehend this.
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Ms McGivern: | absolutely share Mr
Rogers’s view. When | went in, there
were a few surprises with things that
were not done which you might have
expected to have been a bit further on
down the road. When we went in, we
were faced with the immediate thing that
we had to do, which was to create and
produce a corporate improvement plan.
In itself, that took the first 10 months.
We were happy at that stage, because
the actual building had been started and
was well in place. Our view at that time,
given the amount of things that we had
to do, was not necessarily that we could
park it, but that it was not a priority. We
absolutely required, in my view, a much
stronger finance side, and, at that point,
| very much had to rely on consultancy
for that financial work. | wanted to be in
a stronger position where that financial
advice was available to me internally in
the organisation. So it was a risk, and

it was in the risk register as a risk. |
think we put our minds to it when we
appointed our first accountant, who
became a member of staff in February
2011. We put our minds to it and
produced the business case as | hoped
and was confident that we would.

It was a short turnaround, but it went
through relatively easily in the end,
and, of course, Elaine was in charge

of it because she is the person | was
talking about when | mentioned the
appointment in February 2011. She had
previously been part of the consultancy
team that came to us in 2010. She
loved us so much that she decided to
join us. So | had already worked with
her for that year, and | was confident
that Elaine and the team that she had
built around herself could deliver it. It
was a risk, but | would say that it was a
calculated risk on our part, and we did
deliver. If you ask me whether that was
best practice, the answer is no. It was
not best practice, and it would not be
the way that we would do things now. It
was not how we proceeded with E3. We
learnt lots of lessons, and we delivered.

Mr Rogers: There is certainly an
acknowledgement that that is not the
way to do business today. Having things
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on a risk register is one thing, but if it is
a critical thing on a risk register, it needs
to be dealt with at the time.

Mr Baker, paragraph 4.25, still on page
61, says:

“Although the Department did consult DFP in
May 2011, DFP’s advice was not acted upon
and its approval was not sought.”

When the Northern Ireland Audit Office
began this investigation, there was
retrospective approval. Why was DFP’s
advice not acted on?

Mr Baker: At the time of the preparation
of the business case for the IT for the
college, there was engagement between
the Department and DFP over whether
approval was needed. DFP said to the
Department, “You, as a Department,
need to assure yourselves that, if

you need approval, you obtain it.” The
Department took the view, incorrectly

as it turned out, that it did not need

DFP approval because the Department
assumed that the cost of the IT element
of the project was within the acceptable
tolerances of a project of this nature
and that DFP approval was therefore not
needed. The Audit Office subsequently
came along and said, “No, you have got
that wrong, Department. You needed
approval for that.”

So we went to DFP to try to obtain

what is called retrospective approval,
and DFP granted it. It is not the right
way to do business, but it was granted
retrospectively on two grounds. The

first was that an appropriate business
case had been carried out. By
“appropriate business case”, | mean
that we had established the need, we
had established the best option for
procurement and that option established
value for money. The second ground on
which DFP approved the business case
was that it had been carried out at the
right time. We made a wrong judgement:
we took the judgement that we did not
need DFP approval, and we got that
judgement wrong. The Audit Office
subsequently corrected us.

Mr Rogers: So there is an
acknowledgement of the Department’s
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oversight. Is there an assurance that
that cannot happen again?

Mr Baker: Yes, there is an assurance to
an extent. Mr Brennan will know better
than | do, but DFP has very detailed
delegations granted to Departments,

so there is a very long list of items — |
think that there are almost 70 items —
where Departments need to go to DFP to
get written approval for various things.
There are all kinds of things in there,
like redundancies, write-offs, loans and
things. However, one item on that long
list relates to expenditure on IT systems
of over £1 million. That is very clear
now. Departments comply with DFP’s
delegated limits, and we will comply, but
that is not to say that human error will
not occur. However, it should not.

Mr Rogers: Can | refer you to
paragraphs 4.29 to 4.317? It is set out
that the college experienced difficulties
agreeing unitary payments. The Titanic
Quarter campus is in its third year

of operation. In practical terms, are
escalation procedures in the contract
sufficiently robust to ensure that
contract performance issues are dealt
with quickly and effectively?

Mr Baker: | will make a few comments
on that, if | may, and then | will hand
over to Elaine and Marie-Thérése, as
they are actually managing the contract.

The contract provides procedures to
deal with non-provision of service, and
there are penalties that can be applied.
The college is rigorously and robustly
applying and managing that contract, so,
if any issues arise, the contract provides
an opportunity to deal with and escalate
them. Elaine made the very important
point that, even in the midst of a
dispute, if penalties are racking up, they
will be recoverable whatever that date
is, because there is no time limit on the
recovery of penalties. We acknowledge
that there are issues there that need

to be addressed and that may need to
be escalated. If you take it to its end
conclusion, that could take you into the
legal sphere. | am not saying that we are
at that point yet, but those opportunities
exist. As to the day-to-day engagement
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with the contractor and the management
of the contract, | will pass you over to
Elaine, as that is her task.

Ms Hartin: You asked whether the
escalation procedures in the contract
were sufficiently robust.

Mr Rogers: Yes.

Ms Hartin: There are robust escalation
procedures in the contract, and we are
currently using the dispute resolution
procedure, which initially has an informal
process before moving into much more
formal mechanisms. We believe that we
are at the point where we are preparing
to move to the next stage if we do not
get some movement. We are meeting
again next week. When it comes to the
day-to-day operation of the building and
the campus, we are effectively getting
most of what we are requesting from
the campus. We would not be achieving
satisfaction levels of 92%, 93% or 94%
plus from our students and 100% from
our staff if we were not.

We are experiencing difficulties in
some areas that were snags when

we took over the building. We have
been working with the contractor to
get those resolved, and we had a plan
for the resolution of those in April and
May 2012. Unfortunately, the building
contractor went into administration,
which meant it got caught up in that
administrative process. The time period
we are in has been quite long, and
longer than we would have liked, but
the reasons for us working through
the process is that, every time we go
to move, there has been some work

in progress. We have had further work
in some of the areas over the summer
months.

| will give an example of the types

of areas that we have been dealing
with. One of the areas that was not
completed to specification is the sound
booth, which is a two-metre square
soundproofed room. It was completed
over the summer this year, and we
have made deductions of £10,000 for
that not being available. While we have
been experiencing difficulties, we have
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still been making deductions as we go
through the process.

There are some final ratchets and
mechanisms around that where we are
moving into more formal procedures if
we cannot get things agreed.

Mr Rogers: So, has it been particularly
in the last year that you have been
invoking these penalties?

Ms Hartin: No. We have been issuing
penalties from the very first day.
Where anything was unavailable, our
contract management is very robust.
The Audit Office report highlights

the robustness of the management
during the construction phase. That
same team is a dedicated contract
team that will remain in place and will
continue to monitor performance on a
monthly basis. We have monthly client
liaison meetings, we record any non-
performance and we make deductions.
We are refining and completely
concretising the values in those, and
that is what we have not been able to
do. Does that answer your question?

Mr Rogers: Yes. While we are still
talking about unitary charges and costs,
what do the charges at appendix 3 on
page 69 mean for the Department and
the college’s budget?

Mr Baker: | will start on that one. The
unitary charge is split between the
Department and the college, as is
probably explained there in the footnote.
The Department pays that element of

it which would have been attributable
to the capital cost. Normally, the
Department would fund the capital cost
of a new college. Out of its resources,
the college funds the resource costs —
the revenue costs, if you like.

What does that mean for the
Department’s budget? We pay it every
month, and it is affordable. It has
been factored into our budget, so it

is not placing any pressure on us.
The proof of the pudding from the
college’s perspective is that during
the life cycle of this project, right

up to the contract signing and post-
signing, the construction and now the
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implementation, the college, as Marie-
Thérése McGivern has explained, has
managed to turn its finances around
from a pretty serious deficit position to
a break-even position, which was quite

a turnaround. The project is eminently
affordable from the college’s perspective
and the Department’s perspective.

Mr Rogers: How does the Department
make information about the unitary
charges available to the Assembly and,
in particular, to DEL?

Mr Baker: The Department does not
make anything available directly to

the Assembly. Ministers report to the
Assembly, but the Department reports
regularly to the Employment and
Learning Committee on the disposition
of its budget. We provide details, for
example, of what we allocate to the
further education sector. For example,
we are going through the process of
October monitoring, and we are engaging
with the Employment and Learning
Committee in great detail on what our
budget is for further education and what,
if any, cuts might have to be made to
that budget. That is a different story
altogether.

We do not tend to break down the
individual elements of that budget. We
do not say that we are giving them this
much for students and that much for
earmarked projects or for the unitary
charge in respect of this particular PPR
in the same way that we do not break
it down for the money that we give to
other colleges in relation to a PFl deal.
We could do; that information is readily
available, and there is no reason why we
should not do it. If the Committee was
interested in it, we would be more than
happy to give that information to the
Committee.

Mr Rogers: But it is broken down,
college by college, no?

Mr Baker: When we provide
information to the Committee about the
Department’s budget, we do not break
down the individual amounts that we
give to the individual colleges, but we
could do that; and, within the amounts
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that we give to the individual colleges,
we could break down the individual
amounts that we give to colleges in
respect of the Department’s share

of any unitary charge in respect of a
PFI project. That is eminently doable,
because we record that and we have
to account for it. So, if that Committee
or this Committee or any Member of
the Assembly is interested, we can
provide that. However, it is not part of
our normal day-to-day reporting to the
Committee to break down our budget
into such small units, but it is doable, if
anybody is interested.

Mr Rogers: | just think it would be
useful.

Mr Baker: OK.

Mr Clarke: Going back to your response,
Mr Baker, to question 11, with respect
to the costs, | am still struggling with
the car park. Let us go back to the initial
expressions of interest in the tender
process, and that is where these bids
come in: the total of £55-37 million for
ICL, £56-21 million and £56-18 million
in the shadow bid. So, that is where our
starting point is, and that is where you
based your business case. Then we are
going from a position where we want 12
car parking spaces to a 40-year contract
for additional car parking spaces that
will come in sometime after that. Is that
right?

Mr Baker: OK. Continue.

Mr Clarke: But is what | am saying
right? | do not want to say something
wrong here.

Mr Baker: OK. We do not have a
contract, in the sense that we are not
paying for any car parking spaces.

Mr Clarke: Have we a lease?

Mr Baker: Yes. The Belfast Metropolitan
College has let a sublease to Ivywood
Car Parks Limited to operate a sub-
basement car park for 40 years, that is
correct.

Mr Clarke: How many car parking
spaces does the college have access to
in that car park?
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Mr Baker: It does not have any —

Mr Clarke: | am just trying to clear this
up.

Mr Baker: Car parking spaces are not
earmarked for the college.

Mr Clarke: Right. So there is no
arrangement, no availability or use of
that for anyone from the college, and
there is no charge for anything? And
there is no —

Ms Hartin: There are 12 surface car
parking spaces.

Mr Baker: Sorry. There is no charge —
Mr Clarke: In terms of the car parking?
Mr Baker: It is a pay car park.

Mr Clarke: That is fine.

Mr Baker: It is a pay-for-use car park, so
anybody can go into that car park and
use it, but they have to pay. There is a
barrier.

Mr Clarke: How long is the contract and
the lease for the college itself?

Mr Baker: The lease is for 250 years.
The PPP contract is for 25 years.

Mr Clarke: OK. What is the tie-in with
the car park, then?

Mr Baker: Sorry?
Ms Hartin: It is 40 years.

Mr Baker: That is right. | did not think
that that was in question. The car park,
the sublease to lvywood Car Parks
Limited is for 40 years.

Mr Clarke: And there is no-tie in to
the Met in relation to the car park
whatsoever?

Mr Baker: Well, the arrangement
between lvywood and the Met is that the
Belfast Met permits Ivywood to operate
the car park. It offered it the sublease.

Mr Clarke: Can we hear some sums,
there?

Mr Baker: Yes. The college does not pay
any money for that, obviously. Ivywood
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pays £10,000 per annum, index-linked
at 5%, to Belfast Met.

Mr Clarke: OK.

Mr Baker: There is a profit-share
arrangement between Belfast Met and
Ivywood. There is open-book accounting.
So lvywood makes its annual accounts
available to Belfast Met, and if lvywood
makes a profit — there is a point at
which that profit-share is triggered,
above a certain amount after tax — then
Belfast Met gets a share in the profits.

| have to say that Ivywood is not at the
point of making a profit on this car park
because, obviously, it had to borrow to
build the car park. Then, at the end of
40 years, the car park reverts to the
ownership of Belfast Met.

Mr Clarke: So, that is a golden egg; can
we call it that?

Mr Baker: | do not know whether that
is a technical term, Mr Clarke, but that
is the arrangement; it reverts to the
ownership of Belfast Met.

Mr Clarke: So, you are going to have
this after 40 years.

Mr Baker: Yes.

Mr Clarke: How many years has it been
running now?

Mr Baker: Three years.
Mr Clarke: And it is making no profit.

Mr Baker: It has not made a profit to
date because they had to borrow.

Mr Clarke: Maybe this is more for
Elaine. At what stage do you see that
being profitable? This is maybe slightly
off the report, but | am asking this
because you are tied in to ownership
after 40 years, and there will be a
maintenance cost. | see you nodding
your head, Pat.

Mr P O’Neill: It is not our car park.
Mr Clarke: After 40 years?

Mr P O’Neill: It is not our car park now.
It belongs to lvywood Car Parks Ltd,
which is a totally independent company.
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Mr Clarke: What happens to it after 40
years, Pat?

Mr P O’Neill: After 40 years, it comes
into the ownership of BMC.

Mr Clarke: Yes. That is the point that |
am trying to make.

Mr P O’Neill: Apologies.

Mr Clarke: So, after 40 years, it comes
into your ownership. So, what has been
factored in to determine whether it will
operate at a profit or a loss?

Ms Hartin: In 37 years’ time.
Mr Clarke: Yes.

Ms Hartin: | have to admit that | have
not looked at our accounts or forecasts
for 37 years’ time.

Mr Clarke: | am sure that you have

not. | am not an accountant, Elaine.

| am just a used car salesman. After
40 years, | am sure that a car park will
need additional money spent on it, and,
after three years, | can appreciate that
it is not making any money. We have

a £500,000 difference between the
preferred bidder and the actual bidder.
But we have not factored in taking on a
liability, because it is a liability if it is not
going to make money.

Mr Baker: No, | said that it has not
started to make a profit yet.

Mr Clarke: You do not know if it will ever
make a profit, Mr Baker.

Mr Baker: The reason that it is making
a loss is that lvywood had to borrow
money from its banker to build the car
park. So, it has not repaid that money.
Ivywood calculated —

Mr Clarke: | will take Elaine on this one,
Mr Baker, as she is from an accountancy
background. As Elaine said, she has not
looked at its profitability or otherwise.

Ms Hartin: Can | step in? The net
present value that we have looked at —
we are talking about the £500,000 that
you referred to — was over a 25-year
period. The car park is still outside our
ownership. We have our lease and our
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£10,000 index-linked income coming
through on that, but, at the expiration
of the PPP deal, there is still a period of
15 years to run on the car park, and, at
the end of the PPP lease, the building
reverts back to us.

Mr Clarke: And there is nothing to say
whether it will make a profit or whether it
will cost you money.

Ms Hartin: So, there is still a 15-year
gap between the car park profitability
in 37 years’ time and the PPP period,
and | do not think that you would pull
into account any potential profitability
outside the NPV period.

Mr Clarke: Mr Redmond, you provided

a table to Mr Baker about these costs,
and | think that you have answered the
question about the difficulty in giving the
construction costs to us in our preferred
way.

Mr Redmond: We did not have that
information.

Mr Clarke: | take that on board. How
was that calculated for the shadow bid?

Mr Redmond: How were the construction
and life cycle and facilities —

Mr Clarke: Yes.

Mr Redmond: The college engages its
legal, financial and technical experts
and advisers. Those people draw
together the costs that they expect to
see in a PPP project and put it together
in a shadow bid model. That is then
submitted to the Department, and the
Department submits that to Central
Procurement Directorate for its scrutiny
and sign-off.

Mr Clarke: The bit | am struggling

with, Mr Baker, is that there are so
many different names around this car
park and college. They entered into a
process of making a bid, and the car
park came late in the day. How are you
satisfied that ICL did not include any
element of the costs to the Belfast Met
in terms of the building of the car park?
Maybe | should frame it differently. Do
you not find it strange that a preferred
bid comes forward with a proposal to
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do something and then comes in with
something that is obviously going to
have a huge cost and with which it will
be a long time before they get that
money back? Why would they have
changed that?

Mr Baker: First of all, there was a
planning requirement on the bidder, not
on the Department or the college —

Mr Clarke: When was the Department
first aware of the planning condition?

Mr Baker: The Department was always
aware of the planning condition, but the
risk of planning is transferred to the
bidder under a PPR So, to some extent,
that is over to you, the bidder, and

you have to conform with any planning
requirements, and how you do it is up
to you, and how you pay for it is up

to you. The bid proposal that came in
was for a surface car park for several
hundred spaces. In addition to that,
they were going to try to get a reduction
on the price of some of the car parking
spaces in front of the Odyssey building.
The college and the Department were
entirely satisfied with that, but, in a
sense, it was immaterial, because we
were never going to assess the bid on
car parking.

ICL changed its mind, and we can
speculate on why it changed its mind. |
think that one of the reasons was that
it did not want to build a surface car
park because it felt that it might have
difficulty getting a change of use some
time down the line, and so that would
not have been a particularly valuable
use of a piece of land of that nature.

It probably felt that it could have done
better. But the Department’s measure
of control in all this was that the bid
that was submitted by ICL to provide
the spec that we wanted, not just for
the building but for the services over
25 years, was the most competitively
advantageous bid. It beat the other bid
and beat the shadow bid model. It is like
saying that there are little green men on
Mars and that, until you can disprove
there are, there will be little green men
on Mars. Did they inflate the bid to
include the cost of a sub-basement
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car park in that? If they did and still
managed to come in below the price

of the other bidder and the shadow bid
model, it was quite some trick to do so.
The fact that we are required to select
the most advantageous bid based on
cost and quality provides the control for
us, because that is what we did.

Mr Clarke: But would it have been
some trick? If the car park had not been
there, surely the cost would have been
somewhat less? Then it would have
been some trick for BMC.

Mr Baker: It may well have been. By the
same token, we can speculate what the
other bidder would have put in. Would
they have put in a helipad?

Mr Clarke: The wee men on Mars could
be orange and not green. We could
speculate on all things.

Mr Baker: So be it, but the bids were
examined in considerable detail by

the financial advisers and the legal
advisers. They trawled through them. |
do not think that anybody found anything
untoward by way of the bids being
inflated to cover the cost of a car park
and so forth.

Mr Redmond: Can | add one thing, Mr
Clarke? When we finished our evaluation
process of the two bids, we notified
one company that it had won the bid
and notified the other company that

it lost the bid, and we gave them a

full breakdown of how and where they
had lost the bid. Given that current
estimates are that they would have
probably lost the guts of £1 million

in progressing their bid to the losing
point, if they had thought that there
was anything dodgy about how we had
carried out our evaluation, | have no
doubt whatsoever that they would have
challenged that. So, the Committee can
be assured the losing bidder looked at
how they lost their money in bringing
forward that bid and did not make a
challenge. To some extent, that has

to provide some assurance that they
thought that they lost the battle fair and
square.
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Mr Clarke: For the record, Mr Redmond,
you used the word “dodgy”, not me.

Mr Redmond: Sorry, | did not mean to
imply that you had suggested that it was
dodgy.

Mr Clarke: You quite freely said that it
may have looked dodgy, but I did not.

Mr Redmond: That is fair enough. |
acknowledge that entirely.

Mr Easton: Hi. My questions are on the
preferred bidders letter, which is the
copy that you sent to the Committee on
11 July. I do not know which one of you
sent it, but somebody did. It highlights a
significant number of unresolved issues.
Given their significance, was it not
premature to issue that letter, conveying
as it did the college’s intention to
appoint ICL as the preferred bidder?

Mr Redmond: It was only an intention at
that stage, and a number of things were
set out that were still to be negotiated.
In PPP procurement using the negotiated
procedure, in all likelihood, whatever

bid is considered to be appointed

as the preferred bidder will have a
number of clarifications or issues

that are highlighted that we wish to
perhaps pursue a little bit further before
absolutely and definitively conferring
preferred bidder status.

Mr Easton: OK. What were the
unresolved issues?

Mr Redmond: One of the things was
that we wanted a parental company
guarantee. We wanted to be sure that
the entity we were engaging with at that
stage would have the wherewithal to
deliver the project. In these cases, you
are looking at a special purpose vehicle,
which may not have significant worth, to
deliver the project. We like contracting
with special purpose vehicles because
it means that no other activities of the
company can impinge or negatively
impact on the delivery of the project
that we wish to deliver. However, we

still do not want to go down the road
with a company that does not have

the wherewithal to deliver the campus.
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We look for, in some cases, a parental
company guarantee.

Mr Easton: OK. We are talking about
issues. How many unresolved issues
were there?

Mr Redmond: The preferred bidder letter
that | sent you listed 12. That may not
be the conclusive list because other
things may come onto the agenda. For
example, the bank, at a later stage,
decided that it wished to vary its terms.

1153.

Mr Easton: Do you not find it a bit
strange that somebody becomes a
preferred bidder and yet there are so
many issues?

Mr Redmond: All | can say in response
is that that letter was dated July. It was
not becoming a preferred bidder at that
stage.

Mr Easton: OK. Do you accept,
particularly given ICL’s privileged
development position, that you, by
not resolving issues ahead of its
appointment as the preferred bidder,
put ICL in a position where it could
dictate the pace and outcome of the
negotiations?

Mr Redmond: The principle in all these
tendering processes is to ensure that
you do not put the losing bidders,

in particular, to a huge amount of
expense because, obviously, they have
no recourse to recoup that expense.

It is always a judgement call between
how many things you can clarify before
putting someone down as a preferred
bidder while keeping everyone on board
and expending money and then moving
to the preferred bidder stage, where,
obviously, you have a great deal more
chance of getting all the interested
parties to the table. Most of those guys,
including the banks, Belfast Harbour
Commission and all these folk, will be
bringing expensive advisers. You get
better and more-meaningful engagement
when there is a prospect of a potential
return. Up until that, it is hard to know
what the level of commitment is. It

is swings and roundabouts, to some
extent, Mr Easton.
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Mr Easton: Remind me: how many
bidders were there?

Mr Redmond: Two.

Mr Easton: So, there were 12 issues
that we know of with the one that you
accepted. Did the other bidder have the
same 12 issues, or did it have more or
fewer?

Mr Redmond: It would have had issues,
but they were not quantified and
analysed in the same way as ICL's. We
looked at ICL’s in more detail after the
evaluation process concluded.

Mr Easton: OK. With reference to the
tipping points that Mr Baker referred to
in his previous evidence session, will
you provide me with more information on
what particular points the Department
and the college considered in relation to
one of the many options available to it,
including opting out, going back to the
reserve bidder and going out to market
again? Why did you not consider any of
those options, or did you?

Mr Redmond: | know that you have
addressed the question to Mr Baker,
but | think that it was me who used
the term “tipping point”, so | am happy
to elaborate on that, if you are happy
enough, Derek.

Mr Baker: Yes, you go ahead.

Mr Redmond: One of the tipping

points was when it came looking for an
increase in the value of the land from
£3 million to £7-7 million. If it had stuck
to its guns on that, that would have
been a tipping point. The other point
that | can talk to is when it came to us
looking to fund the car park. | reiterate
that it was pain for ICL to have to fund
this car park. It did not fund the car park
willingly. It would have been a tipping
point for this project if it had said that it
was not funding the car park. So, those
were, if you like, the tipping points.
Unless ICL compromised, fully in the
case of the car park, and on the land,

it was, “Bye-bye” and we were away.
That would have had happened if ICL
had stuck to its ground on those tipping
points.
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Mr Easton: Were there any other tipping
points?

Mr Baker: There was another critical
point in the project late on when the
bidder’s banker was threatening to walk
away from the project altogether or not
to lend. That was entirely to do with

the credit crunch, and, as you know,

the banks were facing serious liquidity
problems. They were not lending money,
and their appetite for this project was
fading fast. ICL, with some help from the
Department, tried to identify alternative
financial backers and could not do so,
so, at that point, the Department had to
take a decision on whether to save the
project or walk away.

Mr Easton: So, we have identified three
tipping points.

Ms Hartin: | have more of an
overarching point. From the paper

trail that | have been able to work my
way through, at every point through

the project, assessments were being
made of affordability and value for
money against the requirements of the
business case, which is, effectively, the
main decision-making document and a
summary of that. At no point throughout
the project did it show that the business
case requirements were not being met.
In other words, this preferred bidder,
with all of the nuances going through it,
was not showing that the measures set
out in the business case, both monetary
and non-monetary, were not able to be
achieved.

Mr Easton: You have got your
achievements and stuff, but are there
any more tipping points that | need to
know about? | will not stop until you —

Mr Baker: | know. That is OK. | have
run out of tipping points, Mr Easton.

| had forgotten that | used that term,
but there were critical points during the
course of this project where we had to
take decisions, and | think that we have
identified the three big ones.

Mr Easton: Those are the three main
ones. OK.
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Mr Clarke: The difficulty with having two
evidence sessions so far apart is that

it is difficult to recall what was said the
last time. Tom, in response to Alex, you
talked about £3 million and £7-7 million.
What was that in relation to?

Mr Redmond: The increase in the land
price.

Mr Baker: The site where we built the
college.

Mr Clarke: What did you finish up
settling at?

Mr Redmond: It was £5 million.

Mr Clarke: So, why, Mr Baker, was that
not a tipping point? Why did that not tip
it? The bidding process is altered now by
a few million pounds.

Mr Baker: Originally, the site on which
to build the college was to be included
in the PFl deal, so it would have been
costed to the college through the unitary
charge. The original price was £3 million
in the bid.

Mr Clarke: That was in the bid.

Mr Baker: It was in the bid. During

the process, the owners of the land

— Belfast Harbour Commissioners

and Titanic Quarter Ltd — wanted to
increase the cost of the land to £7-7
million because land prices were rising.
That caused us a real difficulty.

Mr Clarke: Why did it cause you a
difficulty?

Mr Baker: It caused us a difficulty
because the college would have had to
pay for that increased site price through
the unitary charge.

Mr Clarke: Surely — maybe | am wrong
here — someone worked up the bid and
put in a figure of £3 million for the land,
which brought them to £55-37 million.
[Interruption.] | am sorry, let me finish
my train of thought here, Tom. The bid
was at £55-37 million, but then, when
you go to draw that up and they go to
acquire that piece of land, it goes from
£3 million to £7-7 million. So the £3
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million has been built into the £55-37
million and is changed to £5 million, no?

Mr Redmond: No.
Mr Clarke: Mr Baker —

Mr Redmond: | am sorry; as | explained
earlier, the letter | gave you that set

out those costs was only a small

part. It was not the complete financial
evaluation. | gave the comparable
information to the information that was
requested.

Mr Clarke: | do not have in front of me.
Let me draw on this again. Mr Baker
said in response that that was included
in the bid, because the land acquisition
was down to the person who made the
bid — £3 million. OK?

Mr Redmond: Yes.

Mr Clarke: But, by the time we got to
the stage of drawing it up and getting
approval, the person who actually owns
the land, who is not the bidder, wanted
£7-7 million. So, they came scratching
their heads to the public purse and
said that they wanted to move it from
£3 million included in the bid to £7-7
million, and, rightly so, you sent them
packing.

Mr Redmond: Well, we agreed £5
million.

Mr Clarke: So, you gave them £2 million
more than you initially evaluated the
contract at.

Mr Redmond: We re-evaluated. First,
neither the £3 million, £5 million or £7-7
million is included in the information
that | provided to the Committee. The
information | provided was around
construction costs, because that is
what | was asked for. The £3 million
or £5 million is not included in that
information, but the £3 million was
included in the overall evaluation of all
of the financial inputs.

Mr Clarke: Yes, the £3 million was
included.

Mr Redmond: The £3 million was
included, and when we came to the
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point at which we agreed the £5 million,
we reran the evaluation process to
ensure for ourselves that ICL remained
the most competitive bid, which it did.

Mr Clarke: That is very useful.

Mr Baker: That was the point | did not
get to, Mr Clarke.

Mr Clarke: Sorry. OK, thank you.

Mr Easton: | am directing this to the
college, not the Department. Did you
ever consider walking away and did you
ever seek advice from the Department
about that?

Ms McGivern: Personally? No. Since

| came in, we have never reached

the point where we have said to the
Department, “That is it. We're throwing
in the towel”.

Mr Easton: Did anyone do so before you
were there?

Ms McGivern: There is evidence of the
governing body sending threatening
letters to ICL saying that things were
taking too long and were being delayed,
and | think that the Department was
aware of that. | think that there were
points at which the governing body made
its dissatisfaction known with what was
happening, but | have not seen any
evidence that at any stage that there
was what | would have described as a
tipping point. The tenor of the letters is
more of complaining and dissatisfaction.
They are not threatening, in that sense.

| have no evidence of them doing the
same with the Department.

Mr Redmond: | will just add that the
contract was actually signed, | think,
before you came on board, Marie-
Théréese.

Ms McGivern: Oh yes, it was signed in
April 2009.

Mr Redmond: | had various meetings
with the governing body at various times
when there were discussions —

Mr Easton: About walking away?

Mr Redmond: Yes, | suppose walking
away would have been on the agenda,
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but it was wider than that. It was trying
to find the most economical way of
addressing the problems that existed

at College Square East and Brunswick
Street. Although the ICL proposal had its
difficulties, we continued to work with it
while it remained a potential solution.
But, yes, walking away would have been
on the agenda.

Mr Easton: So, you have had sight of
letters that were sent to ICL before your
time, suggesting that you might walk
away.

Ms McGivern: | would not go so

far as to say that. Certainly not the
walking away bit. There were letters of
dissatisfaction at the pace at which
things were happening and which asked
questions of ICL. Those are the letters
that | am party to.

Mr Easton: Would there have been
anything worded, not in such a way as
to suggest walking away, but to suggest
to ICL that you might have to review
the situation — that you might have to
review the relationship?

Ms McGivern: You have caught me off
guard because —

Mr Easton: That is good.

Ms McGivern: Simply because | do not
have the evidence in front of me, so it

is really a long time since | read those

letters.

Mr Easton: Would we be allowed to see
those letters?

Mr Redmond: | am not sure whether
letters of that nature exist. However, of
what | do know, it was made abundantly
clear to ICL on a number of occasions
that, for example, if they did not pay for
the car park, they would have no project.
That was made abundantly clear to ICL.

Mr Easton: We are not talking about the
Department. There are letters from the
college.

Ms McGivern: Certainly there are the
governing body minutes, and | have seen
at least one letter, which was, you know,
businesslike. They were not threatening
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that they were going to walk away from
the project. They were just concerned
about how long it was taking.

Mr Easton: Can we see that letter?

Ms McGivern: | will try to find it. As |
said, it is a while since | last saw it, Mr
Easton, but | will endeavour to find a
copy of that letter for you.

Mr Easton: Back to the Department
now. Did the Department ever advise
against or discourage the college from
walking away from the project? Bear in
mind that you have already suggested
that there were discussions about
walking away.

Mr Redmond: There were discussions
with the governing body, and there

would have been a discussion about the
implications of walking away at particular
times. There were times when it would
have been easy to walk away. There were
other times when, perhaps, there would
have been implications from walking
away. There is no doubt that, yes, all of
that was discussed.

Mr Easton: Were any of these
discussions documented?

Mr Redmond: Some of them were
documented.

Mr Easton: There are minutes?

Mr Redmond: There will be minutes. |
can remember one particular minute
that records some of the implications
of walking away when, for example, a
deal had been agreed that was value
for money. If we had agreed to pay £5
million for the site — when | say “we”,
I mean the college and the Department
— and we had concluded and negotiated
a deal that was value for money, there
would have been implications. If you
had walked away at that stage, without
a clear reason for doing so, the bidder
would have wished to know why. Under
FOI, they would have looked to see
whether it was for value-for-money
reasons, and, if there was a value-
for-money deal on the table from that
bidder, | am sure that they would have
looked to redress the expenditure they
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had incurred during a very expensive 1236.

bidding process.

Mr Easton: Can we have sight of those? 1237.

Mr Redmond: Yes.

Mr Clarke: Just on that, Tom. | am
picking up that you seem to have been
more reluctant than anyone else to end
that contract. Did you ever advise the
college not to end the contract?

1238.

Mr Redmond: No. It was not for me to
advise the college. At all times, it was
for the college to progress its business
case and to submit it to the Department

for approval. 1239.

Mr Clarke: At no time did you

discourage the college? 1240.

Mr Redmond: It depends what you mean
by discourage. If, for example —

Mr Clarke: If you want me to explain
what | mean, | can do that.

Mr Redmond: No. Well, OK. If, for
example, you mean explaining —

1241.
Mr Clarke: Maybe | should explain —

Mr Redmond: Sorry, let me finish —
The Chairperson: Let Mr Redmond —

Mr Clarke: Chair, | think he is having
difficulty understanding what | am asking
him, so | will ask him in a different way.

Mr Redmond: | have a form of words in
my head, which —

Mr Clarke: At any stage, did the college
suggest in stronger terms ending the
contact, at which stage you may have
tried to discourage them?

Mr Redmond: If you are asking whether
| explained the implications of walking
away, yes | did.

Mr Clarke: Would you have tried to

discourage them then? 1242.

Mr Redmond: It was not
discouragement.

Mr Clarke: Thank you. That is clear.

Mr Redmond: | want to make it
absolutely clear.

The Chairperson: Mr Baker, we talked
about tipping points and the lost
appetite in terms of the car park. At that
tipping point, the Department stepped
in. What action was taken by the
Department and you at that time?

Mr Baker: When | talked about loss of
appetite, | was referring to the Ulster
Bank and the lending to the bidder: it
was not to do with the car park. It was
towards the end of 2008. Is that what
you are asking about?

The Chairperson: Yes, | just wanted
clarification on that.

Mr Baker: In late 2008, the bank came
along and said, “Look, we're losing our
appetite here. We're not going to lend.”
That threatened the whole project. The
college and the Department had to
take a decision on what to do: let the
project collapse or see what we could
do to save it, but always in a way that
preserved the value for money.

There is a wee bit of shade and light
here, and | think | mentioned this at the
last session, and it is relevant. Bear in
mind that my Department had been in
receipt of pretty stinging criticism from
this Committee for throwing in the towel
on the Springvale educational village
project. The Committee effectively said,
and | am using the vernacular although
| am paraphrasing, that when the going
got tough the Department walked

away. The recommendation to the
Department was very, very clear: when
the Department is faced with serious
operational difficulties with an important
project, this Committee, the PAC,
expects us to take every reasonable
means possible to deliver the project
objectives, and not doing so is not
acceptable. That is what this Committee
said to the Department.

So, the Department had a choice:

walk away because of the impact of

the credit crunch or look at how to

save it. The Department had £5 million
capital available to it in its budget. The
Department usually has a capital budget
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of £35 million to £40 million every year,
which is used pretty exclusively for
investment in further education or higher
education. It decided that, to reduce the
borrowing requirement of the bidder, the
Department would put up capital of £5
million. That had the effect of reducing
the unitary charge, which is a bit like a
mortgage: you either pay a big deposit
and have a lower mortgage repayment or
pay a smaller deposit and have a higher
mortgage repayment.

So, the Department decided to offer a
£5 million increased bullet payment,
bringing its bullet payment from £10
million to £15 million. However, in doing
so, the Department bore in mind the
objective that | described earlier: to
deliver the project — as this would do
— in a way that preserved affordability
and value for money. It reran the value-
for-money assessment, which came out
as positive as a consequence of the
re-financing deal. So, it achieved all the
objectives: it preserved affordability and
value for money and saved the project.

Mr Dallat: Mr Baker mentioned
Springvale. | will not turn this into a
history lesson, but that was immediately
after the peace process. Can you
imagine the shattered lives that were
left behind when you walked away

from that project? The Committee was
critical of you at that stage, but it did
not tell you, “Don’t throw in the towel if
something is wrong in the future.” Why
throw in the towel if the procedures

are correct? There were significant
weaknesses in the project management.
Do you agree?

Mr Baker: There were significant
weaknesses in the college’s governance
arrangements and in elements of the
project management. | agree entirely.

Mr Dallat: Mr Baker, are you taking any
responsibility for this project?

Mr Baker: Yes, | have just said

that | agreed with you that there
were significant weaknesses in

the governance and the project

management.
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Mr Dallat: | will certainly want to read
the Hansard report later. You made
some remarks at the beginning that
worry me, because the only purpose
of this Committee is to enquire into
projects so that we do not have
repetition. That is the only reason:
nobody is looking for a head on a platter
or anything like that. Do you agree that
there were significant delays in the
project after the preferred bidder was
selected?

Mr Baker: Yes.

Mr Dallat: Do you now accept that,
in the future, that would not happen
again, because you are aware of the
weakness?

Mr Baker: | accept that it should not
happen again. You asked whether |
agree that it would not happen again. |
do not know what is going to happen in
the future, but | agree that it should not
happen again.

Mr Dallat: Well, | will tell you, Mr Baker,

why this is interesting. | keep telling my

colleagues that | am the longest serving
member on the Committee, and —

Mr Baker: Sorry, | did not hear that.

Mr Dallat: | keep telling my colleagues
that | am the longest serving member of
the Committee; 14 years. It appals me
that, time and again, we sit on inquiries
that find that the same mistakes are
being made again. | hope that you are
not preparing me for some event in the
future, when | might not be here, and
when the same significant weaknesses
will arise. That is all that | am asking.

As for the college itself, | am trying to
put myself in your position. | am sure
that Marie-Thérése will put me right

on this. What additional bill have you
picked up as a result of these obvious
weaknesses that were not identified?
How many millions of pounds extra has
it cost?

Ms McGivern: That is a very difficult
question. If we were not where we are
— if we were not in the PFl — then the
question would be this: where might we
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be? Going back to government policy at
the time, PFl was the fashion. Everything
was being done through PFI.

Mr Dallat: | agree with you.

Ms McGivern: We know about all the
hospitals and schools that were built
that way; it was the flavour of the day.

At that point, there did not appear to

be any alternative to the PFI track. If we
had not gone down that road, we might
well still be in College Square East and
Brunswick Street, and in environments
that were really not fit for purpose any
longer. | am not sure that there would
have been alternative resourcing for

us to rehabilitate and refurbish those
buildings to the quality that we now have
in the Titanic Quarter and, subsequently,
in E3. So, what would our cost be if we
were still in the old buildings? That is a
hard question to answer.

Mr Dallat: No, Marie-Thérése, that is not
what | am asking. If the weaknesses in
the project management and the delays
after the preferred bidder was identified
had been addressed, | assume, rightly
or wrongly, that you might not be
committed to the additional money that
you have picked up the bill for. | am
asking how much that was.

Ms McGivern: Again —

Mr Dallat: | think that it is £20 million,
but | might be wrong.

Ms McGivern: My understanding is that
we committed to the unitary charge

and are still paying the same unitary
charge. The question then is whether
we can afford it. We can now afford

it. We have brought the college to a
financial position that allows us to afford
it and enjoy the benefits that, in my
view, it has brought to student success
and achievement and the reputation

of further education. It has built our
relationship with the private sector to a
much greater and stronger extent than
we had ever achieved previously. For me,
looking at it every day, | am where | am
and the college is where it is. We are
slowly getting better. We have gone from
being inadequate to good in four years.
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We hope, over the next period, to go
from good to great.

Mr Dallat: | think that nobody around
the table would disagree with a single
syllable of that. | am glad | made it clear
in my opening remarks that | am totally
prejudiced in favour of the college.

Ms McGivern: You did indeed, Mr Dallat.

Mr Dallat: Finally, | go back to, Pat.

You made it very clear at the beginning
that you had no preferred interest in

the college going to the Titanic Quarter.
You robustly answered that. | ask this
simple question: what was your role in
the Strategic Investment Board and in
this whole project, for which you are now
sharing a third of the blame?

Mr P O’Neill: First, | do not see blame
attached to this project. All projects,

no matter which ones, are difficult. As
Derek said, you have to address those.
| will take you through the chronology

of a few things. We started off with

two projects: a PPP project and an ICT
project. As a result of planning, we then
took out the purchase of the site, so
that that became a purchase project.
As a result of the guidance on reducing
and removing assets that were not
integral, that became a separate project
— Brunswick Street and College Square
East. If you assess each of those
projects on their own merits, then the
PPP project had a predicted margin of
3-2%, which is £1-6 million value added
over the life of the project. That is better
than the shadow bid model, which was
set many years before. On the disposal
project, which was College Square East
and Brunswick Street, College Square
East became surplus in 2013, so it was
no longer used after that. They were
valued by the LPS in 2013 at the time
they were surplus at £4 million. They
have just been sold for £5-5 million.
That is £1-5 million better than that
benchmark.

In relation to the land purchase in TQ,
as Derek mentioned, TQ, as a result of
BHC, which is a public body, applying the
guidance to get the best value for its
asset, asked for an uplift; it wanted an
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additional £4-7 million. We negotiated
it down to an additional £2 million, and
£1 million of that, as | said, went back
to the public purse. The LPS has signed
that off.

The ICT project was predicted to cost
£6-2 million, but it came in at £4-9
million. That is £1-3 million better than
the benchmark. Each of those individual
projects that make up the entirety of the
college has delivered value for the public
purse.

Mr Clarke: Sorry, Pat. You have that well-
rehearsed for today, but —

Mr P O’Neill: It is facts.

Mr Clarke: No, the fact is that you
omitted to say things. You are talking
about what we got today because you
did not sell it until recently, but when
you took out Brunswick Street and
College Square East, how much was the
estimate in terms of the value?

Mr P O’Neill: It —
Mr Clarke: No, just answer the question.

Mr P O’Neill: That is like you asking me
what my house price —

Mr Clarke: Well, that is what you —

Mr P O’Neill: — was two years ago and
five years ago.

Mr Clarke: Well, why was it taken

out? It was because someone in the
Department thought that they could
realise more money for it, At the time
that decision was made, property values
were going up.

Mr P O’Neill: To go back to the reason

Mr Clarke: No. Just answer the point.
How much was it taken out at?

Mr P O’Neill: — why they were taken
out.

Mr Clarke: How much was it taken out
at?

Mr P O’Neill: It was taken out on
valuation —
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Mr Clarke: At what value?
Mr P O’Neill: — of £10 million.

Mr Clarke: At £10 million. You got
£5 million, and you say that that is a
success story. That is a farce.

Mr P O’Neill: What | am saying is that
the guidance that issued from this same
Committee in 2007 stated that buildings
that were not integral to a project
needed to be removed from it. They were
removed.

Mr Clarke: And you realised £5 million
less.

Mr P O’Neill: No —

Mr Clarke: Do not come here today,

Pat, trying to get a sound bite and

trying to make the SIB look like some
wonderful department. Your fingerprints
and the Department’s are all over this.
Mistakes have been made. It is time
that you stood up and realised that
mistakes have been made and accepted
responsibility for them.

It is obvious that you have come in here
with a script to try to present some sort
of case that this has been a wonderful
story. It is not a wonderful story.
Someone made the decision to remove
them and then not do something when
they were at a higher value, but you do
not want to focus on that. We could also
say that, if they had waited for another
three years and built the college in a
depressed market, they would have got
it for less, but that was not the case,
either. If you are in here to try to put
yourself on a pedestal, with some sort
of facts to try to manage figures to
make it look like a wonderful deal, you
have not convinced me, and | do not
think that you will convince the wider
public in terms of the handling of it.

Mr P O’Neill: Mr Clarke, my job is not to
manufacture figures —

Mr Clarke: Well, it is coming across that
that is what you are trying to do.

Mr P O’Neill: No, it is not. They are the
figures that are there.
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1294. The Chairperson: Sorry, just to
conclude: members, we have all had
the opportunity to ask our questions,
and | just want to ascertain whether Mr
Brennan or Mr Donnelly had anything
to add. No? OK. Thank you. Do
members want clarification on any other
questions?

1295. We had a session on 18 June, and |
found the evidence session today very
valuable in helping with our report.
There was a lot of talk about marriage
earlier in the session, and | believe that
a baby came out of that marriage with a
lot of teething problems. In my opinion,
thankfully, the foster mother stepped in
and sorted out that teething problem
and produced teeth, which is now the
wonderful Belfast Met. | am sure that
all members of the Committee want to
celebrate the wonderful building that
it is, as well as the staff, students and
everyone working in it.

1296. Thank you for your attendance before
the Committee today. Some useful
information has been provided, and we
will take that on board as we develop
our report. There are some outstanding
pieces of information that we have
requested, and the Clerk will write in
due course to request that information.
It just remains for me to thank you, the
Auditor General and Mike Brennan and
his team for attending today.
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Correspondence of 11 June 2014 from Department
for Employment and Learning

Department for

e deinhgovulk

e Adelaide House
Ms Lucia Wilson B BT 39/49 Adelaide Street

Clerk to the Committee ; - Belfast
Public Account Committee ‘ . BT28FD ,
Parliament Buildings Tel: 028 9025 7777
Ballymiscaw Fax: 028 9025 7778
Stormont email: private.office@deini.gov.uk
BT4 3XX | |
- 11 June 2014
‘ Dear Lucia

DISPOSAL OF SURPLUS PROPERTIES IN BELFAST METROPOL!TAN
COLLEGE

Tom Redmond, Further Education Division, agreed with the Northem Ireland Audit
QOffice that he would update the Public Accounts Committee on progress with the
disposal of the surplus properties in the Belfast Metropolitan College. These are the

~ properties at College Square East and Brunswick Street which are the subject c:f a
PAC hearing on the 18" June 2014. : ~

Tom has confirmed that there are advanced negotiations ongoing with prospectlve :

- buyers for both properties. These will hopefully conclude in sales but this cannot be
confirmed until contracts are sugned and funds exchanged. In the meantxme the
negotiations remam commerctal in conﬂdence

Please advise the Public Accounts Committee of the contents of this letter.

Yours sincerely

Fiona Stanley
Departmental Assembly Liaison Offlcer

Cc: - Cathie White :
Cierk to the Committee for Emp!oyment and Leaming

‘% Y, INVESTORS
s, % IN PEOPLE
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Correspondence for 11 July 2014 from Department
of Employment and Learning

Ms Michaela Boyle
Chairperson

Public Accounts Committee
Room 371

Parliament Buildings
Ballymiscaw

BELFAST BT4 3XX

Date: 11" July 2014

Dear Ms Boyle,

Public Accounts Committee Evidence Session

Department for
Employment
and Learning

waewidelnhgowle

Adelaide House

39/49 Adelaide Street

BELFAST

BT2 8FD

Tel:  (028) 9025 7476

Email: tom.redmond@delni.gov.uk

Derek Baker's letter to you dated 2™ July 2014 refers. In relation to the

additional information we had agreed to provide, please note:

s Information on the benchmarking for Whole of Life costs of the

project across similar projects requires further detailed analysis

involving archived material. | expect to be able to provide a

response by the end of July.

e | can confirm that capital spend is reported formally to the relevant

committees at Budget level. It is not normally reported specifically

at project level.

e | aftach a copy of the Preferred Bidder letter from the College's

Advisors, Farrell Grant Sparké, to the Bidder's Advisors, Cyril

Sweett Limited, see ANNEX A.
I trust that the above is satisfactory.

Yours sincerely,

="

Tom Redmond ,
Head of Further Education Estates.
Copy: Derek Baker, Perm Sec, DEL.

&N INVESTORS
% & IN PEOPLE
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Conar Motrary

Bl Manager

Cyril Bweali Limited
Pambridge House
248 Bedmont Road

Belfast

BT4 280

A8 July 2008 Crar el EFMBIFHE/prms

Brear Corer

Ao Bolfas{ ingtiirie PPP Profont

Wi havie sow oonigHaed S aveluation of thia Bids thal Have been fecevad by e Taiiee i reation
fo e above project and we are pleased B Inforryou el the Inwitete i minded o sppoint ywood
Colleges Limited 88 he Prefersd Bidder for s Projest on the: besis of your submilted Hide
Howawer, the nstiule’s decision b seliest - (o) aperpel By ey Ministor foe Employmant and
Learvirg il [ B bnslivds rovoiving selisfoctony chanficabon from you Bn mdolion o the foliowing
quistanding msues:

%

’i&xr&aﬁg the' Bid Bvalusiion procsss, the ielitile xpedenosd same dffiouty in recongilieg the

technical spectications for the new campus sod the corresponding maintesenos aad Heoyde:

gerdiing prafie.  Msinlenanok ar Heopce cosle in your B8 arp woll b ducess of the
whats included inour Shadow Bid Model.  Ancording'y. we require confirmation that by
Colteges Livilas will provide the Instiiule with o robwust sad jusifiable msisenancs ard
Heoycle aolvily profle snd regetiste sn eppropriste bevel of experdiure for thiz Peofect,

Whitst oot misessnd os port of your Bid, the Intilute schaosiedges the conlerts of your letler

of 18 .Jare B8 i orelalion fp siternetivs gar parkiog provision, ang seoke ponfirmetion fromy

Feywond Colleges Lwited that s proposs! i si8l opes by segolation, -

The Iostitele doss nol soospt the foval of subsidy sought o The Bl Yor bus Ininsgertalion s
the proposed site within Tharke Clearter ard seeks -confirrmetion Trorn you that the cormmesish
arangements involving both hvywood Collegss Limtted and Transiing can be disousssd sng
ragntinted,

The Instinde dess aot scosst the tovel of coptd contrbulion recelied by e Projed W
reation to the polendisihy slrpius propertios of Colloge Souare Fasl and Brovewick Bleesd,
parioulanly in light of reconty sooured angd bnmisent Otling Planning Permisslors. The
Trasdinsle Seeky confimation frove oo Ul e values slireied by leveood Colleges Limited
b st propeciies o its Bid Moded can be dieswssnd and nepotiston,

ANNEX A
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& Flease confiom thel wywood Oolleges Uimbed wil continus 1o grovioe the tostiute with
information concerning the witer Tilerie Quane develograiint ang, i perlicalsr, prapossis Tor
e daveloprient of sie pifastructors and adlelining plats.

& The Undary Payments ssl oul within vouwr Bid see fed by rofersnce (o your sesign and
wervices proposals {(subiech of course. o oBny sign@isant Glent ohanses) 8nd oo the
sssumption ) frencl close oogurs ot oF Beftre 01 Jewiarny 2007, I fineniel dose ooours
rocre than 3 reorahs. afier thet dale then your construchon price will be inceeased anly by
T e dor the BOIE Tender Price tndex from 8% Aol 2007 in the date of sclad Breresl:
plose, In the event thal feandsl dose is delived, you vwill be required i demonstiale: how
siomshontion cists ke incressed and Gee sl erdesvnlls to mitigats the impadd of Incresisds
in construction costs. The eatimatos of apesdling aral lecyeis oowts n your Bid showsd have
teen stated at 0 Jenuery 2007 prices and you shouid fave appfisd yoor own Sssessmaent of
fultre indeotstinn to such oosts, The bttt will lake the ek of any movessed in e DIBOR
swap fate balween $lam oh Wednesday 22 March 2005 and Trsoshe tiise, The bérefit of
ary toruion in the LIBOR faap rbe fncluding the buffer) wil be possad B 1l w s
nstilute, Plessy owfiom thal you-aeoep! s reguinemant,

T Ve role here hes been o senfiosnd detreese it the net worth of barscod Properies Litied
froem the dreft sccounty for 2004 furnished at presgusificalion sfags o the dralt acoovnls for
LU0 forwed - respende 0 rowd Tour of financsd clarfostions.. We reguve confirmalion
thal hevmeodd Colleges Urodted w80 ciosely monlior the movemisnds Iy e aob wovth of iz
perent pompany sod Imriiately sleet e Inslilote lo-aey signifieant varistions insama.

&  inEght of the above, the Institie requires detaled narvative culining ihe: shave ownershin
sirucitire of he hrpweed Propariies Liried perent compani and (itinate pecent compary and
ary mpiicalony s wonid hove on e propossd UKty pawnaits seb oot i e Saansial
moded,  Pataled namaive i @S0 moures o8 the role of soch of these srities within the
arous . strusture, along with an underlaking from Wywood Collages Limbad thal 8 pavent
company guarenise sl be farnished from Tianks Reestmpnts Linied shosbel the Beitsle, i
s sble dntration, desm e ool sirengh of bywood Properties Limiled 15 heove reached
ary unancepiahie e

e Flegse ooffinn bt you uedeshand Bal e appoinbrent of Prolorred Bidder s oon B
sssurTiptive that Wywood Colleges Limitad adbeves Compballe Trade lax slalus,

10 We rsgiire corfinmstion et ywood Colleges Uimited and thair apocsated Snancil advisers
sre pregiared foowioek with the Pnslitule's apidinied Bnsnche sdisms 16 mprove the efficisncy
of e frmncisl meltel rocebeed on 20 June 2000 ith @ view to reduting the Unifady oherge
saught by lvywood Collspes Limiled: vel melmeining e somdenl posl e Dlerded sonliy
ralepye

TE This Project is belng prosursd in acoprdance with OGO guidande oh Achisving Excellence in
Congiruchion. Wi regudne senfionation thal veud will cantinus bo to-operats with the InsBiute In
e dssessment zed grovision of lechrdcs! informmtion reisting to deslgn, comsiction angd
operation of the new Project feciifes 1o ensure that this OGC guidanicn & Tollowed and that
B buliding @& delverad fuly i scoovdence with the TTN and developse oontost
spechopions,
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12, W reguire uneguivessl confirmation et fusswood CoBeoss Limited aed thelr Lendes are
prepered 1o aooa the Ravissd Contact B s cument Tors sod will ordy rempudsd chiamiges in
eudilioe 1 ary Raves Ul s ool of degeliaBions seposisled eith
1 Affeeral ol S efing and TUPE |
1R Agreaebend of fnal stk aod spectie
12E insurency Sopdiigeocs
124 Teohrisd dae dilgercs, Poeding ol beation of B avinsed roschanism
TS lusues which ari sodely relatdd to Bl projent snd saich sty B depariune o e

fermns and condifions of the Revisad Conlrsch.

TaHED
Bt of frmahes and furniturs snd squinment

Funild roguesl, 8 order Fal v roey kosgr @ the Projact dmgeosty, that yom prowide e abiove
pirfirrrtion by no ey than 000 o 25 Juby 2000,

{ leust b 39S 0 monder. 1 woa have sty guaries, | wenald recpiest that you adiress them In withg 1o
fis] -5

$iook forward to hearing from you.

Youwd gircaobly,

ERIC MUNRO.
Partner

o8 Baike Tmith, bevwaod Collages Limited
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Correspondence of 11 July 2014 to Ulster Bank

Public Accounts Committee
Room 371

Parliament Buildings
Ballymiscaw

Belfast

BT4 3XX

Tel: (028) 9052 1208

Mr Kenton Hilman

Director

Corporate and Institutional Banking
Ulster Bank Limited

11-16 Donegal Square East
Belfast BT1 5UB

11 July 2014

Dear Mr Hilman,

Belfast Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP Project

The Public Accounts Committee requested and was provided with a copy of correspondence
dated 9th January 2014 from you to the NI Audit Office commenting on extracts of the
Comptroller and Auditor General’s report on Belfast Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter
PPP Project published in March 2014.

The Committee has been taking evidence from both the Department for Employment and
Learning and Belfast Metropolitan College in relation to the report, including how the project
was funded. In this respect the Committee would like further clarification from the Bank about
its concerns, namely:

B margins proposed for the project were too low;
B higher bonding levels were sought; and

m the additional interface risks with the Project, due to the fact that there was an
underground car-park proposed, that sat outside of the Project and hence meant that the
project risks could not be controlled as tightly as would normally be the case

In particular the Committee is keen to understand the relevant balance and weighting the
Ulster Bank gave to these factors, especially the link with the underground car park, and their
influence on the Bank’s decisions about funding.

The Committee would also welcome clarification over the increased bullet debt repayment —
stated in your correspondence as £14.5m one year post operation of the college. Can you
confirm who proposed the increase in the bullet debt repayment and how was the figure
derived?

As the Committee intends to hold a further evidence session with the Department and
College to discuss these issues, | would welcome a reply by 1 August 2014.

Please find attached extracts from the NIAO report highlighting the key findings in relation to
the funding of the underground car park.

Yours Sincerely
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Michaela Boyle
Chairperson
Public Accounts Committee

Paragraph Extract from report

NIAO response

11 In September 2008, just months before
signing the PPP agreement, ICL’s funding
bank advised that it might not be

able to fund the project in its entirety.
ICL sought potential co-funders but

was unsuccessful and reverted to its
original funder. However, this required

an increase in the public sector capital
contribution (bullet payment) to the
project from £10 million to £15 million?,
which was then paid in September 2012.
The Department told us that it did not
impact adversely on value for money
because the additional payment had

the effect of reducing the annual charge
payable by the College to the contractor.
In total the public sector contributed £20
million capital to the project as it also
agreed to fund an up-front £5 million
capital payment for the Titanic Quarter
site acquisition (which it valued at the
time to be worth £7.5 million).

Amendments made to paragraphs

and related footnotes to reflect
correspondence in relation to the “capital
contribution” terminology used:

In September 2008, just months

before signing the PPP agreement, ICL’'s
funding bank advised that, due to the
uncertainty in the financial markets at
the time, the appetite to provide the
entirety of the funding required for the
project was significantly reduced. The
funding bank and ICL sought potential
co-funders but this was unsuccessful.

In order to find a solution to the funding
situation the Department and College
proposed an increase in the public
sector capital contribution to the project
from £10 million to £15 million?, which
was then paid in September 2012, one
year post-operation of the campus. The
Department told us that it did not impact
adversely on value for money because
the additional payment had the effect

of reducing the annual charge payable
by the College to the contractor. In total
the public sector contributed £20 million
capital to the project as it also agreed to
pay £5 million for the sub lease of the
Titanic Quarter site - £2.5 million each
to Belfast Harbour Commissioners and
Titanic Quarter Limited?.

Part 2 Key In order to ensure that the Preferred
Findings Bidder’s Bank was able to fund the debt
requirement for the entire project, the
College increased its capital contribution
from £10 million to £15 million
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Paragraph Extract from report NIAO response
2.8 The College’s capital contribution was Amendments made to reflect
increased by £5 million when ICL's funder | correspondence:
advised that it was unwilling to fund the In September 2008, just months before
Project in its entirety signing the PPP agreement, ICL's funding
During September 2008, ICL’s funding bank advised that, due to the uncertainty
bank advised it that it may not be able to | in the financial markets at the time,
fund the project in its entirety. ICL sought | the appetite to provide the entirety of
potential co-funders for the project but the funding required for the project was
was unsuccessful and reverted to its significantly reduced. In addition, there
original funder. However, this required were additional interface risks with the
an increase in the College’s capital Project, due to the fact that there was an
contribution to the project, from £10 underground car park proposed, that sat
million (paragraph 2.2) to £15 million. outside of the Project. This meant that
the project risks could not be controlled
as tightly as would normally be the
case. The funding bank and ICL sought
potential co-funders for the project but
this was unsuccessful. In order to find
a solution to the funding situation the
Department and College proposed an
increase in the public sector capital
contribution (a “bullet” accelerated debt
repayment) to the project from £10
million to £15 million*, which was then
paid in September 2012, one year post-
operation of the campus (paragraph 2.2).
3.9 Amendments made to reflect response:

In February 2007, four months after its
formal appointment as Preferred Bidder,
ICL submitted a planning application

for a 315 space sub-basement car

park removing the adjacent car parking
that had been included in the original
bid. The need for car parking was a
condition of Planning Service approval.
However, it was considered that the cost
of meeting the planning requirement

had “the potential to break the deal”.
Negotiations between the College and
ICL to resolve the issue were extremely
difficult and complex and was another
factor contributing to the delays in the
delivery of the new campus at Titanic
Quarter. This also meant that there were
additional interface risks with the project,
due to the fact that the sub-basement car
park sat outside of the project (paragraph
2.8).
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Paragraph Extract from report NIAO response
4.31 The College explained that the final re- Amendments made to reflect response:
run of the financial model had not been Following hand-over to the College the
completed due to difficulties experienced | contractor was required to re-run the
in tidying up the “snagging list” which Financial Model to take account of
was impacted by the liquidation of one of any post-signing contract variations.
the consortia. All aspects of the final contract
BMC is working in partnership with costs — capital, lifecycle, and facilities
Ivywood Colleges Ltd. which is a management - were well below contract
consortium comprising Titanic Quarter signing figures. The re-run of the financial
Ltd, Patton Construction, Ulster Bank, model may result in changes to the
Amey and Todd Architects unitary payment. We would have expected
the model to be updated and changes
applied within a few months of the
satisfactory completion of construction
and hand over to the College. However,
over two years later this has yet to
be done. The College explained that
the final re-run of the financial model
had not been completed due to
difficulties experienced in tidying up the
“snagging list” which was impacted by
the liquidation of one of the PFI sub-
contractors®.
Appendix 2 | Time line of the delivery of the new Amendments made to reflect response:
Campus at Titanic Quarter Nov-08
Nov-08 ICL advised that Ulster Bank might not be
ICL advised that Ulster Bank could no able to fund the project in its entirety
longer provide the full package of debt Mar-09
irsg;::ld;:;zsmr;rojed (i-e. £20m Capital contribution (bullet accelerated
’ debt repayment) increased from £10
million to £15 million
Sep-12
Capital contribution (bullet accelerated
debt repayment) of £15 million made

(Footnotes)

1. Figure excludes VAT

2. Figure excludes VAT. In terms of the funding provider this is in effect an accelerated debt
repayment.

3. BHC is freeholder and leased the site to TQL under a 250 year lease. TQL subleased the site
to the College, for 250 years, who in turn paid a premium of £5 million for the lease, which Land
and Property Services (LPS) valued at the time to be worth £7.5 million.

4, Figure excludes VAT

5. Ivywood Colleges Ltd (a 100 per cent subsidiary of Titanic Quarter Ltd) work in partnership with

service providers including Patton Construction (the construction sub-contractor), Amey (FM sub-
contractor) and Todd Architects. Ulster Bank were the project funder.
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Correspondence of 29 July 2014 from Department
for Employment and Learning

Department for
Employment
and Learning

wwwdaing.gov uk

Ms Michaela Boyle

Chairperson ;

Public Accounts Committee e

Foom 374 39/49 Adelaide St

Parliament Buildings elaide Street
i / BELFAST

Ballymiscaw , BT3.8ED

BELFAST BT4 3XX 8

Tel:  (028) 9025 7476
Email: tom.redmond@delni.gov.uk

Date: 29" July 2014

Dear Ms Boyle,

In your letter to Derek Baker of 2™ July 2014 you asked for “further detail on the
benchmarking for Whole of Life costs of the project across all similar projects, as
listed in Appendix 3 to the Northern Ireland Audit Office report”. My reply of 11™ July
2014 promised further information on this issue which is now contained in this letter.

While | can provide an analysis of construction costs, | must caution that the
information in Appendix 3 does not provide a basis for an equitable comparison of
the capital costs and unitary payments that are incurred in PPP projects. This is
because the different projects have their own unique cost specific characteristics.
Each project has a business case, prepared by the colleges’ advisors, which is
subsequently approved by the Department of Finance and Personnel. This approval
includes a review by quantity surveyors in the Central Procurement Directorate.
Business cases are prepared on a project by project basis and will encompass the
full range of characteristics particular to each project.

The Cagﬁtai Value

The shadow bid model in the business case contains the forecast costs of all the
various project specific characteristics. These are used to construct the value for

mgqe¥ benchmark for each project. The objective for each tenderer is then to
¢ Y INVESTORS
%y o IN PEOPLE
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produce the Most Economically Advantageous Tender that also beats the value for
money benchmark, as established in the shadow bid. It should be noted that a bidder
may not necessarily allocate the same level of cost to each element of the project in
the way the shadow bid model is constructed. This is acceptable as long as the
bidder meets the quality and cost benchmarks required to win the tender.

The construction and life cycle cost characteristics that form part of the shadow bid
model will vary from project to project due to site specific issues such as topography,
contamination, piling requirements, decant, demolition, landscaping, phasing, etc.
This means that two projects with buildings of a similar size can legitimately have a
different capital cost. It should be noted that in PPP projects the public sector
estimates the capital cost, based on the shadow bid model.

When a contract has been agreed, a PPP operator is required to deliver (at whatever
the cost) the services specified in the contract for which the operator receives the
contracted unitary charge.

Unitary Charges

Similar size buildings in PPP projects can have different unitary charges. This can
be down to factors such as the timing of the actual construction. Normally projects
completed earlier will have had lower build costs so the borrowing element in the
project will also have been lower. There may also be upfront capital payments in the
form of bullet payments or property transfers which impact on the level of the
ongoing unitary charge.

Construction Costs
The construction costs assumed in the shadow bid models (these were known as

public sector comparators in the earlier projects) and the cost base dates for the
projects listed at Annex 3 are as follows:
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e
South West College | £749 July 03
(Omagh)

South West College £749 July 03
(Dungannon)

South Eastern Regional £1115 May 06
College

(Lisburn)
South Eastern Regional £1082 May 06
College (Downpatrick /

Newcastle /

Ballynahinch)
Belfast Metropolitan £1052 Jan 07
College (Titanic Quarter)

The other two projects (North West Regional College — Northland Building and
Belfast Metropolitan College ~ Millfield) were procured by the Department of
Education as further education fell within the remit of that Department when they
were procured.

| hope this information is helpful.

< L7

Tom Redmond.

Head of Further Education Estates
Copy: Derek Baker, Permanent Secretary, Department for Employment and
Learning
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Correspondence of 29 July 2014 to Department of
Finance and Personnel

Public Accounts Committee
Room 371

Parliament Buildings
Ballymiscaw

Belfast

BT4 3XX

Tel: (028) 9052 1208

Fax: (028) 9052 0366

E: pac.committee@niassembly.gov.uk
29 July 2014

David Sterling

Accounting Officer

Department of Finance and Personnel
2nd Floor West

Clare House

303 Airport Road West

Belfast

BT3 9ED

Dear David,

Inquiry into the Future Impact of Borrowing and Private Finance Commitments

At its meeting on 11 June 2014, the Public Accounts Committee took oral evidence on the
above inquiry from the following witnesses:

®  Dr Mark Browne, Accounting Officer, Office of the First Minister and deputy First Minister
(OFMDFM);

®  Mr Stephen Peover, Accounting Officer, Department of Finance & Personnel (DFP);
®  Mr Brett Hannam, Chief Executive, Strategic Investment Board; and

®  Mr Michael Breenan, Budget Director, DFR

At the meeting, it was indicated that the Committee would write to witnesses seeking
clarification on a number of issues raised and also to request information on issues not
covered during the session.

Whilst | appreciate that you are new to the position of DFP Accounting Officer, | would ask that
you co-ordinate the response to this letter.

m Recommendation 6 of the Northern Ireland Audit Office report deals with the benefit of
Departments with PFI contracts engaging with PFl investors, subcontractors and lenders
to seek their agreement to improving transparency in older contracts through a voluntary
code of conduct. What are your views on this recommendation? What engagement has
there been to date with PFl investors, subcontractors and lenders and is it intended that
this code of conduct will be applied?

®  Can you give the Committee an understanding of the mathematical evidence that exists
that demonstrates the savings to be gained over the lifetime of PFI projects?
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B | ongterm commitments, such as Shared Services and PPPs, were discussed during the
evidence session and Members felt that this is an area where transparency seems to be
lacking and that needs to be made clear to the Assembly. What are your thoughts on this
and how transparency can be improved?

® Finally, Mr Peover discussed the estimated savings by concentrating the public sector
estate into owned buildings, rather than leased buildings, and maximising the use of
space in existing buildings, rather that expanding into new premises. Mr Peover offered
to provide information on this to the Committee and Members would request that
information.

| would be grateful to receive your response to this request by Friday 22nd August 2014.

Yours sincerely,

Michaela Boyle
Chairperson
Public Accounts Committee
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Correspondence of 18 August 2014 from
Department of Finance and Personnel

From the Permanent Secretary
David Sterling

2nd Floor West

Clare House

303 Airport Road West
Belfast, BT3 9ED

Tel No: 028 91277601
E-mail: david.sterling@dfpni.gov.uk

Michaela Boyle
Chairperson

Public Accounts Committee
Room 371

Parliament buildings
Ballymiscaw

Belfast

BT4 3XX

18 August 2014
Dear Michaela

Inquiry into the Future Impact of Borrowing and Private Finance Commitments

Thank you for your letter of 29 July in which you request clarification on a number of issues
raised at the 11 June evidence session and information on issues that were not covered
during the session.

Having considered your revised request, | think it would be helpful to address each issue in
turn.

Recommendation 6 of the Northern Ireland Audit Office report deals with the benefit of
Departments with PFl contracts engaging with PFI investors, subcontractors and lenders
to seek their agreement to improving transparency in older contracts through a voluntary
code of conduct. What are your views on this recommendation? What engagement has
there been to date with PFI investors, sub contractors and lenders and is it intended that
this code of conduct will be applied?

The Code of Conduct for Operational PFI/PPP Contracts sets out the basis on which public
sector bodies and their PPP partners (investors, lenders, construction contractors and service
providers) agree on a voluntary basis to identify and deliver efficiencies and savings in
operational PFl and PPP contracts.

It supports a collaborative approach to working together and its intention is to enhance the
long term partnership between parties through developing an improved and informed working
relationship.

The Code can be applied to operational PFI and PPP contracts and is voluntary and not
intended to be legally binding. It does not seek to add to, amend or replace the existing
project-specific contractual agreements that are in place for each operational project.

Because the Code is voluntary and not binding, it is not a replacement for effective contract
conditions in new PFls. The good practice principles in the Code are already reflected in more
recent PFl and RFI contracts and SIB will monitor the guidance on Standardisation of PFI
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Contracts (SOPCNI, see http://www.sibni.org/sopcni_3_final.pdf) to ensure that they reflect
best practice as it develops. Additionally, in the process of its dealings with departments on
developing future projects, SIB will promote the use of the principles set out in the Code as a
means of enhancing the positive relationships between public and private sector partners in
any new contracts.

In relation to existing PFl contracts where the Code could offer additional opportunity to
commit to a collaborative approach to delivering efficiencies and savings, OFMDFM will
explore ways to encourage departments to sign up to the Code of Conduct and to encourage
their private sector partners to sign up if they have not already done so. For example, SIB will
promote the Code in its ongoing liaison with private sector organisations in the construction
and finance sectors who are involved in PFI.

Many of the companies which are involved in PFI projects in Northern Ireland are also involved
in similar projects elsewhere and a number of these have already signed up to the Voluntary
Code, for example:-

Amey — BELB Strategic Partnership, DBFO2 Road
Hochtief — Bangor Academy/ Nendrum College PPP Project
HSBC —-BELB Strategic Partnership

Interserve — Derry Diocese St Cecilia’s College / St Mary’s College PPP Project, Down

& Connor / De la Salle Schools, Holy Cross College PPP Project, St Genevieve’s High
School PFI Project, South West College - Dungannon Campus, South West College - Omagh
Campus, Enniskillen Hospital

B John Laing Investments and subsidiaries— Kinnegar WwTW (Laing Investments), Project
Omega (Laing O’Rourke)

It would be a matter for the contracting department/agency to work with these companies
and their other private sector partners to give effect to the good practice set out in the Code.

Can you give the Committee an understanding of the mathematical evidence that exists
that demonstrates the savings to be gained over the lifetime of PFI projects?

For all projects where the use of PFl is considered, the estimated costs of a PFI procurement
are compared with those of a conventionally funded procurement within the Business Case
before any decision is taken to proceed with PFI.

This cost comparison is conducted according to the principles of the HM Treasury Green
Book. All costs over the whole life of the project are set out for each procurement option, and
a net present cost (NPC) is calculated for each.

The NPC is the standard summary cost indicator used in all public sector investment
appraisals to help decide best value for money. The difference between the NPCs indicates
the estimated savings of using PFI rather than conventional procurement over the whole life
of the project.

As a general rule, PFl will only be pursued if it demonstrates best value for money.

Long-term commitments, such as PFl and PPPs, were discussed during the evidence
session and Members felt that this is an area where transparency seems to be lacking
and that needs to be made clear to the Assembly. What are your thoughts on this and how
transparency can be improved?

At the PAC evidence session, the OFMDFM Accounting Officer undertook to consider what
additional measures could be taken to improve transparency of local information. For
example, Ministers report to the Assembly on progress with the Investment Strategy and
one option would be to include some degree of information on completed, current and
forthcoming Private Finance Initiatives/Revenue Funded Investments in this report.

The collection of Private Finance Initiative data (which includes future commitments) for the
financial year 2013/14 is in progress and the completed information will be available in the
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autumn. Discussions are currently underway on how this most current information can be
reported in an accessible and useful format.

The OFMDFM Accounting Officer also undertook to consider how best to use the OFMDFM
and other websites to enhance public access to the available information once it has been
reported to the Assembly and/or published by HMT, including by publishing Northern Ireland
extracts on the OFMDFM website.

From a DFP perspective, it is intended that the RRI Borrowing Strategy will be published as
part of the Budget once it has been approved by the Executive. The RRI Borrowing Strategy
is currently under consideration by the Budget Review Group before final proposals are
presented to the Executive.

In terms of wider improvement, Assembly Committees may wish to initiate regular evidence
sessions with their departments on longer term commitments to ensure that they are kept
abreast of the latest position.

Finally, Mr Peover discussed the estimated savings by concentrating the public sector
estate into owned buildings, rather than leased buildings, and maximising the use of space
in existing buildings, rather that expanding into new premises. Mr Peover offered to provide
information on this to the Committee and Members would request that information.

DFP has made cumulative savings in excess of £15 million in the period from 2009 up to
March 2014 by reducing the number of buildings we lease and making better use of space

in the existing public sector estate. These savings have been made in rent, rates and service
charges.

In terms of strategic asset management across wider public sector, in July, 2012, the
Northern Ireland Executive approved the first region-wide Asset Management Strategy for the
public sector estate. The primary objectives of the strategy are:-

B To reduce the net cost service delivery through the efficient use of public assets; and

®  To promote effective asset management processes that unlock value.

Significant progress has been made in the last 2 years with the collection of data on running
costs for the Estate, which allowed the publishing of The State of The Estate Report 2012.
Work is ongoing to collect running cost data for 2012-13, providing a platform for the Reform
of Property Management Project (RPM), which has now been established with the recent

appointment of the Project Director. The RPM core team is currently being finalised with the
imminent appointment of the Office Transfer Manager and a Transformation Director.

Within the RPM project there are 3 main work streams, namely; Office Asset Transfer, Surplus
Land Transfer, and the Transformation of Properties Division. This will enable the property
management function to become responsible for the management of the region-wide estate.

The Office Transfer element requires the collection of a significant amount of data, due
diligence work, along with the design of a robust transfer process, in advance of the transfer
of properties to DFP Properties Division.

| trust you will find this helpful.

Yours sincerely

(_—

David Sterling
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Correspondence of 29 August 2014 to Department
for Employment and Learning

Public Accounts Committee

Room 371
Parliament Buildings
Ballymiscaw

Belfast

BT4 3XX

Tel: (028) 9052 1208
E: pac.committee@niassembly.gov.uk

29 August 2014

Derek Baker

Accounting Officer

Department for Employment and Learning
Adelaide House

39-49 Adelaide Street

Belfast

BT2 8FD

Dear Derek

Public Accounts Evidence Session

Following on from Tom Redmond’s letter of 29th July 2014, and in preparation for the PAC
evidence session on 17 September, the Committee would find it helpful to have some further
information in relation to the bid and construction costs of the TQ project. The attached table
sets out the information required and the proposed format to assist the Committee. | would
be grateful if you could please provide the requested information by 8 September 2014.

Yours sincerely

Michaela Boyle
(Chairperson)
Public Accounts Committee
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Please provide this Committee with information on the two bids from ICL and the reserve
Bidder for the BMC Titanic PPP project; the details in the final Shadow Bid Model; and the
Final Outturn for the project in the following format;

Shadow Bid
Cost Category Model Reserve Bid ICL Bid Final Cost
£/m? £/m? £/m? £/m?
Sub-Structure
Superstructure

Internal Finishes

Services

Building Subtotal

External Works

Other

Preliminaries

Contingencies

Contract Sum

Total
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Correspondence of 8 September 2014 from
Department for Employment and Learning

. Department for
FROM THE PERMANENT SECRETARY Employment
Derek Baker ' : and Learning
: s delnd Bovulk
Michaela Boyle :
- {Chairperson) : ‘ Adelaide House :
Public Accounts Committee 39/49 Adelaide Street
Floom 371 . : ) : : Belfast BT2 8FD
Parliament Buildings . Tel: 028 9025 7833
Ballymiscaw : 1 Fax: 028 9025 7878 ; =
BELFAST S . email: permanent.secretary.office@delni.gov.uk

. BT4 3XX

| 8 September 2014

Dear Ms Boyle i

RE' PUBLIC ACCOUNTS EVlDENCE SESSION BELFAST METROPOLIT AN l
,COLLEGE TITANIC QUARTER e

lam wntmg to update you on two |ssues ~ the sale of Belfast Mstropolxtan College’'s
properties at College Square East and Brunswick Street and your letter of 29"
August 2014 requestlng furlher mformatlon related to the costs for the Titanic
Quarter pro;ect ,

Progerty Sale e

;The Belfast Melropolatan Collages Brunswick Street and College Square East :

- properties became surplus as a consequence of its move to the new campus at
Titanic Quarter. No interest was shown when the premises were advertised ina
Public Sector Trawi so the College offered both propertnes for sale on the open
market = ol

Both propertles have now been sold and the funds have been recelved by the .
college, ' :

Brunswlck Street was sold to Beechlll Bussness Propertles Ltd for £2.03m;

'and

* College Square East — was sold to Lacuna Developments for £3.52m. Asa -
condition of sale the buyer has requested that details of the sale value remain
confidential. (/t is likely that an exemption may apply to the sale value under
Freedom of Information Section 43, Commercial Interesis.)

k The sales process has been supporied by DFP’s Land and Property Services
“Agency and by the Strategic Investment Board's Asset Management Unit.

%

\‘4 INVESTORS

&
¢

%, o IN PEOPLE
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Your request for further information, dated 29" August 2014,

I am sorry that | am unable to provide the information you have asked for by the
requested date. We recalled the bids made in 2006 from the archives but
unfortunately the information that you have asked for is not available in the format
that you have requested as this is not how a Public Private Partnership procurement

is run. What you have asked for is the type of information that would be expected in

a conventional procurement. | will however endeavour to provide whatever
~information | can that resembles as closely as possible the information you require.

| hope to be able to do so before the end of this week.

Yours sincerely :

DEREK BAKER
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Correspondence of 11 September 2014 from
Department for Employment and Learning

Department for ) :
FROM THE PERMANENT SECRETARY Employment
Derek Baker and Learnmg

vy delntgovuk

Ms Michaela Boyle : : . Adelaide House

Chairperson . 39/49 Adelaide Strest

Public Accounts Commitiee . Belfast BT28FD

"Room 371 PR : Tel: 028 9025 7833

Parliament Buildings - o Fax: 028 9025 7878 E
Ballymiscaw : email: permanent.secretary.office@deini.gov.uk

BELFAST BT4 3XX

Date: 11 September 2014

Dear Ms Boyle

RE: THE PUBLIC ACCOUNTS COMMITTEE HEARING ON BELFAST
METROPOLITAN COLLEGE'S TITANIC QUARTER PPP PROJECT

in your letter dated 29" August 2014 you asked for a breakdown of constructlon
costs from the two bids and the shadow bid model for the above project. | apotoglse ~
for not meeting your date for reply.

You have asked for these costs to be broken down in a way that unfortunately is not
available in a Public Private Partnership tender. The information that you have
requested reflects the type of information that would be available within a bill of
guantities in a conventional procurement. ‘ ~

PPP procurements are different in that within a PPP tender a global construction
cost is presented. If the entire bid is deemed to be the most economically
advantageous the bidder will then be expected to meet the output specifications laid
down in the contract from within the cost that is bid. The bidder is expected to meet
these output specifications irrespective- of whatever actual costs are eventually
incurred by the bidder; that is the risk the bidder accepts within the terms of a PPP
contract. The final outturn costs incurred by the bidder are not actually known to the
College.

The control is that the College pays the unitary charge if the specmed service is
‘provided, and does not pay the umtary charge if the service is not provided in
accordance with the contractual provisions. -

| can, however provide to the Committee the following information which formed part
of the overall bidding process, and I hope the Commitiee finds this useful.

"™ INVESTORS
iy IN PEOPLE
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Net Present Costs from the Bids and from the Shadow Bid Model.

ICL Bid

Yours sincerely

DEREK BAKER

Cost Area BEP Bid Shadow Bid Model
Cons{ruction and £35.04 £42.81m £37.51m
related costs ‘ ‘
Lifecycle Costs ~ £6.80m £4.40m £5.61m
Facilities £13.53m EQ.QOm ! £13.06m k
Management Costs - o .
| Total £55.37m £56.21m £56.18m
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Correspondence of 15 September 2014 from
Department for Employment and Learning

. Department for
FROM THE PERMANENT SECRETARY Employment
Derek Baker and Learning

www.delin. goval

Michaela Boyle : Adelaide House
(Chairperson) ‘ L 39/49 Adelaide Street
Public Accounts Committee i Beifast BT2 BFD
Room 371 : ' ‘ 1: 028 9025 7833
Parliament Buildings ‘ ~ Fax 028 9025 7878
Ballymiscaw R o email: permanent.secretary.office@delni.gov.uk

BELFAST BT4 3XX

Date: 15 September 2014

“Dear Ms Boyle

‘RE: PUBLIC ACCOUNTS EVIDENCE SESSION — BELFAST METROPOLITAN
COLLEGE TITANIC QUARTER

| wrote to you on the 8™ September 2014 to update you on two issues including the
sale of Belfast Metropolitan College’'s properties at College Square East and
Brunswick Street. In confirming the sale of the College Square East property |
indicated that the buyer, Lacuna developments, had requested that details of the
sale value remain confidential. : ‘

“In my letter of the 8" | advised that ‘It is likely that an exemption may apply to the
- sale value under Freedom of Information Section 43, Commercial Interests.’ | have
today received legal advice which indicates that the confidentiality provisions only
apply prior to completion and it is therefore in order fo disclose the purchase prices.
This information will be made available to the public as soon as the transfers are
registered in the Land Registry in any event.
| hope this clarification is helpful.;

Yoqrs sincerely
DA (éake’r

DEREK BAKER

: ‘g “‘% INVESTORS
%, IN PEOPLE
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Correspondence of 15 September 2014
to Strategic Investment Board

Public Accounts Committee

Room 371
Parliament Buildings
Ballymiscaw

Belfast

BT4 3XX

Tel: (028) 9052 1208
Fax: (028) 9052 0366
E: pac.committee@niassembly.gov.uk

19 September 2014

Pat O’Neill
Strategic Adviser
Strategic Investment Board

Dear Pat,

PAC inquiry into Belfast Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP Project

Thank you for your participation in the Committee’s evidence session on this inquiry on 17
September.

The Committee has asked that you provide the following additional information for their
consideration:

B At the evidence session you clarified that you personally had no role in promoting the
wider Titanic Quarter development plan. Please could you advise what the overall role of
the Strategic Investment Board was in promoting the wider Titanic Quarter development
plan prior to, during and after the preferred bidder was appointed?

| would request a response on the above issue by 3 October 2014.

Yours sincerely,

Michaela Boyle
Chairperson,
Public Accounts Committee
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Correspondence of 24 September 2014 to
Department for Employment and Learning

Public Accounts Committee
Room 371

Parliament Buildings
Ballymiscaw

Belfast

BT4 3XX

Tel: (028) 9052 1208
Fax: (028) 9052 0366

E: pac.committee@niassembly.gov.uk

24 September 2014

Derek Baker
Accounting Officer
Department for Employment and Learning

Dear Derek,

PAC inquiry into Belfast Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP Project

Thank you for your participation in the Committee’s evidence session on this inquiry on 17
September.

The Committee has asked that you provide the following additional information for its
consideration:

Could you confirm that for each of the projects listed in Appendix 3 to the NIAO report into
Belfast Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP Project, estate strategies were fully
documented and supported with an adequate audit trail?

Could you provide a breakdown from the two bids and the shadow build model showing
costs both with and without the sales proceeds of the properties at College Square East
and Brunswick Street factored in? Could this breakdown also include the £3m Payment
to ICL then later adjusted to £5m to ensure that ICL remained the most competitive bid.
Please provide this information in tabular format.

Could you please provide us with a copy of the College’s Post Project Evaluation for
the Titanic Quarter PPP Project once completed and the expected timescale for its
completion?

Could you provide a breakdown by FE College of the annual unitary charge payments made
by DEL under PPP arrangements?

Please could you provide all documentation such as letters of dissatisfaction/minutes
from BMC expressing its concerns in relation to the project?

Please could you also provide documentation such as minutes/letters from the
Department to the governing body which outlines the implications of walking away from the
project?
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| would request a response on the above issues by 8 October 2014.

Yours sincerely,

b £l

Michaela Boyle
Chairperson,
Public Accounts Committee
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Correspondence of 24 September 2014 from
Strategic Investment Board

[ ]

. pe e Investment

°® Strategy -
strategicinvestmentboard Northem Ireland

Michaela Boyle MLA
Chairperson,

Public Accounts Committee
Room 371

Parliament Buildings
Ballymiscaw

BELFAST BT4 3XX

24" September 2014

Dear Michaela

RE: PAC inquiry into Belfast Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP
Project

Thank you for your letter dated 19th September in which you asked what the overall
role of the Strategic Investment Board was in promoting the wider Titanic Quarter
development plan prior to, during and after the preferred bidder [for Belfast
Metropolitan College] was appointed.

Unfortunately, | am not in a position to answer this question on behalf of SIB as a
whole. The appropriate person to deal with the query would be Brett Hannam, SIB’s
Chief Executive.

Yours sincerely

Y

Pat O'Neill
Strategic Advisor

Carleton House ¢ Gasworks Business Park » 1 Cromac Avenue » Belfast « BT7 2JA
tel: +44 (0) 28 9090 9440 » web: www.sibni.org e email: contact@sibni.org

SIB and Strategic Investment Board are the trading names of Strategic Investment Board Limited. Registered in Northem Ireland No NI45710.
Registered Office: Carleton House, Gasworks Business Park, 1 Cromac Avenue, Belfast, BT7 2JA
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Correspondence of 2 October 2014 to Strategic
Investment Board

Public Accounts Committee
Room 371

Parliament Buildings
Ballymiscaw

Belfast

BT4 3XX

Tel: (028) 9052 1208
Fax: (028) 9052 0366

E: pac.committee@niassembly.gov.uk
2 October 2014

Brett Hannam
Chief Executive
Strategic Investment Board

Dear Mr Hannam,

PAC inquiry into Belfast Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP Project

Following his participation in an evidence session on this inquiry on 17 September, the
Committee wrote to Pat O’Neill, Strategic Advisor, on 19 September to ask a follow up
question. Mr O’Neill replied on 24 September to advise that you, rather than him, were the
appropriate person to deal with the query.

The Committee would therefore request that you provide the following additional information
for their consideration:

B At the evidence session your colleague, Pat O’Neill, clarified that he personally had no role
in promoting the wider Titanic Quarter development plan. Please could you advise what the
overall role of the Strategic Investment Board was in promoting the wider Titanic Quarter
development plan prior to, during and after the preferred bidder was appointed?

| would request a response on the above issue by 15 October 2014.

Yours sincerely,

Michaela Boyle
Chairperson,
Public Accounts Committee
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Correspondence of 9 October 2014 from
Department for Employment and Learning

Department for
{ Employment
and Learning

wwaw.deinl. govuk

FROM THE PERMANENT SECRETARY
Derek Baker

Adelaide House :
39749 Adelaide Street
Belfast BT2 8FD ‘
Tel: 028 9025 7833

Ms Michaela Boyle
Chairperson
Public Accounts Committee

Room 371

N . Fax: 028 9025 7878
Parliament Bm'dmgs email: permanent secretéf office@delni.gov.uk
Ballymiscaw P ' ¥ BOVUK:

BELFAST BT4 3XX
Date: 9 October 2014 ;

Dear Ms Boyle

RE: PAC INQUIRY INTO BELFAST METROPOLITAN COLLEGE’S TITANIC
QUARTER PPP PROJECT

; Thank you for your letter dated 24" September 2014 seeking addmonal information
following on from the evidence session to the Committee on 17" September. | have
dealt below with each of the issues in the order in which they were raised in your
letter.

The Projects listed in Appendix 3 of the NIAO report.

Most of the projects listed at Appendix 3 to the NIAO report were in the development
phase well before the Department issued its formal Estates Guidance in 2003/4 and

_consequently estates strategies were not developed in accordance with that
Guidance. | can, however, assure the Committee that at all times colleges were
required to match their business needs io their accommodation bases. This meant
assessing student numbers across teaching/vocational areas and providing the
appropriate type and quantum of accommodation in accordance with the Education
and Training Inspectorate schedule. In each of the projects listed the schedule of
new accommodation underpinning the project was approved and signed off by the
Education and Training |nspectorate as appropnate to meet the needs of the
college s business.

Breakdown of the two bids and the shadow bid model

In answering this question | have enclosed for your information and perusal the
relevant evaluation reports in their entirety. The financial evaluations of bids are
conducted in economic terms which take the financial inputs in the bids with their
timings, and discounts that information back to net present values. To provide the
information you have requested within context | have enclosed the foliowing reports;

The Invitation to Negotiate (ITN) Bid Eva!uatlon Fmanclal Report — June 2006.
- The relevant table is on Page 12;

¢ ™Y INVESTORS
%, o IN PEOPLE
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The bid Eva!uatson Summary Report July 2008. The relevant tables are on
Page 5. ~

Addendum to ITN Financial Evaluation — Impact of increased site acquisition
costs sought by lvywood Colleges Lid - October 2007 the relevant tables are
Table 1 and Table 2 on page 2.

The College’s Post Project Evalu’ation (PPE)

The College continues to work on its PPE which the Department expects to have in

final draft by end November 2014. | will ensure that the Committee receives a copy -

of the PPE when complete

| Breakdown of the Annual Umtary Charge made by DEL and the Colleges under

PPP arrangements

The table below sets out the annual unitary charge for each Further Education
project broken down by the split between the Department’s contnbutlon and that of
the relevant college.

College DEL

College | Campus_ Contribution Contribution | Total

BMC Millfield £1,505,117 £2,814,995 £4,320,112
BMC TQ £2,000,426 £3,670,092 £5,670,518
SERC | Lisbum £1,124,024 £2,426,665 £3,550,689
SERC | East Down | £1,424,961 £3,458,821 £4,883,782
SWC Dungannon | £628,216 £2,916,553 £3,544,769
SWC Omagh £833,740 £3,104,164 £3,937,904

| £18,391,290 | £25,907,774 |

- [£7.516,484

Documentation / Minutes expressing BMC concerns in relation to the Project
and letters to the Governing Body outlining implications of walking away from
the Project. ;

To avoid being selective | have assembled a document containing a list of verbatim

extracts from all Governing Body minutes which relate to the Titanic Quarter PPP

project. This provides a full history of all discussions and assurances leading up to

the agreement of the Governing Body to seek Departmental approval to enter into
the PPP Agreement. For the purposes of clarity, references in the document to, for
example, “GB 4.76" relate to the paragraph number of the Governing Body minutes
in question. | also enclose a copy of a letter from lan Walters, then Deputy
Chairman of the BMC Govemning Body, and the response to that letter from
Catherine Bell, Deputy Secretary in the Department for Employment and Learning.
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| hope this clarification is helpful. Please let me know if you require any further
information. : :

Yours sincerely

DEREK BAKER
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Important Notice

This report is provided solely for the benefit of the Department for Employment and Learning
(“the Department”) and Belfast Institute of Further and Higher Education (“the Institute”) and is
not to be copied, quoted or referred to in whole or in part without KPMG’s prior written
consent. KPMG accepts no responsibility to anyone other than the Department and the Institute
for the information contained therein.

Whilst the information in this document has been prepared in good faith, it does not purport to
be comprehensive or to have been independently verified. The Recipient’s attention is drawn to
the fact that no representation, warranty or undertaking has been received by KPMG in respect
of the accuracy of the information provided by the Bidders or their sponsors, funders, officers,
employees or advisers. KPMG does not accept any responsibility for the fairness, accuracy or
completeness of the information so provided and shall not be liable for any loss or damage
arising as a result of reliance on this report or on any subsequent information.

© 2006 KPMG. All rights reserved.
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Executive Summary

Background

On 05 August 2005, ITN documentation was issued to the two short-listed Bidders for the
BIFHE City Centre PPP Project (“the Project™). This was followed by a number of clarification
notes during the bid development phase. On 29 March 2006, responses to ITN documentation
were received by Central Procurement Directorate (“CPD”) from both short-listed Bidders.
Each Bidder was required to submit a mandatory Base Bid, three mandatory Alternative Price’s
and up to two Optional Variant Bids. The mandatory requirements were as follows:

e Base Bid — Complies precisely with the core requirements of the ITN documentation, with
the exception that insurance costs should be based on the provisions set out in the revised
SoPC3 insurance guidance (December 2005) and Financial Clarification Note 5.

o Alternative Price 1 — Based on the same inputs and assumptions as the Base Bid, with the
exception that cleaning and caretaking services (and provision of equipment and supplies
required to deliver same) are excluded as part of the Project.

e Alternative Price 2 — Based on the same inputs and assumptions as the Base Bid above, with
the exception that cleaning costs (and provision of equipment and supplies required to
deliver same) are excluded as part of the Project.

e Alternative Price 3 — Based on the same inputs and assumptions as the Base Bid but reflects
FM staffing levels as per the TUPE list provided by the Institute.

Each Bidder also submitted two Optional Variant Bids that incorporated deviations from the
Base Bid which the Bidders believe will offer better Value for Money (“VFM”) to the
Department and the Institute. These were as follows:
e Optional Variant Bid 1
e Bidder A - “Best Value” Bid reflecting an increase in the surplus land receipt for
College Square East to £7.5m on the basis that no underpinning of foundations is

required and reduced FM rates of pay for TUPE staff to current rates.

e Bidder B - reflects numerous mark-ups to the revised contract, a detailed breakdown of
which is included in the legal evaluation report.

e Optional Variant Bid 2

e Bidder A - Based on the same inputs and assumptions as the Base Bid except that the
operation period is extended to 30 years.

e Bidder B - Based on the same inputs and assumptions as the Optional Variant Bid 1
except that the operation period is extended to 30 years.
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Following a number of rounds of Financial Clarifications, final financial models were received
from Bidder A and Bidder B on 25 May 2006 and 20 June 2006 respectively and it is these
financial models that the figures within this report are based.

Separate evaluation reports have been prepared in respect of the Design & Technical, Services
and Legal aspects of the Bids received. This report is based solely on the financial aspects of
the bid evaluation process, with appropriate input from technical and legal advisers, where
required.

Section 2 of this report sets out a summary of all Bids and Alternative Prices received and the
evaluation status of same, while Sections 3 to 5 detail the results of the financial evaluation of
the Base Bids in terms of the scores awarded to each Bidder and their relative ranking. Section
6 outlines the relevant Tax and Accounting assumptions that underpin the financial models.

1.2 Financial Evaluation Group

The Financial Evaluation Group comprised the following individuals:

Name Position Organisation
Mr Gerry Whittle Chairman BIFHE
Mr Brian Turtle Member BIFHE
Mr Tom Redmond Member DEL
Ms Wendy Lecky Member DEL
Mr Glenn Parker Member DEL
Mr Pat O’Neill Member SIB
Mr Paul Hollway Financial Adviser & Quality Assurance =~ KPMG
Ms Ashleen Feeney Financial Adviser KPMG
Mr Anthony Kelly Financial Adviser KPMG
Ms Catherine McConvey  Financial Adviser KPMG
Ms Elaine O’Haire Financial Adviser KPMG
Ms Emma McGuigan Observer FGS

The Financial Evaluation Group met on the following dates:

Date Agenda

Monday 10 April 2006 | ¢ Consideration of financial section of Bidders’ responses to ITN
received on 29 March 2006

e High level overview of the different bid submissions

e Summary of Base Bid submission (key dates/ financing terms)

Thursday 04 May 2006 | ¢ Review of Net Present Value differences across Bids, in particular
(Special Meeting of Base Bids, received 29 March 2006

Financial  Evaluation
Group)
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Thursday 01 June 2006 | ¢ Overview of revised financial models and

clarifications received 25 May 2006

responses

e Financial robustness of proposed funding structure

e Preliminary Value for Money assessment

to

Thursday 22 June 2006 | o  Approval of draft Financial Evaluation report

e Scoring and ranking of Bidders.

Code Names

The code names Bidder A and Bidder B have been applied to the Bidders to ensure
confidentiality during the financial evaluation process.

Compliance with ITN Instructions

At the start of the financial evaluation process a compliance check was performed to ensure that
each Bidder had satisfied the financial requirements set out in Section 7.6.4 of Volume 1 to the
ITN documentation. After three and six rounds of financial clarification questions, for Bidder A
and Bidder B respectively, the bid submissions received from both Bidders were deemed
satisfactorily compliant with the financial instructions set out in the TTN documentation. While
financial clarifications were sought from Bidders and all bid submissions were subsequently
deemed compliant there remains a small list of issues for each Bidder which should be given
due consideration in the Preferred Bidder Appointment Letter. A brief summary of these issues
is set out in Appendix A.

Summary of Base Bid Submissions

Details Bidder A . Bidder B

Financial Close 01 January 2007 01 January 2007
Term Period From  Period To Term Period From  Period To

Construction Phase 31 mths 01 Jan 07 31 Jul 09 24 mths 01 Jan 07 31 Dec 08
Operating Phase 25 yrs 01 Aug 09 31 Jul 34 25 yrs 01 Jan 09 31 Dec 33
Financing structure Yo £000°s Yo £000°s
Senior debt 90.38 42,788 89.50 37,959
Sub-debt 9.52 4,507 10.38 4,403
Equity 0.10 47 0.12 30
Total initial funding requirement 100.00 47,343 100.00 42,412

An overview of the Base Bid submissions is presented in the following table:

3
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Summary of Base Bid submissions
Bidder A Bidder B
e Most expensive bid e Least expensive bid

e Significantly lower Lifecycle and FM Lower Construction and SPV Overhead

Service costs costs
e Lower surplus land proceeds due to o Greater surplus land proceeds due to the
disposal of College Square East site only disposal of both the College Square East

and the Brunswick Street sites

e More competitive funding terms however
seeking higher blended equity return

1.6 Financial Evaluation Criteria

The criteria used to evaluate the Bids submitted by the two Bidders from a financial perspective
were as follows:

e Ability to deliver Value for Money (in monetary terms), and

e Financial robustness of proposed financing plan.

Each Bidder was scored on a scale of 0 to 25 against each of the above financial criteria,
depending on the extent to which their Base Bid met the project requirements. Scoring was
divided into four bands which were as follows:

Scoring Band Interpretation Scoring Band
Unacceptable 0-5
Barely adequate, some serious shortcomings 6-11
Generally satisfactory, minor reservations 12-17
Fully satisfactory 18-25

The Financial Evaluation Group agreed the band within which each Base Bid fell for each of the
two financial evaluation criterion, and then the score to be awarded within that band. Each of
the scores awarded were adjusted by the weightings detailed below to reflect the relative
importance of each criterion. The weightings assigned to each of the financial criterion were as

follows:
Financial Evaluation Criteria Weight
(%)
Ability to deliver a Value for Money (in monetary terms) solution 80
Financial robustness of proposed financing plan 20
Total 100
4
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Summary of Financial Evaluation Results

Value for Money (in monetary terms) assessment

The results of the Value for Money (in monetary terms) assessment are summarised in the table
below which shows the Net Present Value (“NPV”) at 01 January 2007 (Target Financial Close)
to the Department and the Institute of the Base Bids submitted. The NPV represents the cost in
present value terms to the Department and the Institute of the stream of Unitary Charges (excl.
VAT) sought by each Bidder during the term’ of the Contract for the Base Bids — these have
been adjusted for differences in construction completion dates (see Section 4.2). Detailed

spreadsheets which underpin the results of the Value for Money (in monetary terms) test are
included as Appendix B to this report.

NPV per NPV per
l'hdde'r KENG Pld NPV per SBM  (Cost)/Savings  (Cost)/Savings
- Financial Evaluation £000°s £000°s o
Bidder Model £000s Model : ’
£000’s
Bidder A 59,187 62,163 64,087 1,924 3.00%
Bidder B 54,313 56,768 64,087 7,319 11.42%
Difference 5,395

The results in the above table indicate that Bidder B has submitted the least expensive Base Bid
which is £5.395m lower than Bidder B and £7.319m lower than the Shadow Bid Model
(“SBM”) (in NPV terms).

NPV of Unitary Charges (excl. VAT)

Net Present Value (Em's)

Bidder B SBM

Bidder A

The above chart also illustrates that both Bidder A and Bidder B offer VEM (in monetary terms)
to the Department and the Institute as it is evident that the NPV of the unitary charge of each
bidder is lower than that per the SBM.

! 25 years from Target Service Commencement Date
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1.7.2 Value for Money (in monetary terms) Scoring

It is clear from the results of the VFM (in monetary terms) test that both Bidder A and Bidder B
offer a VFM (in monetary terms) solution to the Department and the Institute. As Bidder A was
3.00% less expensive than the SBM (equating to £1.93m) it has been awarded an unweighted
score of 20 out of 25. As Bidder B was 11.42% less expensive than the SBM (equating to
£7.32m in NPV terms), it was awarded an unweighted score of 24 out of 25 in respect of its
Base Bid.

Bidder Unweighted Score (max 25) Weighted Score (max 80)

Bidder A 20
Bidder B 24

1.7.3 Financial Robustness of Proposed Financing Plan

In summary, the robustness of the Bidders’ financing proposals refers to the level of funding
commitment underlying the Base Bids and the certainty of those financing proposals being
delivered within the necessary timescale. The level of commitment to the Project on the part of
the funders, based on the requirements of the Department and the Institute, is satisfactory for
both Bidders as shown in the table below:

Bidder A Bidder B

Senior debt commitment HIGH HIGH

Equity commitment HIGH MEDIUM/HIGH

Financing plan HIGH HIGH

All funders were comfortable with the risk profile of the project, as set out in the Revised
Contract issued as part of the ITN documentation to Bidders and which formed the basis for the
preparation of the Base Bids.

Both Bidders’ funders fully met the requirements of Section 7.6.13 “Commitment of financing
at ITN Bid Submission Stage” of Volume 1 to the ITN documentation.

Both Bidder A and Bidder B propose to invest pinpoint equity at Financial Close of £47k and
£50k respectively and utilise an Equity Bridge loan to cover the remaining equity requirement
until the end of construction. The Equity Bridge loan is replaced by subordinated debt at the
end of the construction period for Bidder A and six months after construction completion for
Bidder B.

1.7.4 Financial Robustness of Proposed Financing Plan

Both Bidder A and Bidder B submitted robust bids from a financing perspective and this is
reflected in high scores awarded of 23 out of 25 and 19 out of 25 respectively. Bidder A scores
higher than Bidder B as it provided a stronger equity letter of support, with Bidder B’s equity
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letter of support failing to make reference to the terms of the bid or the quantum of equity
approved.

Bidder Unweighted Score (max 25) Weighted Score (max 20)

Bidder A
Bidder B

1.7.5 Overall Scores and Ranking

The overall financial evaluation scores awarded to each Bidder presented in the table below are
out of 100.

Bidder Weighted Score (max 100)

Bidder A

Bidder B

1.8 Conclusions

The main conclusion to be drawn from the financial evaluation of the Base Bids submitted by
the short-listed Bidders is that Bidder B is the least expensive in NPV terms to the Department
and the Institute while Bidder A has scored higher in terms of financial robustness. In order to
explain where the efficiencies have been made by Bidder B in their Base Bid, the following
table illustrates how the Bidders compare against each other within each of the main cost
categories.
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Cost Category Bidder A Bidder B
Construction and related costs v 244
Lifecycle costs Vv v
FM Services costs v v
SPV Overheads v vy
Financing costs vvv v
Surplus land receipts v vvY
Land acquisition costs vvv v
Taxation payments VvV v
Other’® v vvv
KEY:
v'v'v' - Lower cost compared to other Bidder
v'v' - Average cost
v' - Higher cost compared to other Bidder

A detailed comparison of the constituent costs that make up the NPV of the Unitary Charge as
per the Bidders cashflow profile is detailed below:

NPV of Bidder A vs. NPV of Bidder B

[ ] [BidderAlowercost ] ] [BidderBlowercost [

57

£m's

D U R
[~ NIV NV Yo N

Bidder A Construction Lifecycle costs FM Services  Overheads  Pinancing  Surpius land Land Taxation Other Bidder B
and related Costs costs receipts acquisition  Payments
costs costs

The graph shows that Bidder A’s costs are more competitive than Bidder B in respect of
lifecycle costs, FM service costs and financing costs, whilst Bidder B is more competitive in
terms of construction and related costs and overheads. Bidder B’s income from disposal of land
exceeds that of Bidder A due to the fact that Bidder B proposes to dispose of two sites ( College
Square East and Brunswick Street) whilst Bidder A will only have one site to dispose (College
Square East) as their proposed solution involves redevelopment of the existing site at Brunswick
Street.

* £33k difference in NPV of Taxation Payments
* “Other’ consists of net cashflow impact of VAT, cost of cash and reserves and miscellancous items and represents
<1% of total costs.
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Recommendation

Both Bidders submitted robust bids from a financing perspective which are less expensive than
the SBM. However, whilst Bidder A scores higher from a financial robustness perspective,
Bidder B’s Base Bid is significantly less expensive than Bidder A’s Base Bid resulting in
Bidder B’s weighted score for financial evaluation being higher than that awarded to Bidder A.
1t is therefore recommended that, solely from a financial perspective, Bidder B is awarded
Preferred Bidder status. This is conditional upon satisfactory resolution to all the issues relating
to Bidder B’s Bid set out in Appendix A.
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The table below gives a brief description of each of the Bids and Alternative Prices and details

the NPV as per the KPMG Bid Evaluation Model for each Bidder:

Bid Description NPV per Bidder NPV per Bid
Financial Model  Evaluation
Model
£000’s

Bidder  Bidder
B

Base Bid — Complies precisely with the core

requirements of the ITN documentation, with the

exception that insurance costs should be based on 59,187 54313 62,163 56,768
the provisions set out in the revised SoPC3

insurance guidance (December 2005).

Alternative Price 1 — Based on the same inputs
and assumptions as the Base Bid, with the
exception that cleaning and caretaking services
(and provision of equipment and supplies require
to deliver same) are excluded as part of the
project.

56,561 49,288 59,405 51,515

Alternative Price 2 - Based on the same inputs

and assumptions as the Base Bid above, with the

exception that cleaning costs (and provision of 56,561 49,858 59,405 52,111
equipment and supplies required to deliver same)

are excluded as part of the project.

Alternative Price 3 — Based on the same inputs
and assumptions as the Base Bid but reflects FM
staffing levels as per the TUPE list provided by
the Authority.

66,078 57,336 69,400 59,927

Optional Variant 1 — Bidder A “Best Value”

51 4
Bid/Bidder B Contract mark-up Bid 56,693 53,961 39,544 56,400

Optional Variant 2 — 30 year operational period. 61,790 58,359 64,598 60,995

Difference in
NPV per Bid
evaluation Model
£000’s

5,395 9.50%

7,890  15.32%

7,293 14.00%

9473 15.81%

3,144 5.57%

3,603 591%

* Bidder B has proposed an Optional Variant Bid which consists of a package of proposed contractual variants, as
detailed in Appendix 5 to the Legal Evaluation Report. The collective NPV savings of these variants total £368k,
however a number of these variants have been deemed unacceptable from a legal perspective. Due to insufficient
information being furnished by the Bidder, it has not been possible to separately identify the NPV saving attributable

to the unacceptable changes.

10
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Evaluation status of Bids and Alternative Prices

Base Bids
The Base Bids submitted by both Bidders have been fully evaluated and scored.

Alternative Price 1,2 and 3

The Alternative Prices are not being fully evaluated or scored at this point. All bids have been
analysed within the KPMG Bid Evaluation Model to check accuracy of the NPV calculation
however the detailed evaluation has concentrated on the Base Bid submissions.

Optional Variant Bids 1 and 2

The Optional Variant bids are not being fully evaluated or scored at this point. All bids have
been analysed within the KPMG Bid Evaluation Model to check accuracy of the NPV
calculation however the detailed evaluation has concentrated on the Base Bid submissions.

Summary

The table below summarises the evaluation status of each of the bids received.

Bid Reference High level Detailed Scored
Evaluation Evaluation
Base Bid v v v
Alternative Price 1 v X X
Alternative Price 2 v X X
Alternative Price 3 v X X
Optional Variant 1 v X X
Optional Variant 2 v X X

11
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3 Analysis of Costs

3.1 Introduction

An analysis of Bidders’ Base Bid costs in NPV terms under the main cost categories is
summarised below while a detailed analysis of costs is set out in Appendix C to this report.

NPV

Bidder A Bidder B Difference
Sources and Uses of Funds Total Total
Sources of Funds
Unitary Charge’ 60,057 56,764 (3,294) 64,087
Uses of Funds
Construction and related costs 42,810 35,042 (7,768) 37,512
Lifecycle costs 4,401 6,807 2,406 5,611
FM Services costs 9,003 13,532 4,529 13,063
Overheads 5,983 4,524 (1,459) 4,936
Financing costs 1,432 2,602 1,169 3,371
Surplus land receipts 4,127) (8,757) (4,630) (8,244)
Land acquisition costs 0,000 3,000 3,000 6,738
Taxation payments 0,300 0,332 0,033 0,895
Other 0.256 (0,318) (0.574) 0.206
Total 60.057 56,764 3.294) 64,087

The financing costs and taxation payments are discussed later in Sections 5 and 6 while the
remainder of this section provides a detailed breakdown and discussion on the remaining costs
and surplus land receipts listed above.

3.2 Construction and related costs

The charts below show the NPV of construction and related costs included in the Bidders’ Base
Bids. Construction and related costs comprise of design and building costs, professional fees,
fixtures, loose furniture and equipment and start-up costs (e.g. SPV bid costs, adviser fees,
funder arrangement fees etc.).

® Please refer to Section 4.2 for reconciliation between NPV as per KPMG bid evaluation model and NPV as per
stream of Unitary Charge cashflows in Bidders model.
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NPV of Constuction and related costs

Net Present Value (Em's)

Bidder A Bidder B SBM

The above chart shows that on a whole Bidder B’s construction and related costs are
significantly lower than Bidder A and the SBM, being 22.17% lower than Bidder A and 7.05%
lower than the SBM. Bidder A’s construction and related costs are significantly higher than
those presented by Bidder B (22.17%) and the SBM (14.12%).

Lifecycle costs

The chart below shows the NPV of the lifecycle costs for the Base Bids submitted by the
Bidders.

NPV of Lifecycle costs

Net Present Value (Em's)
O =2 NWhH OO N®

Bidder A Bidder B SBM

Bidder A has the least expensive lifecycle costs in NPV terms, being 54.67% cheaper than
Bidder B and 27.49% cheaper than the SBM. The NPV of lifecycle costs within the SBM are
21.32% cheaper than those presented by Bidder B.

13
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A further analysis of lifecycle costs is set out in Appendix C.°

34 Facilities Management (“FM”) Services costs

The chart below shows the FM Service costs in respect of the Base Bids submitted by the
Bidders.

NPV of FM Services costs

Net Present Value (Em's)

Bidder A Bidder B SBM

It is evident from the chart above that Bidder A has significantly lower FM Services costs than
Bidder B and the SBM, being 50.30% and 45.09% cheaper respectively.

Further analysis on FM Service costs is set out in Appendix C.*

35 Overhead costs

The chart below shows the NPV of the overhead costs in respect of the Base Bids submitted by
each Bidder. Overheads comprise insurance premia relating to operational phase, SPV
management costs, audit, accounting and tax fees, legal fees, bank fees, FM management costs
and Transport costs (Bidder B) incurred during the operational phase.

® Technical advisers to comment on reasonableness and robustness of Lifecycle and FM Service costs.

14
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NPV of Overhead costs
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Bidder A Bidder B SBM

Bidder B has proposed lower overhead costs in NPV terms, being 32.25% cheaper than Bidder
A and 9.11% cheaper than the SBM.

It is worth noting that Bidder A has included a cost of £105k per annum in their overheads
under the cost category ‘FM management’ however they have not included any cost under
“Helpdesk” in their FM Service costs. Hence it is likely that a proportion of these FM
management costs relate to FM service costs. The NPV of FM management costs over the term
of the project equates to £1.645m.

Surplus land proceeds

Bidders were issued with a Technical Clarification on 21 March 2006 detailing the Open Market
Values (“OMV™) for the Brunswick Street and College Square East site. This clarification also
outlined that the Institute would expect to achieve, as a minimum, OMV’s for the properties,
otherwise the property would be retained and sold on the open market. The table below shows
the surplus land proceeds bid by each Bidder for the surplus sites and the OMV of same:

Bidder A £ Bidder B £ oMYV £
Brunswick Street

College Square East
Total

The figures in the table above are summarised in the chart below:

15
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Surplus land proceeds
12 -
10 - o o
w @ Brunswick
£ 8- . Street
@ i |
8 6 | @ College |
.3 4 Square East
2
Bidder A Bidder B oMV

From the table and graph above we can see that Bidder A has bid the same value for the College
Square East site as the OMV. Bidder B’s surplus land proceeds for Brunswick Street and
College Square East is £600k greater than that of the OMV associated with each of the
respective sites.

3.7 Land acquisition costs

The chart below show the land acquisition costs for each Bidder and the SBM.

Land acquisition costs (real terms)

Values (Em's)
O - N W bHh OO N

Bidder A Bidder B SBM

Bidder A does not include any land acquisition costs in their financial model as their proposed
solution involves redevelopment of the existing site at Brunswick Street.

16
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Value for Money (in monetary terms) Assessment

Introduction

Value for Money was assessed in quantitative terms by recalculating the NPV of the payments
sought by the Bidders using a nominal discount rate of 6.09% in the KPMG Bid Evaluation
Model. This model was developed to ensure that both Bidders were compared on a fair and
equitable, like for like basis to one another and the SBM. Furthermore, this model ensures that
the stream of Unitary Charges sought by each Bidder are indexed using the correct indexation
formula (as set out in Part 3 to Schedule 7 of the Revised Contract and subsequently updated
during the Financial Clarification Process) and discounted using the same methodology. This
recalculation of the NPV in the KPMG Bid Evaluation Model results in a number of reconciling
items to the NPV in the Bidders model, which are detailed in Section 4.2 below.

Reconciliation between Bidders Model and the KPMG Bid Evaluation
Model

Bids have been assessed on a comparable basis by taking data from each Bidder’s financial
model and calculating the NPV of Unitary Charges on a consistent basis. Differences between
the NPV’s as stated in Bidder’s financial models and the NPV as evaluated primarily arise due
to different discounting methodologies, different timing and indexation assumptions.

The table below provides a reconciliation of the movements between the KPMG Bid Evaluation
Model and the NPV per the Bidders Model for the Base Bid.

Reconciliation between NPVs in the Bidders Model and the Evaluation Model

Bidder A Bidder B

£000 £2000
NPV per Financial Model 59,187 54,313
Discounting methodology 0.870 2.450
NPV per Unitary Charge cashflows 60,057 56,764
Construction completion adjustment 2,097 0,000
Indexation / Timing 0.008 0,004
NPV per KPMG Bid Evaluation Model 62,163 56,768
g:g;::;;ze:‘ (s[:;léieelg Model and KPMG Bid 2,976 2,455
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Detailed below is an explanation for each Bidder of the reconciling items outlined in the table
above:

Reconciliation items

Bidder A Bidder B

e The differences between the NPV per the e Discounting differences — the Bidder model

Bidders model and the NPV calculated from discounts the cashflows back to 31 March
the Unitary Charge cashflow is due to the fact 2006, whereas the actual NPV base date should
that Bidder A discounts to 31 December year be 01 January 2007 as in the Bid Evaluation
ends and therefore receives 9 months Model; and

additional discounting each year; e . .
e s e The other difference is due to the fact the

e Construction completion adjustment — this KPMG Bid Evaluation model calculates
adjustment is necessary to realign the indexation based on a daily basis whereas the
timescale over which the bidders Unitary Bidder’s Financial Model calculates indexation
Charges are discounted to enable a like for like on a monthly basis.

comparison (see Section 4.3 below); and

e The other difference is due to the fact the
KPMG Bid Evaluation model calculates
indexation based on a daily basis whereas the
Bidder’s Financial ~ Model calculates
indexation on a monthly basis.

The above adjustments have resulted in an increase of ¢. £2.976m and c. £2.455m to the NPV of
the payments sought by Bidder A and Bidder B respectively in their submitted models. These
adjustments are necessary to ensure that the Bidders are compared on a consistent basis. Similar
adjustments were required in order to assess Alternative Prices 1, 2 and 3, and Optional Variant
Bids 1 and 2.

The results of the Value for Money (in monetary terms) test are detailed in the spreadsheets
included as Appendix B to this report and are summarised below.

4.3 Results of Value for Money (in monetary terms) test

In order to compare the Base Bids submitted by each of the Bidders against each other, in
addition to the Shadow Bid Model (SBM), a timing adjustment is required to the Base Bids in
respect of construction completion date to allow for the fact that the construction completion
date underpinning the bids submitted may be different from completion date assumed in the
SBM. Discounting the stream of Unitary Charges sought by Bidders over a different timescale
would give unfair results — hence for financial evaluation purposes all completion dates have
been aligned to the completion date assumed in the SBM of 31 December 2008.
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NPV per NPV per

Bidders KPMG Bid NPV per (Cost) | (Cost) /

Financial Evaluation SBM Saving Saving
Bidder Model Model £000°s £000’s %

£000°s £000’s

Bidder A 59,187 62,163 64,087 1,924 3.00%
Bidder B 54,313 56,768 64,087 7319 11.42%
Difference (5,395) (5,395)

It is evident from the results in the above table that both Bidder A and Bidder B deliver Value
for Money (in monetary terms) being 3.00% and 11.42% respectively below the SBM.

Evaluation scores

Financial Criterion: Ability to deliver Value for Money (in monetary terms)

Bidder Unweighted Score (max 25) Weighted Score (max 80)
Bidder A 20 64.0
Bidder B 24 76.8

It is clear from the results of the VFM (in monetary terms) test that both Bidder A and Bidder B
offer a VFM (in monetary terms) solution to the Department and the Institute. As Bidder A was
3.00% less expensive than the SBM (equating to £1.924m) it has been awarded an unweighted
score of 20 out of 25. As Bidder B was considerably less expensive than the SBM, i.e. 11.42%
(equating to £7.319m in NPV terms), it was awarded an unweighted score of 24 out of 25 in
respect of its Base Bid.

19

177



Report on The Future Impact of Borrowing and Private Finance Commitments and Belfast Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP Project

BIFHE City Centre PPP Project
ITN Bid Evaluation Stage
Corporate Finance

June 2006

5 Financial Robustness
5.1 Proposed Financing Structure
5.1.1 Sources of funds during development

The chart below illustrates the various sources of funds used by the Bidders to fund the capital
expenditure in their Base Bid (in nominal terms):

Sources of Funding

- @ Surplus land
disposal
proceeds

O Blended Equity

| Senior debt

Bidder A Bidder B

The table below shows the amounts of each source of funds and the corresponding use of funds
during the development phase (in nominal terms) and their relative percentages.

Bidder A Bidder B

NPV £000 NPV £2000
Sources of Funds
Senior debt 42,788 81.7% 37,959 72.4%
Sub-debt 4,507 8.6% 4,403 8.4%
Pure equity 0,047 0.1% 0,050 0.1%
Surplus land 5.000 9.6% 10,000 19.1%
Total 52,343 100% 52412 100%
Uses of Funds
Construction costs 45,533 87.0% 38,929 74.3%
SPV Costs 2,210 42% 2,497 4.8%
Interest & fees 4,026 7.7% 2,748 5.2%
Cash & Reserves 0,005 0.0% 7,872 15.0%
Working capital 0,569 1.1% 0,366 0.7%
Total 52343 100.0% 52412 100.0%
Key points:

¢ Both Bids are funded by a combination of debt, equity and surplus land proceeds;
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e Surplus land proceeds represent a significantly higher proportion of the total funding
sources for Bidder B than Bidder A (19.1% vs. 9.6% respectively);

e Bidder B’s failure to utilise a surplus land bridging loan results in a very large cash balance
upon receipt of surplus land proceeds. This large cash balance is then used to make a bullet
repayment on the senior debt. This is inefficient in financing terms primarily for two
reasons:

1) The margins on a surplus land bridging loan are typically significantly lower than on a
senior debt loan; and

2) The potential gearing level is decreased as the surplus land bridge is being financed out
of senior debt — surplus land bridging loans do not form part of the gearing ratio used by
funders to set maximum gearing levels in their term sheets.

The table below shows the total debt and equity funding in real terms for both Bidders:

Bidder A Bidder B
£°000 %o

Senior Debt 90.38% 89.50%

Subordinated debt 5 9.52% 10.38%’

Equity 0.10% 0 0.12%

Total 100.00% 100.00%

Key points:

e Similar gearing levels for both Bidders, however Bidder B has potential to generate more
efficient gearing by introducing Surplus Land Bridge loan as outlined above.

Term Sheet Overview

All of the Bidders supplied detailed term sheets from their funders to support their Base Bid
submissions. The tables below highlight the funding institutions involved and the key features
of the senior debt, subordinated debt, equity capital, equity bridging and land bridging finance
(where applicable).

7 In the financial models received on 20 June 2006 the percentage of sub-debt had increased since the original bid,
this will be clarified should Bidder B be appointed Preferred Bidder.
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5.1.2.1 Senior debt
Senior Debt Bidder A Bidder B
Financial Adviser PricewaterhouseCoopers BDO Stoy Hayward
Lead Arranger Barclays Bank plc Ulster Bank
Facility Amount (up to) £43m £38.75m
Repayment Term 24 years from the Project 24 years from the Project
Completion Date Completion Date
Interest Rate LIBOR swap rate (4.49%) + LIBOR swap rate (4.41%) + Credit
Credit Spread (10 bps) + MLA (I Spread (10bps) + MLA (0.5bps) +
bp) + Margin Margin
Margins Construction period: 85 bps Construction period: 75bps
Operations: Operations:
(yrs 1-10) — 70 bps (yrs 1-10) — 70 bps
(yrs 11+) — 80 bps (yrs 11-20) — 7Sbps
(yrs 21+) — 80 bps
Commitment fee 0.40% 0.35%
Arrangement fee 0.80% 0.70%
ADSCR (min) 1.15 1.15
LLCR (min) 1.18 1.18
Source of information Financial text and model Financial text and model
22
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5.1.2.2  Sub-ordinated debt
Sub-ordinated Debt Bidder A Bidder B
Provider Same as equity capital® Same as equity capital®
Facility (up to) £4.5m £4.2m
Repayment Term 25 years 25 years
Interest Rate 12.71% 14.46%
Source of information Financial text and model Financial text and model
5123  Equity
Equity Bidder A Bidder B
Subscribers* Bilfinger Berger BOT Ltd (70%)  Ivy Wood Properties Limited
(100%)
John Graham (Dromore) (30%)
Pure Equity Injection £47k at financial close £50k at financial close
Blended Equity IRR (post tax  13.03% 14.50%
nominal)
Source of information Financial text and model Financial text and model
23
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5.1.2.4  Equity bridge and Surplus Land bridge

Bidder A Bidder B

Equity Bridge

Provider Barclays Bank ple Ulster Bank

Commitment fee 0.15% 0.20%

Arrangement fee 0.40% if Letter of Credit backed ~ 0.30%

Margin 25 bps if Letter of Credit backed 40 bps if Letter of Credit backed

Land Bridge

Provider Barclays N/A

Facility (up to) £7.5m

Commitment fee 0.15%

Arrangement fee 0.40%

Margin 25 bps

Source of information Funder Term Sheets Funder Term Sheets

5.1.3 Cost of financing
The table below highlights the cost in NPV terms to Bidders of their financing proposals.

Bidder A Bidder B

£000’s £000’s

Senior Debt 1,227 0,936
Sub-Debt (2,247) 3,460)
Pure Equity (0,518) (0,186)
Sub-Debt Bridge 0,151 0,214
Land Bridge Debt 0,146 0,000
Debt Service Reserve Facility fees (0,108) (0,047)
Change in Law Facility fees (0,083) (0,058)
Total (1.432) (2.602)
24
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5.1.3.1 Cost of Equity

Both Bidders provide the equity to the SPV’s via a combination of share equity and
subordinated debt. Bidder A provides a total of £47k pure equity and £4.51m of subordinated
debt while Bidder B provides a total of £50k pure equity and £4.40m of subordinated debt.

Bidder B has bid a higher nominal blended Internal Rate of Return (‘IRR’), which includes all
returns to shareholders (i.e. sub-debt interest and equity dividends), of 14.51% compared to
Bidder A’s IRR of 13.03%. This is largely due to Bidder B having a higher coupon rate on the
subordinated debt (14.46% vs. 12.71% for Bidder A).

5.1.3.2  Cost of Senior Debt

Both Bidder A and Bidder B generate a positive cost of senior debt at £1,227k and £936k
respectively. This is because the nominal discount rate applied in the evaluation (i.e. 6.09%)" is
actually higher than the interest rate underlying the senior debt financing (¢.5.2% - 5.5%).

Senior Debt Margins

—Bidder A
— Bidder B.

Whilst Bidder B has more competitive senior debt interest rate margins on average than Bidder
A, as shown in the graph above, because Bidder A draws down more senior debt and does not
repay the senior debt as quick as Bidder B, it has a higher positive cost of debt than Bidder B in
NPV terms. The graph below shows the outstanding senior debt balances for both Bidders over
the concession term.

# This nominal discount rate is derived by multiplying the real discount rate as advised by HM Treasury (3.5%) by the
assumed inflation rate (2.5%)
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Senior Debt - Outstanding balances
w —— Bidder B

5.2 Feasibility of Financing Plan

Each of the Bidders’ Base Bid submissions were reviewed with regard to the funding structure
being proposed, taking account of the commitment present in relation to that funding and the
deliverability of the funding package in accordance with the proposed timetable for procurement
of new accommodation and associated services for the Institute.

The results of this analysis, based on the requirements of the Department and the Institute as set
out in the ITN, is as follows:

Bidder A Bidder B

Senior debt commitment HIGH HIGH

Equity commitment HIGH MEDIUM/HIGH

Financing plan HIGH HIGH

All funders were comfortable with the risk profile of the project, as set out in the Revised
Contract issued as part of the ITN documentation to Bidders and which formed the basis for the
preparation of the Base Bids.

Both Bidders’ funders fully met the requirements of Section 7.6.13 of Volume 1 to the ITN
documentation. Both Bidders have also stated that they are confident of securing all internal
approvals within the eight weeks timescale outlined in Section 7.6.14 of Volume 1 to the ITN
documentation.

Both Bidders submitted a letter from their respective financial advisers stating that debt funding
is achievable, however only Bidder A’s financial adviser letter states that the financing
proposals are sufficient to enable the Bidder to meet its obligations under the Revised Contract
and that the accounting and tax assumptions underpinning the financial model are reasonable
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and appropriate for the Bidder’s financial proposal. Bidder B’s financial adviser has not
commented on such matters.

Equity commitment

Bidder A provides a strong equity letter of support from its majority shareholder, expressing
their enthusiasm for the project and the fact they have carefully considered and approved the
terms of their bid. Bidder B provided a very short letter of support stating they would fund the
pure equity and subordinated debt finance, however they make no reference to the terms of the
bid or the quantum of equity approved.

Both Bidder A and Bidder B propose to invest pinpoint equity at Financial Close of £47k and
£50k respectively and utilise an Equity Bridge loan to cover the remaining equity requirement
until the end of construction. The Equity Bridge loan is replaced by subordinated debt at the
end of the construction period for Bidder A and six months after construction completion for
Bidder B.

The table below shows the build up of Blended Equity IRR over time, as per the Bidders’
Model:

Blended Equity IRRs

Bidder A Bidder B
10 5.64% 5.81%
15 9.86% 11.29%
20 11.48% 13.35%
25 13.03% 14.51%

From the above table and graph below we can see that the build up of the Blended Equity IRR
for both Bidders occurs over the full term of the project, indicating that both Bidders are
committed to the project for the full concession period.

Biended Equity IRR Profile

20%
15%
m T "': B
e Bidder A
Z 0%
X

 ——BidderB |
5% ;

0%

2007 2012 2017 2022 2027 2032

27

185



Report on The Future Impact of Borrowing and Private Finance Commitments and Belfast Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP Project

14 1.‘/“/{ =F
BIFHE City Centre PPP Project
ITN Bid Evaluation Stage
Corporate Finance
June 2006
5.4 Evaluation scores

The table below contains the scores for the financial robustness of the proposed financing plan
considering the comments above:

Financial Criterion: Financial Robustness of Propesed Financing Plan

Bidder Unweighted Score (max 25) Weighted Score (max 20)
Bidder A 23 18.4
Bidder B 19 15.2

Both Bidders submitted robust bids from a financing perspective, however the stronger equity
letter of support from Bidder A has resulted in Bidder A scoring 23 out of 25 and Bidder B
scoring 19 out of 25.
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Taxation & Accounting Reviews

As part of the financial evaluation KPMG tax and accounting specialists reviewed both Bidders
Base Bid financial models. The following sections detail the tax and accounting assumptions
made by Bidders in their financial models and also highlights the issues surrounding same that
have arose as a result of the specialist reviews.

Taxation

The chart below shows the NPV of the taxation costs applicable to each Bidder.

NPV of taxation payments (£'ms)

m Bidder A '
@ Bidder B

NPV £m's

Nominal NPV

Whilst the nominal taxation costs of Bidder A are 130% higher than that of Bidder B, it is worth
noting that in NPV terms Bidder B’s taxation payments are actually 11% higher than that of
Bidder A. This variance can be explained by the profile of the taxation payments as Bidder A
incurs the majority of its tax charges in the later years of concession, whereas Bidder B incurs
substantial taxation charges in the early years of the concession. This profile is demonstrated in
the graph below:

29

187



Report on The Future Impact of Borrowing and Private Finance Commitments and Belfast Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP Project

BIFHE City Centre PPP Project
ITN Bid Evaluation Stage
Corporate Finance

June 2006

Nominal tax payments

o BidderA
——Bidder B

£000's

Both Bidders have assumed that the Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV) will have ‘Composite
Trader’ tax status. As expected under Composite Trade, the tax calculations follow the
accounting treatment in relation to the recognition of income. The accounting treatment is
therefore critical to the tax calculations. As both Bidders assume Finance Debtor accounting
treatment and there were no material issues identified in the application of the same, (see section
6.2 below) no material issues arose in respect of the calculation of corporation tax within the
Bidders financial models.

It should be noted that any risk associated with taxation assumptions is the full responsibility of
the Bidder and hence any additional costs that occur as a result of clarification of taxation
assumptions at Preferred Bidder stage should only impact the Bidders return and not be passed
onto the Department and the Institutes in the form of a higher unitary charge.

6.2 Accounting

A review of the accounting treatment within each Bidders Base Bid was carried out and a
number of minor issues noted. None of the issues identified are deemed material to the extent
that they would have any impact on the ranking of the Bidders. As with taxation assumptions
any risk associated with accounting assumptions is the responsibility of the Bidder and hence
any additional costs that occur as a result of clarification of accounting assumptions at Preferred
Bidder stage should only impact the Bidders return and not be passed onto the Department and
the Institutes.
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Areas to be reviewed prior to formal appointment of
Preferred Bidder

There are a number of issues in relation to each Bid that should be clarified before either of the
Bidders is formally appointed as Preferred Bidder. Such issues should be fully reflected in the
Preferred Bidder Appointment letter and are as follows:

Bidder A

In the event that ground water cooling proves not to be feasible, Bidder A would propose that it
would revert in part or in full to conventional chillers. Bidder A states that the alternative
solution of chillers will not incur any additional capital costs but will incur additional revenue
costs as follows (base date 01 January 2007):

e Annual maintenance - £5,000
e Life Cycle replacement - £75,000 in year 16
e Electricity consumption — estimated at £8,000 per annum.

Should Bidder A be selected as Preferred Bidder clarification should be sought as to the full cost
implications to the Department and the Institutes of reverting to conventional chillers.

Bidder B

e At Pre-Qualification Stage the Financial and Economic Standing of Bidder B was evaluated
based on the Financial Statements for Ivy Wood Properties Limited for the year ended 31
December 2002, 2003 and draft accounts for the year ended 31 December 2004, at which
point the net worth of the company was stated as £57.4m. Bidder B has subsequently
provided signed audited accounts for year ended 2004 and draft accounts for Ivy Wood
Properties Limited for year ended 2005. These indicate that the net worth of the company
has fallen from £41.5m in the signed audited accounts for 2004 to £26.3m in the draft
accounts for 2005. The primary reasons for these changes are as follows:

e £15.9m written off investments in signed audited accounts for year ended 2004; and

e £15m of preference shares reclassified from equity to liabilities in draft accounts for
year ended 2005 due to change in accounting policy.

In light of the above, should the Bidder be selected as the Preferred Bidder it would be
necessary to continue to closely monitor the Financial and Economic Standing of the parent
company.

e Bidder B has assumed that Composite Tax Trader status will be achieved. There is an
ongoing clarification between Bidder B’s financial adviser BDO and with Inland Revenue
and Customs to establish whether this is feasible. In the event that Composite Tax Trader
was not achieved, Bidder B has recalculated their stream of unitary charge cashflows based
on Capital Tax treatment being adopted. This has resulted in an NPV increase of c¢. £1.52m.
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KPMG have been unable to verify the above uplift as no financial model was provided to
support the revised cashflows.

e There are a number of inefficiencies in Bidder B’s model. For example the surplus land
bridge is being funded of senior debt. Should this be replaced with a surplus land bridge
loan greater efficiencies could be derived through reduced margins and increased gearing.
Also, in the revised models received on 20 June 2006 Bidder B has decreased its gearing
from 90.25% to 89.50%. Should the Department and the Institute select Bidder B as
Preferred Bidder a condition should be that their financial adviser work with KPMG in re-
optimising the model to reduce the Unitary Charge whilst maintaining the blended equity
return.
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B NPV Analysis — Value for Money (in monetary terms) Test
Results
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C Detailed Sources and Uses of Funds analysis
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Belfast institute of Furthar and Higher Education PPP Project
aid Evaluation Summary Feport to the Governing Body
J-July 2008

1 lNTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
This report sets out the evaluation of the Bids received for the Belfast Institute of Further and
Higher Education Ctty Centre PPP Project.

Belfast Institute began the process of seeking a PPP pariner on 7 March 2005, when a notice
was despatched for publication in the Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU), 1o seek
expressions of interest in the Project. The issue of a Pre-Qualification Questionnaire and an
Information Memorandum to respondents in March 2005 resulted in four submissions being
received from consortia interested in submitling Bids for the Project.  Following a Pre-
Qualificaion  Evaluation process, four bidders were short-listed to receive contract

- documentation. : : ' .

The short-listed Bidders were (in alphabetical order):

BIFHE Education Partnership
McAleer & Rushe

- Newco :

5 Titanic Quarter,

Fallowing the pre-qualification stage, a series of meetings were held with the Bidders and the
following information was provided o assist them compleie their bid submissions:

m ‘tnvitation to Negotiate

B Schedule of Accommedation
M§ Design guidelines

B User Hequirements

o

Service Requirements (facmtxes managem ent output specifications)

General information on the Institute’s proposed operations
Project Agreement : ‘

Following the release of the ITN to the short listed bidders, both the McAleer & Rushe and
Newco consartiums withdrew from the Project. Ths Project proceeded with the following
short-listed bidders:

| BIFHE Edu‘caﬁonk Parinership
Titanic Quarier

Btdders were invited to submn their proposals to develop and service new accommodation by
289 March 2006
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i S o ) Bid Evaluation Summary Report to the Governing Body
L= ar ‘ e o 3 July 2006

This report is a record of the Evaluation process followed by the Evaluation Groups, which

was conducted in accordance with the Evaluation Criteria and Procedures agreed by the
Capital Projects Board. ) -
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" Balfast Institute of Further and Higher Education PPP Project
- Bld Evaluation Summary Report to the Governing Body
3 July 2006

2 EVALUATION PROCESS
2.1 Introduction :

The evaluation of the bids was approached by subdividing each bid into a number of discrate
sections that were then assigned an Evaluation Group as follows:

& Design and Technical Evaluation Group
& ~ Services Evaluation Group
- Financial Evaluation Group
= Legal Evaluation Group

Each sectio‘n;was assessed and scored by the Evaluation Group in accordance with the
evaluation criteria that had been provided to the Bidders.

2.2 Evaluation Groups

Each Evaluation Group comprised members of the Capital Projects Board and its advisors
-and relevant deparimental and senior management staff-of the Institute and the Depariment
for Employment and Learning. Exiernal advisors were called upon as appropriate during the
evaluation process, for example to advise on architectural issues, sustainability and ME.

2.3 Evaluation Scoring

Bidders were given details of the evaluation criteria for each element of the bid submission;
design and technical, services, financial and legal. Each criterion was awarded a weighting
out of 100 in order to prioritise relative importance.

- The Evaluation Groups then scored individual evaluation criteria for each Bid on a scale of 0
10 25, depending on the extent to which the Bidders proposals met the project requirements,
The breakdown of this scoring is detailed in the table below:

Unacceptable = : o 0-5

Barely adequate, some serious shortcomings 6-11

Generally satisfactory, minor reservations 12-17
i Fully satistactory | : 18525
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7\ I § T \“% i ~- Bld Evaluation Summary Report to the Govarning Body
= | Jg%w s . . S July 2008

2.4‘ Overall Bid Scoring/Weighting

Prior to the receipt of the Bids, the Capital Projects Board agreed an overall weighted score
for each element of the Bid to differentiate the relative importance of that element to the
~ Capital Projects Board, The table below sets out the agreed weightings for each area.

Design & Technical 2 o - 50%
Services ; o 25%
Financial ) o 20%
Legal . ‘ 5%
Total S . 100%
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- Belfast inatitute of Further andkHéghsr Education PPP Project
Big Evaluation Summary Report to the Governing Body
3 July 2006

'3 SCORING OF BIDS

The results of the weighted scores for each of the Evaluation Groups and the weighted total
scores are as follows: S ) i

Design & Technical - 38.2 e 39
Services 18.6 17.85
Financial 16.48 18.4
Legal 4.65 47

- The Evaluation Group rankings and overall ranking are as follows:

Design&Techicai : S ) B 1
Bervices ) ot 2
Financial ‘ z 1
tegal - ' ‘ 20 i

Total Weighted Score 76.83 79.85

Overall Ranking i 27 1

Scores for the individual Evaluation Groups are containied in Appendix 1.
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Belfast Institute of Further and Higher Education PPP Project
Bid Evaluation Summary Report to the Governing Body
3 July 2006

41

CONCLUSION

Having evaluated the Bids received for the Belfast institute PPP Project in accordance with
the agreed Bid Evaluation Methodology, the highest ranking Bid is the Bid from- lvywood
Colleges. The next ranked Bid is the Bid from Belfast Educational Partnership {BEP).

RECOMMENDATION

The resulls of the Bid Evaluation indicate that lvywood Colleges should be appointed

Preferred Bidder, subject to satisfaction of remaining concerns coming forward from the four
Evaluation Groups. The detail of these outstanding concerns are set out in a draft letler to

vywood Colleges contained in Appendix 2. It should be noled that the designation of
- Preferred Bidder simply means the choice of Bidder with whom to negoliate a PPP contract

and is subject {o the approval of the Full Business Case by DEL and DFP.

There is no obligation on the Insﬁtut’e to enter any legally binding arrangements at this stage
in the procurement process and the terms of any final contractual proposal will also require
the approval of the Capital Pro;ects Board and the Gnvemmg Body.

On this basis, it is our advice that the chermng Body recommends the appoiniment. of
lvywood Colleges as Preferred Bidder to the Minister for Employment and Learning, subject
lo a satisfactory response bexng received from lvywood Coﬂeges to the draft letter contained
in Appendlx 2. -

it is further recommended that BEP is appemted Reserve Bidder and is asked to hold its Bid
open for acceptance for a six month period.
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Belfast Metropolitan College

Addendum to ITN Financial Evaluation - Impact of
increased site acquisition costs sought by Ivywood
Colleges Ltd

Corporate Finance

October 2007

Important Notice

This report is provided solely for the benefit of the Department for Employment and Learning
(“the Department”) and Belfast Metropolitan College (“the Institute”) and is not to be copied,
quoted or referred to in whole or in part without KPMG’s prior written consent. KPMG accepts
no responsibility to anyone other than the Department and the Institute for the information
contained therein.

Whilst the information in this document has been prepared in good faith, it does not purport to
be comprehensive or to have been independently verified. The Recipient’s attention is drawn to
the fact that no representation, warranty or undertaking has been received by KPMG in respect
of the accuracy of the information provided by the Bidders or their sponsors, funders, officers,
employees or advisers. KPMG does not accept any responsibility for the fairness, accuracy or
completeness of the information so provided and shall not be liable for any loss or damage
arising as a result of reliance on this report or on any subsequent information.

This Report is CONFIDENTIAL and its circulation and use are RESTRICTED. Please see note on inside cover.
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Sl
Belfast Metropolitan College
Addendum to ITN Financial Evaluation - Impact of
increased site acquisition costs sought by wywood
Colleges Ltd
Corporate Finance
October 2007
Contents
1 Impact of increased site acquisition costs on ICL’s ITN bid 1
1.1 Introduction 1
1.2 Financial evaluation criteria at ITN Stage 1
1.2.1 Value for Money (in monetary terms) assessment 1
1.2.2 Financial robustness of proposed financing plan 3
123 Summary of financial evaluation scoring 4
1.3 Overall evaluation at ITN Stage 4
1.4 Affordability impact 5
A ICL Letter — Increase in site value proposal 6
B Value for Money (in monetary terms) Summary 7

This Report is CONFIDENTIAL and its circulation and use are RESTRICTED. Please see note on inside cover.
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Belfast Metropolitan College

Addendum to ITN Financial Evaluation - Impact of

increased site acquisition costs sought by Ivywood
Colleges Ltd

Corporate Finance
October 2007

Impact of increased site acquisition costs on ICL’s ITN bid

Introduction

In June 2006 Ivywood Colleges Ltd (ICL) submitted a Financial Model underpinning their Base
Bid which included acquisition of 3.08 acres of land at Titanic Quarter at a cost of £3m (i.e.
£970k per acre). In September 2007 ICL issued a letter (attached at Appendix A) outlining their
proposal to include site acquisition costs at an increased value of £5m (i.e. £1.62m per acre).
Further to subsequent discussion on the issue at Project Team Meetings during September 2007,
it was agreed that financial analysis should be undertaken to assess the impact this £2m increase
in site acquisition costs would have on the Net Present Value (“NPV”) and Unitary Charge
associated with ICL’s ITN Bid submission.

Financial evaluation criteria at ITN Stage

Financial evaluation criteria accounted for 20% of total ITN Bid Evaluation marks.

The criteria used to evaluate the ITN Bids submitted by the two Bidders from a financial
perspective were as follows:

e Ability to deliver Value for Money (in monetary terms) — 80% weighting, and

o Financial robustness of proposed financing plan — 20% weighting.

Value for Money (in monetary terms) assessment

ITN Stage - £3m site acquisition costs

Table 1 below outlines the results of the Value for Money (in monetary terms) assessment as
carried out in June 2006, in relation to ITN Bids received from BEP and ICL. Table 1 details
the NPV at 01 January 2007 (Target Financial Close) to DEL and Belfast Metropolitan College
of the Base Bids submitted. Table 1 also presents the NPV as per the KPMG Bid Evaluation
Model which made a number of adjustments' to Bidders’ Financial Models to ensure Bids were
assessed on a like-for-like and fair and equitable basis.

! Adjustments included alignment of construction completion dates, discounting methodology and indexation
methodology
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Table 1
) - 1 o 7 o P
N.I Yp £ Hidder NITV Per ]\PMG NPV per (Cost)/ (Cost)/
Financial Model Bid Evaluation . s S
£2000s Model SBM Savings Savings
S A o 3 o
£0007s £000’s £000’s Yo
BEP 59,187 62,163 64,087 1,924 3.00%
ICL (Site acq. £3m) 54,313 56,768 64,087 7,319 11.42%
Difference 5,395

1.2.1.2 ITN Stage - £5m site acquisition costs

On 09 October 2007, KPMG requested ICL to submit a Financial Model reflecting all inputs
contained within their Base Bid (submitted on 20 June 2006), with the exception of site
acquisition costs which were to be increased from £3m to £5m. ICL’s Financial Advisors were
requested to ensure to optimise the Financial Model to the same level as ICL’s Base Bid (20
June 2006) for the purposes of this exercise.

ICL’s Financial Advisors submitted the requested Financial Model on 17 October 2007. Table
2 below presents the results of this Financial Model and illustrates the impact that a £2m (real
terms) increase in site acquisition costs would have had to the assessment of Value for Money
(in monetary terms) at I'TN Stage i.e. it is estimated that this will produce a £2.016m increase in

NPV terms”.
Table 2
NPV per Bidder NPV per KPMG By
Financial Model  Bid Evaliation. DL Per {(Cos0f (Cost)/
- . SBM Savings Savings
Bidder s Mudel £000's  £000’s %
£000’s
BEP 59,187 62,163 64,087 1,924 3.00%
ICL (Site acq. £5m) 56,329 58.874 64,087 5,213 8.13%
Difference 3,289

It should be noted that the Financial Model received on 17 October 2007 was not fully
optimised to the same level as ICL’s ITN Stage Base Bid, as requested KPMG’s instructions of
09 October 2007. When fully optimised to this level, the NPV will be reduced marginally due
to the reduction in inefficiencies inherent in this Financial Model. The outcome presented in the
table above is therefore a prudent view of the impact of a £2m increase in site acquisition costs.

Appendix B provides a summary of the Value for Money (in monetary terms) assessment.

% This increase in NPV includes the increase in financing costs associate with the proposed uplift in site acquisition
costs
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1.2.1.3  Financial evaluation scoring

1.2.2

Table 3 below sets out the unweighted and weighted scores attributed to each Bidder in the
Value for Money (in monetary terms) test at ITN Stage (June 2006).

As BEP was 3.00% (£1.9m) less expensive than the SBM it was awarded an unweighted score
of 20 out of 25. As ICL was 11.42% (£7.3m) less expensive than the SBM, it was awarded an
unweighted score of 24 out of 25 in respect of its Base Bid.

Table 3
Bidder Unweighted Score (max 25) Weighted Score (max 80)
BEP 20 64.0
ICL (Site acq. £3m) 24 76.8

Based on preliminary analysis Table 4 below sets out the scores that may have been attributed to
ICL’s Base Bid at ITN Stage had it included site acquisition cost of £5m as opposed to £3m.

Table 4
Bidder Unweighted Score (max 25) Weighted Score (max 80)
BEP 20 64.0
ICL (Site acq. £5m) 22.5 72.0

It is estimated that ICL would have been awarded a score of 22.5 should it have bid site
acquisition costs of £5m as this would have meant that its bid was 8.13% (£5.2m) less
expensive than the SBM as opposed to 11.42% (£7.3m) less expensive than the SBM. Based on
preliminary analysis ICL’s bid remains some £3.3m (in NPV terms) lower than the unsuccessful
Bidder’s Bid.

Financial robustness of proposed financing plan

At ITN Stage each Bidder was also scored in relation to financial robustness of the financing
plan. The £2m increase in site acquisition cost would not have impacted the scoring of this
financial robustness. Table 5 below outlines the scores attributed to each Bidder at ITN Stage:

Table 5

Bidder Unweighted Score (max 25) Weighted Score (max 20)
BEP 23 18.4

ICL 19 15.2

BEP scored higher than ICL as it provided a stronger equity letter of support, with ICL’s equity
letter of support failing to make reference to the terms of the bid or the quantum of equity
approved.

This Report is CONFIDENTIAL and its circulation and use are RESTRICTED. Please see note on inside cover.

211



Report on The Future Impact of Borrowing and Private Finance Commitments and Belfast Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP Project

IR

Belfast Metropolitan College

Addendum to ITN Financial Evaluation - Impact of
increased site acquisition costs sought by Ivywood
Colleges Ltd

Corporate Finance
October 2007

1.2.3 Summary of financial evaluation scoring

The overall financial evaluation scores awarded to each Bidder at I'TN Stage are presented in
Table 6 below and are out of 100.

Table 6

Bidder Weighted Score (max 100) Rank
BEP 82.4 2
ICL (Site acq. £3m) 92.0 1

Table 7 below shows the overall financial evaluation scores which may have been awarded to
each Bidder if ICL had bid £5m as opposed to £3m site acquisition costs. The results show that
in terms of the financial evaluation, ICL still attains a higher weighted score than BEP.

Table 7

Bidder Weighted Score (max 100)

BEP 82.4 2
ICL (Site acq. £5m) 87.2 1

1.3 Overall evaluation at ITN Stage

In addition to financial evaluation at ITN Stage evaluation was also carried out in order to assess
how each of the Bidders scored in relation to Design and Technical requirements, Service
specifications and Legal requirements. Table 8 below details the weighted scoring attributed to
each Bidder at ITN Stage:

Table 8

Criteria Weighting BEP weighted score ICL weighted score

Design & Technical 50% 36.20 39.00
Services 25% 19.60 17.85
Financial 20% 16.48 18.40
Legal 5% 4.65 4.70
Total 100% 76.93 79.95

Having considered the impact on financial scoring in Section 1.2.3, Table 9 below estimates the
weighted score which would have been attributed to each Bidder had ICL bid £5m site
acquisition costs at ITN Stage as opposed to £3m. This increase in land valuation would not
have impacted on any of the other three evaluation criteria.
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Table 9

Criteria Weighting BEP weighted score ICL weighted score

Design & Technical 50% 36.20 39.00
Services 25% 19.60 17.85
Financial 20% 16.48 17.44
Legal 3% 4.65 4.70
Total 100% 76.93 78.99

The results show that overall, ICL still attains a higher weighted score than BEP.

Affordability impact

At ITN Stage, financial evaluation was based on Value for Money (in monetary terms)
assessment and financial robustness. It must be recognised that an increase in site acquisition
cost from £3m to £5m will not only impact the Value for Money (in monetary terms)
assessment but also affordability parameters.

Table 10 below outlines the Unitary Charge (at 01 January 2007 prices and excluding rates,
utilities and VAT) bid by each Bidder at ITN Stage (June 2006).

Table 10

Unitary Charge £000’s
BEP 4,913
ICL (Site acq. £3m) 4,474

Based on the Financial Model received from ICL’s Financial Advisors on 17 October 2007,
Table 11 presents an estimate of the impact a £2m increase in site acquisition costs on the
Unitary Charge at ITN Stage i.e. an increase of £166k per annum (01 January 2007 prices). As
stated in Section 1.2.1.2, this is a prudent view as the Financial Model submitted was not fully
optimised to the same level as the Base Bid received in June 2006 and the Unitary Charge may
therefore decrease marginally.

Table 11

Unitary Charge £000°s
BEP 4913
ICL (Site acq. £5m) 4,640

Tables 10 and 11 therefore illustrate that whilst an increase of £2m in site acquisition costs will
have an affordability impact for DEL and the Institute, ICL’s bid would still have offered a
lower annual Unitary Charge than BEP had ICL bid £5m site acquisition cost at ITN Stage.
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A ICL Letter — Increase in site value proposal
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Ivywood Colleges Limited
Thomas Andrews House
Queen’s Island
Belfast
BT39DU

Qur Ref

Your Ref
Date 19 September 2007

SUBJECT TO CONTRACT

Mr Eric Munro

FGS McClure Watters
1 Lanyon Quay
Belfast

BT1 3LG

Dear Eric,
BMC Project - Land Valuation

We refer to the meeting of 11 September 2007 and our prior correspondence of 16
August 2007, The consortium’s position remains that the SPV must be given fair
value for the lands provided in the project. In an effort to progress the project we are
willing to accept a greatly reduced value of £5 million for the lands. This is an
increase in the value by approximately £2 million from that submitted in March 2006.
This price shall remain fixed until 31 March 2008.

For the avoidance of doubt, we currently value the lands at £2.5 million per acre,
which, at 3.08 acres, produces an overall land value of £7.7 million. This material
concession is on the understanding that the project shall now progress expeditiously to
Financial Close. The concession is made without prejudice to the validity of the
arguments previously stated in our letter of 16 August 2007.

The SPV requires an additional £2 million to be injected into the project to reflect the
abated increase in land value. We believe that this is consistent with the rules
governing public procurement and also the findings of the Northern Ireland Audit
Office report of 11 September 2007,

We look forward to hearing from you in regard to the additional land value which is
essential to progress this project.

Yours sincerely,

"Mike Smith
Director
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BIFHE City Centre PPP Project
ITN Stage - Bid Evaluation Model
Value for Money (in monetary terms) Summary

oL

Increased iand

Base Bid Base Bid acq (£5m)
June 2006 June 2006 October 2007
NPV NPV NPV
£000 £000 £000
‘Concession Term 25 years 25 years| 25 years|
Bidders Payments Required 60,066 56,768 58,874
Adjustment to Bidders Models for difference in Construction completion dates
Date construction completed 31-Jul-09 31-Dec-08] 31-Dec-08
Adjusted completion date per SBM 31-Dec-08 31-Dec-08| 31-Dec-08|
index Year reference number -0.581 0.000] 0.000]
Discount rate 103.492% 100.000% 100.000%
Completion date adjustment 2,097 0,000 0,000
Total Adjusted Bid 62,163 56,768 58,874
Shadow Bid Model 64,087 64,087 64,087
Difference in Total Adjusted Bid and Shadow Bid Model 1,924 7,319 5212
Is Bid Value for Money? TRUE TRUE TRUE
Difference {CL Bid and BEP Bid -5,395 -3,289

Page 1 of |
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TITANIC QUARTER/CITY CENTRE PROJECT November 04 to December 09
DETAIL: EXTRACTS FROM THE RELEVANT MINUTES FROM NOVEMBER 2004

Nov 04

GB.4.76 Capital Projects Board

(b) City Centre Project

That recent Treasury and DFP guidance meant that a shadow bid had to be produced [the alternative
was a new appraisal]. This bid would be submitted to DFP on 30 November 2004.

Feb 05

GB.5.11 Institute Development Plan

In regard to the City Centre project he [Mr Turtle] was expecting a second letter of approval from
DEL in the near future.

June 05

GB.5.30 Report of the Capital Projects Board held 27 May 2005.

City Centre PPP project. The Director said that five bids had been received despite pre launch
concerns of only two potential bidders, and that four of these had progressed to the Invitation to
Negotiate stage. The Director summarised the history of the project and said that the project was
now back on target.

Sept 05

GB.5.47 Report on Capital Projects Board held 29 June 2005.

City Centre Project: The Director recapped on progress to date and said that the two remaining
bidders had presented two differing visions for two differing sites. He confirmed that once the bids
had been evaluated, both seemed likely to meet all contractual requirements, and that the competing
proposals would come before the Governing Body for a decision in early 2006.

Nov 05

GB. 5.63 Matters Arising

City Centre Project The Director explained that the expected December delivery date for bids
would not be met, and that it would be February 2006 due to changes in the schedule of
accommodation.

Feb 06

GB.6.10 Merger with Castlereagh

The Director said that six weeks remained before the dissolution of the Governing Bodies and that
decisions on the City Centre Project loomed. He reprised the history of the proposals and DEL

action.

May 06

GB.6.17 Matters Arising

GB 6.10 Economic Appraisals [Upcoming GB to discuss city centre bids and appraisals.]
July 06

GB.6.28 City Centre Project

It was agreed to promote this item up the agenda.

NB Members had access to the individual group reports in the week prior to the Governing Body
meeting and the summary of the bid evaluation was circulated a week in advance.

The Chairman welcomed those present and asked Mr Chambers to lead. Mr Chambers said that he
was satisfied that the evaluations had been carried out objectively, that he was satisfied with both the
outcome and the transparency, and that subject to some caveats [the satisfaction of some remaining
concerns] it was the Capital Projects Board recommendation that Ivywood Colleges be appointed the
preferred bidder.

Mr Munro outlined the background, the valuation process, the scoring of bids, and the
recommendation. He noted the subdivision of bids into four discrete sections which were then
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assigned to evaluation groups which met and reported separately to the Capital Projects Board. The
evaluation criteria with potential scores from 0 to 25 inclusive were determined by the project teams
and approved by the Capital Projects Board.

Mr Munro spoke in detail of the two differing designs. In sum BEP offered a 15 storey signature
elliptical building in the city centre compared with the Ivywood Colleges’ [Ivywood] more generous
footprint low rise building overlooking the Abercorn basin. Mr Munro considered the Ivywood
solution to be function led and the BEP solution design led.

In regard to Services Mr Munro gave details of the respective bids. In sum the Project Board thought
that BEP/ Graham had the edge because, being the provider of services at Millfield, they knew the
client better and thus their services component was tailor made to the FE sector, whereas
Ivywood/Amey’s bid was built around experience of schools.

Mr Paul Hollway spoke about the Financial Evaluation Group’s findings. The two evaluation criteria
were VFM and the “robustness of the bid”. The former was determined by the calculation of Net
Present Value over 25 years and comparison with a shadow bid. It was clear that whilst both bids
offered VFM the difference in costs between the two bidders was significant both in absolute terms
and in a comparison with costs for projects of this nature. The Ivywood bid was significantly
cheaper. In regard to the latter the BEP bid was more professionally presented, had better
commitment levels, and there were no queries arising while there were two significant concerns over
Ivywood. Firstly, Ivywood needed to contirm Composite Trade tax status and thus less tax before
appointment as a preferred bidder and secondly, Ivywood had to confirm that their group structure
had sufficient share and loan capital. In addition the holding company for Ivywood was off shore
and hence did not provide complete transparency therefore it was reasonable to insist on a share of
any additional profits derived from being in Jersey. The Chairman noted the absence of actual
unitary costs from the summary. It was confirmed that the Governing Body had approved a unitary
charge band in 2004 and that subsequent negotiations would finalise the actual cost within the
original budget.

Mr Munro spoke of the little difference between the two bids in relation to the legal aspects and that
the 5% weighting owed much to the fact these were standard contracts.

Mr Munro concluded by detailing the contents of a proposed letter to Ivywood which stipulated
satisfactory clarification on a number of points as follows:

Maintenance and lifecycle activity profile

Car parking

Bussing to the Titanic Quarter

The Titanic Quarter development

The use of the BCIS Tender Price Index or LIBOR rate as appropriate
Monitoring and notification of an changes to net worth

Share ownership of the structure of Ivywood

Off shore status of the parent company and sharing of tax benefits
Composite Trade Tax status

Efficiency of unitary charge

OGC guidance

Circumstances for change

The project and the bids were discussed in detail. Discussions included

. the structure of the Ivywood group of companies and their relationship with the Titanic
Quarter

. confirmation that the carbon footprint of either replacement building was significantly less
then its predecessors

. confirmation that an EQIA would be carried out if the Titanic Quarter was chosen [it was
noted that the Odyssey was already attracting significant numbers in the relevant age groups]

. transport - the present and future transport and parking facilities, the intended bus service was
thought to be key
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° consideration of the project as a stand alone project borne of necessity to avoid the expensive
upgrading of existing buildings and prior to any intention of merger with Castlereagh

. the associated risks including the three year disruption and potential risks caused by decanting
from Brunswick Street

. the strategic aspects ranging from 5 - 25 years, and the overall DEL strategy

. enrolments and demographic downturns and the adequacy of the teaching space

. the increased efficiency of the replacement building replacing a total of 22K metres space with
17K metres space

. the options for future growth and increased capacity including car parking

the differing functional benefits of the differing sites — horizontal cf vertical, lifts, ground floor

public access to Institute facilities etc

the existence of current buildings in the figures and costings

the number of staff employed and the number of staff concurrently on site at any one time

quality of build by comparison with Millfield campus

design and build costs, costs per annum and DEL contributions

It was unanimously agreed to accept the recommendation that Ivywood be appointed preferred
bidder subject to the satisfactory resolution of outstanding concerns and subject to the inclusion of
unitary costs in the report.

It was unanimously agreed to accept the recommendation that BEP be appointed Reserve Bidder and
that it be asked to hold its bid open for a six month period.

October 06

GB.6.43 Matters Arising

Para 6.28 City Centre Project. The Director confirmed that there would be a Ministerial
announcement on 4™ October and that detailed financial discussions would begin on 5™ October. It
was likely that planning authorities would block the building unless there was significant car parking
facilities; this would mean an about turn by DEL. The Director confirmed that existing sites would
in part contribute to the costs of the new build, and that College Square East had been listed as a
result of executive action.

Nov 06

GB.6.65 Minutes of the Capital Projects Committee held 15 November 2005.

The Director highlighted the preferred bidder announcement for the City Centre Project and the
proximity to finalising the Full Business Case [FBC]

Jan 07

GB.7.03 Matters Arising

GB 6.65 Full Business Case for City Centre Project. The Director tabled a briefing note which as a
bottom line showed the amount payable for running costs if there were no further successful
negotiations. He also highlighted the variances between the Preferred Bidder and Shadow Bid costs
viz additional cleaning costs (arising from the additional transit areas) and additional security costs.
It was confirmed that the difference in VAT between the old and the new would be met by DEL.
The Chairman noted the potential implications of the increased recurrent costs and asked for the
future report to highlight participant costs and issues previously raised by the Governing Body.

Apr 07

GB.7.18 City Centre Project: Approval of the Full Business Case [FBC]

An executive summary of the FBC was tabled. The Chairman invited Mr Chambers to introduce the
guests. Mr Munro began by re-iterating the background highlighting the strategic context, the
tendering process, the risk transfer and the “in house” cleaning bid. Ms Feeney said a decision was
yet to be made as to whether the project would be on or off the balance sheet. Mr Munro drew
attention to the latest affordability calculations [pp 7] which showed the respective contributions of
DEL and the Bl to the unitary charge which was in the proportion of roughly 2:1. He also
highlighted the implementation plan noting that the key short term date was 27" July, the estimated
date of planning approval, from which other dates followed. There followed a full discussion which
included the following points:
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o It was confirmed that it would take two years to build the facility once planning permission had
been given. The target date for entry was July 2009 but there was potential for delay arising
from planners’ car parking concerns and possible slippage until Christmas or July 2010.

e Mr Munro confirmed that any agreement to a handover date would be at a date that suited the

Institute and that this would not necessarily impinge financially on the builders.

It was confirmed that this was a turnkey/walk in project.

It was confirmed that a 50% balance area allowance had been approved by DEL.

It was noted that there was insufficient information and explanation underpinning the tables.

It was agreed that the lifecycle costs were not fully reflected in the papers and that these should

be identified and investigated further.

o It was agreed that the make up of the running costs for College Square East/ Brunswick Street
[CSE/BS] and the current estimate of Bl contributions to the unitary charge as stated were not a
comparison of like with like.

e Mr Munro confirmed that lifecycle costs were both planned and reactive in order to satisfy
safety performance standards and minimum standards prior to hand back. He cited planned
replacement as a key benefit of the process.

e It was confirmed that there were some major items of high maintenance expenditure on the
horizon for both CSE/BS which needed to be added to the running costs of current buildings
when viewed against the Institute contribution to the unitary charge.

e In contrast the new facility would be more efficient and energy conscious

e Similarly there was no provision in the running costs for identified savings in ancillary staff or
an apportion of allocated overheads.

e DEL’s ceiling of £35k on the Institute’s contribution to rates applicable to both sites was noted
and welcomed.

e It was agreed that references to TUPE and insurance be inserted.

e Mr Munro said that the ancillary staff costs reflected optimal staffing levels based on an optimal
staffing transfer.

e It was agreed that a decision needed to be made concerning the level of planned maintenance [or
reduced maintenance] which would impact on affordability and business continuity.

e Mr Redmond confirmed that the new build was a very high specification [roughly £2k/m*] with
a significant quality premium and he also confirmed that that provision for the quality premium
was built into the DEL contribution to the unitary charge.

e It was agreed that governors were happy with the principle of a quality premium but that which
entailed a quality premium should be detailed e.g. the replacement schedules [every 5 years, 10
years etc]

e It was confirmed that other buildings in the Titanic Quarter paid rates.

e [t was noted that CSE/BI was to be sold on the open market within a year of moving onto new
site and re-invested in projects to reduce the debt of the developers.

e Mr Redmond said that any overage must be re-invested in DEL capital projects and could not go
towards reducing the Institute’s contribution.

e It was recalled that no developers had previously shown interest in CSE/BI.

It was agreed that further information was required before a decision on whether to approve the FBC

could be made in particular ref Tables 2 and 3. It was considered that following a revision of Table 3

and agreement that there was a comparison of like with like, that any remaining significant gap and

hence impact upon affordability, should be commented upon by senior management and a

recommendation made by them. It was agreed that the Secretary take receipt of the revised paper and

notify governors of a further meeting. Mr Munro confirmed that all papers would be circulated well
in advance.

Messrs Munro and Redmond, and Ms Feeney left the meeting at 7.15pm

A potential conflict of interest was raised by a governor and discussed. This concerned the company
providing the Institute’s current Internal Audit services which was also the company employed by
the lead consultant in the City Centre Project. Given that the company was contracted to the lead
consultant and not the Institute it was agreed that there was no conflict of interest.
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Jun07
GB.7.22 City Centre Project: Full Business Case [FBC]: Affordability

The Director introduced the item by referring to the Governing Body’s previous meeting wherein

members had requested additional and comparable “like with like” information and a statement from

the Directorate on the affordability of the City Centre Project. He noted that the Directorate had

considered a revised paper from KPMG on 31 May 2007. The Directorate considered that the project

was affordable and demonstrated VFM bearing in mind the following:

e The absence of clear information on the FE funding formulae and the impact of Training for

Skills on future income

e The assumption of stable growth and at least steady state resourcing

e The condition survey in 2005 on existing accommodation which indicated a bill of £28m over
seven years

e A negotiated reduction to the excessive £890k FM service costs

e A significant reduction in utilities costs given capital investment in energy efficiency

e A reduction in staff costs for estate management

The Director tabled additional information as follows:

e Rates costs were seen to be prudent estimates

e The ongoing discussions on car parking

e The provision of a bus service from 7.30am to 9.30pm every 15 minutes

In the detailed discussions that followed Mr Munro said that there were still a number of
negotiations across a number of fronts to be finalised, but that the competitive process was
strengthened by the option to revert to the reserve bidder. Ms Feeney noted increases in
contributions were tied to the RPIX [the Retail Price Index excluding mortgage interest payments]
and confirmed that the RPIX was applicable to both sides i.e. to existing [College Square
East/Brunswick Street (CSE/BI)] and new building costs.

The degree of uncertainty was discussed and whether agreement should await the new Governing
Body. It was believed that no Governing Body would have a clear picture of funding for the next 25
years, that a degree of uncertainty was a constant, and that it was preferable to keep the momentum
going. Mr Redmond noted that a delay would put back the construction date perhaps until the next
academic year. Mr Munro confirmed that the contract would not be signed until the planning
permission had been received and that the final negotiated contract would be brought back to the
new Governing Body.

It was confirmed that relevant CSE/BS staff costs were actual costs based on an actual head count
and that Unions had agreed a protocol. Ms Feeney confirmed that the contractor bid costs were
payable in each of the 25 years and that these were split between the Institute and DEL in
compliance with DEL methodology. It was noted that it would have been helpful to have total
contractor costs clearly stated. The members discussed VFM in detail. Miss Feeney said there was
competitive tension and the safeguard of a shadow bid model. Mr Redmond confirmed the
comparison against the Shadow Bid Model as a government requirement. It was noted that the staff
costs had to be taken to ensure a like for like comparison and that the grade of refreshments had not
been circulated. Mr Munro confirmed the existence of a detailed lifecycle portfolio in the FBC.

Members then discussed additional capital sales receipts, in a buoyant property market, which were
to be returned to DEL for capital investment elsewhere. It was thought that a case could be made for
the return of some monies as only DEL would benefit and it was right to share the benefits. Mr
Redmond said that it was the intention that the disposal of capital assets would part fund the project,
that the projected sale sums might not be achieved, and that DEL bore the risk. Members thought it
an option to share the risk in return for benefits if achieved. Mr Redmond however confirmed it was
government policy not to convert capital receipts for recurrent expenditure.

Members agreed that the proposed City Centre Project costs were affordable and demonstrated VFM
bearing in mind the underlying assumptions of stable growth and negotiated reductions in service
and utility costs.
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July 07
Extract from summary of D.Diligence received by the TEC and circulated to BMC members

Estates: Estates (11.5) 1 Refs: 5.1.1;5.1.2;5.2.1; 5.2.2; 5.2.3,5.2.4

Findings: | BMC will inherit ageing estate with new PFI site at Millfield and one planned for
Titanic Quarter.

Rec: Strategic assessment of estate required before further action.

Mar 08

07/08/93Estates: Titanic Quarter In the absence of Mr Lee, the Clerk outlined the project issues

arising after the appointment of the preferred bidder. He said he had spoken to Mr Chambers as

follows:

e Car park: That the preferred bidder had taken on the planning risk but did not anticipate a planning
requirement for 300+ permanent spaces for the duration of the contract therefore the proposal had
been re-appraised. The preferred bidder had agreed to supply basement car park on a fees basis.
The issue was nearing resolution once the length of the contract was determined.

e Head lease: That an uplift on the costs was required to ensure an unencumbered lease not tied to
education.

o Sustainability: That a new government policy required an aspiration to excellent sustainability and
the extra costs would be met by DEL.

o TUPE: That cleaning staff would transfer from BMC.

o CSE/Brunswick Street: That capital receipts need not necessarily be fully handed back to DEL
contrary to previous advice.

Members noted the contribution of Mr Chambers to this project and sought advice on how his

expertise could be retained. END

GB of May 2008. Extract 1

07/08/97 Presentation by FGS on the City Centre Project

The Chair invited Mr Munro to make his presentation. Mr Munro outlined the background
and the appointment of the Ivywood Group as preferred bidder. Planning approval for the
building, half as big again as Millfield in floor space, had been given in February 2008. In
regard to current project issues he highlighted the car park, the request for an increase in site
value, lease issues, capital receipts, and sustainable energy.

In regard to the car park the aim was to include a basement car park in the PPP project at no
additional costs to BMC. In essence the building and the car park would revert to BMC after
25 years and 40 years respectively. In regard to the site value, the original bid by Ivywood
Colleges Limited [ICL] in 2006 valued the site at £3m but in August 2007 ICL formally
requested an increase to £7.7m. Subsequently the bid was revised down to £5m and Land
and Property Services [LPS] were required to approve the site value. He confirmed that site
values were not fixed at an early stage but that BMC also benefited from increased site
values and that construction costs were linked to the BCIS index, a government published
index. In regard to the lease all parties were currently trying to remove an encumbrance to
the lease which stipulated a sole educational use for the site. In regard to capital receipts the
last revaluation by LPS valued the respective sites contributing to the bullet payment as
£13m and £9.5m for Brunswick Street and College Square East respectively. In regard to
sustainable energy installations ICL had been instructed to prepare detailed technical
specifications for consideration by DEL as part of the final VFM submission. It was
confirmed that the unitary payments attracted VAT but that there would be a payment from
DEL to compensate.

It was noted that the implementation plan and timetable omitted a Governing Body approval
stage and it was agreed that a special meeting of the Governing Body was required. This
meeting to be informed by a full financial analysis.
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GB of May 2008. Extract 2
BELFAST METROPOLITAN COLLEGE: GOVERNING BODY MEETING 14/05/08

AGENDA ITEM No 13 PRESENTATION ON THE CITY CENTRE PROJECT

& ESTATES UPDATE

AUTHOR/
SOURCE

Mr Kevin Chambers CDP Reference

The City Centre Project is approaching its financial sign off prior to the
commencement of the building phase. It is appropriate that Mr Eric Munro of
Farrell Grant Sparks, the lead consultants on the project, reprises the background
and provides assurances as to the resolution of project problems before moving to
the next stage. He will make a presentation to members supported by Ashleen
Feeney (KPMG, Financial Consultants).

The attached paper provides a very brief background and update to members of the
current Governing Body on the implementation of the estates strategy previously
agreed by the Governing Body of the Belfast Institute. This strategy was agreed in
2005 and the then Governing Body approved the major projects outlined below.

Project Stage

1 City Centre Project Approaching financial sign off

2 E3 Project at Springvale Approaching design phase

3 Proposal for Sports Hall/Theatre and Performing | Awaiting approval of Economic

Arts Spaces appraisal [EA] but EA needs to
be re-visited.

4 Proposal for College Facilities in East Belfast. Post merger needs to be re-
considered.

5 Proposal to develop Student Accommodation; BMC seeking partners

6 Proposed purchase of premises at Wilson Street | Executive shortly to seek
approval to progress

A new Estates Strategy which takes account of the merger and current developments
is currently being prepared and will be presented to governors on completion. The
broad strategy involves replacing current substandard buildings with new, purpose-
built facilities.

PROPOSAL
Members are asked to satisfy themselves that City Centre project

problems have been addressed, and to note the report.
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GB of May 2008. Extract 3
UPDATE ON THE ESTATES DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

Introduction

This paper provides an update to members of the current Governing Body on the
implementation of the Estates Strategy previously agreed by the Governing Body of
the Belfast Institute. This strategy was agreed in 2005 and the then Governing Body
approved the major projects outlined below. A new Estates Strategy which takes
account of the merger and current developments is currently being prepared and will
be presented to governors on completion.

City Centre Project

E3 Project at Springvale (Employability, Enterprise, Entrepreneurship)

Proposal for Sports Hall/Theatre and Performing Arts Spaces

Proposal for College Facilities in East Belfast.

Proposal to develop Student Accommodation; and the

Proposed purchase of premises at Wilson Street, Millfield.

Until 2002 the Belfast Institute was in the unfortunate position of occupying some of the
worst educational facilities and buildings in Western Europe. The new Gerald Moag
Complex at Millfield, opened in September 2002, represented a major step forward in
addressing the above problems, in that it provided state-of-the-art accommodation for up to
3000 students. Millfield became the benchmark for the remainder of Institute buildings.

ON WD B L) DD

Broad Strategy

The broad strategy involves replacing current substandard buildings with new, purpose-built
facilities that are designed to deliver modern educational programmes and courses
appropriate for the 21° century student. The initial concentration has been on the
replacement of two city centre campuses at Brunswick Street and College Square East and
on the delivery of services and technologies that will underpin and develop Northern
Ireland’s economy and provide much needed benefit and value to the wider community.

DEL

This approach is very much in line with current government policies and strategies and in
particular with the Department for Employment and Learning’s policy document ‘Further
Education Means Business’.

It should be made clear that a long term Estates Development Strategy for the College must
be considered in relation to “a fully integrated estate strategy which is also firmly anchored
in the Academic Plan of the College" [DEL] and all of the above proposals should be
considered, and amended, in that context.

DEL have made it clear to us that they will not consider new substantive proposals to
further develop our estate without significant supporting evidence and documentation
including detailed curriculum development plans, rigorous space utilisation analyses, and a
coherent, integrated and comprehensive estates services strategy.

Completion dates

All of the following milestone projections represent the earliest possible completion dates
and assume no interruptions to the planning or construction phases (caused by legal
impediments pertaining to any site, planning objections and/or the unavailability of utility
services at or in close proximity to each site). In that respect they represent challenging
targets.
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GB of May 2008. Extract 4
1 City Centre Project — Replacement Building for Brunswick Street and College Square East

under a Public/Private Partnership

SUMMARY All of the major problems relating to the project contract have now been
resolved and notwithstanding some final and commercial and legal issues relating to the
car park contract, it is anticipated that the PPP contract will be signed in early summer
2008, and the build completed in late 2010

PROJECT MILESTONES DURATION APPROX. DATE
Outline Business Case given approval February 2005
Formal launch of project March 2005

Five bids submitted March 2006
Governing Body appoint Ivywood Colleges Ltd July 2006
(subsidiary of Titanic Island Ltd) as preferred bidder

Announcement of preferred bidder October 2006
Contract negotiation and financial close 20 months June/July 2008
Planning permission 12 months January 2008
Construction phase 24 - 30 months Late 2008 late 2010
Project completion/handover* Late 2010

* originally scheduled for late 2009 but see below.

It became clear as the design development process unfolded, that there were significant
hurdles to be overcome before the contract could be signed. In particular:

Car parking

This issue has been the primary reason why the contract for the delivery of the new campus
at Titanic Quarter has not yet been signed. The Preferred Bidder [PB] accepted “Planning
Risk” in their initial bid offer and following revised planning requirements proposed to
construct a basement car park for 300 cars under the BMC building, alongside an agreement
with the Odyssey Trust to have car parking space provided for our students. This was
acceptable to the planners, along with Preferred Bidder proposals for a frequent public
transport service

Since this planning requirement became evident the PB has sought various ways to recoup
the cost of building a basement car park. BMC confirmed at the outset that it would not be
legally permitted to meet any of the costs. Ivywood Colleges Ltd accepted this. The outturn
is essentially private car park under public building and the PB has agreed to hand over the
car park and all associated assets to BMC at the end of an agreed period when the developer
has gained a satisfactory return on their investment.

Lease

Ivywood Colleges Ltd indicated in their bid documentation that they had agreement with the
landowners, Belfast Harbour Commissioners, to lease the land for a period of 250 years.
Only in late 2007 did BMC become aware that, in fact, no final agreement had been
reached with the Harbour Commissioners. After intensive negotiations all the major issues
relating to the land lease/purchase costs have now been resolved. One of the difficulties was
that the landowners were attempting to introduce a restrictive covenant into the lease that
would have been prejudicial to the BMC had we wished to vacate the site and sell the land
at some future date. BMC would not accept this restriction.
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Gov Body June 2008
07/08/121 City Centre Project/ Titanic Quarter

Members expressed concerns about the affordability of the project, future
enrolment numbers and the high cost of professional fees. It was agreed that the
development be put on hold until further advice sought from DEL.

Gov Body August 2008 Extract 1
BELFAST METROPOLITAN COLLEGE: GOVERNING BODY MEETING 28/08/08

AGENDA ITEM

No 7 Update on City Centre Project/ Titanic Quarter

AUTHOR/ CDP Reference
SOURCE FGS McClure Watters

Lead Consultants

BACKGROUND

Members should note that they will have an opportunity to review
the project and the associated costs and continued affordability
prior to any financial sign off. This is an update on current
challenges facing the project team.

Dr Mullan and Mr Lee will report on their meeting with all
interested parties on Tuesday 5th August. Mr Tom Redmond
[DEL] will also be in attendance.

Subsequently the memo overleaf has been prepared by FGS to
provide a brief summary of the challenges the Project Team face in
reaching an 2 October 2008 Financial Close deadline on the BMC
PPP Project. The challenges have been categorised into Financial,
Technical and Legal issues.

As agreed at the previous Governing Body, FGS have also been
asked to provide an updated timetable which incorporates an
approval stage by the BMC Governing Body. This will be tabled.

As also agreed at a previous Governing Body any decision will
need to be informed by a full financial analysis and full briefing
prior to the financial close.

Governors will also wish to be reminded of a relevant paragraph in
Mrs Bell’s letter of 18 July to Dr Walters.

“Finally in relation to the Titanic Quarter project, the Department
considers that it would be inadvisable to take any action to curtail
progress since, to do so, would almost inevitably, incur additional
developer costs. Accordingly, it would be our view that the project
be permitted to continue as planned.”

PROPOSAL

Members are asked to note the update.
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Gov Body August 2008 Extract 2
Financial Issues

Site Value — In August 2007 ICL advised the Authority that they required an uplift in site
acquisition cost from £3m at ITN stage to £7.7m based on valuations at that time.
Following negotiations, it was agreed in October 2007 that the Authority would seek
approval from DFP for an uplift in site acquisition cost to the value of £2m (increasing site
acquisition cost to £5m). This approval will be formally requested within the final Value
for Money Paper.

Stamp Duty Land Tax — ICL advised the Authority in June 2008 that the Authority would
be liable for SDLT on the cost associated with acquisition of the site at Titanic Quarter.
Given that BMC has charitable status for tax purposes, it is envisaged that the college
should be able to avail of the SDLT exemption under the provisions of SDLT legislation.

It is however necessary that BMC establish contact with HMRC Charity Division prior to
financial close to verify this.

VAT - ICL advised the Authority in June 2008 that the Authority was liable for VAT (at a
rate of 17.5%) on cost associated with acquisition of site at Titanic Quarter on day 1 of the
PPP Contract. The Authority and ICL are currently working together to ascertain whether
relief can be gained on VAT applied to the Annual Unitary Charge (which takes into
account the cost of the site over the 25-year contract period) should the Authority pay the
VAT associated with the land acquisition cost on day | of the PPP Contract.

Credit Crunch Impact: increase in debt margins — In June 2008, ICL advised the
Authority that their funders, Ulster Bank, were no longer able to deliver the required debt
funding at the same margins as included within their Base Bid at ITN Stage due to the
current liquidity issues in the financial markets as a result of credit crunch. This is an issue
currently affecting all UK infrastructure projects, and is not Bidder or project specific. ICL
have agreed to work with BMC up to Financial Close to ensure that the most competitive
terms in the current market are achieved.

Technical Issues

Finalisation of Contractor’s Proposals — As a schedule to the Project Agreement the
Bidder must provide full details of the final design proposals including final floor plans,
room layouts, M&E information, finishes schedules and building specification. BMC
require a copy of the final version of this documentation in order to approve its inclusion in
the Project Agreement. This information has been outstanding for some time and the
Bidder has now proposed to forward the full Contractor’s proposals to BMC/FGS by the
end of next week for approval.

Legal Issues

Head Lease — The terms of the Head Lease from the Belfast Harbour Commissioners to
Titanic Quarter Ltd (TQL) and the sub-lease from TQL to BMC have still to be agreed.

Car Park Deal Structure — It has recently been agreed that TQL will fund a separate Car
Park Operating Company to procure the car park works. The Car Park Operating Company
will pay the Design/Build Contractor directly. This structure will require amendment of the
Project Agreement and lease structure and these changes are still to be agreed.

Bid Team’s Legal Documentation for Financial Close — The Bidder’s legal team has a
significant amount of legal documentation to produce (60+ documents) and all of these have
to be checked by BMC’s legal advisors A&L Goodbody. To date very few of these
documents have been provided by the Bidder, leaving the Project Team concerned about the
workload and timescale for the Bidder to complete all documentation necessary for Financial
Close. FGS McClure Watters 20/08/08
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Gov Body August 2008 Extract 3
08/09/4 City Centre Project/Titanic Quarter

Mr Rodway declared an interest in that he was one of the Belfast Harbour
Commissioners. It was agreed that Mr Rodway remain given the briefing paper
had been circulated prior to the declaration of the interest.

Mr Eric Munro and Mr Pat O’Neill joined the meeting

Dr Mullan introduced the item. He focused on the timetable which was tabled.
He anticipated that a complete Full Business case, approved by DEL and DFP,
would come to the Governing Body at its Governing Body meeting on
September 29",

Mr Munro gave details of the reasons for recent delays e.g. delay in planning
permission, car park issues. He believed that the land valuation was still valid.
Mr Redmond noted that DFP would have to approve uplift in land value and that
DEL had agreed the raised valuation subject to DFP approval sub.

Members expressed concerns about the affordability, increased costs, “credit
crunch”, falling enrolments, the size of the new build, the age of the business
plan, the impact of continuing industrial action, the correspondence from Mrs
Catherine Bell [18" August] and sought reassurance. Mr Redmond referred
members to the business case put forward by BIFHE six years previously which
concluded that Brunswick Street/College Square East [BS/CSE] then were not fit
for delivering modern education and training. The two options had been either a
rebuild on Brunswick Street or a new build in the Titanic Quarter and the latter
had been chosen. The refreshed business case in 2005 had reached the same
conclusion. He believed that the new build had passed the VFM test and that the
private sector had come forward with a VFM solution. In total three business
cases, in 2002, ‘05 and ‘07 had been presented to the Department for assessment
and approval. The final VFM paper would confirm the unitary payment payable
and the BMC contribution to that payment was likely to be @£1.5m per annum
and that much of that sum was currently being spent on BS/CSE. Mr Munro
confirmed that the main justification for the project remained the increasing
expenditure on BS/CSE and that necessary improvements to CSE on the grounds
of Disability, Fire and Health and Safety had not been executed, with the
approval of the relevant authorities, due to the impending move.

A view was expressed that the project had advanced too far and that withdrawal
would create uncertainty. Dr Mullan confirmed that BS/CSE would be very
costly to improve and said that the Titanic Quarter project would be a flagship
for further education in Belfast. But it was not just about F/T education, BMC
needed to develop links with the community and industry, improve cost recovery
and exploit that which had not yet been exploited. He had been encouraged by
discussions with his senior management team and staff, and had every
confidence that he could grow student numbers given also that current market
penetration was low. He thought it better that BMC go into a bigger building
with room for growth than opt for a smaller building. He believed there were
encouraging developments from DEL with substantial innovation fund (£1m)
and community action monies (£1/2m) for which to play.
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Mr Munro gave details of the apportionment of additional costs outlined in the
briefing paper as follows:

Site Value: Increase of £2m would be payable by DEL

Stamp duty: The tax of £235k would be payable by DEL

VAT uplift: The tax of £875k would be payable by DEL

PPP/PFI margins payable by DEL.

Increased capital contributions payable by DEL in the event of market fall [in the
event BMC to receive letter of indemnity]

It was noted that two thirds of the BMC contribution viz £1m related to salary
costs and thus were index linked and the remainder fixed.

Mr Redmond confirmed that the recession in the construction industry, and thus
potentially reduced labour costs, had been matched by rising steel and oil costs
and the costs of the credit crunch. It was difficult to predict property prices in
three years’ time but confirmed that any shortfall would be met by DEL.

It was agreed that a summary of issues on the City Centre Project be prepared
for circulation to members by 15" September. The paper to include commentary
and figures/costs where appropriate:

on the proposed size of the new build

on the assumptions in relation to student numbers and demographic trends

e on the affordability of the BMC contribution [£1.5m]

e on the costs and ramifications of withdrawing from the deal

e on the new build costs compared with the maintenance of the existing
CSE/BS estate

e on how the City Centre Project fits in with the rest of the Estates Strategy

e on a comparison of the key assumptions in the business case then [2002] and
now [2008]

¢ on the safeguards underpinning the assurances given to BMC Governing
Body e.g. the DEL commitment to underwrite any shortfall in the projected
monies gained from the sale of CSE and BS.

e on any other considerations relevant to the decision making for the financial
close

e and recommendations from all interested parties on whether to proceed
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Gov Body September 2008

BELFAST METROPOLITAN COLLEGE: GOVERNING BODY MEETING 29/09/09

AGENDA ITEM Special Meeting 1 and Meetings 2 and 3 of the Governing Body.

Best practice in Corporate Governance requires that Governors and Officers in
attendance are reminded that if they have a conflict of interest, they must declare that
interest and if necessary leave the room during the deliberation of that item.

AUTHOR/ FGGS lead consultants CDP Reference 7 Estates
SOURCE

11 Governance
BACKGROUND

There are two additional meetings on the evening. The last one, meeting 3, is an “In
Committee” meeting and as such not exceptional. It will take place at the end of the
evening.

Meeting 1 is a special meeting of the Governing Body to discuss the Titanic Quarter/ City
Centre project. Members at the last Governing Body meeting of August 28™ asked for an
issues paper on the project. This issues paper is attached together with a “letter of comfort”.
Also attached are specimen minutes of the special meeting which will be amended in light
of the discussions at the meeting. These cover attendance and apologies, project
documentation, the approval for the chair and principal to sign the PPP contract, and
specimen signatures. [ understand that there are in excess of 70 documents to be signed
later down the line and that assurances will be given to the Governing Body that these
documents are in compliance with Treasury guidelines. One key document, the VFM
appraisal, is with DFP and any agreement on the financial close is conditional upon DFP
giving VFM clearance. This document should be available on the evening for inspection.

Representatives of all of the participants in the TQ/CCP project [FGS, KPMG, SIB, DEL,
A&L Goodbody Solicitors] will be present to answer any additional questions. Meeting 1
will then be concluded. Meeting 2 will then commence.

NB Please note that the minutes of the previous meeting and matters arising feature as
agenda items in meeting 1, a requirement of the Articles of Government, but it is
recommended that these are dealt with in meeting 2.

Meeting 2 will feature minutes from both the August 28" Governing Body meeting and the
Governing Body meeting immediately prior [meeting 1]. Any amendments to the specimen
minutes will need to be made in the interval so there will be an opportunity for a comfort
break. Meeting 2 will then commence as per usual.

All of the above suggested arrangements are of course subject to alteration at the direction
of the Governing Body.

PROPOSAL
Members of the Governing Body are asked to determine whether

they have sufficient relevant information to bring this stage of the
project to a financial close, and if so to indicate any amendments to
the specimen minutes, and provide authority for the Chair and
Director to sign the PPP contract.
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Gov Body September 2008 extract 2
08/09/03 Titanic Quarter/City Centre Project

Mr Rodway voluntarily withdrew from the meeting having indicated a potential
contlict of interest in his role as a Belfast Harbour Commissioner and BMC
governor in the matter of the City Centre project.

Mr Rodway left the meeting at 6.05
Dr Mullan summarised the issues paper previously circulated as follows:

The underlying assumptions in 2002

o concerning the background to the new build remained unchanged in the
2008 Full Business Case

o concerning fitness for purpose of the new build remained unchanged

o concerning student numbers had been strengthened given that the curriculum
areas proposed for the new building reflected key government strategy
documents including FE means Business

o concerning size of the new build remained appropriate

The new site and estates strategy was driven by the overall curriculum planning
which reflected BMC’s response to the strategic planning and policies of DEL.
The strategy comprised three phases namely the opening of Millfield campus,
the development of E3 and the Titanic Quarter, and thirdly the review of sites in
South and East Belfast.

Dr Mullan stated the costs of withdrawal from the project as in the region of
£10m and a legacy of continued use of buildings in poor condition. He also
highlighted the costs of BMC’s contribution to the annual unitary charge as in
the region of £1.5m rising to £1.8m in 2015 excluding rates utilities and VAT.

Dr Mullan also highlighted some proposed safeguards to underpin the assurances
given to governors in particular a letter of comfort from DEL to the chair, and a
letter from the Director to DEL containing details of how proceeds from the
surplus properties should be used to reduce the borrowing for the project.

Mr Munro drew attention to the large folder containing the Final Business Case
stating that a significant number of updates and revisions had been incorporated
into the final submission.

In regard to the 22k m” size of the new build at a cost of £1.8m per annum, he
noted the notional rent expressed as costs divided by a floor space [£8 per m’]
compared to the rental costs of new builds elsewhere typically £130 per m’.

Mr Munro confirmed that enrolment and demographic figures had been factored
into the build and that there was room for growth, and increased capacity in
terms of hours’ usage. He explained the increase in space provision saying that
the net teaching area had grown substantially. Mr Redmond said that the revised
Departmental Schedule of Accommodation template had led to increased
teaching space but that new building regulations had a more significant impact
e.g. taking account of the disabled.

232



Correspondence

08/09/04

In regard to the use of up to date enrolment figures, it was recognised that BMC
failed to meet its target in 07/08 however trend analysis over ten years showed a
flattish profile. The use of 06/07 figures was criticised but it was recognised that
a snapshot had to be taken at some point.

It was recognised that new builds and organisations elsewhere had benefited
from a new building bounce i.e. an increase in related activity.

It was agreed that there was under utilisation of BS/CSE and other BMC sites
however it was thought that the primary consideration was one of fitness for
purpose. Mr Redmond believed that there was no overlap in the E3 and City
Centre projects.

Tt was confirmed that the costs attributable to Brunswick Street and College
Square East in the paper were real costs that could be saved arising in part from
replacing two buildings with one.

It was noted that payments were made only for calendar agreed days - in the
region of 220 days including Saturdays.

Mr Redmond confirmed that in the event of the capital released from BS/CSE
being insufficient for the project that DEL would cover the shortfall. It was
confirmed that the building reverted to the College after 25 years and the car
park after 40 years.

The location of the project was discussed and the area was seen as an extension
of the City centre, an existing entertainment area for the whole city, a future
location for a range of financial and residential buildings, and getting in early
was viewed to be beneficial. It was confirmed that the majority of the intake in
Tower Street was from West and North Belfast.

Members were reassured by the discussion and responses from their advisers and
confirmed that, subject to forthcoming assurances on enrolments by Dr Mullan
[see minute 10/08/09] they were content to move forward on the proposals and
had no objections.

Formal Resolution
That the Chairman and Principal be authorised to sign PPP agreements and take
the necessary actions as appropriate. This was proposed by Ms C McKinney and

seconded by Mr D Hatton. This was unanimously agreed.

It was also agreed that the names and the specimen signatures of the Chair and
the Principal be appended to the minutes.
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Gov Body October 2008

08/09/17 Matters Arising
Titanic Quarter /City Centre Project

Dr Mullan updated members on two issues which remained unresolved. The first
arose from the Credit Crunch and the increased cost of borrowing and the need
of the funder to syndicate the debt i.e. find a partner. Dr Mullan said that he had
been assured by Mr Redmond in writing that BMC’s contribution to the Unitary
charge would remain unchanged. The second concerned the need of BMC not to
carry any risks where they arose from any performance or non performance of
the project company. Negotiations were continuing.

Gov Body November 2008 Extract 1

AGENDA ITEM 1 Special Meeting of the Governing Body.

Best practice in Corporate Governance requires that Governors and Officers in
attendance are reminded that if they have a conflict of interest, they must declare that
interest and if necessary leave the room during the deliberation of that item.

AUTHOR/ A&L Goodbody Solicitors | CPP Reference [ 5o o

SOURCE 11 Governance
BACKGROUND

Members will recall the special meeting of the Governing Body of 29™
September 2008 at which the Titanic Quarter/City Centre Project was
discussed in depth.

There is a need to have further special meeting to clarify the list of
project documents being entered into and to enter a further formal
resolution. The draft minute of the meeting recommended by
Goodbody’s [Solicitors] is attached.

This meeting will then be concluded and the draft minutes amended as
necessary.

A further meeting will then take place and the minutes of the previous
special meeting agreed.

PROPOSAL
0OPOS Members of the Governing Body are asked to propose, second and

agree the resolution.
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Gov Body November 2008 Extract 2
08/09/30 Titanic Quarter /City Centre Project

The minutes of the fifteenth special meeting of the Governing Body of the
Belfast Metropolitan College held on Monday 29" September 2008 and
discussions at that meeting relating to Titanic Quarter/City Centre Project
required further discussion, and a further formal resolution, in respect of (1)
confirming the list of project documents being entered into; and (2) entering into
a formal resolution that addresses legal concerns with the validity of the
previous formal resolution.

Project Documents

Mr Tom Redmond DEL advised that the Governing Body, as the contracting
authority, would be entering into the following documents (the Documents)
relating to the Project. It is also noted that the list of Documents is the
provisional list as of 19 November 2008:

1. Lease agreements:

A Development Underlease with Titanic Quarter Limited and the Belfast
Harbour Commissioners;

A Car Park Lease with Ivywood Car Parks Limited and Ivywood Properties
Limited;

2. A Car Park Agreement for Lease with Ivywood Car Parks Limited and
Ivywood Properties Limited.

3. A project agreement with Ivywood Colleges Limited in respect of the design,
financing and operation of the Campus;

4. A direct agreement with Ivywood Colleges Limited and Ulster Bank Limited
in respect of, among other things, the rights of Ulster Bank Limited to
procure a new PFI contractor in the event that Ivywood Colleges Limited
defaults;

5. An agreement with Ivywood Colleges Limted, Ulster Bank Limited,
Ivywood Carpark Limited and the Technical Adviser (TA), under which the
TA will act as the independent certifier of the completion of the construction
of'the Campus;

6. A direct agreement with Ivywood Colleges Limited and David Patton & Sons
(NI) Limited relating to the Governing Body’s direct rights against the
contractor building the Campus;

7. A parent company guarantee with David Patton & Sons (NI) Limited and the
Guarantor in relation to the direct agreement with Ivywood Colleges Limited
and David Patton & Sons (NI) Limited relating to direct rights against the
contractor building the Campus;
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10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

An agreement with Ivywood Colleges Limited, David Patton & Sons (NI)
Limited and Barrie Todd Architects Limited (the Architect) relating to the
Governing Body’s direct rights against the Architect designing the Campus;

An agreement with Ivywood Colleges Limited, David Patton & Sons (NI)
Limited and the landscape architect relating to the Governing Body’s direct
rights against the landscape architect of the Campus;

An agreement with Ivywood Colleges Limited, David Patton & Sons (NI)
Limited and Cyril Sweett Limited (the Quantity Surveyor) relating to the
Governing Body’s direct rights against the Quantity Surveyor of the Campus;

An agreement with Ivywood Colleges Limited, David Patton & Sons (NI) Limited
and the civil, structural and civil and structural engineer relating to the Governing
Body’s direct rights against the civil and structural engineer of the Campus;

An agreement with Ivywood Colleges Limited, David Patton & Sons (NI)
Limited and the civil, structural and M&E engineer relating to the Governing
Body’s direct rights against the M&E engineer of the Campus

An agreement with Ivywood Colleges Limited, David Patton & Sons (NI)
Limited and Harvey Group plc (the M&E Contractor) relating to the
Governing Body’s direct rights against the M&E Contractor of the Campus;

An agreement with Ivywood Colleges Limited, Amey Community Limited (FM
Co) and Amey UK plc (FM Guarantor) relating to the Governing Body’s direct
rights against the facilities manager of the Campus and the parent company
guarantee from the FM Guarantor relating to the obligations of the facilities
manager of the Campus;

A supplemental deed with Titanic Quarter Limited and the Belfast Harbour
Commissioners in relation to supplemental arrangements to the Development
Underlease.”

08/09/31 Titanic Quarter /City Centre Project Formal Resolution

Following a period of discussion, the Chair sought Governing Body approval
for:

1.
2.

3.

the terms of the Documents;

the Governing Body to enter into and perform its obligations under each
Document;

the Interim Director and Acting Chair to sign the Documents on its
behalf, to make any clarificatory or minor amendments and do anything
which they consider reasonable and necessary to give effect to the
Documents and the transactions contemplated thereby; and

the Governing Body to take all other action required under or in
connection with the Documents

This was unanimously agreed by members on the proposal of Mr Ray Kennedy
and seconded by Professor Kenneth O’Neill
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08/09/32 AOB

There was no other business.

Chairman

Date

APPENDIX

SPECIMEN SIGNATURES

The following persons may sign the Documents on behalf of the Governing Body in
accordance with the provisions of paragraph 08/09/26 sub para 3 of the minutes:

Full name (BLOCK CAPITALS) and
Status

Specimen Signature

PETER MCNANEY

[ Acting Chair ]

RAYMOND MULLAN

[ Interim Director ]

Gov Body January 2009

08/09/39 AOB

Audit Committee

Dr Walters briefed members on the Audit Committee of 4™ December focusing

on:

e The Internal Auditors’ [KPMG] continued limited assurance. Progress had
not been as good as expected and there was still a great more work to be
done. Members had been very disappointed that the good work carried out in
spring/ early summer had not been continued.

e The number of outstanding Internal Audit recommendations not fully

addressed.

e The External Auditors’ letter to BMC summarising the results of a “Hot

Desk” review of the set of accounts forwarded to NIAO. In other
circumstances NIAO would have withdrawn

Concerns raised by NIAO about the level and approval of consultancy costs
arising from the Titanic Quarter project where there appeared to be irregular
expenditure. It seemed unlikely that retrospective approval would be given
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by DFP and NIAO thought that the accounts would likely be qualified and a
report issued.

o NIAO scepticism about the off balance sheet treatment of PFI projects and
the possibility that the accounts might be qualified if not brought onto the
balance sheets.

Dr Walters said that overall the financial management of the College continued
to raise concerns.

It was agreed that a report be sought from the Director outlining risks and
intended actions, and seeking assurances and the implications of a qualified set

of accounts.

It was agreed that the action plan should be merged with the Efficiency Review
recommendations.

Tt was agreed that performance indicators be set for the Director.
Amendment to minutes of 19™ November 2008

The cross-reference in the appendix of the minutes of the meeting was amended
to 08/09/31 sub para 3

Gov Body February 2009

08/09/45

Committee Reports
Audit Committee

Dr Walters introduced the Audit Committee reports of 4™ December 2008 and
26™ January 2009 and summarised the key points over two meetings as follows:

o The Internal Auditors” [KPMG] limited assurance. Progress had not been as
good as expected and there was still a great more work to be done. Members
had been very disappointed that the good work carried out in spring/ early
summer had not been continued.

o The number of outstanding Internal Audit recommendations not fully
addressed at the time of the first meeting, 84, but subsequently addressed
leaving 3 not yet implemented.

o The External Auditors’ letter to BMC summarising the results of a “Hot
Desk” review of the accounts and the subsequent revised set of accounts.

o Concerns raised by NIAO about the level and approval of consultancy costs
arising from the TTCC project. There was the possibility that the accounts
would be qualified and a report issued. He noted the involvement of DEL
and SIB and, in the words of NIAO not recorded, their being “inextricably
involved”.

o NIAO scepticism about the off balance sheet treatment of PFI projects and
the possibility that the accounts might be qualified if not brought onto the
balance sheets.

Arising from the above it was agreed that the consultancy issue was a question of
process rather than substance given that the monies had been properly spent and
there was no question of fraud. It was however recognised that even if
retrospective approval was received there was still the possibility of
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qualification; and if not received, a risk to reputation, negative publicity and a
possible PAC appearance. It was agreed that the Director prepare a full report
focussing on an investigation, the risks, appropriate actions, lines of
accountability, and providing assurances. It was also agreed to look at the
original procurement exercise and determine exactly what was contracted and
the contract’s extension. Mr Whittle confirmed that the then current year’s fee
transactions had been reversed out of the accounts.

Arising from the above it was agreed to circulate a summary sheet of the original
outstanding Internal Audit recommendations and the actions taken.

In regard to staff comments made to auditors Dr Mullan reminded members of
the paper on affordability unanimously agreed by the Governing Body in
September 2008. The situation had not changed for the worse, and there was the
prospect of an even better deal than six months ago which could have a
beneficial impact on the unitary payment. The Chair was critical of unsupported
comments made by NIAO and confirmed that the Governing Body had not
received any adverse comments from staff. The Secretary confirmed sight of
both sets of audit committee minutes and terminology therein by NIAO staff.

Gov Body March 2009 extract 1

AGENDA ITEM No 6 Titanic Quarter / City Centre Project /UPDATE

AUTHOR/ Mr Munro/ FGGS CDP Reference 7 Estates
SOURCE

11 Governance
BACKGROUND

This is a special meeting of the Governing Body to update members on the Titanic
Quarter/ City Centre project. The meeting will be informed by a meeting of the Capital
Project Boards meeting earlier that day.

Representatives of all of the participants in the TQ/CCP project {FGS, KPMG, SIB, DEL,
A&L Goodbody [Solicitors]} will be present to answer any additional questions.

Mr Tom Redman [DEL] Mr Eric Munro [FGS]
Ms Ashleen Feeney [KPMG] Mr Paul Hollway [KPMG]
Mr Kevin Feeney [A&L Goodbody] Pat O’Neill [SIB]

NB An issues paper on the project and was delivered at the September 29™ Governing
Body. This is attached for ease of reference. The conclusion of the September Meeting in
regard to the TQ/CC project was as follows:

“Members were reassured by the discussion and responses from their advisers
and confirmed that, subject to forthcoming assurances on enrolments by Dr
Mullan [see minute 10/08/09] they were content to move forward on the
proposals and had no objections.” Extract from minute 08/09/03 [JMcA]

Update as of Monday 9" March

I understand that Ms Feeney [KPMG] will table a paper on the affordability of the
unitary payment. Any changes, if any, from the assumptions stated in the paper of
September 2008 will be noted and the impact on affordability, if any, assessed.
Later this week Dr Mullan will be writing to DEL and DFP confirming that the
Titanic Quarter city centre project is affordable, that the costs are proportionate
and that the whole will meet the needs of BMC.
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PROPOSAL Members are asked to seek assurances to re-affirm that that the Titanic

Quarter project is affordable, that the costs are proportionate and that
the whole will meet the needs of BMC.

Gov Body March 2009 extract 2
08/09/61 Titanic Quarter/City Centre Project [TT/QC]

Affordability

Ms Feeney said that the Ulster Bank had been unsuccessful in finding a partner
and had therefore increased the required capital contribution. This was deemed
to be acceptable by DEL as the long term debt was reduced but that DFP
approval was still required.

Ms Feeney updated a VFM and affordability analysis previously presented in
September 2008. She tabled a paper showing the Annual Unitary Charge and the
respective contributions of DEL and BMC. She explained the changes in the
unitary charge as follows:

e A reduction due to a downward renegotiation of the construction price

e A reduction due to optimisation of the financial model

e A reduction due to an increased capital contribution from £10m to £15m
excluding VAT

e An increase due to an increase in the salary costs of BMC staff who were to
transfer to the private sector as a consequence of the PPP project

e Anincrease due to increased debt financing costs

The above resulted in an overall net reduction of unitary charge from the
September 08 position - down from £4,706k per annum to £4,452 assuming that
a fixed interest rate for the project of 4.4% was achieved. This is subject to
fluctuation as it can only be agreed and fixed on the day the project is signed.

The relative split of the unitary charge between DEL and the college had
changed from £1,490k per annum for BMC and £3,216 per annum for DEL, in
September 08, to £1,535k for BMC and £2917 for DEL.

This was because the increase that DEL had absorbed due to increased debt
financing costs had been offset by the reductions due to lower construction costs
and the additional £5m that DEL were paying upfront as a consequence of the
increased capital contribution. BMC’s increased cost was due to the salary
increases of BMC staff transferring to the private sector arising from a national
pay award.

Ms Feeney also highlighted that BMC’s contribution to the Annual Unitary
Charge would increase in line with the RPIL.

The like for like comparison of the total annual running costs of remaining in
College Square East/Brunswick Street [CSE/BS] and moving to Titanic Quarter
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were discussed. Overall around £470k had to be found each year to enable the
move to Titanic Quarter.

On enquiry Mr Munro confirmed that the justification for the BMC contribution
to the Unitary Charge was in the Outline Business Case [based on Green Book
guidance] and in the Full Business Case which would be adjusted to show the
final costs.

It was viewed that the choice was between £2.3m for TQ/CCP, a guaranteed
compliant building with guaranteed maintenance for 25 years and £1.85m for
substantially failing buildings at CSE/BS.

Dr Mullan said that if there was continued growth then the project was
affordable. There was likely to be a bid for an 8% increase in FLU income in
09/10 and there was further scope for growth given the population base. Mr
Munro said that the new building would also attract new students.

Mr Redmond said that BMC were presenting the business case and making the
case that it was affordable and that BMC would not be afforded preferential
funding treatment by DEL

Documentation

Mr Kevin Feeney of A&L Goodbody gave a detailed overview of the legal
documentation. He said that in regard to governance it was fundamental that
governors were familiar with the contractual matrix. In sum Belfast Harbour
Commissioners [BHC ] had a head lease relationship with Titanic Quarter
Limited (TQL) who had an underlease relationship with BMC who in turn
granted a sub lease to Ivywood Carparks Limited [ICL]. The parent company
was [vywood Properties Limited who were effectively the owner of the property
rights and who also guaranteed the obligations of ICL.

Mr Feeney said that the Head Lease and the Underlease were almost identical.
One safeguard was that BHC had limited statutory functions and were an
organisation who would not be motivated to act in a vexatious manner. The
service charges for the Head lease were typical at around £50k and the rent
peppercorn at £1. A supplemental deed dovetailed a PFI contract with the
traditional landlord/tenant structure and TQL had no rights during the project
agreement.

Car Park

Mr Feeney confirmed the 40 year lease at no cost and no risk to BMC together
with a profit sharing mechanism over £700k.

Mr Feeney was confident that Goodbody had gone as good a job as possible to
represent BMC interests and that the risks had been mitigated upwards and
downwards. He advised governors to read the lease reports to satisfy corporate
governance requirements. Overall he considered the deal to be a good deal with
managed risks which the Governing Body should continue to support.

Mrs Haren and Professor O’Neill left the meeting
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The Secretary advised that the meeting was still quorate. The Chair advised that
the draft minutes be viewed by the main external contributors to the meeting.

At the conclusion of the discussion the chair asked if there were any further
questions and none were raised and if there were any reservations and none were
expressed.

Members re-affirmed that that the Titanic Quarter project was affordable, that
the costs were proportionate and that the whole would meet the needs of BMC.

Gov Body May 2009

08/09/44 TQ/CCP & E3 / 08/09/61 Titanic Quarter/City Centre Project It
was noted that the financial phase of the TQ/CC Project was signed off on 3
May by the Chair and Director, and the construction phase was launched on 6"
May 2009 by the Minister. The Chair thanked those members that had attended
and said that a site visit could be arranged for any member wishing to see the
ongoing work. He congratulated the Director on a successful launch.

It was agreed that a paper be prepared for the Governing Body showing how all
of the new opportunities, that the new build presented, were to be fully exploited
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Deputy Chairman Governing Body
Dr | Walters k

The Gerald Moag Campus

- Building 1, Level 2, Reom @
125-153 Millifield

Beifast

BT1 1HS

: 028 9026 5455

{028 9026 5460

11 July 2008

Mrs Catherine Bell

Deputy Secretary

Department of Employment and Leamlng
Adelaide House

39-49 Adelaide Street

Belfast

BT2 8FD

BELFAST METROPOLITAN COLLEGE (BMC)

As you know, the Governing Bcdy of BMC met on 30 June when it discussed the
present funding crisis within the College and the resignation of James O'Kane as
Chairman. :

The Governing Body agreed thai a sub- group led by me as Deputy Chairman should -
seek a meeting with you to discuss how the current issues can be addressed urgently
through an in-depth review leading to a recovery plan aimed at placmg ihe college ona
sound footing for the long term.

Atour meeting on 8 July you indicated the Department's willingness to immediately
appoint an efficiency review team, which would include HR, accountancy, and other
specialists, to consider the College's current and forecast financial position, curriculum;
estates and staffing strategy; determing how the current problems have come about
and recommend a high !evel senes of actxons on which a recovery plan would be
based:

I hardly need mention that the College has been dealing with several major
management challenges including the merger, prolonged industrial action by Eecturers
and the absence of its Director on fong term sick leave. Trevor Smyth has done a first
class job as Acting Director without a replacement for his Deputy Director role and of
course this has served to stretch even further an already overstretched top
management team. In this context we discussed the need for additional support for the
Directorate during the period of the review and the implementation of the recovery plan
until Bnan Tume returns to work. ‘

Castieieagh
Ca Nesu -

Belfast Melroba&tan College has been formed as a result of the merger of Belfast Institute and Castlereagh College - effective fram 1 Augusi 07
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Deputy Chairman Governing Body ‘ N , o
Deraltérs o

The Gerald Moag Campus
Building 1, Level 2, Room 8
125-183 Millfield

Belfast

BT1 1HS

t: 128 9026 5455

f: 028 9026 5460

In these circumstances the Governing Body firmly believes it would be sensible to ask
the Department to identify a capable and experienced individual who would act as
interim Director for the time being. The Governing Body has also asked me to seek the
Department's agreement in principle to a package of financial support to mest the
demands of the efficiency review and the implementation of the recovery plan. The
level of support required should be calculated as quickly as possible by the Directorate
and the review team in consultation with the Governing Body and the Department.

You indicated your agreement to the establishment of a Steering Group, which would
oversee the efficiency review, consisting ‘of representatives of DEL, the Governing
Body and the Directorate. We should discuss separately its terms of reference and
membership. : :

During our discussion | referred to the Governing Body's concern about proposed new

premises for the College and the Titanic Quarter project in particular. Those concerns

are affordability, uncertainty over student numbers in the years ahead and the high cost

of professional fees. | understand these concerns were raised at the recent Gateway

Review, Itis for these reasons that we recommended that the proposed developments.
“should be put on hold until the review has thoroughly examined them.

In summary theréfére, the deeming Body would be grateful if the Department would;

{i} Appoint an efficiency review team to start work immediately, ;

(ii) Forward to me the proposed terms of reference for the review and to
consider any suggestions from the Governing Bady,

{ii) . Appoint an Interim Director for at least the time being, :

(i) Agree in principle to a package of support for the College for the duration of
the review and the implementation of a recovery plan,

) Work with the Governing Body to form a steering group.

Finally, may | reaffirm the Governing Body's determination to work in partnership with
the Department to ensure that the current problems are correctly analysed and i
appropriate action taken so that the splendid work being done by BMC is not only
maintained but strengthened for the benefit of all the citizens of the City. The College
has achieved much during its first year and we see no reason why it should not
establish a track record of which we will all be proud.

Yours sincerely

IAN WALTERS
Deputy Chairman i N
Belfast Metropolitan College Governing Body

Casttereagti
. tolege | |

" 'Beffast Metropolitan Coliege has been formed as a result of the merger of Belfast Institute and Castlereagh College - effective from 1 August 07
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18 July 2008

Dr lan Walters

Deputy Chairman

Beifast Metropolitan College
The Gerald Moag Campus -
Building 1, Level 2, Room @
125-153 Millfield

BELFAST

BT11HS

Dear lan ,
BELFAST METROPOLITAN COLLEGE (BMC)

Thank you for yvour letter of 11 July 2008 which, following our meeting on 11 July,
set outthe position of the governing body in relation to the proposed effi ciency
rewew of the college.

- We have appointed Richard Buchanan to lead the review team on behalf of the
Department. Richard is a former senior civil servant and has carried out similar
reviews at other colleges in recent years. He will be supported by a team of
consultants {o be appointed early next week with a view to commencing the

- review without delay.

To guide the review, we have developed terms of reference (annex 1) which
reflect the need for & comprehensive review of the college’s operations. Thisis a
relatively standard approach to such assignments and is in line with reviews
which have been conducted in other colleges. The Department will, of course be
prepared to consider any additional areas that the Governing Body might wish lo
have mc!uded

The Department fully appreciates the considerable demands that have been
placed on the college’s senior management team in recent months and, in
particular, on the acting Principal, Trevor Smyth. There have been exceptional
_pressures as a result of the prolonged lecturers’ pay dispute, college re-
structuring, including the difficulties in effecting redundancies, the absence of the
Principal due to illness, and, critically, the college's deteriorating financial
situation. However, the commissioning of an efficiency review will bring a new set
of demands on senior managers and, understandably, the Governing Body has
asked that the Department identify a suitable individual to strengthen and lead
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-the team through the review and into the recovery process. As you are aware,
we have since asked Raymond Mullan, former principal of Newry and Kilkeel
Institute, to agree to be appointed as Acting Principal of the College effective
from Monday 21 July 2008. Obviously, as an employee of the governing body,
Mr Mullan's appointment will need to be confirmed by the governing body and,
assuming your agreement; | would ask that you take steps to ensure that all
necessary procedures are followed and documented; including the appointment
of him as Accounting Officer.

The Department will meet the cost of Richard Buchanan's assignment, as well as
the other members of the review team. We will also consider the provision of
additional resources that might be required to implement the college’s recovery
plan. In addition, we would be prepared to consider any necessary interim
support to strengthen the co!lege s finance function where such need is identified
by Raymond Mullan and his senior managers.

1 wOuld agree with your view that a steering group be established to ensure
effective oversight of the review process. | propose that such a steering group
comprise Richard Buchanan, Raymond Mullan and Peter McNaney, who
volunteered to represent the governors at our meeting on 11 July. | also propose
to chair the steering group on behalf of the Department. To ensure sufficient
college representation, it would be appropriate for one additional member of the
Governing Body to attend, should the Governing Body so wish. You may wish to
consider this point and advise me in due course. As discussed you may wish to
act as alternate should a member be unable to attend a meeting. In the
meantime, | will make arrangements for the steanng group to meet in the very
near future.

Finally, in relation to the Titanic Quarter project, the Depaﬂment considers that it
would be inadvisable to take any action to curtail progress since, to do so, would,
almost inevitably, incur additional developer costs. Accordingly, it would be our
view that the project be permitted to continue as planned.

The Departmem is committed to working in partnership with the govemmg body

_ to resolve the college's difficulties which haveé 1ed 1o the need for this review.
Whilst the process is likely to present significant challenges in the short term, the
outcome will be a stronger and more secure college better prepared to meet the
needs of students, employers and the wider economy in the greater Belfast area.
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I would be happy‘ to discuss any matters arising, or offer clarification, if required.

 Yours sincerely

CATHERINE BELL
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, Anpexa 1
Belfast Metropolitan College

Terms of Reference for a Comprehensive Efficiency Review

Terms of Reference

The purpose of the Efficiency Review is fo examine the management and
operations of Belfast Metropolitan College (including Belfast Institute of Further
and Higher Education and Castlereagh College) and to make recommendations
which will improve its economy and efficiency and the effectiveness of its
management and operations. In particular, the review will be required:

« 1o establish the exact financial position of the College;

« o identify the causes of the current and projected deficits;

o 1o review thé adequacy and effectiveness of all financial controls in place and
identify any inadequacies, including the reasons for any fas!ures in the current
arrangements g

o to review staﬁ"mg levels (part time and full time academic staff and other
support staff) in light of student enrolments, curriculum provision and demand
from local business and the community; ~

o to review the effectweness af the college estate strategy,

» to review the arrangements in p%ace o ensure congruency between corporate
planning, curriculum planning, estate planning and financial planning;

« toinvestigate the adequacy of the College’s Management Information
System;

 lo review the adequacy of the Coﬂege s audit procedures as prescribed by the
Financial Memorandum;

+ to consider the performance of the Senior Management Team® in fulfilling
their individual responsibilities with regard to ensuring the efficient financial
management of the college; :

® to include, within the scope of the review, any other issues identified by DEL;

s the Review Team's reccmmendanons must focus on:

248



Correspondence

» making improvements in the economy and efficiency of the operation and
management of the college that are necessary to eliminate the current and
future deficits and restore it to sound fi nancial health within a reasonable
period of time;

F ensuring sound financial and operational control systems and procedures

are established and maintained within the College; and

> the capacity of the Senior Management Team* to address the issues set
out in the rewew :

* - the Senior Management Team comprises the Principal and Deputy Directors.
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Correspondence of 21 October 2014 from
Strategic Investment Board

Investment
Strategy

Northern freland

SIB::-

strategicinvestmentboard

‘Michaela Boyle MLA
Chairperson

Public Accounts Committee
Room 371

Parliament Buildings
Ballymiscaw

BELFAST BT4 3XX

21% October 2014
Dear Ms Boyle
PAC Inquiry into Belfast Metropolitan College’s Titanic Quarter PPP Project

Thank you for your letter dated 2™ October in which you asked what the overall role of the
Strategic Investment Board was in promoting the wider Titanic Quarter development plan
prior to, during and after the preferred bidder for Belfast Metropolitan College was

appointed.

SIB has worked on projects within Titanic Quarter in support of Departments since 2008.
These projects included the Titanic Signature Project (Titanic Belfast and associated assets),
Heritage Lottery Fund applications for HMS Caroline and the Harland and Wolff Headquarter
Building and the production of a draft business case for a proposed extension to the NI

Science Park, in addition to the Belfast Metropolitan College project.

I can confirm that SIB has had no role in promoting the development plans for Titanic

Quarter advanced by Titanic Quarter Limited.

Yours sincerely,

Brett Hannam, Chief Executive
Strategic Investment Board

Carleton House @ Gasworks Business Park » 1 Cromac Avenue = Belfast # BT7 2JA
tel: +44 (0) 28 9090 9440 » web: www.sibni.org  email: contact@sibni.org

SIB and Strategic Investment Board are the trading names of Strategic Investment Board Limited. Registered in Niorthern Irefand No NI45710.
Registered Office: Carleton House, Gasworks Business Park, 1 Cromac Avenue, Belfast, BT7 2JA
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List of Witnesses who gave Oral Evidence to the Committee

List of Witnesses who gave Oral Evidence to the

Committee

1. Mr Stephen Peover, Accounting Officer, Department of Finance and Personnel (DFP)

2. Dr Mark Browne, Accounting Officer, Office of the First Minister and deputy First
Minister (OFMDFM)

3. Mr Derek Baker, Accounting Officer, Department for Employment and Learning (DEL)

4, Mr Mike Brennan, Budget Director, Department of Finance and Personnel

5. Mr Brett Hannam, Chief Executive, Strategic Investment Board

6. Ms Marie-Thérese McGivern, Principal and Chief Executive, Belfast Metropolitan College

7. Ms Elaine Hartin, Chief Operating Officer, Belfast Metropolitan College

8. Mr Tom Redmond, Head of Further Estates Branch, Department for Employment and
Learning

9. Mr Pat O’Neill, Strategic Investment Board (SIB)

10. Mr Mike Brennan, Acting Treasury Officer of Accounts

11. Mr Kieran Donnelly, Comptroller and Auditor General

12.  Mr Jack Layberry, Treasury Officer of Accounts
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